RILEM State-of-the-Art Reports

Nele De Belie Marios Soutsos Elke Gruyaert *Editors*

Properties of Fresh and Hardened Concrete Containing Supplementary Cementitious Materials

State-of-the-Art Report of the RILEM Technical Committee 238-SCM, Working Group 4





RILEM State-of-the-Art Reports

RILEM STATE-OF-THE-ART REPORTS

Volume 25

RILEM, The International Union of Laboratories and Experts in Construction Materials, Systems and Structures, founded in 1947, is a non-governmental scientific association whose goal is to contribute to progress in the construction sciences, techniques and industries, essentially by means of the communication it fosters between research and practice. RILEM's focus is on construction materials and their use in building and civil engineering structures, covering all phases of the building process from manufacture to use and recycling of materials. More information on RILEM and its previous publications can be found on www.RILEM.net.

The RILEM State-of-the-Art Reports (STAR) are produced by the Technical Committees. They represent one of the most important outputs that RILEM generates—high level scientific and engineering reports that provide cutting edge knowledge in a given field. The work of the TCs is one of RILEM's key functions.

Members of a TC are experts in their field and give their time freely to share their expertise. As a result, the broader scientific community benefits greatly from RILEM's activities.

RILEM's stated objective is to disseminate this information as widely as possible to the scientific community. RILEM therefore considers the STAR reports of its TCs as of highest importance, and encourages their publication whenever possible.

The information in this and similar reports is mostly pre-normative in the sense that it provides the underlying scientific fundamentals on which standards and codes of practice are based. Without such a solid scientific basis, construction practice will be less than efficient or economical.

It is RILEM's hope that this information will be of wide use to the scientific community.



More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/8780

Nele De Belie · Marios Soutsos Elke Gruyaert Editors

Properties of Fresh and Hardened Concrete Containing Supplementary Cementitious Materials

State-of-the-Art Report of the RILEM Technical Committee 238-SCM, Working Group 4





Editors Nele De Belie Magnel Laboratory for Concrete Research Department of Structural Engineering Ghent University Ghent Belgium

Marios Soutsos School of Planning, Architecture and Civil Engineering Queen's University Belfast Belfast UK Elke Gruyaert Magnel Laboratory for Concrete Research Department of Structural Engineering Ghent University Ghent Belgium

 ISSN 2213-204X
 ISSN 2213-2031
 (electronic)

 RILEM State-of-the-Art Reports
 ISBN 978-3-319-70605-4
 ISBN 978-3-319-70606-1
 (eBook)

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70606-1
 ISBN 978-3-319-70606-1
 ISBN 978-3-319-70606-1
 ISBN 978-3-319-70606-1

Library of Congress Control Number: 2017957837

© RILEM 2018

No part of this work may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, microfilming, recording or otherwise, without written permission from the Publisher, with the exception of any material supplied specifically for the purpose of being entered and executed on a computer system, for exclusive use by the purchaser of the work. Permission for use must always be obtained from the owner of the copyright: RILEM.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer International Publishing AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Preface

Supplementary cementitious materials (SCMs) are commonly used in concrete practice nowadays, either in blended cements or as separate additions into the concrete mixture. The use of hydraulic and pozzolanic by-products allows to reduce the carbon dioxide emissions related to Portland clinker production and hence provides a way to obtain a more sustainable binder for the construction industry. Furthermore, the use of by-products entails benefits related to costs and some durability aspects. In general, the effects of these supplementary cementitious materials on microstructure and durability have been widely studied over the last decades. Nevertheless, several aspects have been denoted to merit further attention:

- The interaction between Portland clinker hydration and SCM reaction is not yet fully understood. Determination of reaction degrees of SCM is difficult; this is even more so if ternary mixes are concerned.
- The interaction between SCM and commonly used admixtures is often not well documented.
- The quality of by-products such as fly ash is changing due to, for instance, co-combustion in the electrical power plants. The effect of changing composition on the clinker and SCM reactions, and on the resulting microstructure, should be elucidated.
- The ongoing move from Portland to blended cements, and the replacement of Portland cement by SCM in the mix design, will affect construction practices. The exact composition of blended cements, which is often unknown, will affect early age strength development. For the construction industry, it is important to know how the variability of SCM affects the properties of their concrete and curing requirements.

Hence, in July 2011, the RILEM technical committee TC 238-SCM was established with the aim to support the increasing utilisation of hydraulic and pozzolanic industrial by-products, natural resources and societal waste (fly ash, blast-furnace slag and other by-products and residues of thermal industrial processes, calcined clays, limestone, natural pozzolans, natural zeolites, ...) to obtain more sustainable, less CO_2 -intensive binders for the construction industry. It was decided that

durability issues would not be a main focus of this TC. The TC was meant to serve as a knowledge platform where fundamental science and practical expertise are gathered to create a horizontal overview of the research area and to implement and promote the dissemination of more integrated generic approaches into the scientific community.

In one of their first meetings, TC 238-SCM defined a Supplementary Cementitious Material or SCM as "an inorganic material that, when used in conjunction with Portland cement, contributes to the properties of the hardened concrete through chemical reaction e.g. hydraulic or pozzolanic activity".

The following subtopics were identified and studied in four different working groups with specific scope:

- 1. *SCM characterisation* (chairs: Maria Juenger, Jan Elsen) Quantitative characterisation of the physico-chemical properties of a wide range of traditional and potential SCMs. Identifying challenges on an expanding and evolving SCM market.
- 2. *SCM reaction kinetics* (chairs: Karen Scrivener, Nele De Belie) SCM reactivity and overall reaction kinetics in blended cements. Determination of reaction degrees of SCM, also in ternary mixes. Interaction between Portland clinker hydration and SCM reaction.
- 3. Hydration product assemblage and microstructure of SCM-blended cements (chairs: Barbara Lothenbach, Ruben Snellings) Hydrate reaction product assemblages and pore solution composition in SCM-blended cements, binary and ternary mixtures. Optimisation of sulphate additions. Effect of temperature and clinker replacement proportion. Effect of SCM incorporation on the microstructure. Linking microstructure to performance.
- 4. Properties of concrete containing SCMs and interaction of SCMs and admixtures in concrete (chairs: Marios Soutsos, Guang Ye) Effect of SCMs and mix proportioning on the properties of fresh and hardened concrete (e.g. early strength development, workability, shrinkage) and curing requirements (especially for in situ cast concrete in adverse weather conditions). Post-blending versus pre-blending. Implications of SCM variability. Interaction between SCM and commonly used admixtures (e.g. superplasticizers, air entrainers).

Over the period 2011–2017, the TC 238-SCM has convened 12 times and has published the outcome of their collaborative research and discussions in various articles, which are mentioned below for further reading. This book is the final outcome of working group 4 of the TC and provides an overview of the state of the art regarding the properties of fresh and hardened concrete containing supplementary cementitious materials. Each chapter was a joint effort of different co-authors and was reviewed by at least two other TC members.

Preface

Details of TC members are given after this Preface. I wish to acknowledge their contribution to meetings and discussions, their efforts in writing, reading and commenting on the various drafts of this book and of the other publications mentioned further. Special thanks go to the chairs of the working groups, which have given tremendous assistance to organise the activities within their group. Finally, I want to acknowledge my co-editors, Prof. Marios Soutsos and Dr. Elke Gruyaert, for ensuring that this STAR could be realised within the lifetime of the TC.

Ghent, Belgium

Prof. Nele De Belie Chair of RILEM Technical Committee TC 238-SCM

Acknowledgements of Reviewers

Apart from the general approval of the chapters by all TC 238-SCM members, the chapters have gone through an in-depth review by following members:

- Chapter 1. Ground Granulated Blast-furnace Slag : Josée Duchesne, Manu Santhanam
- Chapter 2. Fly Ash : Wolfgang Brameshuber, John Provis
- Chapter 3. Silica Fume : Doug Hooton, Harald Justnes
- Chapter 4. Limestone Powder : John Provis, Nele De Belie
- Chapter 5. Metakaolin : Maria Juenger, Karen Scrivener, Jan Elsen
- Chapter 6. Natural Pozzolans : Mohsen Ben Haha
- Chapter 7. Alternative Supplementary Cementitious Materials : Ruben Snellings, Mohsen Ben Haha
- Chapter 8. Rice Husk Ash : Carmen Andrade, Siham Kamali-Bernard, Wolfgang Brameshuber
- Chapter 9. Ternary Blends : Manu Santhanam, Guang Ye

RILEM Publications

The following list is presenting the global offer of RILEM Publications, sorted by series. Each publication is available in printed version and/or in online version.

RILEM Proceedings (PRO)

PRO 1: Durability of High Performance Concrete (ISBN: 2-912143-03-9; e-ISBN: 2-351580-12-5; e-ISBN: 2351580125); *Ed. H. Sommer*

PRO 2: Chloride Penetration into Concrete (ISBN: 2-912143-00-04; e-ISBN: 2912143454); *Eds. L.-O. Nilsson and J.-P. Ollivier*

PRO 3: Evaluation and Strengthening of Existing Masonry Structures (ISBN: 2-912143-02-0; e-ISBN: 2351580141); *Eds. L. Binda and C. Modena*

PRO 4: Concrete: From Material to Structure (ISBN: 2-912143-04-7; e-ISBN: 2351580206); *Eds. J.-P. Bournazel and Y. Malier*

PRO 5: The Role of Admixtures in High Performance Concrete (ISBN: 2-912143-05-5; e-ISBN: 2351580214); *Eds. J. G. Cabrera and R. Rivera-Villarreal*

PRO 6: High Performance Fiber Reinforced Cement Composites—HPFRCC 3 (ISBN: 2-912143-06-3; e-ISBN: 2351580222); *Eds. H. W. Reinhardt and A. E. Naaman*

PRO 7: 1st International RILEM Symposium on Self-Compacting Concrete (ISBN: 2-912143-09-8; e-ISBN: 2912143721); *Eds. Å. Skarendahl and Ö. Petersson*

PRO 8: International RILEM Symposium on Timber Engineering (ISBN: 2-912143-10-1; e-ISBN: 2351580230); *Ed. L. Boström*

PRO 9: 2nd International RILEM Symposium on Adhesion between Polymers and Concrete ISAP '99 (ISBN: 2-912143-11-X; e-ISBN: 2351580249); *Eds. Y. Ohama and M. Puterman*

PRO 10: 3rd International RILEM Symposium on Durability of Building and Construction Sealants (ISBN: 2-912143-13-6; e-ISBN: 2351580257); *Eds. A. T. Wolf*

PRO 11: 4th International RILEM Conference on Reflective Cracking in Pavements (ISBN: 2-912143-14-4; e-ISBN: 2351580265); *Eds. A. O. Abd El Halim, D. A. Taylor and El H. H. Mohamed*

PRO 12: International RILEM Workshop on Historic Mortars: Characteristics and Tests (ISBN: 2-912143-15-2; e-ISBN: 2351580273); *Eds. P. Bartos, C. Groot and J. J. Hughes*

PRO 13: 2nd International RILEM Symposium on Hydration and Setting (ISBN: 2-912143-16-0; e-ISBN: 2351580281); *Ed. A. Nonat*

PRO 14: Integrated Life-Cycle Design of Materials and Structures - ILCDES 2000 (ISBN: 951-758-408-3; e-ISBN: 235158029X); (ISSN: 0356-9403); *Ed. S. Sarja*

PRO 15: Fifth RILEM Symposium on Fibre-Reinforced Concretes (FRC)— BEFIB'2000 (ISBN: 2-912143-18-7; e-ISBN: 291214373X); *Eds. P. Rossi and G. Chanvillard*

PRO 16: Life Prediction and Management of Concrete Structures (ISBN: 2-912143-19-5; e-ISBN: 2351580303); *Ed. D. Naus*

PRO 17: Shrinkage of Concrete—Shrinkage 2000 (ISBN: 2-912143-20-9; e-ISBN: 2351580311); Eds. V. Baroghel-Bouny and P.-C. Aïtcin

PRO 18: Measurement and Interpretation of the On-Site Corrosion Rate (ISBN: 2-912143-21-7; e-ISBN: 235158032X); *Eds. C. Andrade, C. Alonso, J. Fullea, J. Polimon and J. Rodriguez*

PRO 19: Testing and Modelling the Chloride Ingress into Concrete (ISBN: 2-912143-22-5; e-ISBN: 2351580338); *Eds. C. Andrade and J. Kropp*

PRO 20: 1st International RILEM Workshop on Microbial Impacts on Building Materials (CD 02) (e-ISBN 978-2-35158-013-4); *Ed. M. Ribas Silva*

PRO 21: International RILEM Symposium on Connections between Steel and Concrete (ISBN: 2-912143-25-X; e-ISBN: 2351580346); *Ed. R. Eligehausen*

PRO 22: International RILEM Symposium on Joints in Timber Structures (ISBN: 2-912143-28-4; e-ISBN: 2351580354); Eds. S. Aicher and H.-W. Reinhardt

PRO 23: International RILEM Conference on Early Age Cracking in Cementitious Systems (ISBN: 2-912143-29-2; e-ISBN: 2351580362); *Eds. K. Kovler and A. Bentur*

PRO 24: 2nd International RILEM Workshop on Frost Resistance of Concrete (ISBN: 2-912143-30-6; e-ISBN: 2351580370); *Eds. M. J. Setzer, R. Auberg and H.-J. Keck*

PRO 25: International RILEM Workshop on Frost Damage in Concrete (ISBN: 2-912143-31-4; e-ISBN: 2351580389); *Eds. D. J. Janssen, M. J. Setzer and M. B. Snyder*

PRO 26: International RILEM Workshop on On-Site Control and Evaluation of Masonry Structures (ISBN: 2-912143-34-9; e-ISBN: 2351580141); *Eds. L. Binda and R. C. de Vekey*

PRO 27: International RILEM Symposium on Building Joint Sealants (CD03; e-ISBN: 235158015X); *Ed. A. T. Wolf*

PRO 28: 6th International RILEM Symposium on Performance Testing and Evaluation of Bituminous Materials—PTEBM'03 (ISBN: 2-912143-35-7; e-ISBN: 978-2-912143-77-8); *Ed. M. N. Partl*

PRO 29: 2nd International RILEM Workshop on Life Prediction and Ageing Management of Concrete Structures (ISBN: 2-912143-36-5; e-ISBN: 2912143780); *Ed. D. J. Naus*

PRO 30: 4th International RILEM Workshop on High Performance Fiber Reinforced Cement Composites—HPFRCC 4 (ISBN: 2-912143-37-3; e-ISBN: 2912143799); *Eds. A. E. Naaman and H. W. Reinhardt*

PRO 31: International RILEM Workshop on Test and Design Methods for Steel Fibre Reinforced Concrete: Background and Experiences (ISBN: 2-912143-38-1; e-ISBN: 2351580168); *Eds. B. Schnütgen and L. Vandewalle*

PRO 32: International Conference on Advances in Concrete and Structures 2 vol. (ISBN (set): 2-912143-41-1; e-ISBN: 2351580176); *Eds. Ying-shu Yuan, Surendra P. Shah and Heng-lin Lü*

PRO 33: 3rd International Symposium on Self-Compacting Concrete (ISBN: 2-912143-42-X; e-ISBN: 2912143713); *Eds. Ó. Wallevik and I. Nielsson*

PRO 34: International RILEM Conference on Microbial Impact on Building Materials (ISBN: 2-912143-43-8; e-ISBN: 2351580184); *Ed. M. Ribas Silva*

PRO 35: International RILEM TC 186-ISA on Internal Sulfate Attack and Delayed Ettringite Formation (ISBN: 2-912143-44-6; e-ISBN: 2912143802); *Eds. K. Scrivener and J. Skalny*

PRO 36: International RILEM Symposium on Concrete Science and Engineering—A Tribute to Arnon Bentur (ISBN: 2-912143-46-2; e-ISBN: 2912143586); *Eds. K. Kovler, J. Marchand, S. Mindess and J. Weiss*

PRO 37: 5th International RILEM Conference on Cracking in Pavements— Mitigation, Risk Assessment and Prevention (ISBN: 2-912143-47-0; e-ISBN: 2912143764); *Eds. C. Petit, I. Al-Qadi and A. Millien*

PRO 38: 3rd International RILEM Workshop on Testing and Modelling the Chloride Ingress into Concrete (ISBN: 2-912143-48-9; e-ISBN: 2912143578); *Eds. C. Andrade and J. Kropp*

PRO 39: 6th International RILEM Symposium on Fibre-Reinforced Concretes -BEFIB 2004 (ISBN: 2-912143-51-9; e-ISBN: 2912143748); *Eds. M. Di Prisco, R. Felicetti and G. A. Plizzari*

PRO 40: International RILEM Conference on the Use of Recycled Materials in Buildings and Structures (ISBN: 2-912143-52-7; e-ISBN: 2912143756); *Eds. E. Vázquez, Ch. F. Hendriks and G. M. T. Janssen*

PRO 41: RILEM International Symposium on Environment-Conscious Materials and Systems for Sustainable Development (ISBN: 2-912143-55-1; e-ISBN: 2912143640); *Eds. N. Kashino and Y. Ohama*

PRO 42: SCC'2005—China: 1st International Symposium on Design, Performance and Use of Self-Consolidating Concrete (ISBN: 2-912143-61-6;

e-ISBN: 2912143624); Eds. Zhiwu Yu, Caijun Shi, Kamal Henri Khayat and Youjun Xie

PRO 43: International RILEM Workshop on Bonded Concrete Overlays (e-ISBN: 2-912143-83-7); *Eds. J. L. Granju and J. Silfwerbrand*

PRO 44: 2nd International RILEM Workshop on Microbial Impacts on Building Materials (CD11) (e-ISBN: 2-912143-84-5); *Ed. M. Ribas Silva*

PRO 45: 2nd International Symposium on Nanotechnology in Construction, Bilbao (ISBN: 2-912143-87-X; e-ISBN: 2912143888); *Eds. Peter J. M. Bartos, Yolanda de Miguel and Antonio Porro*

PRO 46: ConcreteLife'06—International RILEM-JCI Seminar on Concrete Durability and Service Life Planning: Curing, Crack Control, Performance in Harsh Environments (ISBN: 2-912143-89-6; e-ISBN: 291214390X); *Ed. K. Kovler*

PRO 47: International RILEM Workshop on Performance Based Evaluation and Indicators for Concrete Durability (ISBN: 978-2-912143-95-2; e-ISBN: 9782912143969); *Eds. V. Baroghel-Bouny, C. Andrade, R. Torrent and K. Scrivener*

PRO 48: 1st International RILEM Symposium on Advances in Concrete through Science and Engineering (e-ISBN: 2-912143-92-6); *Eds. J. Weiss, K. Kovler, J. Marchand, and S. Mindess*

PRO 49: International RILEM Workshop on High Performance Fiber Reinforced Cementitious Composites in Structural Applications (ISBN: 2-912143-93-4; e-ISBN: 2912143942); *Eds. G. Fischer and V.C. Li*

PRO 50: 1st International RILEM Symposium on Textile Reinforced Concrete (ISBN: 2-912143-97-7; e-ISBN: 2351580087); *Eds. Josef Hegger, Wolfgang Brameshuber and Norbert Will*

PRO 51: 2nd International Symposium on Advances in Concrete through Science and Engineering (ISBN: 2-35158-003-6; e-ISBN: 2-35158-002-8); *Eds. J. Marchand, B. Bissonnette, R. Gagné, M. Jolin and F. Paradis*

PRO 52: Volume Changes of Hardening Concrete: Testing and Mitigation (ISBN: 2-35158-004-4; e-ISBN: 2-35158-005-2); *Eds. O. M. Jensen, P. Lura and K. Kovler*

PRO 53: High Performance Fiber Reinforced Cement Composites—HPFRCC5 (ISBN: 978-2-35158-046-2; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-089-9); *Eds. H. W. Reinhardt and A. E. Naaman*

PRO 54: 5th International RILEM Symposium on Self-Compacting Concrete (ISBN: 978-2-35158-047-9; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-088-2); *Eds. G. De Schutter and V. Boel*

PRO 55: International RILEM Symposium Photocatalysis, Environment and Construction Materials (ISBN: 978-2-35158-056-1; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-057-8); *Eds. P. Baglioni and L. Cassar*

PRO 56: International RILEM Workshop on Integral Service Life Modelling of Concrete Structures (ISBN 978-2-35158-058-5; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-090-5); *Eds. R. M. Ferreira, J. Gulikers and C. Andrade*

PRO 57: RILEM Workshop on Performance of cement-based materials in aggressive aqueous environments (e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-059-2); *Ed. N. De Belie*

PRO 58: International RILEM Symposium on Concrete Modelling— CONMOD'08 (ISBN: 978-2-35158-060-8; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-076-9); *Eds. E. Schlangen and G. De Schutter*

PRO 59: International RILEM Conference on On Site Assessment of Concrete, Masonry and Timber Structures—SACoMaTiS 2008 (ISBN set: 978-2-35158-061-5; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-075-2); *Eds. L. Binda, M. di Prisco and R. Felicetti*

PRO 60: Seventh RILEM International Symposium on Fibre Reinforced Concrete: Design and Applications—BEFIB 2008 (ISBN: 978-2-35158-064-6; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-086-8); *Ed. R. Gettu*

PRO 61: 1st International Conference on Microstructure Related Durability of Cementitious Composites 2 vol., (ISBN: 978-2-35158-065-3; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-084-4); *Eds. W. Sun, K. van Breugel, C. Miao, G. Ye and H. Chen*

PRO 62: NSF/ RILEM Workshop: In-situ Evaluation of Historic Wood and Masonry Structures (e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-068-4); *Eds. B. Kasal, R. Anthony and M. Drdácký*

PRO 63: Concrete in Aggressive Aqueous Environments: Performance, Testing and Modelling, 2 vol., (ISBN: 978-2-35158-071-4; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-082-0); *Eds. M. G. Alexander and A. Bertron*

PRO 64: Long Term Performance of Cementitious Barriers and Reinforced Concrete in Nuclear Power Plants and Waste Management - NUCPERF 2009 (ISBN: 978-2-35158-072-1; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-087-5); *Eds. V. L'Hostis, R. Gens, C. Gallé*

PRO 65: Design Performance and Use of Self-consolidating Concrete— SCC'2009 (ISBN: 978-2-35158-073-8; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-093-6); *Eds. C. Shi*, *Z. Yu, K. H. Khayat and P. Yan*

PRO 66: 2nd International RILEM Workshop on Concrete Durability and Service Life Planning—ConcreteLife'09 (ISBN: 978-2-35158-074-5; ISBN: 978-2-35158-074-5); *Ed. K. Kovler*

PRO 67: Repairs Mortars for Historic Masonry (e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-083-7); Ed. C. Groot

PRO 68: Proceedings of the 3rd International RILEM Symposium on 'Rheology of Cement Suspensions' such as Fresh Concrete (ISBN 978-2-35158-091-2; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-092-9); *Eds. O. H. Wallevik, S. Kubens and S. Oesterheld*

PRO 69: 3rd International PhD Student Workshop on 'Modelling the Durability of Reinforced Concrete (ISBN: 978-2-35158-095-0); *Eds. R. M. Ferreira, J. Gulikers and C. Andrade*

PRO 70: 2nd International Conference on 'Service Life Design for Infrastructure' (ISBN set: 978-2-35158-096-7, e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-097-4); *Ed. K. van Breugel, G. Ye and Y. Yuan*

PRO 71: Advances in Civil Engineering Materials—The 50-year Teaching Anniversary of Prof. Sun Wei' (ISBN: 978-2-35158-098-1; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-099-8); *Eds. C. Miao, G. Ye, and H. Chen*

PRO 72: First International Conference on 'Advances in Chemically-Activated Materials—CAM'2010' (2010), 264 p, (ISBN: 978-2-35158-101-8; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-115-5); *Eds. Caijun Shi and Xiaodong Shen*

PRO 73: 2nd International Conference on 'Waste Engineering and Management —ICWEM 2010' (2010), 894 p, (ISBN: 978-2-35158-102-5; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-103-2); *Eds. J. Zh. Xiao, Y. Zhang, M. S. Cheung and R. Chu*

PRO 74: International RILEM Conference on 'Use of Superabsorsorbent Polymers and Other New Addditives in Concrete' (2010), 374 p, (ISBN: 978-2-35158-104-9; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-105-6); *Eds. O.M. Jensen, M.T. Hasholt, and S. Laustsen*

PRO 75: International Conference on 'Material Science—2nd ICTRC—Textile Reinforced Concrete—Theme 1' (2010) 436 pp., ISBN: 978-2-35158-106-3; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-107-0; *Ed. W. Brameshuber*

PRO 76: International Conference on 'Material Science—HetMat—Modelling of Heterogeneous Materials—Theme 2' (2010) 255 pp., ISBN: 978-2-35158-108-7; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-109-4; *Ed. W. Brameshuber*

PRO 77: International Conference on 'Material Science—AdIPoC—Additions Improving Properties of Concrete—Theme 3' (2010) 459 pp., ISBN: 978-2-35158-110-0; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-111-7; *Ed. W. Brameshuber*

PRO 78: 2nd Historic Mortars Conference and RILEM TC 203-RHM Final Workshop—HMC2010 (2010) 1416 pp., e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-112-4; *Eds J. Válek, C. Groot, and J. J. Hughes*

PRO 79: International RILEM Conference on Advances in Construction Materials Through Science and Engineering (2011) 213 pp., ISBN: 978-2-35158-116-2, e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-117-9; *Eds Christopher Leung and K.T. Wan*

PRO 80: 2nd International RILEM Conference on Concrete Spalling due to Fire Exposure (2011) 453 pp., ISBN: 978-2-35158-118-6, e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-119-3; *Eds E.A.B. Koenders and F. Dehn*

PRO 81: 2nd International RILEM Conference on Strain Hardening Cementitious Composites (SHCC2-Rio) (2011) 451 pp., ISBN: 978-2-35158-120-9, e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-121-6; *Eds R.D. Toledo Filho, F.A. Silva, E.A.B. Koenders and E.M.R. Fairbairn*

PRO 82: 2nd International RILEM Conference on Progress of Recycling in the Built Environment (2011) 507 pp., e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-122-3; *Eds V.M. John, E. Vazquez, S.C. Angulo and C. Ulsen*

PRO 83: 2nd International Conference on Microstructural-related Durability of Cementitious Composites (2012) 250 pp., ISBN: 978-2-35158-129-2; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-123-0; *Eds G. Ye, K. van Breugel, W. Sun and C. Miao*

PRO 84: CONSEC13—Seventh International Conference on Concrete under Severe Conditions—Environment and Loading (2013) 1930 pp., ISBN: 978-2-35158-124-7; e-ISBN: 978-2- 35158-134-6; *Eds Z.J. Li, W. Sun, C.W. Miao, K. Sakai, O.E. Gjorv & N. Banthia*

PRO 85: RILEM-JCI International Workshop on Crack Control of Mass Concrete and Related issues concerning Early-Age of Concrete Structures—

ConCrack 3—Control of Cracking in Concrete Structures 3 (2012) 237 pp., ISBN: 978-2-35158-125-4; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-126-1; *Eds F. Toutlemonde and J.-M. Torrenti*

PRO 86: International Symposium on Life Cycle Assessment and Construction (2012) 414 pp., ISBN: 978-2-35158-127-8, e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-128-5; *Eds A. Ventura and C. de la Roche*

PRO 87: UHPFRC 2013—RILEM-fib-AFGC International Symposium on Ultra-High Performance Fibre-Reinforced Concrete (2013), ISBN: 978-2-35158-130-8, e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-131-5; *Eds F. Toutlemonde*

PRO 88: 8th RILEM International Symposium on Fibre Reinforced Concrete (2012) 344 pp., ISBN: 978-2-35158-132-2, e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-133-9; *Eds Joaquim A.O. Barros*

PRO 89: RILEM International workshop on performance-based specification and control of concrete durability (2014) 678 pp, ISBN: 978-2-35158-135-3, e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-136-0; *Eds. D. Bjegović, H. Beushausen and M. Serdar*

PRO 90: 7th RILEM International Conference on Self-Compacting Concrete and of the 1st RILEM International Conference on Rheology and Processing of Construction Materials (2013) 396 pp, ISBN: 978-2-35158-137-7, e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-138-4; *Eds. Nicolas Roussel and Hela Bessaies-Bey*

PRO 91: CONMOD 2014—RILEM International Symposium on Concrete Modelling (2014), ISBN: 978-2-35158-139-1; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-140-7; *Eds. Kefei Li, Peiyu Yan and Rongwei Yang*

PRO 92: CAM 2014—2nd International Conference on advances in chemically-activated materials (2014) 392 pp., ISBN: 978-2-35158-141-4; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-142-1; *Eds. Caijun Shi and Xiadong Shen*

PRO 93: SCC 2014—3rd International Symposium on Design, Performance and Use of Self-Consolidating Concrete (2014) 438 pp., ISBN: 978-2-35158-143-8; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-144-5; *Eds. Caijun Shi, Zhihua Ou, Kamal H. Khayat*

PRO 94 (online version): HPFRCC-7—7th RILEM conference on High performance fiber reinforced cement composites (2015), e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-146-9; *Eds. H.W. Reinhardt, G.J. Parra-Montesinos, H. Garrecht*

PRO 95: International RILEM Conference on Application of superabsorbent polymers and other new admixtures in concrete construction (2014), ISBN: 978-2-35158-147-6; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-148-3; *Eds. Viktor Mechtcherine, Christof Schroefl*

PRO 96 (online version): XIII DBMC: XIII International Conference on Durability of Building Materials and Components(2015), e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-149-0; *Eds. M. Quattrone, V.M. John*

PRO 97: SHCC3—3rd International RILEM Conference on Strain Hardening Cementitious Composites (2014), ISBN: 978-2-35158-150-6; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-151-3; *Eds. E. Schlangen, M.G. Sierra Beltran, M. Lukovic, G. Ye*

PRO 98: FERRO-11—11th International Symposium on Ferrocement and 3rd ICTRC - International Conference on Textile Reinforced Concrete (2015), ISBN: 978-2-35158-152-0; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-153-7; *Ed. W. Brameshuber*

PRO 99 (online version): ICBBM 2015—1st International Conference on Bio-Based Building Materials (2015), e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-154-4; *Eds. S. Amziane, M. Sonebi*

PRO 100: SCC16—RILEM Self-Consolidating Concrete Conference (2016), ISBN: 978-2-35158-156-8; e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-157-5; *Ed. Kamal H. Kayat*

PRO 101 (online version): III Progress of Recycling in the Built Environment (2015), e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-158-2; *Eds I. Martins, C. Ulsen and S. C. Angulo*

PRO 102 (online version): RILEM Conference on Microorganisms-Cementitious Materials Interactions (2016), e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-160-5; *Eds. Alexandra Bertron, Henk Jonkers, Virginie Wiktor*

PRO 103 (online version): ACESC'16—Advances in Civil Engineering and Sustainable Construction (2016), e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-161-2; *Eds. T.Ch. Madhavi, G. Prabhakar, Santhosh Ram and P.M. Rameshwaran*

PRO 104 (online version): SSCS'2015—Numerical Modeling—Strategies for Sustainable Concrete Structures (2015), e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-162-9

PRO 105: 1st International Conference on UHPC Materials and Structures (2016), ISBN: 978-2-35158-164-3, e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-165-0

PRO 106: AFGC-ACI-fib-RILEM International Conference on Ultra-High-Performance Fibre-Reinforced Concrete—UHPFRC 2017 (2017), ISBN: 978-2-35158-166-7, e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-167-4; *Eds. François Toutlemonde & Jacques Resplendino*

PRO 107 (online version): XIV DBMC—14th International Conference on Durability of Building Materials and Components (2017), e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-159-9; *Eds. Geert De Schutter, Nele De Belie, Arnold Janssens, Nathan Van Den Bossche*

PRO 108: MSSCE 2016—Innovation of Teaching in Materials and Structures (2016), ISBN: 978-2-35158-178-0, e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-179-7; *Ed. Per Goltermann*

PRO 109 (2 volumes): MSSCE 2016—Service Life of Cement-Based Materials and Structures (2016), ISBN Vol. 1: 978-2-35158-170-4, Vol. 2: 978-2-35158-171-4, Set Vol. 1&2: 978-2-35158-172-8, e-ISBN : 978-2-35158-173-5; *Eds. Miguel Azenha, Ivan Gabrijel, Dirk Schlicke, Terje Kanstad and Ole Mejlhede Jensen*

PRO 110: MSSCE 2016—Historical Masonry (2016), ISBN: 978-2-35158-178-0, e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-179-7; *Eds. Inge Rörig-Dalgaard and Ioannis Ioannou*

PRO 111: MSSCE 2016—Electrochemistry in Civil Engineering (2016), ISBN: 978-2-35158-176-6, e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-177-3; *Ed. Lisbeth M. Ottosen*

PRO 112: MSSCE 2016—Moisture in Materials and Structures (2016), ISBN: 978-2-35158-178-0, e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-179-7; *Eds. Kurt Kielsgaard Hansen, Carsten Rode and Lars-Olof Nilsson*

PRO 113: MSSCE 2016—Concrete with Supplementary Cementitious Materials (2016), ISBN: 978-2-35158-178-0, e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-179-7; *Eds. Ole Mejlhede Jensen, Konstantin Kovler and Nele De Belie*

PRO 114: MSSCE 2016—Frost Action in Concrete (2016), ISBN: 978-2-35158-182-7, e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-183-4; *Eds. Marianne Tange Hasholt, Katja Fridh and R. Doug Hooton*

PRO 115: MSSCE 2016—Fresh Concrete (2016), ISBN: 978-2-35158-184-1, e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-185-8; *Eds. Lars N. Thrane, Claus Pade, Oldrich Svec and Nicolas Roussel*

PRO 116: BEFIB 2016-9th RILEM International Symposium on Fiber Reinforced Concrete (2016).ISBN: 978-2-35158-187-2, e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-186-5; Eds. Ν. Banthia. М. di Prisco and S. Soleimani-Dashtaki

PRO 117: 3rd International RILEM Conference on Microstructure Related Durability of Cementitious Composites (2016), ISBN: 978-2-35158-188-9, e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-189-6; *Eds. Changwen Miao, Wei Sun, Jiaping Liu, Huisu Chen, Guang Ye and Klaas van Breugel*

PRO 118 (4 volumes): International Conference on Advances in Construction Materials and Systems (2017), ISBN Set: 978-2-35158-190-2, Vol. 1: 978-2-35158-193-3, Vol. 2: 978-2-35158-194-0, Vol. 3: ISBN:978-2-35158-195-7, Vol. 4: ISBN:978-2-35158-196-4, e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-191-9; *Ed. Manu Santhanam*

PRO 119 (online version): ICBBM 2017—Second International RILEM Conference on Bio-based Building Materials, (2017), e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-192-6; *Ed. Sofiane Amziane*

PRO 120: 2nd International RILEM/COST Conference on Early Age Cracking and Serviceability in Cement-based Materials and Structures (EAC-02), 2017, ISBN: 978-2-35158-197-1, e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-198-8; *Eds. Dimitrios Aggelis and Stéphanie Staquet*

RILEM REPORTS (REP)

Report 19: Considerations for Use in Managing the Aging of Nuclear Power Plant Concrete Structures (ISBN: 2-912143-07-1); *Ed. D. J. Naus*

Report 20: Engineering and Transport Properties of the Interfacial Transition Zone in Cementitious Composites (ISBN: 2-912143-08-X); *Eds. M. G. Alexander, G. Arliguie, G. Ballivy, A. Bentur and J. Marchand*

Report 21: Durability of Building Sealants (ISBN: 2-912143-12-8); *Ed. A. T. Wolf*

Report 22: Sustainable Raw Materials—Construction and Demolition Waste (ISBN: 2-912143-17-9); *Eds. C. F. Hendriks and H. S. Pietersen*

Report 23: Self-Compacting Concrete state-of-the-art report (ISBN: 2-912143-23-3); *Eds. Å. Skarendahl and Ö. Petersson*

Report 24: Workability and Rheology of Fresh Concrete: Compendium of Tests (ISBN: 2-912143-32-2); *Eds. P. J. M. Bartos, M. Sonebi and A. K. Tamimi*

Report 25: Early Age Cracking in Cementitious Systems (ISBN: 2-912143-33-0); *Ed. A. Bentur*

Report 26: Towards Sustainable Roofing (Joint Committee CIB/RILEM) (CD 07) (e-ISBN 978-2-912143-65-5); *Eds. Thomas W. Hutchinson and Keith Roberts*

Report 27: Condition Assessment of Roofs (Joint Committee CIB/RILEM) (CD 08) (e-ISBN 978-2-912143-66-2); *Ed. CIB W 83/RILEM TC166-RMS*

Report 28: Final report of RILEM TC 167-COM 'Characterisation of Old Mortars with Respect to Their Repair' (ISBN: 978-2-912143-56-3); *Eds. C. Groot, G. Ashall and J. Hughes*

Report 29: Pavement Performance Prediction and Evaluation (PPPE): Interlaboratory Tests (e-ISBN: 2-912143-68-3); *Eds. M. Partl and H. Piber*

Report 30: Final Report of RILEM TC 198-URM 'Use of Recycled Materials' (ISBN: 2-912143-82-9; e-ISBN: 2-912143-69-1); *Eds. Ch. F. Hendriks, G. M. T. Janssen and E. Vázquez*

Report 31: Final Report of RILEM TC 185-ATC 'Advanced testing of cement-based materials during setting and hardening' (ISBN: 2-912143-81-0; e-ISBN: 2-912143-70-5); *Eds. H. W. Reinhardt and C. U. Grosse*

Report 32: Probabilistic Assessment of Existing Structures. A JCSS publication (ISBN 2-912143-24-1); *Ed. D. Diamantidis*

Report 33: State-of-the-Art Report of RILEM Technical Committee TC 184-IFE 'Industrial Floors' (ISBN 2-35158-006-0); *Ed. P. Seidler*

Report 34: Report of RILEM Technical Committee TC 147-FMB 'Fracture mechanics applications to anchorage and bond' Tension of Reinforced Concrete Prisms—Round Robin Analysis and Tests on Bond (e-ISBN 2-912143-91-8); *Eds. L. Elfgren and K. Noghabai*

Report 35: Final Report of RILEM Technical Committee TC 188-CSC 'Casting of Self Compacting Concrete' (ISBN 2-35158-001-X; e-ISBN: 2-912143-98-5); *Eds. Å. Skarendahl and P. Billberg*

Report 36: State-of-the-Art Report of RILEM Technical Committee TC 201-TRC 'Textile Reinforced Concrete' (ISBN 2-912143-99-3); *Ed. W. Brameshuber*

Report 37: State-of-the-Art Report of RILEM Technical Committee TC 192-ECM 'Environment-conscious construction materials and systems' (ISBN: 978-2-35158-053-0); *Eds. N. Kashino, D. Van Gemert and K. Imamoto*

Report 38: State-of-the-Art Report of RILEM Technical Committee TC 205-DSC 'Durability of Self-Compacting Concrete' (ISBN: 978-2-35158-048-6); *Eds. G. De Schutter and K. Audenaert*

Report 39: Final Report of RILEM Technical Committee TC 187-SOC 'Experimental determination of the stress-crack opening curve for concrete in tension' (ISBN 978-2-35158-049-3); *Ed. J. Planas*

Report 40: State-of-the-Art Report of RILEM Technical Committee TC 189-NEC 'Non-Destructive Evaluation of the Penetrability and Thickness of the Concrete Cover' (ISBN 978-2-35158-054-7); *Eds. R. Torrent and L. Fernández Luco*

Report 41: State-of-the-Art Report of RILEM Technical Committee TC 196-ICC 'Internal Curing of Concrete' (ISBN 978-2-35158-009-7); *Eds. K. Kovler and O. M. Jensen*

Report 42: 'Acoustic Emission and Related Non-destructive Evaluation Techniques for Crack Detection and Damage Evaluation in Concrete' - Final Report of RILEM Technical Committee 212-ACD (e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-100-1); *Ed. M. Ohtsu*

Report 45: Repair Mortars for Historic Masonry - State-of-the-Art Report of RILEM Technical Committee TC 203-RHM (e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-163-6); *Eds. Paul Maurenbrecher and Caspar Groot*

TC 238-SCM Publication List

WG1: Characterisation of SCMs

Juenger, M., Provis, J., Elsen, J., Matthes, W., Hooton, D., Duchesne, J., Courard, L., He, H., Michel, F., Snellings, R., De Belie, N. (2012). Supplementary Cementitious Materials for Concrete: Characterization Needs. International symposium on concrete with smart additives and supplementary cementitious materials, IMRC, 12–17 August 2012, Cancun, Mexico. Abstract on CD of abstracts. Full paper in MRS Online Proceedings Library—January 2012—VOLUME 1488 p imrc12-1488-7b-026.

Arvaniti, E.C., Juenger, M.C.G., Bernal, S.A., Duchesne, J., Courard, L., Leroy, S., Provis, J.L., Klemm, A., De Belie, N. (2015). Physical Characterization Methods for Supplementary Cementitious Materials. Materials and Structures, <u>48</u>, (11), 3675–3686.

Arvaniti, E.C., Juenger, M.C.G., Bernal, S.A., Duchesne, J., Courard, L., Leroy, S., Provis, J.L., Klemm, A., De Belie, N. (2015). Determination of Particle Size, Surface Area, and Shape of Supplementary Cementitious Materials by Different Techniques. Materials and Structures, <u>48</u>, (11), 3687-3701.

Bernal, S.A., Juenger, M.C.G., Ke, X., Matthes, W., Lothenbach, B., De Belie, N., Provis, J.L. (2017). TC 238-SCM: Characterization of supplementary cementitious materials by thermal analysis. Materials and Structures, 50 (26), 13 p.

WG2: SCM reaction kinetics

Scrivener, K.L., Lothenbach, B., De Belie, N., Gruyaert, E., Skibsted, J., Snellings, R., Vollpracht, A. TC 238-SCM: Hydration and microstructure of concrete with SCMs. State of the art on methods to determine degree of reaction of SCMs. Materials and Structures, <u>48</u> (4), 835-862 (invited paper)

De Belie N., Scrivener K.L., Lothenbach B., Gruyaert E., Skibsted J., Snellings R., Vollpracht A. (2015). Determination of the degree of reaction of fly ash in blended cement pastes. The 14th international congress on Chemistry of Cement (ICCC), 13-16 October 2015, Beijing, p. 298 in abstract book, 12 p. paper on Proceedings CD.

Durdzinski, P., Ben Haha, M., Bernal, S., De Belie, N., Gruyaert, E., Lothenbach, B., Menendez-Mendez, E., Provis, J.L., Schöler, A., Stabler, C., Tan, Z., Villagran Zaccardi, Y., Vollpracht, A., Winnefeld, F., Zajac, M., Scrivener, K. (2017). Outcomes of the RILEM round robin on degree of reaction of slag and fly ash in blended cements. Materials and Structures, <u>50</u>, (135), 15 p.

Durdzinski, P., Ben Haha, M., Bernal, S., De Belie, N., Gruyaert, E., Lothenbach, B., Provis, J.L., Schöler, A., Stabler, C., Tan, Z., Vollpracht, A., Winnefeld, F., Villagran Zaccardi, Y., Zajac, M., Scrivener, K. (2016). Outcomes of the RILEM round robin on degree of reaction of slag and fly ash in composite cements. In: Jensen, O.M., Kovler, K., De Belie, N. (Eds.). Proceedings of the International RILEM conference Materials, Systems and Structures in Civil Engineering, Segment on Concrete with Supplementary Cementitious Materials, PRO113, Lyngby, 21-24 August 2016, 293-297. ISBN 978-2-35158-178-0, e-ISBN: 978-2-35158-179-7.

WG3: Hydration product assemblage and microstructure

Vollpracht, A., Lothenbach, B., Snellings, R., Haufe, J. (2016) The pore solution of blended cements: a review. Materials and Structures, <u>49</u>, (8), 3341-3367.

Snellings, R., Chwast, J., Cizer, O., De Belie, N., Dhandapani, Y., Durdzinski, P., Elsen, J., Johannes Haufe, J., Hooton, D., Patapy, P., Perebatova, O., Santhanam, M., Scrivener, S., Snoeck, D., Steger, L., Tongbo, S., Vollpracht, A., Winnefeld, F., Lothenbach, B. TC 238-SCM: Hydration stoppage methods for phase assemblage studies of blended cements – results of a round robin test. Materials and Structures, submitted.

WG4: SCMs in concrete

Vollpracht, A., Soutsos, M., Kanavaris, A. Strength development of GGBS and fly ash concretes and applicability of fib model code's maturity function – a critical review. Construction and Building Materials, submitted.

RILEM TC 238-SCM Members

Natalia Alderete, Ghent University, Belgium Eleni Arvaniti, Ghent University, Belgium Susan A. Bernal, The University of Sheffield, UK Wolfgang Brameshuber, RWTH Aachen, Germany Anja Buchwald, ASCEM, the Netherlands Laurie Buffo-Lacarriere, INSA-UPS, Toulouse, France Carmen Andrade, Institute of Construction Science "Eduardo Torroja" (IETcc), Spain Jacek Chwast, KU Leuven, Belgium Luc Courard, Université de Liege, Belgium Nele De Belie, Ghent University, Belgium Christos Dedeloudis, Imerys Industrial Minerals Greece Emmanuel Denarié, EPFL/SIA, Switzerland Yuvaraj Dhandapani, IIT Madras, India Josée Duchesne, Université Laval, Canada Jan Elsen, KU Leuven, Belgium Mette Geiker, Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU), Norway Fred Glasser, University of Aberdeen, UK Elke Gruyaert, Ghent University, Belgium Duncan Herfort, Aalborg Portland A/S, Denmark R. Doug Hooton, University of Toronto, Canada Maria G. Juenger, the University of Texas at Austin, USA Hao Huang, TU Delft, the Netherlands Harald Justnes, SINTEF Building and Infrastructure, Norway Agnieszka J Klemm, Glasgow Caledonian University, UK Konstantin Kovler, Technion, Israel Barbara Lothenbach, EMPA, Switzerland Thomas Matschei, Holcim Technology Ltd, Switzerland Winnie Matthes, Holcim Technology Ltd, Switzerland Esperanza Menéndez Méndez, Institute of Construction Science "Eduardo Torroja" (CSIC), Spain

Toyoharu Nawa, Hokkaido University, Japan

Angela Nunes, Secil S.A., Portugal

Cedric Patapy, INSA-UPS, Toulouse, France

John Provis, the University of Sheffield, UK

Jay G. Sanjayan, Swinburne University of Technology, Australia

Manu Santhanam, IIT Madras, India

Siham Kamali-Bernard, INSA de Rennes, France

Marina Kozhukhova, University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, USA

Karen Scrivener, EPFL, Switzerland

Kosmas Sideris, Democritus University of Thrace, Greece

Ruben Snellings, VITO NV, Belgium

Jose Fernando Martirena Hernández, Universidad Central Martha Abreu de Las Villas, Cuba

Tongbo Sui, Sinoma Research Institute, China

Marios Soutsos, Queen's University Belfast

Yury Andrés Villagrán Zaccardi, LEMIT, Argentina

Jeanette Visser, TNO, the Netherlands

Anya Vollpracht, RWTH Aachen University, Germany

Fengzhe Wang, Technion-Israel Institute of Technology, Israel

Guang Ye, TU Delft, the Netherlands

Jian Zhou, Sinoma Research Institute, China

Semion Zhutovsky, Technion-Israel Institute of Technology, Israel

Monika Zervaki, Imerys Industrial Minerals, Greece

Contents

1	Ground Granulated Blast-Furnace Slag Winnie Matthes, Anya Vollpracht, Yury Villagrán, Siham Kamali-Bernard, Doug Hooton, Elke Gruyaert, Marios Soutsos and Nele De Belie	1
2	Fly Ash	55
3	Silica Fume	99
4	Limestone Powder Luc Courard, Duncan Herfort and Yury Villagrán	123
5	Metakaolin F. Wang, K. Kovler, J. L. Provis, A. Buchwald, M. Cyr, C. Patapy, S. Kamali-Bernard, L. Courard and K. Sideris	153
6	Natural Pozzolans Christos Dedeloudis, Monika Zervaki, Kosmas Sideris, Maria Juenger, Natalia Alderete, Siham Kamali-Bernard, Yury Villagrán and Ruben Snellings	181
7	Alternative Supplementary Cementitious Materials Konstantin Sobolev, Marina Kozhukhova, Kosmas Sideris, Esperanza Menéndez and Manu Santhanam	233
8	Rice Husk Ash	283
9	Ternary Blends	303

Introduction

Supplementary cementitious materials (SCMs) have become a common ingredient of the concrete mix design nowadays. Many studies have focused on the effects of SCMs on reaction kinetics, microstructure and concrete properties. This state-of-the-art book aims to focus particularly on the properties of concrete containing supplementary cementitious materials, in the fresh and hardened state.

The SCMs identified include the most commonly used ones, like ground granulated blast-furnace slag, fly ash and silica fume, but also others that may not have attracted as much attention but nonetheless show promise for use in concrete. Dedicated chapters for each SCM were considered necessary, and thus, the chapters are as follows:

- Chapter 1. Ground Granulated Blast-furnace Slag
- Chapter 2. Fly Ash
- Chapter 3. Silica Fume
- Chapter 4. Limestone Powder
- Chapter 5. Metakaolin
- Chapter 6. Natural Pozzolans
- Chapter 7. Alternative Supplementary Cementitious Materials
- Chapter 8. Rice Husk Ash
- Chapter 9. Ternary Blends

The following points have been in general addressed:

- Overview/production of SCMs, pre- and post-blending, uses in concrete (historical perspective),
- Relevant standards,
- Health and safety issues,
- Environmental sustainability,
- Fresh properties, workability, water demand, rheology, bleeding, etc.,
- Chemical admixture interaction,
- Setting times, plastic settlement, (chemical) shrinkage, curing,
- Early age strength development,

- Heat of hydration, rate of reaction (influence of temperature and curing, maturity functions),
- Compressive strength,
- Tensile strength,
- Flexural strength,
- Modulus of elasticity,
- Fatigue,
- Transport properties.

We hope this book will contribute to a better understanding of the effects of SCMs on concrete properties, and that it will stimulate appropriate use of these valuable materials.

Nele De Belie Marios Soutsos Elke Gruyaert

Chapter 1 Ground Granulated Blast-Furnace Slag

Winnie Matthes, Anya Vollpracht, Yury Villagrán, Siham Kamali-Bernard, Doug Hooton, Elke Gruyaert, Marios Soutsos and Nele De Belie

Abstract Since the discovery of the latent hydraulic reactivity of ground granulated blast-furnace slag (ggbfs) by Emil Langen at the end of the 19th century, this material has been used successfully as cement and concrete addition. This chapter includes all relevant information about this valuable material—from production and processing to the effect, which ggbfs additions have on the concrete performance. In this context, light is shed on decisive performance parameters of ggbfs. Of special interest nowadays is certainly also the information given about trace element contents in ggbfs and their leachability. Here and throughout the entire chapter, the latest insights from research and development work are included. Last but not least, the chapter contains very practical information when it comes to the use of ggbfs in concrete, including insights on rheological effects, concrete color and "greening", and adequate curing. Moreover, an overview about relevant norms and standards on ggbfs as concrete addition is given.

Keywords Carbonation • Chloride ingress • Concrete • Granulated blast-furnace slag • Ggbfs • Permeability • Slag cement • Strength • Workability

W. Matthes (🖂)

A. Vollpracht
 Institute of Building Materials Research, RWTH Aachen University, Schinkelstr. 3, 52062
 Aachen, Germany
 e-mail: vollpracht@ibac.rwth-aachen.de

Y. Villagrán Department of Concrete Technology, LEMIT, 52 entre 121 y 122 s/n, 1900 La Plata, Argentina e-mail: yuryvillagran@conicet.gov.ar

Y. Villagrán · E. Gruyaert · N. De Belie

Holcim Technology Ltd., Schachen, 5113 Holderbank, Switzerland e-mail: winnie.matthes@lafargeholcim.com

Magnel Laboratory for Concrete Research, Ghent University, Tech Lane Ghent Science Park, Campus A, Technologiepark 904, 9052 Zwijnaarde, Belgium e-mail: nele.debelie@ugent.be

1.1 Blast-Furnace Slag—An Overview

1.1.1 History of Blast-Furnace Slag

The latent hydraulic reactivity of granulated blast-furnace slag (gbfs) was discovered in 1862 by Emil Langen in Germany (Lea 1971; Smolczyk 1978). The first use of slags in cements dates back to 1865, when in Germany a slag-lime cement was commercially produced. By 1901 the manufacture of "Eisenportlandzement" containing maximum 30% of ground granulated blast-furnace slag (ggbfs) became accepted and in 1907, the first "Hochofenzement" with up to 85% ggbfs content was produced (Moranville-Regourd 1998; Smolczyk 1978). Ever since, ggbfs has been successfully used in cementitious applications.

1.1.2 Production and Use of Blast-Furnace Slag

Blast-furnace slag (bfs) is a by-product in the manufacture of pig iron in the blast furnace. It forms by fusion of the gangue, i.e. non-ferrous material of the iron ore, mainly silica and alumina compounds, with calcium and magnesium oxides of the thermally decomposed carbonatic flux and combustion residues of the coke. These reactions take place at temperatures between 1300 and 1600 °C. The slag floats on top of the liquid iron and is tapped at regular intervals. When leaving the blast furnace, the molten bfs has a temperature of around 1450 °C and is cooled down, either slowly in contact with air in open pits or rapidly through pelletization or granulation. The latter is the state-of-the-art solution. It involves the rapid quenching

D. Hooton

E. Gruyaert

S. Kamali-Bernard

Laboratoire de Génie Civil et Génie Mécanique, INSA-Rennes, 20 Avenue des Buttes de Coësmes, CS 70839, 35708 Rennes Cedex 7, France e-mail: siham.kamali-bernard@insa-rennes.fr

Department of Civil Engineering, University of Toronto, St. George Street 35, Toronto, ON M5S 1A4, Canada e-mail: d.hooton@utoronto.ca

M. Soutsos School of Natural and Built Environment, Queen's University Belfast, Stranmillis Road, Belfast BT9 5AG, UK e-mail: m.soutsos@qub.ac.uk

Structural Mechanics and Building Materials, Technology Cluster Construction, Department of Civil Engineering, KU Leuven, Gebroeders De Smetstraat 1, 9000 Ghent, Belgium e-mail: elke.gruyaert@kuleuven.be

and mechanical dissemination of the molten slag with water jets. Also dry slag granulation techniques exist, which however never succeeded at large scale. In the context of energy recovery from molten slag, main granulation equipment suppliers have recently revived the development of dry granulation techniques.

Air cooled slag is essentially crystalline and hardly reactive. After crushing and sieving it is typically used as back-fill material in road construction or as aggregate in concrete manufacture.

Gbfs has a maximum particle size around 5 mm and is predominantly vitreous. This high glass content is the prerequisite for the latent hydraulic reactivity of gbfs, which makes it an excellent supplementary cementitious material (SCM) for the production of composite cements as a clinker substitute and for concrete manufacture as a cement substitute.

In order to produce a suitable SCM the gbfs must be ground to a specific fineness, which influences the hydraulic reactivity of the ggbfs.

Per ton of iron produced, between 0.2 and 0.5 t of bfs are obtained. The exact amount depends on the composition of the iron ore and on efficiency and size of the blast furnace. In state-of-the-art blast furnaces, the amount of bfs/ton of iron does not exceed 0.3 t.

The worldwide production of bfs is estimated at \sim 360 million t/a (Reynolds 2009). About half of it is being granulated and used in cementitious applications as SCM, taking advantage of the latent hydraulic reactivity, which allows for maximum replacement levels of clinker in cement production and of cement in concrete manufacture.

1.1.3 Composition and Reactivity of Gbfs

The main constituents of bfs are lime-silica-alumina and magnesia compounds. Figure 1.1 shows the position of bfs in the ternary diagram CaO-SiO₂-Al₂O₃ including the stability fields of the respective minerals. Gbfs typically contains minor amounts of crystals, normally melilite [solid solutions from Gehlenite Ca₂Al (AlSi)O₇ to Akermanite Ca₂MgSi₂O₇]. In basic slags with a CaO/SiO₂ ratio >1, also merwinite Ca₃Mg(SiO₄)₂ occurs.

The chemical composition of bfs depends on quality, type and proportioning of the burden, i.e. iron ore, coke and flux, and the fuels used in the blast furnace. Thus, the composition of slags from different regions varies within certain limits (Table 1.1, Matthes 2012). This is especially important to consider when importing gbfs or ggbfs from other parts of the world. However, bfs originating from the same blast furnace exhibits a rather constant composition, because priority for blast furnace operation is a constant quality of the pig iron.

The hydration of ggbfs in Portland-composite cements was extensively discussed by Taylor (1997). In presence of water ggbfs hydrates to a limited degree. A protecting film deficient in calcium is quickly formed, which slows down further reaction. If the pH is kept sufficiently high in presence of activators, the ggbfs hydration is accelerated and intensified. The most common activator of ggbfs is Portland cement clinker, but



 Table 1.1 Typical ranges of selected properties of granulated blast-furnace slags produced worldwide and in specific regions, including chemical composition, glass content, and bulk density (Matthes 2012)

Parameter	Unit	Min	Max	North America	Central and South America	Western Europe	Eastern Europe	India, Japan, Australia, RSA	
SiO ₂	%	32	42	34.6-39.9	33.5-34.8	32.0-39.4	33.5-41.5	32.6-36.9	
CaO	%	35	48	35.3-42.8	39.1-43.8	34.9-44.3	36.9-47.5	33.0-43.0	
Al ₂ O ₃	%	6	>19	6.6–11.5	10.0-13.0	9.5–12.5	5.5-12.4	10.2–19.3	
MgO	%	3	14	7.0–13.1	5.9–9.9	5.0-13.4	2.5-11.2	4.9–13.8	
TiO ₂	%	0.2	>2	0.3-0.8	0.5-0.6	0.4–1.3	0.2–1.3	0.6-2.1	
Na ₂ O _{eq}	%	0.3	1.2	0.3-0.8	0.4–0.8	0.3–1.2	0.6-1.1	0.4-0.8	
SO ₃ ^a	%	1	4	2.0-3.0	1.1–3.7	2.0-4.5	1.6-3.8	1.7-4.0	
CaO/SiO ₂	-	0.9	1.3	0.9–1.2	1.1–1.3	1.0-1.3	0.9–1.3	0.9–1.3	
Glass content	%	66	100	Not analysed					
Bulk density	kg/l	0.6	1.3	Not analysed					

^aAlthough expressed as SO₃ in the chemical analysis, essentially all sulfur in gbfs is present in sulfide form due to the reducing conditions in the blast furnace (% SO₃ = 2.5 x% S^{2–})

also other alkaline materials, for example water glass, alkali carbonates, alkali hydroxides, etc. can be used. Calcium sulfates accelerate the hydration of medium to high-alumina gbfs glass ($Al_2O_3 > 11\%$) due to the formation of ettringite, which consumes calcium and alumina released from the ggbfs. Calcium sulfates, combined with alkali compounds are effective activators of ggbfs applied in composite cements and also supersulfated cements. In all cases, calcium silicate hydrate (C-S-H) phases form as hydration products, which are responsible for strength development. Depending on the activator, also other phases form which influence hydration progress and strength development (Matthes et al. 2011; Taylor 1997).

In general, the reactivity of a ggbfs increases with increasing contents of CaO, Na_2O , and Al_2O_3 and with decreasing contents of SiO₂, FeO, TiO₂, MnO, and MnS (Dron and Brivot 1980; Kollo 1991; Kollo and Geiseler 1987; Schröder 1969; Smolczyk 1978; Sopora 1959; Yang 1969). A high CaO/SiO₂ ratio generally indicates a good reactivity. Elevated alumina contents in ggbfs are favorable for strength development of slag cements in presence of sulfate, especially at early ages due to enhanced ettringite formation (Matthes 2012; Olbrich 1999; Smolczyk 1978).

Numerous indices have been developed to predict and specify the reactivity of ggbfs. Some of them are given in Table 1.2. While such indices may be convenient for quality control of ggbfs from one source, they are not satisfactory for a general prediction of strength of various ggbfs in cement, because there is no linear relationship between strength and oxide contents in ggbfs over a large composition range (Hooton and Emery 1983; Schröder 1961; Smolczyk 1978).

Apart from the chemical and mineralogical composition, the degree of pre-hydration of gbfs affects its hydraulic reactivity. Due to its latent hydraulic properties, gbfs starts to hydrate as soon as it gets in contact with water. After granulation the gbfs typically has a moisture content between 8 and 12%, sometimes up to 20%, depending on its pore volume. When gbfs is stockpiled outside, a hard crust of prehydrated gbfs can form on the stockpile over time. When recovering the gbfs, the lumps may require extensive disaggregation before any further processing can be done. The intensity of the prehydration depends on the reactivity of the gbfs, climatic conditions, particle shape, compaction, and storage time. It can

Reactivity index	Year	Definition	Criteria
Basicity according to Tetmajer	1886	CaO/ SiO ₂	-
German Standard for "Eisenportlandzement" (CEM II-S)	1909	$\boxed{ \begin{array}{c} CaO + MgO \\ SiO_2 + Al_2O_3 \end{array} }$	≥ 1
German Standard for "Hochofenzement"	1932	$\frac{CaO+MgO+0.33\cdot Al_2O_3}{SiO_2+0.67\cdot Al_2O_3}$ MnO	$\begin{vmatrix} \ge 1 \\ \le 5 \text{ wt\%} \end{vmatrix}$
German Standard for special cements	1942	$\frac{CaO + MgO + Al_2O_3}{SiO_2}$	≥ 1
F-value according to Keil	1942	$\boxed{\frac{CaO+CaS+0.5\cdot MgO+Al_2O_3}{SiO_2+MnO}}$	>1.5
Reactivity according to De Langavant	1949	$20 + CaO + Al_2O_3 + 0.5 \cdot MgO - SiO_2$	-
F-value according to Sopora	1959	$\frac{CaO+CaS+0.5\cdot MgO+Al_2O_3}{SiO_2+MnO_2}$	>1.5
Basicity according to Schwiete	1963	$\boxed{\frac{CaO+Al_2O_3-10}{SiO_2+10}}$	-
Reactivitiy according to Wang	1994	$\boxed{\frac{CaO+MgO+Al_2O_3}{SiO_2+TiO_2}}$	-
European Standards for cement and blast-furnace slag	1994 2001 2006	$\frac{CaO + MgO}{SiO_2}$ CaO + MgO + SiO_2	>1 >67 wt%

Table 1.2 Summary of the reactivity indices for ggbfs (De Langavant 1949; Ehrenberg et al. 2008a, b; Tetmajer 1886; Tigges 2010; Wang et al. 1994)

be measured via loss on ignition (LOI), which accounts for chemically bound water, or bound CO_2 . While fresh gbfs has an LOI of 0.2–0.5%, stockpiled gbfs can reach an LOI of 2% and beyond (Matthes 2012).

The prehydration of gbfs is relevant for gbfs processing. As the soft hydration products are very easy to grind, a given target fineness is obtained with a lower grinding energy compared to fresh gbfs. Due to the contribution of the soft hydration products to target fineness, the reactive fresh ggbfs grains will be coarser and thus, the compressive strength obtained from prehydrated gbfs will be lower compared to fresh gbfs of same fineness and composition (Ehrenberg 2012; Matthes 2012). When applying the same grinding energy as to fresh gbfs, the prehydrated gbfs will show a higher overall fineness due to the contribution of the soft hydration products, but the reactivity and strength development will be comparable to fresh ggbfs.

Concerning the assessment of gbfs reactivity, strength testing combined with chemical and mineralogical characterization remains a very reliable and simple method. For non-routine analyses, numerous laboratory methods allow assessment of the hydration degree of gbfs. Promising among those are electron microscopy and image analysis (SEM-BSE-IA), isothermal calorimetry and chemical shrinkage (Kocaba et al. 2012).

Apart from the intrinsic reactivity, fineness and particle size distribution of the ground gbfs, in Portland composite systems, the properties of the Portland cement clinker, type and dosage of the calcium sulfate set modifier, the particle size distribution of the cement constituents and the actual concrete mix design determine the ultimate concrete performance (Fig. 1.2, Wolter et al. 2003). In production, the reactivity of ggbfs is mainly controlled by varying fineness and particle size distribution. In the ASTM C 989 there are three strength grades of ggbfs specified, which are largely influenced by gbfs quality, fineness, and also by possible calcium sulfate additions.



Fig. 1.2 Factors affecting the reactivity of ggbfs, redrafted after Wolter et al. (2003)

1.1.4 Ggbfs as Cement Constituent and as Concrete Addition

Typical ggbfs contents in concrete range from 20 to $\sim 80\%$ of the total cementitious material. The cement replacement level depends on the requirements on:

- Strength development
- Durability, e.g. resistance to ASR, or attack by sulfates, sea water, or other chemicals or frost and deicing salt
- Heat of hydration
- Setting time.

Ggbfs is either used as a cement constituent replacing Portland clinker and/or as concrete constituent replacing cement. The kind of ggbfs utilization differs locally. North America, the UK and Australia, for example, have a long tradition of using ggbfs as concrete addition, while in Latin America, most of central Europe and India, ggbfs is mainly used as cement constituent.

Both applications have their advantages and disadvantages. The direct use of SCM in concrete gives the concrete producer a maximum flexibility for designing concretes for various applications with a minimum number of silos for cement and SCM. The prerequisite is an adequate knowledge about concrete design and performance. A disadvantage of direct SCM addition to concrete is that the performance of the cementitious part cannot be optimized. In cases where ggbfs and/or cement were of lower reactivity, higher cement contents can be necessary to achieve the same performance as a concrete made with an optimized Portland composite cement with ggbfs (Fig. 1.3, Addis 1986). Intergrinding calcium sulfate



with gbfs can help to improve the reactivity of the cementitious system, especially when the gbfs has a medium alumina content >10%.

When using ggbfs as concrete addition it is the responsibility of the ready mix concrete producer to handle changes in the quality of cement and SCMs. This is typically done via adjustments to the concrete design. Composite cements are optimized for performance including quality control of the single cement constituents, optimization of type and dosage of the calcium sulfate phase for optimum setting and hardening and optimum fineness and particle size distribution for best fresh concrete properties and strength. Due to permanent quality control of all cement constituents and of the final product by the cement producer, the concrete producer will obtain cements with a consistent quality.

When proportioning concrete with ggbfs, the lower specific gravity of ggbfs of ~2.9 g/cm³ versus Portland cement of ~3.14 g/cm³ has to be considered. Replacing cement by ggbfs on a mass basis leads to higher volume of cementitious phase, which usually improves placeability, finishability, and compaction of the concrete. Moreover, coarser aggregate can be used to increase strength and to reduce water demand without affecting plastic properties (SCA 2002).

Ternary composites including Portland cement and ggbfs plus another SCM such as fly ash, silica fume or limestone are beneficial to further improve concrete properties, e.g. in high performance concrete. Combinations with fly ash can further improve workability due to the ball-bearing effect of spherical fly ash particles and further reduce heat of hydration. Combinations with silica fume will further increase strength and reduce permeability of the concrete at early ages (ACI 2011; Matthes 2012).

1.2 Relevant Standards for Ggbfs as Cement and Concrete Addition

The different options of using ggbfs, either as a cement or concrete constituent, are reflected by the existing standards. Examples of standards for ggbfs as a cement addition are the European EN 197-1 or ASTM C 595. They include different cement classes differentiated according to the amount of Portland clinker and to the type and amount of SCMs. EN 197-1 for example differentiates between Portland composite cements with up to 35% SCMs, be it pure or in combinations. Apart from that, three classes of blast-furnace cements exist, CEM III/A, B, C, which have ggbfs contents from 36 to 95%. So far, apart from 5% minor constituents, no combinations with other SCMs are allowed in these blast-furnace cements, but this is expected to change in the revised version. The CEM V/A and CEM V/B cements are low clinker cements containing a combination of ggbfs and pozzolans or siliceous fly ash, each with minimum contents of 18 and 31%, respectively.

Special cements for exposure to chemical attack are usually covered by national standards. In this respect, slag composite cements are often mentioned. For example, the French NF P 15-317 on sea-water resisting cements allows CEM II/A-S, II/A-M (S-V), CEM III/A with minimum 60% ggbfs and CEM III/B,

CEM III/C and CEM V cements, together with specifications on the composition of the cements and clinker, including C_3A and sulfate contents etc. The same cements plus CEM II/B are allowed by NF-P 15-319, which specifies cements for applications in high sulfate environment, again in connection with chemical specifications. The German DIN 1164 defines CEM III/B and CEM III/C cements according to EN 197-1 as high sulfate resistant.

Examples of standards on ggbfs as addition to concrete, mortar and grouts are the American ASTM C 989 and the European EN 15167-1:2006. ASTM C 989 differentiates three grades of ggbfs, based on their strength development when mixed at 50% with a reference, ordinary Portland cement (OPC). The addition of calcium sulfate is allowed. EN 15167-1 does not include strength classes and does not foresee calcium sulfate additions. Apart from standards for single SCMs such as ggbfs as concrete addition, also combinations are specified, for example by the Austrian öNORM B 3399 or by ASTM C 1697.

Recommendations on how to account for ggbfs in the concrete mix design are given by the European concrete standard EN 206. The EN 206 lists ggbfs conforming to EN 15167-1, along with fly ash and silica fume, as type II concrete additions. The prescriptive k-value concept as well as the Equivalent Concrete Performance Concept (ECPC) and Equivalent Performance of Combinations Concept (EPCC) are included.

The *k*-value concept is based on the comparison of the 28-day strength performance of a reference concrete with a specified cement versus a test concrete, in which part of this cement is replaced by a type II addition. The concept permits type II additions to be taken into account by replacing the term "water/cement ratio" with "equivalent water/cement ratio" (w/c_{eq} = water/(cement + $k \cdot$ addition)). The amount of (cement + $k \cdot$ addition) shall not be less than the minimum cement content required for the relevant exposure class. According to EN 206:2013, the k-value for ggbfs and the maximum acknowledgeable amount of ggbfs have to comply with the respective national regulations. In Annex L, the following recommendations are given: The k-value of ggbfs in combination with CEM I or CEM II/A shall be 0.6. The maximum ggbfs useable for calculating the water/binder ratio and the minimum cement content shall comply with the weight ratio ggbfs/cement ≤ 1.0 .

As the k-value concept, also the performance concepts ECPC and EPCC are used on a national basis. The ECPC permits amendments to the requirements for minimum cement content and maximum water/cement ratio when one or more specific additions and one or more specific cements are used, for which the manufacturing source and characteristics are clearly defined and documented. Such amendments are in place for example in Belgium and the Netherlands. The concept includes comparative testing of concrete compositions, which deviate from the generally specified and accepted design criteria for defined applications versus the specified reference composition. If the defined properties such as compressive strength, resistance to carbonation, chloride penetration and freeze-thaw deicing salt attack, are comparable, the suitability of the new concrete design can be certified. In Belgium the methodology for the assessment and the validation of the fitness for use of cements or additions for concrete as slag amongst others is described in NBN B15-100. The EPCC treats a combination of a cement and additions as technically equivalent to a standardized cement of the same composition. This concept may permit a defined range of combinations to count fully towards the requirements for maximum w/c ratio and minimum cement content specified for the standardized cement (EN 206).

In North America, k-values are not used and ggbfs is treated as equivalent to Portland cement. Due to its latent hydraulic properties, ggbfs is referred to as slag cement. For concrete placements in cool weather, ggbfs replacement levels are often reduced, while they are increased in hot weather to provide similar setting times and early-age strength development. The ACI 233R *Guide to the use of Slag Cement in Concrete and Mortar* (ACI 2011) states, that the proportioning techniques for concrete incorporating ggbfs are similar to those used in proportioning are given in the ACI 211.1 *Standard Practice for Selecting Proportions for Normal, Heavyweight, and Mass Concrete*. Adjustments must be made for changes in solid volume due to the difference in specific gravity of slag and Portland cement.

1.3 Selected Environmental Aspects on Gbfs and Ggbfs

It is recognized that supplementary cementitious materials or additions used as secondary main constituents in cement or concrete influence the environmental impact during manufacturing and service life of the material. In this chapter, the CO_2 emissions, the heavy metal contents and leaching and radioactivity are discussed.

1.3.1 CO₂ Footprint

Using ggbfs as secondary main constituent, either in cement or in concrete production reduces the carbon footprint of total cementitious materials. Proceeding from 913 kg CO_2/t CEM I and 67 kg CO_2/t ggbfs as quoted in the UK, the CO_2 footprint of the cementitious materials can be reduced to less than 30% of that of CEM I, due to the high replacement levels of ggbfs (Table 1.3).

When using supplementary cementitious materials, attention has to be paid to the allocated environmental impact. Bfs is a useful by-product, and part of the environmental load of the steel production can be allocated to it. In this context different allocation principles can be adopted (Van den Heede and De Belie 2012). In some countries the environmental load from steel production is completely attributed to the steel and the only environmental load of the ggbfs results from grinding and transport. In the UK, the carbon footprint of ggbfs is 67 kg/t. This excludes any CO_2 allocation from the primary process, i.e. iron production. According to EN 15804, processes contributing of the order of 1% or less to the overall revenue are allowed to be neglected.
Combination (CEM I + ggbfs)	Content of the addition	CO_2e^a (without transport of constituents to the concrete plant)
	wt%	kg CO ₂ e/t (addition content low-high)
CIIB-S	21-35 (ggbfs)	735–617
CIIIA	36-65 (ggbfs)	608–363
CIIIB	66-80 (ggbfs)	354–236

Table 1.3 CO_2e (carbon dioxide equivalent) of combinations with ggbfs produced at the concrete plant (Technical Datasheet 2014)

 $^{a}CO_{2}e$ can be interpolated for proportions of addition between the minimum and maximum, noting that the minimum $CO_{2}e$ is associated with the highest proportion of addition

1.3.2 Heavy Metal Contents

Gbfs may contain small quantities of heavy metals. Table 1.4 compares the contents of these elements with that of OPC. The heavy metal contents of gbfs are usually lower than that of OPC.

Parameter	CEM 2007)	[(Brameshuber an	Gbfs ^a		
	n	Range	Average	n	Median
	-	mg/kg		-	mg/kg
Antimony (Sb)	21	<1-9.4	2.4	53	<5
Arsenic (As)	14	<2-12	6.1	53	<5
Barium (Ba)	8	104-818	346	-	-
Lead (Pb)	21	5-145	27	53	<5
Cadmium (Cd)	18	<0.1-1.7	0.5	53	<0.5
Chromium (Cr)	21	29–129	61	53	21.2
Cobalt (Co)	15	5.6-14	8	-	-
Copper (Cu)	18	14–101	35	53	<5
Molybdenum (Mo)	14	<1-6.9	2.9	53	<5
Nickel (Ni)	18	14-84	31	53	<5
Mercury (Hg)	18	0.003-0.7	0.06	-	-
Selenium (Se)	5	<5-10	5.9	-	-
Thallium (Tl)	15	<0.1-3.9	0.6	-	-
Vanadium (V)	16	22-100	39	53	34
Zinc (Zn)	14	30–514	146	53	7.4

Table 1.4 Contents of heavy metals and trace elements of CEM I and blast furnace slag

n: Number of tested samples

^aResults from the database of the FEhS, Duisburg, personal note from Dr. Bialucha

1.3.3 Leaching

The Technical Committee 351 of the European Committee for Standardization (CEN/TC351) is developing harmonised leaching tests for building materials. For monolithic materials like concrete, the following technical specification has been published: CEN/TS 16637-2:2014 (Construction products—Assessment of release of dangerous substances—Part 2: Horizontal dynamic surface leaching test—DSLT).

The DSLT is a method to determine the release of substances from a specimen with demineralised water in contact with its surface as a function of time. The specimen is placed in a leaching vessel and completely submerged in the demineralised water, which is changed at defined time steps (0.25, 1, 2.25, 4, 9, 16, 36 and 64 days). The leachates are analysed for the relevant parameters. The cumulative release of these parameters is calculated in relation to its surface (Eq. 1.1)

$$\mathbf{R}_{n} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{r}_{i} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \mathbf{c}_{i} \cdot \frac{\mathbf{L}}{\mathbf{A}}$$
(1.1)

- R_n cumulative release of the substance for period n including fraction i = 1 to n in mg/m²
- r_i release of the substance in fraction i in mg/m²
- ci concentration of the substance in leachate i in mg/l
- L/A volume of the liquid, divided by the surface area of the sample, $L/A = (80 \pm 10) l/m^2$.

Similar tank tests have been carried out in the Netherlands and in Germany for many years. The leaching steps and the L/A-ratio differ, but the principle of the test is the same. The storage conditions before starting the leaching test are relevant. Even a slight carbonation of the surface changes the pH of the leachates and thus the concentration of heavy metals (Rickert and Vollpracht 2014). Thus, for comparative studies it is necessary to use the same storage conditions.

The release of trace elements from mortars and concretes made of commercial Portland cement and blast furnace slag cements was studied by Rickert et al. (2011), Rickert and Vollpracht (2014), Van der Sloot et al. 2001, and Vollpracht, RTWH Aachen (unpublished data). The trace element contents of the cements used (Table 1.5) indicate, that CEM III cements do not show elevated contents versus CEM I, except for V and Ba in some cases.

After demoulding the samples were wrapped airtight in a polyethylene foil and stored at 20 \pm 3 °C until testing. The leaching tests started at 28 or 56 days. The release of Ba, Cr, Co, Cu, Ni, Pb of CEM III cement concrete is comparable to Portland cement concrete, the release of V can be higher (Figs. 1.4, 1.5, 1.6 and 1.7). The concentrations of Sb, As and Se were below 1 µg/l, the concentrations of

Cd below 0.5 μ g/l and of Hg below 0.1 μ g/l for all tested mixtures. Due to these low concentrations the release was not calculated.

In the EU the evaluation of leaching results is regulated at national level.

1.3.4 Radioactivity

The radioactivity of gbfs or ggbfs generally does not exceed typical concentrations in other commercial products and building materials (Table 1.6).

According to Bialucha (2000), who tested 30 gbfs, all samples had sums of Ra-226 + Th-232 lower than the German sum index of 500 Bq/kg, above which a material is required to be observed (Table 1.7). For 80% of the slags this sum was below 200 Bq/kg. The content of K-40 was lower than stated in Bundesministerium für Umwelt, Naturschutz und Reaktorsicherheit (1993).

1.4 Impact of Ggbfs on Fresh Concrete Properties and Setting Time

1.4.1 Workability and Superplasticizer Demand

Using ggbfs in concrete improves workability. Thus, with increasing content of ggbfs, either the water/binder ratio (w/b), the dosage of superplasticizer or the paste content can be reduced, compared to a mix with Portland cement (Figs. 1.8 and 1.9) (Beushausen et al. 2012; Eren et al. 1995; Megat Johari et al. 2011; Osborne 1989; Wimpenny et al. 1989).

This workability improvement by ggbfs additions is usually perceivable at elevated contents of ggbfs of at least ~50 wt% of total cementitious material. It can be attributed to the smooth, glassy surface of ggbfs, which creates slip planes in the paste (Wood 1981). Moreover, ggbfs has a latent hydraulic reactivity and therefore binds less water than Portland cement during concrete manufacture. At ggbfs contents of 40–65% the mixing water can be reduced by ~5% compared to OPC concrete (Lothia and Joshi 1995; Meusel and Rose 1983). If in presence of major amounts of ggbfs the mixing water volume or superplasticizer dosage would not be adjusted, excessive bleeding may occur, coupled with prolonged setting and strength reduction.

The effectiveness of ggbfs to reduce superplasticizer demand decreases with increasing ggbfs fineness and/or at low water/binder ratios <0.3 (Gesoğlu et al. 2009; Lothia and Joshi 1995; Marushima et al. 1993; Nakamura et al. 1991; Peterson Becknell and Hale 2011). Boukendakdji et al. (2012) confirmed in SCC

Heavy metal/	CEM	11											CEM III		
trace element	1 ^a	ĪZ	N2	D1	D2	Η1	H3	H6	H7	6H	B1 (2011)	B1 (2014)	CEM III/A 1 ^a	CEM III/A (2011)	CEM III/B (2014)
	mg/kg	. <u>8</u>											mg/kg		
Sb	2	2.1	$\overline{}$	1.2	3.6	4.8	$\overline{\vee}$	<u>~</u>	.√	3.9	8.6	3.8	5	5.1	<u>~</u>
As	4	23	4.5	8.6	6.9	7.2	2.3	5.7	10	4.9	16	172	2	11	
Ba	331	1	1	I	I	I	I	I	I	201	47	269	420	72.5	515
Pb	14	20	30	106	15	64	12	19	5.8	57	29	155	14	22	12
Cd	0.2	0.21	0.38	0.61	<0.1	0.96	0.15	0.57	0.51	0.94	1.46	4.93	<0.5	0.85	0.46
Cr	59	184	70	76	29	89	92	578	129	33	85	41	46	62	40
Co	4	12	8.9	7.3	7.5	13	14	22	7.6	5.9	12	11	4	8.6	2.1
Cu	22	16	14	16	29	54	16	27	16	15	89	158	18	57	61.7
Mo	I	1.9	5	6.9	1.1	3.7	<1.0	<1.0	<1.0	4.3	2.7	39	1	2.02	3.7
Ni	36	61	22	45	14	47	25	75	42	14	41	25	23	26	12.8
Hg	0.2	<0.02	0.03	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	<0.02	0.12	0.05	0.12	< 0.1	0.04	<0.02
Se	I	I	I	I	I	I	Ι	I	I	I	√.	$\overline{\nabla}$	I	<1	$\overline{\nabla}$
IL	0.2	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	$\overline{\vee}$	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	<0.5	 - -	<0.2	3.37	0.5	<0.2	<0.2
N	I	4	30	31	22	100	73	36	34	27	67	35	I	51	206
Zn	281	55	43	104	130	382	33	83	30	223	528	1178	245	341	93
^a Unpublished data Vollpracht, RWTH Aachen; -: Not determined	I Vollp	racht, RV	VTH A	achen; –	: Not de	termined									

Table 1.5 Contents of heavy metals and trace elements of the cements used in the mortars/concretes of the tank leaching tests, data from Rickert et al. (2011)

14



Fig. 1.4 Release of barium and lead from mortars and concretes with different cements (Rickert et al. 2011; Rickert and Vollpracht 2014; Van der Sloot et al. 2001; Vollpracht, unpublished data)



Fig. 1.5 Release of chromium and cobalt from mortars and concretes with different cements (Rickert et al. 2011; Rickert and Vollpracht 2014; Van der Sloot et al. 2001; Vollpracht, unpublished data)



Fig. 1.6 Release of copper and nickel from mortars and concretes with different cements (Rickert et al. 2011; Rickert and Vollpracht 2014; Van der Sloot et al. 2001; Vollpracht, unpublished data)

Fig. 1.7 Release of vanadium from mortars and concretes with different cements (Rickert et al. 2011; Rickert and Vollpracht 2014; Van der Sloot et al. 2001; Vollpracht, unpublished data)



the effectiveness of ggbfs additions of 15% and higher in reducing superplasticizer demand for a targeted workability.

Regarding the response of cements to polycarboxylate-based superplasticizers (SP), CEM III/B with 72% ggbfs showed a higher sensitivity towards SP dosage than OPC (Alonso et al. 2007; Hamada et al. 2000; Puertas et al. 2005). The relation between ggbfs content and SP demand decreases with increasing w/b (Carette and Malhotra 1987). The influence of 0–75% ggbfs additions on the zeta potential and

Material	Ra-226	Ra-226		Th-232			Reference	
	Average	Range	Average	Range	Average	Range		
	Bq/kg		Bq/kg		Bq/kg		-	
Soils (worldwide)	32	n. i.	45	n. i.	412	n. i.	UNSCEAR Report (2010)	
Limestone	24	4-41	5	2-20	90	<40-240	Bundes-ministerium	
Sand/gravel	15	1-39	16	1-64	380	3-1200	für Umwelt,	
Basalt	26	6-36	29	9–37	270	190–380	Naturschutz und Reaktorsicherheit	
Sandstone	20	13-70	25	15-70	500	<40-1100	(1993)	
Tuff	100	<20-200	100	30-300	1000	500-2000		
Granite	100	30-500	120	17-311	1000	600-4000	-	
Expanded clay	40	<20-70	70	30–90	600	70-800		
Brick	50	100-200	52	12-200	700	100-2000	1	
Gbfs	100	40-200	100	30-300	500	200-1000		
Fly ash	200	26-1110	100	14-300	700	170-1450	-	
CEM I	30	10-50	20	10-40	200	100-700	-	
CEM II	60	20-100	80	30-200	100	< 40-200]	
Concrete	30	7–92	23	4-71	450	50-1300	1	
Average for building materials	50	-	50	-	500	-	UNSCEAR Report (2008)	

Table 1.6 Radioactivity of gbfs compared to natural rocks and other building materials

n. i.: No information

Material	Ra-226		Th-232		K-40	
	Average	Range	Average	Range	Average	Range
	Bq/kg		Bq/kg		Bq/kg	
Bfs	130	66–360	62	28–129	167	60–405

Table 1.7 Radioactivity of bfs (30 samples), (Bialucha 2000)

rheology of cement pastes with and without polycarboxylate-based admixtures was studied by various authors (Palacios et al. 2009a, b).

Fulton (1974) and Swamy (1990) mention the improved cohesiveness of concrete containing major amounts of ggbfs. However, this cohesiveness, also called "stickiness", does not impair the ease of compaction on the construction site. Also high ggbfs concrete is easy to compact by conventional mechanical vibration. When comparing the placeability of concrete using the Vebe apparatus, concrete with 50% ggbfs was easier to place than the mix without ggbfs (Fulton 1974).

Shi et al. (2004) confirmed the workability improvement through ggbfs additions in concrete, which resulted in a decrease in plastic viscosity and yield stress. With

Fig. 1.8 Effect of water content on slump of concrete mixtures with and without ggbfs (Meusel and Rose 1983)



Fig. 1.9 Effect of partial cement replacement by ggbfs on dosage of superpasticizer (naphthalene based) required for concrete with a slump of 150 mm, redrafted after Domone and Soutsos (1995)



decreasing amorphous content of the ggbfs this dispersing effect was reduced. However, also contradictory experiences exist, especially when working at very low w/b ratios as done by Soutsos (1992). Under such conditions the influence of ggbfs on the rheological properties can be rather limited (Fig. 1.10).

Generally, the effects of chemical admixtures on concrete with ggbfs are similar to those for OPC concrete. Retarding admixtures are typically more effective when ggbfs is present, especially if the cement is low in C_3A or alkalis (ACI 2011). At elevated ggbfs contents, the dosage of air entraining agent usually has to be increased to achieve a target air content, especially at low w/b (ACI 2011; Lothia and Joshi 1995; Matthes 2012).



Fig. 1.10 Effect of partial cement replacement by ggbfs on the yield (g) and plastic viscosity (h) values for concrete mixes with water/binder ratio of 0.26 and a slump of approx. 150 mm, data from Soutsos (1992)

1.4.2 Segregation and Bleeding

Coupled with the effect of workability improvement by ggbfs is an increased tendency to bleeding and segregation. To adjust the concrete design the superplasticizer dosages and/or the water added should be reduced to achieve the target workability. Following the national standards and working practices, further adjustments ensure the required concrete performance in terms of strength development and, potentially, durability (Ait-Aider 1988; Cesareni and Frigione 1969; Matthes 2012; Rickett 1990; Swamy 1990; Wainwright and Ait-Aider 1995; Wainwright and Rey 2000).

Generally, the bleeding capacity and bleeding rate of concrete are influenced by the ratio of the surface area of the solid constituents to the volume of water and thus are sensitive to changes in the surface area of the cementitious constituents (ACI 2011). Thus, if a fine ggbfs would replace a coarser cement, bleeding can be reduced and vice versa. Especially effective for reducing bleeding would be very fine ggbfs (Blaine > 10,000 cm²/g, Nakamura et al. 1991).

1.4.3 Slump Loss

The data on slump loss of ggbfs concrete are varying. Frigione (1986) reported a reduced rate of slump loss, while Meusel and Rose (1983) reported a similar slump loss of concrete containing 50% ggbfs versus OPC concrete. Lea (1971) described reduced slump loss, especially when OPC with rapid slump loss is replaced by ggbfs. Boukendakdji et al. (2009) reported an increase of open time of

self-compacting concrete (SCC) from 30 to 60 min when 15% of Portland cement was replaced by ggbfs.

1.4.4 Setting Time

When OPC is replaced by ggbfs, usually the time of setting is increased. The degree of this increase depends on various factors, for example on the amount of cement substituted, the initial concrete temperature, the w/b ratio, and the properties of the cement and additives used (Fulton 1974; Swamy 1990). In fact, concrete temperature is a key parameter for the setting time of ggbfs composites. The delay of time of set is especially pronounced at low concrete temperatures and/or at major ggbfs contents >50% (Robeyst et al. 2008; SCA 2002; Yoshida et al. 1986). At 20 °C and above, the reported results are manifold, reaching from no or little impact (Alshamsi 2001; Hooton 2000; Juenger et al. 2008) to even reduced times of set (Eren et al. 1995). Hogan and Meusel (1981) for example reported that at 23 °C initial setting can be prolonged by 30–60 min, while at 29 °C hardly any change is detected. Similar trends are described by SCA (Fig. 1.11, SCA 2002) and numerous other authors. Prolonged setting can be compensated either by using accelerators, by reducing the cement substitution by ggbfs in the concrete mix (ACI 2011), or by adjusting the concrete design, including w/b and superplasticizer dosage.

By continuous monitoring of the evolution of the ultrasonic wave velocity through concrete containing high amounts of ggbfs, valuable information can be extracted about the setting behaviour (Fig. 1.12; Robeyst et al. 2008). During the dormant period, the P-wave velocity is nearly constant. However at that time, the signal attenuation is large and the determination of the signal onset time and thus P-wave velocity is less accurate. After the dormant period, the P-wave velocity increases rapidly as the stiffness of the concrete develops. The P-wave velocity is lower for mixes containing high amounts of ggbfs (>50%), because the stiffness develops slower. For these mixes, the initial increase in P-wave velocity is mainly due to the hydration of OPC. Moreover, at early ages, the presence of ggbfs decelerates the temperature rise and increases the distance between the cement particles (Robeyst 2009). When comparing different CEM III cements, the increase of P-wave velocity depends not only on the ggbfs content, but also on their fineness, clinker reactivity, and content of set modifiers and accelerators (Robeyst et al. 2008; Robeyst 2009). For concrete with high ggbfs contents in the binder [S85 and S (CEM III/C 32.5)], a second increase of P-wave velocity can be noticed, which can be attributed to the hydration of slag particles.

In comparison to the more traditional tests to determine the initial and final setting times (e.g. penetration resistance test), the ultrasonic transmission method is non-destructive. The change of ultrasonic velocity in time is sensitive to the



Fig. 1.11 Influence of ggbfs and temperature on time of set, redrafted after SCA (2002)



Fig. 1.12 Evolution of the P-wave velocity in function of concrete age (left: slag added as a separate component to the concrete mix at OPC replacement levels ranging from 0 to 85%, right: blended cements) (Robeyst et al. 2008)

differences in setting behaviour of the tested mixtures. The initial setting seems to correspond with the inflection point of the velocity versus time curve and the final setting with the point at which the velocity increase levels off (Robeyst 2009).

1.5 Impact of Ggbfs on Heat of Hydration

The hydration of cement is an exothermal chemical process. Based on the mineralogical composition of the Portland clinker and the total heat produced during complete hydration of these minerals, the total theoretical hydration heat of OPC can be determined (Q_{tot}). For cement composites with ggbfs, the maximum heat released at the end of the reaction can be experimentally determined. Literature results range from 355 to 461 J/g ggbfs (Bensted 1981; De Schutter 1999; Kishi and Maekawa 1995; Schindler and Folliard 2003).

By replacing part of the hydraulic, rapidly hydrating OPC by the latent hydraulic, slower reacting ggbfs, the heat production rate and total heat of hydration is reduced. This is especially beneficial for mass concrete to avoid thermal shrinkage cracking.

The heat production rate of ggbfs containing concrete is also sensitive to curing temperature (Fig. 1.13) and so is its strength development.

Some researchers reported, that the tensile strain capacity of concrete with 70% ggbfs at early age was lower than that of equivalent OPC concrete and it was estimated, that with sections over 2.5 m deep the reduced tensile strain capacity of ggbfs concrete may cancel out the benefit of the reduced temperature rise (Bamforth 1980). Also others indicated, that the use of ggbfs should not be based on its ability to reduce heat of hydration alone (Springenschmid et al. 1994; Thomas and Mukherjee 1994).



Fig. 1.13 Heat output per kilogram binder of mortar grade C45 cured at 20, 30, 40 and 50 °C at cement replacement rates of 20, 35, 50 and 70% with ggbfs. Redrafted after Turu'allo (2013)



Apart from reducing the total cementitious content, the partial replacement of OPC by ggbfs or other SCMs is an effective and common means to reduce peak temperatures in mass concrete (Fig. 1.14). Generally, OPC replacement rates between 65 and 80% are considered effective, whereas for smaller mass pours 50–65% ggbfs were successfully used (SCA 2002).

For mass concrete projects the performance of the concrete designs should be tested using the local materials to ensure their performance regarding temperature and strength development. Adiabatic tests may be used for this purpose. The adiabatic temperature histories of concretes with different ggbfs contents are shown in Fig. 1.15 (Soutsos et al. 2005). The Portland cement concrete had a temperature rise of 45 °C from the casting temperature of 25 °C. Low levels of cement replacement with ggbfs, i.e. 20 and 35%, do not appear to be effective in reducing the peak

Fig. 1.16 Effect of ggbfs and lift height on temperature increase of massive concrete foundations redrafted after Bamforth (1980)



temperature. Higher levels of 50 and 70% are required to reduce the peak temperature by 10 °C. It must be noted that the high levels of cement replacement also, in addition to reducing the peak temperature, reduce the rate of temperature rise at early ages.

Bamforth 1980 showed that, although the temperature development in mass concrete decreases with increasing replacement of OPC by ggbfs, this effect becomes less pronounced with increasing volume poured, i.e. higher lift heights (Fig. 1.16, Bamforth 1980). Nevertheless, temperature data from the center of three 4.5 m deep foundations containing 144–212 m³ of concrete respectively, revealed the following temperature increases:

- Plus 54.5 °C from placing temperature of 20.5 °C for OPC concrete
- Plus 47.5 °C from placing temperature of 21.5 °C for concrete with 30% low calcium FA
- Plus 46.0 °C from placing temperature of 18.0 °C for concrete with 75% ggbfs (Bamforth 1980).

The temperature development in concrete blocks is not only affected by their size but also by the ambient temperature at the time of casting. Strength grade and level of replacement by ggbfs both affect the temperature increase in the concrete. Figure 1.17 shows concrete blocks that were cast to determine the ratio of in situ strength, determined from cores, to companion cubes cast and cured alongside the blocks. The different temperature histories of the same mix during winter and summer make such ratios impossible to determine. Winter temperatures allow more heat dissipation from the concrete blocks and the lower reaction of ggbfs assists in obtaining lower peak temperatures. The differences in peak temperatures between the OPC and ggbfs mixes increased with winter conditions.

In the laboratory, the core temperature of insulated, very massive concrete blocks can be estimated based on adiabatic calorimetric measurements (De Schutter 1999; De Schutter and Taerwe 1995; Soutsos et al. 2005). As shown in Fig. 1.18,





Fig. 1.17 Temperature rise in concrete blocks made of OPC and a mix of 50% OPC and 50% ggbfs, both with 30 and 50 MPa compressive strength. Left: summer, right: winter (Soutsos et al. 2016)

the temperature in OPC concrete can reach over 65 $^{\circ}$ C, while these values are significantly decreased as soon as the ggbfs content of the cementitious phase is 50% and higher.



Fig. 1.18 Heat production rate and temperature evolution in function of concrete age under adiabatic conditions for concrete mixes containing different amounts of ggbfs (ggbfs/(ggbfs + OPC) ranging from 0 to 85%), redrafted after Gruyaert (2011)

1.6 Impact of Ggbfs on Strength Development

1.6.1 Compressive Strength

1.6.1.1 Hardening at Standard Conditions

Due to its latent hydraulic properties, ggbfs starts to hydrate when in contact with water. However, this reaction diminishes with time. Only in presence of an activator the ggbfs hydration continues. The nature and dosage of activators play an important role for strength development of ggbfs concrete. The most common activator of ggbfs in concrete is Portland cement. Here the ggbfs activation is alkaline due to the liberation of calcium hydroxide and alkalis during Portland clinker hydration and sulfatic due to the presence of calcium sulfate in the cement. Apart from that, ggbfs can also be activated by other compounds such as alkali and alkali earth hydroxides, sulfates, chlorides, nitrates, carbonates, and silicates (Andersson and Gram 1988; Daugherty et al. 1983; Douglas and Brandstetr 1990; Hooton 1987; Malolepszy 1986; Roy and Idorn 1982; Shi and Day 1996; Song and Jennings 1999; Teoreanu and Georgescu 1974). The activation potential depends significantly on the properties of the ggbfs.

Compared to OPC the hydration rate of ggbfs is slower. This is reflected by a later initial setting time and lower early strength with increasing ggbfs content (Fig. 1.19). However, late strength development of concrete with ggbfs composites mostly exceeds that of OPC concrete. Depending on the reactivity and fineness of the ggbfs and its content in the mix, the strength of slag concrete typically reaches the strength of OPC concrete between ~ 10 and 35 days for a given concrete design (Demirboga 2003; Hewlett 1998; Hogan and Meusel 1981; Neville 1995; Oner and Akyuz 2007; Wang et al. 2007).



Fig. 1.19 Effect of ggbfs on compressive strength, adopted from Hogan and Meusel (1981)

At very high replacement levels, a persistent strength reduction compared to a reference OPC concrete was noticed by several researchers (Duran Atis and Bilim 2007; Khatib and Hibbert 2005). An optimum cement replacement level regarding fresh concrete properties and late strength development is about 50% (Dubovoy 1986; Hogan and Meusel 1981; Hwang and Lin 1986; Meusel and Rose 1983; Roy and Idorn 1982).

The reactivity of ggbfs itself is significantly influencing the strength development at a given ggbfs content and constant fineness (Fig. 1.20). It is mainly governed by its basicity index, expressed as CaO/SiO₂, or also (CaO + MgO)/SiO₂ ratio (Matthes 2014). The example given in Fig. 1.20 shows the strength development of 50:50 composites of ggbfs and OPC. Both ggbfs materials were ground to the same fineness. The more reactive ggbfs had a CaO/SiO₂ ratio of ~ 1.2 and created a far higher strength gain than the ggbfs of low reactivity, which had a CaO/SiO₂ of ~ 0.9 (Matthes 2014). Furthermore, an elevated alumina content in ggbfs tends to increase early strength development, often on cost of late strength (Matthes 2014; Taylor 1997). Also the presence of minor components can have a significant influence. Especially critical is TiO₂, which significantly reduces ggbfs reactivity and thus strength development at all ages (Matthes 2014).

As far as the content of crystalline materials is concerned, gbfs from state-of -the art granulation facilities usually have a glass or amorphous content of >95%. Typical crystalline phases are merwinite or melilite. Significantly lower amorphous contents will affect strength development, as the latent hydraulic behaviour origines from the glassy phase (Matthes 2014).

Also the fineness of the ggbfs has a major impact on its hydration degree and its strength development, but also on transport properties of the concrete (Chen 2006; Feldrappe et al. 2016; Matthes 2012). Finer grinding mainly improves medium and late strength. The influence on early strength is limited due to the lower hydration rate of ggbfs (Fig. 1.21, Matthes 2014). This is valid for minor and major additions of ggbfs of a fineness ranging from ~ 3500 to ~ 6000 cm²/g Blaine.

Fig. 1.20 Influence of ggbfs reactivity on development of compressive strength in standard ASTM mortars (50% OPC, 50% ggbfs), Fineness of ggbfs 4500 cm²/g Blaine (Matthes 2014)



Fig. 1.21 Influence of ggbfs fineness on development of compressive strength in standard ASTM mortars (50% OPC, 50% ggbfs), redrafted after Matthes (2014)

Also concrete design parameters such as w/b, temperature and curing conditions strongly influence the strength gain achievable through ggbfs additions. With increasing w/b, the compressive strength decreases at all ages. The late strength increase due to ggbfs additions tends to be greater for concretes with higher w/b than for concrete with lower w/b (Fulton 1974; Malhotra 1980; Meusel and Rose 1983; Soutsos 1992).

1.6.1.2 Importance of Curing and Curing Temperature

At early ages, all concrete has to be kept in proper moisture and temperature conditions in order to fully develop the required strength and durability properties. As ggbfs has a lower hydration rate than OPC, less hydration products are formed at early stage and less water is bound. Therefore, concrete with ggbfs is more sensitive to poor curing than OPC concrete, especially if the ggbfs content exceeds 30% of cementitious materials (Fulton 1974). Therefore prolonged curing times have to be applied when using ggbfs in concrete as described in procedures such as ACI 308R (2001).

When proportioning concrete mixtures and matching them with construction schedules, which also depend on early strength development, it needs to be taken into account, that the rate of hydration of ggbfs is more sensitive to concrete temperature than that of OPC. This results at low temperatures, i.e. $10 \,^{\circ}$ C and below, in a lower early strength development of ggbfs concrete compared to OPC concrete, which however, is compensated by a higher late strength development (Fig. 1.22). According to Hewlett (1998) this is especially true for concrete with w/ b ratios above 0.5 and s/b ratios above 0.7. Generally, it is not recommended to use ggbfs at temperatures below $10 \,^{\circ}$ C (Neville 1995).

At high temperatures of 30 °C and above, as found in hot climates or during steam curing, for example, a higher early strength is achieved in concrete with ggbfs, however often at the cost of late strength development (Fig. 1.23). The magnitude of this effect depends on the cement and ggbfs fineness and reactivity and on the proportion of ggbfs in the concrete mix (Barnett et al. 2006; Neville 1995; Sato and Masuda 2005). In this context Barnett et al. (2006) recorded, that at elevated curing temperatures the ultimate strength is lower compared to OPC concrete and concluded, that further hydration was prevented due to the formation of dense hydration products around the unhydrated particles. Since the hydration products were not uniformly distributed, a coarser pore structure was obtained. While Barnett et al. (2006) did not observe a clear trend with the cement replacement level, Neville (1995) mentioned, that the harmful effects of high curing



Fig. 1.22 Effect of curing temperature in the range of 10–50 °C on strength development of concrete containing varying amounts of ggbfs, redrafted after Soutsos and Turu'allo (2016)





temperatures on the long-term strength are not that pronounced in ggbfs concrete, in comparison to OPC concrete.

Also the relative humidity has an influence on the strength development of ggbfs concrete. In Neville (1995), the importance of moist curing in case of ggbfs concrete is emphasized. Poor curing in combination with the initial slow hydration process of ggbfs can lead to evaporation of the capillary pore water which prevents further hydration. This was confirmed by Duran Atis and Bilim (2007), who cured ggbfs and OPC concrete at 22 °C and a relative humidity RH of 65 and 100%. Concrete with ggbfs, especially at elevated amounts, showed a reduction of compressive strength at 65% RH versus 100% RH of 15%. The compressive strength of OPC concrete was reduced by only 6%.

1.6.1.3 Adiabatic Curing Experiments for Simulation of Field Conditions

In order to get an insight how strength data of ggbfs concrete obtained under laboratory conditions at 20–22 °C and close to 100% RH compare to concrete hydrated under field conditions with the influence of the climate and of the dimensions of the concrete elements as described above, Soutsos et al. (2005) compared the strength development of laboratory cured concrete samples with different amounts of ggbfs (Figs. 1.24 and 1.25, left sides) with samples of the same concrete mixes cured under adiabatic conditions (Figs. 1.24 and 1.25, right), which should reflect possible conditions in the field. The authors confirm for the laboratory cured samples the adverse effect of increasing ggbfs contents on early strength, which is set off at later age. Curing under adiabatic conditions revealed and confirmed the higher sensitivity of ggbfs versus OPC to curing temperature. Laboratory cured concrete with 20 and 35% ggbfs achieved at 1 day 90 and 70% of the OPC concrete strength, respectively. Adiabatic curing resulted in 100% OPC strength at 1 day. Concrete with 50 and 70% ggbfs which had developed under laboratory



Fig. 1.24 Strength development of concretes with varying ggbfs content at standard 20 °C curing (left) and at adiabatic curing (right), redrafted after Soutsos et al. (2005)

curing 45 and 25% of OPC strength at 2 days achieved essentially 100% of OPC strength during adiabatic curing (Fig. 1.25).

While in mass concrete high temperatures can be achieved, which accelerate hardening, under cold conditions and within thin concrete structural elements the concrete temperatures can be lower than during laboratory curing, which can delay strength development. Similar to Soutsos et al. (2005), Bamforth (1980) compared the strength development of laboratory concrete with OPC, 30% FA or 75% ggbfs cement with concrete cured according to temperature profiles measured in mass concrete foundations (Fig. 1.26). During temperature matched curing, all concretes showed a more rapid early strength development, but reduced late strength development, compared to the laboratory cured samples. Interestingly and in contrast to the results by Soutsos et al. (2005), the 90d strength of the OPC concrete was significantly reduced during temperature matched curing. As found by Soutsos et al. (2005), the late strength of the concretes with SCM was essentially comparable under both curing regimes.

1.6.2 Flexural and Tensile Strength

Ggbfs in concrete does not only improve compressive strength over the service life, but improves also flexural strength, which is a key parameter for concrete pavements (Fig. 1.27, Hogan and Meusel 1981). This has to be attributed to the denser



Fig. 1.25 Ratio of compressive strengths of ggbfs concretes to Portland cement concretes under standard (left) and adiabatic (right) curing regimes, redrafted after Soutsos et al. (2005)



Fig. 1.26 Effect of partial OPC replacement by fly ash or ggbfs on the strength development of 100 mm concrete cubes exposed to standard laboratory curing and temperature matched curing reflecting conditions in mass concrete, redrafted after Bamforth (1980)

microstructure achieved through pore refinement, which also results in an improved bonding between paste and aggregates.

Results obtained from three-point bending tests of water cured mortar prisms, showed at ages below 28 days a decreasing flexural strength with increasing ggbfs content. However at later ages, the concretes with 30–85% ggbfs reached or

Fig. 1.27 Effect of ggbfs on flexural strength, adopted from Hogan and Meusel (1981)



exceeded the flexural strength of OPC concrete. This was confirmed with mortars containing commercial CEM III/A 42.5 and CEM III/C (Fig. 1.28, Gruyaert 2011).

The relation between the flexural strength and compressive strength for mortar prisms containing different amounts of ggbfs from 1 day to 1 year is essentially constant (Fig. 1.29, Gruyaert 2011). The replacement of cement by ggbfs has no significant effect on this relation. In Neville (1995) different empirical formulae, based on a power law function (Eq. 1.2), are quoted to connect the compressive strength (f_c) with the flexural strength (f_f). The values of the parameters for the best fitted curves are given with 1.106 for k and 0.512 for n.

$$\mathbf{f}_{\mathrm{fl}} = \mathbf{k} \cdot \left(\mathbf{f}_{\mathrm{c}}\right)^{\mathrm{n}} \tag{1.2}$$

For all concretes, an increase of compressive strength results in an increase of flexural strength, but at a decreasing rate. Consequently, the ratio of the compressive strength to the flexural strength increases as time proceeds.

Regarding tensile strength development, Darquennes (2009) shows a more important increase of tensile strength with time for cements with slag compared to Portland cement. At late ages, tensile strength of concrete with ggbfs cements exceeds the one of OPC concrete (Fig. 1.30).

1.7 Impact of Ggbfs on Modulus of Elasticity

The relationship between modulus of elasticity and compressive strength of concrete is essentially unaffected by the presence of SCMs. Existing predictive equations can be used for concrete with and without SCM (Thomas 2013). Thus, the modulus of elasticity of concrete with moderate amounts of ggbfs can be expected to be lower at early age and higher at late ages (Fig. 1.31, Thomas 2013).



Fig. 1.28 Evolution of the flexural strength of mortar prisms containing different amounts of ggbfs in function of age (top: ggbfs added as a separate component to the mix at OPC replacement levels ranging from 0 to 85%, bottom: blended cements). Redrafted after Gruyaert (2011)

Darquennes (2009) illustrated similarities in the evolution of elastic modulus versus tensile strength for Portland and ggbfs composite cements with high and moderate ggbfs contents (Fig. 1.32, Darquennes 2009).

1.8 Impact of Ggbfs on Concrete Color

Usually concrete containing ggbfs has a lighter color than Portland cement concrete. At elevated ggbfs contents >60% the color could be described as off-white.



Fig. 1.29 Relation between the flexural strength (three-point bending test) and compressive strength (mean values) of mortar prisms containing different amounts of ggbfs, indicated by the numbering in the legend. Redrafted after Gruyaert (2011)

tensile strength in MPa

Fig. 1.30 Evolution of tensile strength with time for Portland and ggbfs composite cements CEM III/A and CEM III/B. redrafted after Darguennes (2009)

Fig. 1.31 Effect of ggbfs on modulus of elasticity, redrafted from Thomas (2013); data from Wainwright and Tolloczko (1986)





Fig. 1.32 Elastic modulus E versus tensile strength of Portland cement, CEM III/A and CEM III/B, redrafted after Darquennes (2009)



After demoulding, concrete with ggbfs can exhibit greening at the surface these are stains of dark bluish-green to black color. Also inside, the concrete displays an intense dark coloration.

These dark stains are caused by sulfide minerals, which form during the hydration of the cement. When finely dispersed in the concrete, these compounds cause shades from green/blue to black, according to their composition. The phases are sulfides of mainly iron and manganese in low oxidation states, which are supplied by the ggbfs. The higher the content of ggbfs in the concrete, the higher the fineness of the binder constituents and the lower the water/cement ratio, the higher is the probability of greening.

Generally, greening at the surface of the concrete is a passing effect. In contact with air, the blue/green color vanishes after a few days due to oxidation of the sulfides to sulfates. Exposure to sunshine accelerates this process.

After the greening has vanished, the concrete containing ggbfs usually is lighter than concrete made from OPC.

If the oxygen in the atmosphere cannot reach the concrete, greening will persist. This can be the case if the concrete surface is sealed, e.g. by traces of oil/fat from the formwork or by a glaze applied on bricks, etc. In the case of excess form oil, the surface greening may persist for several weeks until form oil/fat wears off. In applications where concrete would be permanently sealed and greening would be aesthetically disturbing, e.g. glazed concrete bricks, swimming pools etc., the use of ggbfs should be avoided (Slag Cement Association 2002, Matthes 2012, Le Cornec et al. 2017).

In rare cases where surface greening does not vanish after several days of exposure to the atmosphere and the stains are optically disturbing, they can be removed by chemical treatment of the surface of the hardened concrete, e.g. with diluted solutions of hydrogen peroxide, sodium hypochlorite, or diammonium citrate (Problem Clinic 2011).

Inside the concrete, greening will persist as long as oxygen is not entering the system. The denser the structure of the concrete, the longer greening will persist. Thus, greening within the concrete can be regarded as an indicator of the low

permeability and thus, high quality of a concrete. The core of concrete of good quality can maintain its dark color during the whole service life.

1.9 Impact of Ggbfs on Shrinkage and Creep

Regarding the influence of ggbfs on shrinkage, conflicting observations exist. Apparently, drying shrinkage of concrete with ggbfs is similar to OPC concrete (ACI 2011). A review by Hooton et al (2009) found that with low-alumina ggbfs, drying shrinkage of concretes over a range of replacement levels was similar to that of OPC concrete. When ggbfs with alumina content in excess of 12% was used, shrinkage was increased due to alumina reacting with some of the calcium sulfate from the OPC, but this could be corrected by intergrinding calcium sulfate with the gbfs. There did not appear to be a difference in relative drying shrinkage between concretes made with blended cement and those made with ggbfs added separately at the time of mixing.

Autogenous shrinkage generally increases with decreasing w/b. For concrete with ggbfs it was shown, that with increasing ggbfs content autogenous shrinkage increased (Fig. 1.33, Fulton 1974; Lee et al. 2006). Other authors reported small differences in shrinkage or even reduced shrinkage when ggbfs was used in concrete. Obviously, the amount of ggbfs has an influence on the results as well as the amount of calcium sulfate added (ACI 2011).

The amount of creep of a concrete mainly depends on the concrete design and nature of loading. The most important parameters to reduce creep are a high aggregate content, a low water content, a low w/b, and sufficient maturity prior to loading, because creep depends on the loading stress/concrete strength ratio (Thomas 2013). The conflicting results in literature on the influence of ggbfs on creep are probably due to different concrete designs and testing regimes. Generally,



Fig. 1.33 Effect of ggbfs on autogenous shrinkage of concrete redrafted after Lee et al. (2006)

Fig. 1.34 Effect of ggbfs on basic creep of sealed concrete specimens (Brooks et al. 1992)



concrete with major amounts of ggbfs, if loaded at early age, will probably creep more than OPC concrete because of its lower early strength. At late age, this relation is inverse (Fig. 1.34, Brooks et al. 1992).

1.10 Impact of Ggbfs on Transport Properties

1.10.1 Pore Refinement and Permeability

The movement of fluids through the concrete can occur by flow, diffusion, and sorption. Strictly speaking, permeability refers to the flow, and penetrability is a more general term including all processes. However, for concrete research, 'permeability' is commonly used instead of 'penetrability' (Neville 1995).

The permeability of concrete is not simply related to the total volume of pores, but depends on the size, distribution, shape, tortuosity and continuity of mainly the capillary pores. Since the formation of gel gradually fills the pore space, the pore structure continuously changes and the permeability of pastes decreases with progressing hydration (Neville 1995). The partial replacement of cement by ggbfs lowers the permeability, provided that enough time has elapsed for sufficient slag hydration (Taylor 1997). Pores in concrete are partly and progressively filled with C-S-H resulting from the hydration of ggbfs. Compared to an OPC paste of same w/ b and comparable maturity, the total pore volume of a slag cement paste would be comparable, even slightly higher. However, the pore structure is strongly refined (Figs. 1.35 and 1.36, Romberg 1978; Roy and Parker 1983). The volume of fine capillary and gel pores is increased at the cost of the volume of large capillary pores. The capillary pores include macropores and mesopores (Fig. 1.35, Roy and Parker 1983). Macropores, 10,000-50 nm in size, and large mesopores of 50-10 nm enable mass transport processes. The mesopores, 50-2.5 nm, are also responsible for shrinkage at 50-80% RH. Thus, a lower volume of capillary pores reduces pore connectivity and thus reduces mass transport processes.

Fig. 1.35 Effect of ggbfs on the pore size distribution of hardened cement pastes, redrafted after Roy and Parker (1983)



Fig. 1.36 Pore refinement by replacing cement clinker by ggbfs, redrafted after Romberg (1978)

The gel pores, including micropores 2.5–0.5 nm and the interlayer spaces of C-S-H ≤ 0.5 nm influence both, shrinkage and creep.

Due to this pore refinement the strength of the ggbfs concrete is increased. The reduced permeability on the other hand increases the durability of the concrete against chemical attack, such as chloride, sea water or sulfate ingress. A prerequisite, however, is an adequate curing of the concrete.

The pore refinement by ggbfs additions was reported by numerous other researchers (Gruyaert et al. 2013; Hadj-Sadok et al. 2011; Megat Johari et al. 2011; Panesar and Chidiac 2009). In Megat Johari et al. (2011), for example, results of mercury intrusion porosimetry of mortars show that with increasing ggbfs contents between 20 and 60% the relative volume of pores in the size range <30 nm is progressively increased at the expense of the relative volume of pores between 30

cumulative volume

mesopores

gel

pores I

capillary pores

macropores

pastes: w/b = 0.40 age: 14 d temperature: 45 °C and 50 nm. Bouikni et al. (2009) showed on the basis of pore refinement, that a high OPC replacement of 50 and 65% by ggbfs with a Blaine of only 350 m²/kg showed an enhanced performance regarding transport properties, even though total porosity of concrete increased with increasing ggbfs replacement.

De Belie et al. (2010) compared pore size distributions of OPC paste and 50 and 85% ggbfs pastes obtained from data of water vapor sorption isotherms. They found similar pore size distributions in the size range 2-10 nm, but a high reduction of pores in the size range of 1-2 nm when ggbfs was included.

Besides porosity measurements, results of permeability tests can also be found in the literature. The capability of ggbfs to reduce concrete permeability is widely accepted however the extent of its impact varies in literature.

Berndt (2009) performed permeability tests according to ASTM D 5084 on concrete specimens with s/b ratios of 0, 50 and 70%, which were wet cured for 84 days and found similar permeability coefficients for all mixes, ranging from 1.0 to 1.4×10^{-12} m/s. Contrarily, Cheng et al. (2005) obtained permeability coefficients at 91 days, which decreased with increasing ggbfs content. For concrete containing 0, 40 and 60% ggbfs the permeability coefficients obtained by their permeability test setup amounted to 2.56, 1.52 and 1.32×10^{-13} m/s respectively.

Shi et al. (2009) investigated the influence of ggbfs on nitrogen gas permeability of high strength concrete. They found that replacement percentages between 15 and 60% of cement by ggbfs produce no significant further improvement in gas permeability measured as recommended by RILEM TC116-PCD (RILEM 1999). Niknezhad and Kamali-Bernard (2015) measured the intrinsic permeability of different SCCs based on different cements containing various mineral admixtures. Figure 1.37 shows the significant effect of a CEM III with 62% of ggbfs and CEM V with 25% of ggbfs on the decrease of this intrinsic property.

Nokken and Hooton (2004) found that 35% ggbfs replacement of cement in concrete with w/b = 0.40 resulted in reduced water permeability by a factor of 7, and reduced chloride bulk diffusion by a factor of 3 at an age of 28 d.





1.10.2 Sorptivity

Ggbfs influences the transport properties and sorptivity (Güneyisi and Gesoğlu 2008; Hadj-Sadok et al. 2011; Villagrán Zaccardi et al. 2012), even without significant reduction in the volume of accessible pores. This is connected with an increase in tortuosity and pore refinement.

An informative study on the on-site performance of ggbfs concrete is presented in (Lane 2012), where comparisons are made between the properties of ggbfs concretes and OPC concretes used in the construction of bridge decks, all of them with a w/b of 0.45, which were 12–16 years old at the time of testing. Concrete properties were evaluated on extracted cores from the structure. Ggbfs cement concretes generally showed lower transport properties than OPC concrete. Two thirds of samples of ggbfs concrete showed lower capillary suction rates than the targeted maximum sorptivity values, whereas only one third of OPC concrete met this limit. The absorption rates of ggbfs concretes were about half of those of OPC concrete. Similar results were found for concrete conductivity, where the values for OPC concrete were double those of ggbfs concrete.

Gruyaert (2011) determined the sorptivity coefficients for specimens containing different amounts of ggbfs at different ages from 1 to 12 months, which were oven-dried at 105 °C until constant mass. These sorptivity coefficients decreased with increasing ggbfs contents and decreased as a function of time.

1.10.3 Carbonation

The carbonation resistance of concrete depends mainly on the concrete design parameters, the cement type, especially Portland clinker content, w/c and total water added, and on the applied curing. These parameters determine the long term porosity and permeability of the concrete. Of high importance are furthermore the humidity conditions of the concrete. High carbonation rates are obtained, when the concrete faces conditions between 50 and 70% relative humidity (Hunkeler and Lammar 2012).

Especially the Portland clinker content is decisive for the carbonation rate, because it determines the amount of calcium hydroxide, which is available for carbonation (Fig. 1.38). Consequently, when tested at constant w/b, the carbonation coefficient of concrete increases with the ggbfs content (Brameshuber et al. 2008, 2009; Scholz and Wierig 1988).

Moreover, it is likely that CO_2 also affects the other phases in ggbfs concrete, especially CSH phases, which also can react with CO_2 . The reaction mechanism is that CSH decomposes and a porous silica gel is formed. Since the formation of silica gel results from a condensation of Si-OH groups to Si-O-Si linkages and thus polymerisation of the silicate chains in CSH, this reaction is accompanied by carbonation shrinkage. For ggbfs concrete, the resulting effect of carbonation is thus



Fig. 1.38 Influence of the Portland cement content on the carbonation rate, results from Brameshuber et al. (2008, 2009), Feldrappe et al. (2016)

a coarsening of the pore structure (Sisomphon et al. 2010; Valenza and Scherer 2007a, b). Borges et al. (2010) mention a reduced overall porosity due to pore filling by carbonates, but an increased permeability due to carbonation shrinkage and cracking for ggbfs pastes after carbonation. In contrast, the carbonation of OPC concrete yields a denser microstructure because of the formation of voluminous calcite, which overcompensates the shrinkage induced by CSH decomposition (Sisomphon et al. 2010).

Decisive is also the w/c or w/b ratio. The data of Osborne (1989) show, that concrete with 40% ggbfs and a w/b of 0.45 would have a comparable carbonation coefficient as concrete with OPC with a w/b of 0.55 (Fig. 1.39, Hunkeler and Lammar 2012).

In practice, the concrete is designed to achieve a certain strength at 28 days and a target workability. In presence of major amounts of ggbfs, the water addition can often be reduced, which would lead to a lower concrete permeability and thus to a lower carbonation depth—provided, that the concrete is properly cured. Most importantly, increasing additions of ggbfs slow down hardening and strength development at early age, so that concrete with major amounts of ggbfs requires adequate curing, more than OPC concrete.

1.10.4 Chloride Ingress

Chloride ingress into concrete can be notably diminished by the addition of ggbfs, with a very significant improvement at replacement levels >50% (Bijen 1996; Tuutti 1982; Bleszynski et al. 2002). This is due to the reduced capillary porosity and the increased chloride binding capacity of ggbfs concrete. Figure 1.40 presents results of free, bound and total chloride content of SCC samples subjected to an



Fig. 1.39 Influence of ggbfs content and w/b on carbonation coefficient (Hunkeler and Lammar 2012), *data* Osborne (1989)



chloride concentration in g/100g of concrete



electrical steady-state migration test. SCC based on CEM III containing 62% ggbfs or CEM V with 25% ggbfs exhibit a significantly higher bound chloride content than SCC based on OPC (Niknezhad and Kamali-Bernard 2015).

Other authors confirm, that the replacement of cement by ggbfs, fly ash or silica fume has a positive influence on the binding capacity (Angst et al. 2009; Izquierdo et al. 2004; Tang 1996; Thomas et al. 2012). The use of ggbfs increases the chemical (Dhir et al. 1996; Luo et al. 2003) as well as the physical binding of chlorides (Arya et al. 1990). The calcium aluminate hydrates, which are formed during the hydration of ggbfs, can transform to Friedel's salt (Dhir et al. 1996; Luo et al. 2003) and the large amount of CSH gel provides a high surface area for adsorption of chloride ions. According to Xu (1997), the higher binding capacity of cement with ggbfs can be attributed to the dilution effect of sulfate ions. He found that the higher binding capacity disappears when the sulfate level in slag cement paste is increased up to that of OPC paste. Luo et al. (2003) also mention that sulfates greatly reduce the binding capability of ggbfs. They concluded that the

lower content of sulfate of ggbfs is one of the reasons for the better performance of ggbfs concrete towards chloride-induced corrosion. Contrarily to these findings, the experiments of Yuan (2008) did not show a higher binding capacity for ggbfs concrete in comparison to OPC concrete.

Over time, the chloride diffusion coefficient of ggbfs concrete decreases significantly - more than in conventional concrete. At early ages the chloride diffusion may be higher for ggbfs concrete in comparison with conventional concrete, but at later ages this relationship is inverted (Thomas and Bamforth 1999). Using ultrafine ggbfs (Blaine = $870 \text{ m}^2/\text{kg}$, BET = $4968 \text{ m}^2/\text{kg}$), Teng et al. (2013) achieved a 25 and 88% reduction of the chloride migration coefficient according to NT Build 492 (1999) after 28 d of curing with only 30% of cement replacement by ggbfs in concrete with w/b = 0.35 and 0.28 respectively. The ultrafine ggbfs refined the particle size distribution of the cement. Gruyaert (2011) also showed the better performance of ggbfs concrete with regard to chloride ingress with non-steady state migration and diffusion tests. The level of replacement of cement by ggbfs, being 50, 70 or 85%, did not significantly alter the chloride resistance of the concrete. However, the on-going hydration in ggbfs mixes caused still a significant decrease of the migration coefficients with time, while this was not the case for OPC concrete. Chloride bulk diffusion measurements of cores taken from 14 year old concrete slabs showed that 25 and 50% ggbfs replacement of cement reduced values by factors of 2 and 4 respectively, compared to a reference OPC concrete (Hooton et al. 2013).

Studies on samples exposed in marine environment for 25 years have confirmed significant reduction in the chloride ingress rate of concrete when 45–65% replacement levels of cement by ggbfs are employed (Thomas et al. 2008). The obtained penetration depth of the control concrete with w/c of 0.40 and 0.60 was higher than 100 mm, more than twice of the penetration depth of the 45 and 65% ggbfs concretes. On the basis of these results, a modified model for chloride ingress considering the effect of ggbfs has been established and validated (Riding et al. 2013).

1.10.5 Resistivity

Resistivity is affected by the addition of SCMs and the degree of hydration, as they affect the concrete microstructure and the chemistry of pore solution (Osterminsky et al. 2006). The refinement of pores increases resistivity as it reduces the volume of conductive phase (Basheer et al. 2002). Moreover, resistivity is very sensitive towards changes of the chemical composition and pH of the pore solution. Teng et al. (2013) obtained increases of 81 and 462% of concrete resistivity when replacing 30% of OPC with ultrafine ggbfs in w/c = 0.35 and 0.28 concrete, respectively. This variation was much higher than that of other transport properties. The variation of resistivity with time was more pronounced in ggbfs concrete than in OPC concrete. Ggbfs was observed, among SCMs, as the one, which increases





concrete resistivity the most (Basheer et al. 2002; Polder and Peelen 2002). A similar trend was found for reduction of conductivity, the inverse of resistivity, of ggbfs concretes with time (Nokken and Hooton 2006). Concrete with 35% ggbfs was found to increase resistivity by 230% while 50% ggbfs increased resistivity by 400–500%, depending on the Portland cement and the water/binder ratio of the concrete mixtures (Hooton and Charmchi 2015).

Olsson et al. (2013) studied the relationship between desorption isotherms and conductivities of mortars with different binders. Plotting conductivity versus moisture content of mixes prepared with the same w/c ratio, they found different correlations, depending on the ggbfs content (Fig. 1.41, Olsson et al. 2013). Ggbfs has a strong impact on the conductivity of the pore solution. This is confirmed by Lübeck et al. (2012), who obtained a decreased electrical conductivity of pore liquid due to ggbfs replacement of both, OPC and white cement.

References

ACI 308R-01 (2001) Guide to curing concrete. American Concrete Institute

- ACI 233R-03 (2011) Slag cement in concrete and mortar. American Concrete Institute
- Addis BJ (ed) (1986) Fulton's concrete technology, 6th ed. Portland Cement Institute RSA
- Ait-Aider H (1988) Influence of ground granulated blastfurnace slag on the bleed characteristics of concrete. MPhil Thesis, University of Leeds, England
- Alonso MM, Palacios M, Puertas F, De la Torre AG, Aranda MAG (2007) Effect of polycarboxylate admixture structure on cement paste rheology. Materiales de Construcción 57(286):65–81
- Alshamsi AM (2001) Stiffening rates of blended-cement pastes in hot climates. Adv Cem Res 13(1):11–16
- Andersson R, Gram H-E (1988) Alkali-activated slag; Part I Properties of alkali-activated slag, CBI forskning/research fo 1.88. Swedish Cement and Concrete Research Institute, Stockholm, pp 1–63

- Angst U, Elsener B, Larsen CK, Vennesland O (2009) Critical chloride content in reinforced concrete—a review. Cem Concr Res 39:1122–1138
- Arya C, Buenfeld NR, Newman JB (1990) Factors influencing chloride binding in concrete. Cem Concr Res 20(2):291–300
- Bamforth PB (1980) In situ measurement of the effect of partial Portland cement replacement using either fly ash or ground granulated blast-furnace slag on the performance of mass concrete. Proc Inst Civil Eng 69:777–800 (London, Sept. Part 2)
- Barnett SJ, Soutsos MN, Millard SG, Bungey JH (2006) Strength development of mortars containing ground granulated blast-furnace slag: effect of curing temperature and determination of apparent activation energies. Cem Concr Res 36:434–440
- Basheer PAM, Gilleece PRV, Long AE, Mc Carter WJ (2002) Monitoring electrical resistance of concretes containing alternative cementitious materials to assess their resistance to chloride penetration. Cem Concr Comp 24:437–449
- Bensted J (1981) Hydration of Portland cement. In: Ghosh SN (ed) Advances in cement technology. Pergamon Press, New York, pp 307–347
- Berndt ML (2009) Properties of sustainable concrete containing fly ash, slag and recycled concrete aggregate. Constr Build Mater 23:2606–2613
- Beushausen H, Alexander M, Ballim Y (2012) Early-age properties, strength development and heat of hydration of concrete containing various South African slags at different replacement ratios. Constr Build Mater 29:533–540
- Bialucha R (2000) Radioaktivität von Eisenhütten- und Metallhüttenschlacken (Radioactivity of iron and metallurgical slags). Report des Forschungsinstitutes Eisenhüttenschlacken, 2/2000
- Bijen J (1996) Benefits of slag and fly ash. Constr Build Mater 10:309-314
- Bleszynski RF, Hooton RD, Thomas MDA, Rogers CA (2002) Durability of ternary blend concretes with silica fume and blastfurnace slag: laboratory and outdoor exposure site studies. ACI Mater J 99:499–508
- Borges PHR, Costa JO, Milestone NB, Lynsdale CJ, Streatfield RE (2010) Carbonation of CH and CSH in composite cement pastes containing high amounts of BFS. Cem Concr Res 40:284–292
- Bouikni A, Swamy RN, Bali A (2009) Durability properties of concrete containing 50% and 65% slag. Constr Build Mater 23:2836–2845
- Boukendakdji O, Kenai S, Kadri EH, Rouis F (2009) Effect of slag on the rheology of fresh self-compacted concrete. Constr Build Mater 23:2593–2598
- Boukendakdji O, Kadri E-H, Kenai S (2012) Effects of granulated blast furnace slag and superplasticizer type on the fresh properties and compressive strength of self-compacting concrete. Cem Concr Compos 34:583–590
- Brameshuber W, Vollpracht A (2007) Effiziente Sicherstellung der Umweltverträglichkeit von Beton. In: Schlussberichte zur ersten Phase des DAfStb-/BMBF-Verbundfor-schungsvorhabens "Nachhaltig Bauen mit Beton". Beuth, Schriftenreihe des Deutschen Ausschusses für Stahlbeton, No. 572, Berlin, pp 223–273. ISBN 978-3-410-65772-9
- Brameshuber W, Rasch S, Uebachs S, Rankers R (2008) Untersuchungen und Abschätzung der Leistungungsfähigkeit von Hüttensanden in Bindemittel für Beton. Institute of Building Materials Research (ibac), RWTH Aachen University, Research Report No. F 7037, Aachen
- Brameshuber W, Vollpracht A, Rasch S (2009) Erarbeitung von Anwendungsregeln für Hüttensand als Betonzusatzstoff gemäß der harmonisierten Europäischen Stoffnorm. Institute of Building Materials Research (ibac), RWTH Aachen University, Research Report No. F 7038, Fraunhofer IRB Verlag, Aachen. ISBN 978-3-8167-8147-9
- Brand J, Luley H, Preis W, Tegelaar RA, Tietze K, Wolf H (1982) Betonfertigteile Herstellung und Anwendung (Production of concrete components—manufacture and application). Verlagsgesellschaft Rudolf Müller, Köln
- Brooks JJ, Wainwright PJ, Boukendakji M (1992) Influence of slag type and replacement level on strength, elasticity, shrinkage, and creep of concrete. In: Malhotra VM (ed) Fourth CANMET/
ACI international conference on fly ash, silica fume, slag, and natural pozzolans in concrete. American Concrete Institute SP-132 2, pp 1325–1341

- Bundesministerium für Umwelt, Naturschutz und Reaktorsicherheit (ed) (1993) Umweltradioaktivität und Strahlenbelastung (Environmental radionuclide and radiation exposure). Jahresbericht 1992, Bonn
- Carette GG, Malhotra VM (1987) Characterization of Canadian fly ashes and their relative performance in concrete. Can J Civ Eng 14:667–682
- Cesareni C, Frigione G (1969) A contribution to the study of the physical properties of hardened pastes of Portland cement containing granulated blast furnace slag. In: Proceedings of the 5th symposium on the chemistry of cement, 7–11 October 1968, Tokyo, Japan
- Chen W (2006) Hydration of slag cement. Theory, modeling and application. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Twente, The Netherlands, 223 p
- Cheng A, Huang R, Wu J-K, Chen C-H (2005) Influence of GGBS on durability and corrosion behavior of reinforced concrete. Mater Chem Phys 93:404–411
- Darquennes A (2009) Comportement au jeune âge de bétons formulés à base de ciment au laitier de haut fourneau en condition de déformations libre et restreinte. Ph.D. Thesis, Université Libre de Bruxelles ULB, Belgium
- Daugherty KE, Saad B, Weirich C, Eberendu A (1983) The glass content of slag and hydraulic activity. Silic Indus 4(5):107–110
- De Belie N, Kratky J, Van Vlierberghe S (2010) Influence of pozzolans and slag on the microstructure of partially carbonated cement paste by means of water vapour and nitrogen sorption experiments and BET calculations. Cem Concr Res 40:1723–1733
- De Langavant JC (1949) Considération théorétiques sur la nature du laitier de cimenterie (Theoretical considerations on the nature of slag cement). Rev Matér Constr Traveaux Publics 401:381–411
- De Schutter G (1999) Hydration and temperature development of concrete made with blast-furnace slag cement. Cem Concr Res 29(1):143–149
- De Schutter G, Taerwe L (1995) General hydration model for Portland cement and blast furnace slag cement. Cem Concr Res 25(3):593–604
- Demirboga R (2003) Influence of mineral admixtures on thermal conductivity and compressive strength of mortar. Energy Build 35:189–192
- Dhir RK, El-Mohr MAK, Dyer TD (1996) Chloride binding in GGBS concrete. Cem Concr Res 26(12):1767–1773
- Domone PLJ, Soutsos MN (1995) Properties of high strength concrete mixes containing PFA and ggbs. Mag Concr Res 47(173):355–367
- Douglas E, Brandstetr J (1990) A preliminary stuidy on the alkali activation of ground granulated blast-furnace slag. Cem Concr Res 20:746–756
- Dron R, Brivot F (1980) Approche du problème de la réactivité du laitier granulé. In: Proceedings of the 7th international conference on chemistry of cement, Paris, vol 2, III, pp 134–139
- Dubovoy VS (1986) Effects of ground granulated blast-furnace slags on some properties of pastes, mortars and concretes. In: Blended cements. ASTM Sp Tech Publ 897, Philadelphia
- Duran Atis C, Bilim C (2007) Wet and dry cured compressive strength of concrete containing ground granulated blast-furnace slag. Build Environ 42:3060–3065
- Ehrenberg A (2012) Does stored granulated blast furnace slag lose its reactivity? Cem Int 10(4):64–79
- Ehrenberg A, Israel D, Kühn A, Ludwig HM, Tigges V, Wassing W (2008a) Hüttensand: Reaktionspotenzial und Herstellung optimierter Zemente Tl.1 (Granulated blast furnace slag: reaction potential and production of optimized cements, part 1) Cem Int
- Ehrenberg A, Wilhelm D, Kühn A, Ludwig HM, Tigges V, Wassing W (2008b) Hüttensand: Reaktionspotenzial und Herstellung optimierter Zemente. Tl.2 (Granulated blast furnace slag: reaction potential and production of optimized cements, part 2) Cem Int 6(3):82–92
- Eren O, Brooks JJ, Celik T (1995) Setting of fly ash and slag-cement concrete as affected by curing temperature. Cem Concr Agg 17(1):1–7

- Feldrappe V, Nobis C, Vollpracht A, Ehrenberg A, Brameshuber W (2016) Entwicklung von Anwendungsregeln für Hüttensandmehl als Betonzusatzstoff (Development of application rules for ground granulated slagas a concrete additive). Institut für Baustoff-Forschung, Duisburg and Institute of Building Materials Research (ibac), RWTH Aachen University, Aachen, Research Report 16743N
- Frigione G (1986) Manufacture and characteristics of Portland blastfurnace slag cements In: Blended cements. ASTM STP 897, pp 15–28
- Fulton FS (1974) The properties of Portland cement containing milled granulated blast-furnace slag. Monograph, Portland Cement Institute, Johannesburg, pp 4–46
- Gesoğlu M, Güneyisi E, Özbay E (2009) Properties of self-compacting concretes made with binary, ternary, and quaternary cementitious blends of fly ash, blast furnace slag, and silica fume. Constr Build Mater 23:1847–1854
- Gruyaert E (2011) Effect of blast-furnace slag as cement replacement on hydration, microstructure, strength and durability of concrete. Ph.D. Thesis, Ghent University, Ghent, 345 pp
- Gruyaert E, Van Den Heede P, De Belie N (2013) Carbonation of slag concrete: effect of the cement replacement level and curing on the carbonation coefficient—effect of carbonation on the pore structure. Cem Concr Compos 35:39–48
- Güneyisi E, Gesoğlu M (2008) A study on durability properties of high-performance concretes incorporating high replacement levels of slag. Mater Struct 40(3):479–493
- Hadj-Sadok A, Kenai S, Courard L, Darimont A (2011) Microstructure and durability of mortars modified with medium active blast furnace slag. Constr Build Mater 25:1018–1025
- Hamada D, Sato T, Yamato F, Mizunuma T (2000) Development of new superplasticizers and its application to self-compacting concrete. In: Proceedings of the 6th CANMET/ACI international conference on superplasticizers and other chemical admixtures in concrete. Nice, France, ACI SP 195, pp 291–304
- Hewlett PC (ed) (1998) Lea's chemistry of cement and concrete. Elsevier, London
- Hogan FJ, Meusel JW (1981) Evaluation for durability and strength development of a ground granulated blast-furnace slag. Cem Concr Agg 3(1):40–52
- Hooton RD (1987) The reactivity and hydration products of blast furnace slag. In: Malhotra VM (ed) Supplementary cementing materials for concrete. CANMET, Ottawa, pp 247–280. ISBN 0-660-12550-1
- Hooton RD (2000) Canadian use of ground granulated blast-furnace slag as a supplementary cementing material for enhanced performance of concrete. Can J Civ Eng 27:754–760
- Hooton RD, Charmchi G (2015) Adoption of resistivity tests for concrete acceptance. In: Proceedings of the recent advances in concrete technology and sustainability issues. American Concrete Institute SP-303, pp 269–279
- Hooton RD, Emery JJ (1983) Glass content determination and strength predictions for vitrified blast furnace slag. ACI SP-79(2):943–962
- Hooton RD, Stanish K, Angel JP, Prusinski J (2009) The effect of ground granulated blast furnace slag (slag cement) on the drying shrinkage of concrete—a critical review of the literature. Am Concr Inst SP 263:91–108
- Hooton RD, Rogers CA, MacDonald CA, Ramlochan T (2013) 20-year field evaluation of alkali-silica reaction mitigation. ACI Mater J 110(5):539–548
- Hunkeler F, Lammar L (2012) Requirements for the carbonation resistance of concrete mixes. Report for Swiss Federal Office of Roads
- Hwang CL, Lin CY (1986) Strength development of blended blast-furnace slag cement mortars. ACI SP 91:1323–1340
- Izquierdo D, Alonso CMC, Andrade C (2004) Potentiostatic determination of chloride threshold values for rebar depassivation: experimental and statistical study. Electrochem Acta 49:2731–2739
- Juenger M, Won M, Fowler D, Suh C, Edson A (2008) Effects of supplementary cementing materials on the setting time and early strength of concrete. Technical Report FHWA/TX-08/ 0-5550-1, 82 p

- Khatib JM, Hibbert JJ (2005) Selected engineering properties of concrete incorporating slag and metakaolin. Constr Build Mater 19:460–472
- Kishi T, Maekawa K (1995) Thermal and mechanical modelling of young concrete based on hydration process of multi-component cement minerals. In: Thermal cracking in concrete at early ages. Taylor & Francis, Munich
- Kocaba V, Gallucci E, Scrivener K (2012) Methods for determination of degree of reaction of slag in blended cement pastes. Cem Concr Res 42(3):511–525
- Kollo H (1991) Einfluß der chemischen Zusammensetzung von Hüttensand auf dessen Hydraulizität (Influence of the chemical composition of granulated slag on its hydraulicity). Beton-Informationen 31:22–23
- Kollo H, Geiseler J (1987) Beurteilung der Qualität von Hüttensand anhand von Kennwerten (Assessment of the quality of granulated slag by means of indicators). Beton-Informationen 4:48–51
- Lane DS (2012) Performance of slag cement in hydraulic cement concrete. Transp Res Rec 2290:84-88
- Lea FM (1971) The chemistry of cement and concrete, 3rd edn. Chemical Publishing Co., New York, pp 454–489
- Lee KM, Lee HK, Lee SH, Kim GJ (2006) Autogenous shrinkage of concrete containing granulated blast-furnace slag. Cem Concr Res 36(7):1279–1285
- Le Cornec D, Wang Q, Galoisy L, Renaudin G, Izoret L, Calas G (2017) Greening effect in slag cement materials. Cem Concr Compos 84:93–98
- Lothia RP, Joshi RC (1995) Mineral admixtures. In: Ramachandran VS (ed) Concrete admixtures handbook. Properties, science and technology, 2nd ed. Noyes Publications, New Jersey, pp 657–739
- Lübeck A, Gastaldini ALG, Barin DS, Siqueira HC (2012) Compressive strength and electrical properties of concrete with white Portland cement and blast-furnace slag. Cem Concr Compos 34:392–399
- Luo R, Cai Y, Wang C, Huang X (2003) Study of chloride binding and diffusion in GGBS concrete. Cem Concr Res 33:1–7
- Malhotra VM (1980) Strength and freeze-thaw characteristics of concrete incorporating granulated blast-furnace slag. Canmet, IR 79–38, Energy, Mines and Resources, Ottawa
- Malolepszy J (1986) Activation of synthetic melitite slags by alkalis. In: Proceedings of the 8th international congress on the chemistry of cements, vol IV. Brazil, pp 104–107
- Marushima N, Kuroha K, Tomatsuri K, Kubota K, Koibuchi K, Ishikawa Y (1993) Study on high-strength concrete with blast furnace slag cement incorporating very fine slag. In: Holand I, Sellovold E (eds) Proceedings of the symposium on utilization of high strength concrete, vol 2. Lillehammer, Norway, pp 830–837
- Matthes W (2012) Studies on effect of ggbfs properties, reactivity and fineness on performance. Holcim Technology Ltd. Unpublished
- Matthes W (2014) Gbfs in cement—opportunities and Challenges. Presentation at 10th global slag conference, Aachen, 8–9 December 2014
- Matthes W, Matschei T, Castelltort Z, Baalbaki M (2011) Hydraulisches Bindemittel (Hydraulic Binder). AT 511689-A1 (Austrian Patent)
- Megat Johari MA, Brooks JJ, Kabir S, Rivard P (2011) Influence of supplementary cementitious materials on engineering properties of high strength concrete. Constr Build Mater 25:2639–2648
- Meusel JW, Rose JH (1983) Production of granulated blast furnace slag at sparrows point, and the workability and strength potential of concrete incorporating the slag. In: Malhotra VM (ed) ACI SP 79 Fly ash, silica fume, slag & other mineral by-products in concrete, vol II. ACI, Detroit, pp 867–890
- Moranville-Regourd M (1998) Cements made from blast furnace slag. In: Hewlett PC (ed) Lea's chemistry of cement and concrete. Edward Arnold (Publishers) Ltd., London, pp 633–674

Nakamura N, Sakai M, Swamy RN (1991) Effect of slag fineness on the engineering properties of high strength concrete. In: Swamy RN (ed) Proceedings international conference on blended cements in construction, Sheffield, UK, pp. 302–316

Neville AM (1995) Properties of concrete. Longman, Essex

- Niknezhad D, Kamali-Bernard S (2015) Etude du retrait et des propriétés de transport d'Eco-BAP à base d'additions minérales (Study of the shrinkage and transport properties of Eco-BAP based on mineral additions). In: Proceedings of 33èmes Rencontres Universitaires de Génie Civil, France
- Nokken MR, Hooton RD (2004) Discontinuous capillary pore structure-does it exist? In: Proceedings of the advances in concrete through science and engineering, ACBM/RILEM international symposium, North Western University, 22–24 March
- Nokken MR, Hooton RD (2006) Electrical conductivity as a prequalification and quality control tool. Concr Int 28(10):61–66
- NT Build 492 (1999) Concrete, mortar and cement-based repair materials: chloride migration coefficient from non-steady-state migration experiments. Nordtest, Espoo, Finland, www. nordtest.info
- Olbrich E (1999) Struktur und Reaktionsfähigkeit von Hüttensandglas (Structure and reactivity of granulated slag glass). Ph.D. Thesis, TU Clausthal, Germany, 180 pp
- Olsson N, Baroghel-Bouny V, Nilsson L-O, Thiery M (2013) Non-saturated ion diffusion in concrete—a new approach to evaluate conductivity measurements. Cem Concr Compos 40:40–47
- Oner A, Akyuz S (2007) An experimental study on optimum usage of GGBS for the compressive strength of concrete. Cem Concr Compos 29:505–514
- Osborne GJ (1989) Carbonation and permeability of blast-furnace slag cement concretes from field structures. In: Malhotra VM (ed) Proceedings of the 3rd international conference on fly ash, silica fume, slag and natural pozzolans in concrete. ACI SP-114, Trondheim, pp 1209–1238
- Osterminsky K, Schießl P, Volkwein A, Mayer TF (2006) Modelling reinforcement corrosion usability of a factorial approach for modelling resistivity of concrete. Mater Corros 57 (12):926–931
- Palacios M, Houst YF, Bowen P, Puertas F (2009a) Adsorption of superplasticizer admixtures on alkali-activated slag pastes. Cem Concr Res 39(8):670–677
- Palacios M, Puertas F, Bowen P, Houst YF (2009b) Effect of PCs superplasticizers on the rheological properties and hydration process of slag-blended cement pastes. J Mater Sci 44 (10):2714–2723
- Panesar DK, Chidiac SE (2009) Capillary suction model for characterizing salt scaling resistance of concrete containing GGBFS. Cem Concr Compos 31:570–576
- Peterson Becknell N, Hale WM (2011) Effect of slag grade and cement source on the properties of concrete. Int J Concr Struct Mater 5(2):119–123
- Polder RB, Peelen WHA (2002) Characterization of chloride transport and reinforcement corrosion in concrete under cyclic wetting and drying by electrical resistivity. Cem Concr Compos 24:427–435
- Problem Clinic (2011) Greening of slag cement concrete, http://www.concreteconstruction.net/ howto/greening-of-slag-cement-concrete_o, August 31, 2011
- Puertas F, Alonso MM, Vázquez T (2005) Effect of polycarboxylate admixtures on Portland cement paste setting and rheological behavior. Mater Constr 55(277):61–73
- Reynolds S (2009) The Future of Ferrous Slag, Market Forecasts to 2020. Pira International Ltd., Cleeve Road, Surrey KT227RU, Leatherhead, UK
- Rickert J, Vollpracht A (2014) Analysekonzept zur Bestimmung von Spurenelementen in Eluaten zementgebundener Baustoffe. IGF Research project 16989 N (AiF)
- Rickert J, Spanka G, Nebel H (2011) Harmonisierung von Prüfmethoden für den Vollzug der EG-Bauprodukten-Richtlinie. Validierung eines europäischen Auslaugtests für Bauprodukte. Schriftenreihe Umweltforschungsplan des Bundesministeriums für Umwelt, Naturschutz und Reaktorsicherheit, Forschungskennzahl 3709 95 303, UBA-FB 001487. http://www.uba.de/ uba-info-medien/4153.html

- Rickett SCE (1990) An investigation of the controlling factors in the bleeding of Portland blast furnace cement concrete. In: Advance Concrete Technology course project. Institute of Concrete Technology, Beaconsfield, p 139
- Riding KA, Thomas MDA, Folliard KJ (2013) Apparent diffusivity model for concrete containing supplementary cementitious materials. ACI Mater J 110(6):705–714
- RILEM (1999) RILEM TC116-PCD: permeability of concrete as a criterion of its durability. Mater Struct 32:174–179
- Robeyst N (2009) Monitoring setting and microstructure development in fresh concrete with the ultrasonic through-transmission method. Ph.D. Thesis, Ghent University, Ghent, p 251
- Robeyst N, Gruyaert E, Grosse CU, De Belie N (2008) Monitoring the setting of concrete containing blast-furnace slag by measuring the ultrasonic p-wave velocity. Cem Concr Res 38:1169–1176
- Romberg H (1978) Zementsteinporen und Betoneigenschaften. Beton-Informationen 18(5):50-55
- Roy DM, Idorn GM (1982) Hydration, structure and properties of blast-furnace slag cements, mortars and concrete. J ACI 79(6):444–457
- Roy DM, Parker KM (1983) Microstructures and properties of granulated slag-Portland cement blends at normal and elevated temperatures. In: Malhotra VM (ed) Proceedings of the 1st international conference on the use of fly ash, silica fume, slag and other mineral by-products in concrete SP-79. American Concrete Institute, 1, pp 397–414
- Satarin V (1974) Slag Portland cement. In: Proceedings of the 6th international congress on chemistry of cement, Moscow, 51 pp
- Sato S, Masuda Y (2005) Strength development of concrete using ground granulated blast-furnace slag under various temperature conditions. In: Proceedings of the 2nd international symposium non-traditional cement and concrete, Brno
- SCA (2002) Slag cement in concrete. Info Sheet Index, www.slagcement.org
- Schindler AK, Folliard KJ (2003) Influence of supplementary cementing materials on the heat of hydration of concrete. In: Proceedings of the 9th conference on advances in cement and concrete, Colorado
- Scholz E, Wierig H-J (1988) Untersuchungen über den Einfluß von Flugaschezusätzen auf das Carbonatisierungsverhalten von Beton. I. Ergänzung. Hannover: Institut für Baustoffkunde und Materialprüfung (research report)
- Schröder F (1961) Über die hydraulischen Eigenschaften von Hüttensanden und ihre Beurteilungsmethoden (On the hydraulic properties of granulated slags and their assessment methods). Tonmineralogie-Zeitung 85(2/3):39–44
- Schröder F (1969) Slags and slag cements. In: Proceedings of the 5th international symposium on the chemistry of cement, vol 4, Tokyo, 1968, pp 149–199
- Shi C, Day RL (1996) Some factors affecting early hydration of alkali-slag cements. Cem Concr Res 26:439–447
- Shi YX, Matsui I, Guo YJ (2004) A study on the effect of fine mineral powders with distinct vitreous contents on the fluidity and rheological properties of concrete. Cem Concr Res 34:1381–1387
- Shi H-S, Xu B-W, Zhou X-C (2009) Influence of mineral admixtures on compressive strength, gas permeability and carbonation of high performance concrete. Constr Build Mater 23:1980–1985
- Sisomphon K, Copuroglu O, Fraaij ALA (2010) Development of blast-furnace slag mixtures against frost salt attack. Cem Concr Compos 32:630–638
- Slag Cement Association (2002) Greening, Slag Cement Association P.O. Box 2615 Sugar Land, TX 77487–2615
- Smolczyk HG (1978) Zum Einfluß der Chemie des Hüttensandes auf die Festigkeiten von Hochofenzementen. Zement-Kalk-Gips 31(6):294–296
- Song S, Jennings HM (1999) Pore solution chemistry of alkali-activated ground granulated blast-furnace slag. Cem Concr Res 29:159–170
- Sopora H (1959) Bewertung von Hochofenschlacken f
 ür das Schmelzen und Granulieren der Hochofenschlacken (Evaluation of blast furnace slags for granulation of molten blast furnace slags). Zement-Kalk-Gips 11(4):125–137

- Soutsos MN (1992) Mix design, workability, adiabatic temperature and strength development of high strength concrete. Ph.D. Thesis, University of London
- Soutsos MN, Turu'allo G (2016) The rate of strength development of mortar mixes with SCMs at elevated curing temperatures. In: Proceedings of the international RILEM conference on materials, systems and structures in civil engineering, conference segment on concrete with SCMs. Lyngby, Denmark, pp 283–292
- Soutsos MN, Barnett SJ, Millard SG, Bungey JH (2005) Fast track construction with high strength concrete mixes containing ground granulated blast furnace slag. In: Russell HG (ed) 7th international symposium on utilization of high-strength/high performance concrete. Washington, D.C., USA, ACI SP 228 1, pp. 255–270
- Soutsos MN, Hatzitheodorou A, Kwasny J, Kanavaris F (2016) Effect of in situ temperature on the early age strength development of concretes with supplementary cementitious materials. Constr Build Mater 103:105–116. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.conbuildmat.2015.11.034
- Springenschmid R, Breitenbucher R, Mangold M (1994) Development of the cracking frame and the temperature-stress testing machine. In: Springenschmid R (ed) Proceedings of the RILEM international symposium on thermal cracking in concrete at early ages. E&FN Spon, pp 137–144
- Swamy RN (1990) The role of mineral admixtures in enhancing the quality of concrete. In: Wierig HJ (ed) Proceedings of the RILEM colloquium: properties of fresh concrete. Hanover, pp 113–120
- Tang L (1996) Chloride transport in concrete: measurement and prediction. Ph.D. Thesis, Chalmers University of Technology, Göteborg, Sweden
- Taylor HFW (1997) Cement chemistry, 2nd edn. Thomas Telford Publishing, London
- Technical Datasheet (2014) Embodied CO₂e of UK cement, additions and cementitious material. Fact Sheet 18, joint publication with MPA and CSMA. http://www.ukqaa.org.uk/wp-content/ uploads/2014/02/Datasheet_8-3_CO2e_info_-_MPA_Factsheet_18_v2.pdf
- Teng S, Lim TYD, Sabet Divsholi B (2013) Durability and mechanical properties of high strength concrete incorporating ultrafine ground granulated blast-furnace slag. Constr Build Mater 40:875–881
- Teoreanu I, Georgescu M (1974) The behaviour of synthetic and industrial blast-furnace slags in the presence of activators. Zement-Kalk-Gips 27(6):308–312
- Tetmajer L (1886) Der Schlackenzement (The slag cement). Stahl Eisen 6:473-483
- Thomas MDA (2013) Supplementary cementing materials in concrete. CRC Press
- Thomas MDA, Bamforth PB (1999) Modeling chloride diffusion in concrete: effect of fly ash and slag. Cem Concr Res 29:487–495
- Thomas MDA, Mukherjee PK (1994) Effect of slag on thermal cracking in concrete. In: Springenschmid R (ed) Proceedings of the RILEM international symposium on thermal cracking in concrete at early ages. E&FN Spon, pp 197–204
- Thomas MDA, Scott A, Bremner T, Bilodeau A, Day D (2008) Performance of slag concrete in marine environment. ACI Mater J 105(6):628–634
- Thomas MDA, Hooton RD, Scott A, Zibara H (2012) The effect of supplementary cementing materials and W/CM on the chloride binding capacity of cement paste. Cem Concr Res 42:1–7
- Tigges VE (2010) Die Hydratation von Hüttensanden und Möglichkeiten ihrer Beeinflussung zur Optimierung von Hochofenzementeigenschaften (The hydration of granulated slags and the possibility of influencing them to optimize hydraulic properties). Schriftenreihe der Zementindustrie - Heft 76
- Turu'allo G (2013) Early age strength development of GGBS concrete cured under different temperatures. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Liverpool, UK
- Tuutti K (1982) Corrosion of steel in concrete. Ph.D. Thesis, Swedish Cement and Concrete Institute, CIB, Research Report No. 4, 468 p
- United Nations Scientific Committee on the effects of Atomic Radiation (2008) Sources and effects of ionizing radiation. UNSCEAR REPORT. ISBN 978-92-1-142274-0
- United Nations Scientific Committee on the effects of Atomic Radiation (2010) Sources and effects of ionizing radiation. UNSCEAR REPORT

- Valenza JJ II, Scherer GW (2007a) A review of salt scaling: I. Phenomenology. Cem Concr Res 37:1007–1021
- Valenza JJ II, Scherer GW (2007b) A review of salt scaling: II. Mechanisms. Cem Concr Res 37:1022–1034
- Van den Heede P, De Belie N (2012) Environmental impact and life cycle assessment (LCA) of traditional and green concretes: literature review and theoretical calculations. Cem Concr Compos 34:431–442
- Van der Sloot HA, Hoede D, Rietra RPJJ et al (2001) Environmental criteria for cement based products: ECRICEM. Phase I: ordinary Portland cements. Energy Research Centre of the Netherlands, Petten, Report No. ECN-C–01-069
- Villagrán Zaccardi YA, Di Maio AA, Romagnoli R (2012) The effect of slag and limestone filler on resistivity, sorptivity, and permeability of concrete with low paste content. In: Proceedings XXI international materials research congress, vol 1488, Materials Research Society, pp 80–86
- Wainwright PJ, Ait-Aider H (1995) The influence of cement source and slag additions on the bleeding of concrete. Cem Concr Res 25(7):1445–1456
- Wainwright PJ, Rey N (2000) The influence of ground granulated blastfurnace slag (GGBS) additions and time delay on the bleeding of concrete. Cem Concr Compos 22:253–257
- Wainwright PJ, Tolloczko JJA (1986) Early and later age properties of temperature-cycled slag-OPC concrete. In: Malhotra VM (ed) Proceedings of the 2nd CANMET/ ACI international conference on fly ash, silica fume, slag, and natural pozzolans in concrete. American Concrete Institute, SP 91 2, pp 1293–1322
- Wang S-D, Scrivener KL, Pratt PL (1994) Factors affecting the strength of alkali-activated slag. Cem Concr Res 24(6):1033–1043
- Wang H, Qi C, Lewis J, Vaughan J (2007) Early-age hydration and strength development. Concr Int 29(1):42–49
- Wimpenny DE, Ellis CM, Higgins DD (1989) Development of strength and elastic properties in slag cement under low temperature curing conditions. In: Malhotra VM (ed) Proceedings of the 3rd international conference on fly ash, silica fume, slag and natural pozzolans in concrete. Trondheim, Norway, ACI SP-114, pp 1283–1306
- Wolter A, Frischat GH, Olbrich E (2003) Investigation of granulated blast furnace slag (GBFS) reactivity by SNMS. In: Proceedings of 11th international congress on the chemistry of cement. Durban, South Africa, pp 2703–2717
- Wood K (1981) Twenty years of experience with slag cement. In: Proceedings of the slag cement seminar, University of Alabama, Birmingham, April–May 1981
- Xu Y (1997) The influence of sulphates on chloride binding and pore solution chemistry. Cem Concr Res 27(12):1841–1850
- Yang JC (1969) Chemistry of slag-rich cements. In: Proceedings of the 5th international symposium on the chemistry of cement, vol 4. Tokyo, pp 296–309
- Yoshida H, Iiska T, Sugiyama A (1986) Effect of curing temperature on properties of concrete. Trans Jpn Concr Inst 8:103–111
- Yuan Q (2008) Fundamental studies on test methods for the transport of chloride ions in cementitious materials. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Ghent and Central South University

Chapter 2 Fly Ash

Kosmas Sideris, Harald Justnes, Marios Soutsos and Tongbo Sui

Abstract Fly ash is an industrial by-product deriving from electricity generating plants. It is the by-product of burning coal or lignite. Fly ash is one of the first artificial admixtures used for the production of concrete since the first decades of the 20th century. Its chemical and mineralogical composition mainly depends on the relevant properties of the raw material used as well as on the type of furnace and the way it is collected. Fly ash may have beneficial effects on both the fresh and hardened properties of concrete mixtures. This chapter provides an extensive report on the use of fly ash in concrete. Reference is made to the regulatory framework governing the application of fly ash, mainly in Europe and America, to factors affecting the quality of the product and to the effects of different fly ashes on fresh and hardened characteristics of concrete.

Keywords Fly ash • Pozzolans • Supplementary cementitious materials Sustainability • Transport properties

K. Sideris (🖂)

H. Justnes

M. Soutsos School of Natural and Built Environment, Queen's University, Stranmillis Road, Belfast BT9 5AG, UK e-mail: m.soutsos@qub.ac.uk

T. Sui

Laboratory of Building Materials, Department of Civil Engineering, Democritus University of Thrace, University Campus, Xanthi GR 67100, Greece e-mail: kksider@civil.duth.gr

SINTEF Building and Infrastructure, Richard Birkelandsvei 3, 7465 Trondheim, Norway e-mail: Harald.Justnes@sintef.no

Sinoma Research Institute, Sinoma Int'l, CNBM, 16 Wangjing North Road, 100102 Chaoyang District, Beijing, China e-mail: suitongbo@sinoma.com.cn

2.1 Overview, Production of Fly Ash, Preand Post-blending, Uses in Concrete

Fly ash, also known as pulverized fuel ash, is produced from burning pulverized coal in electricity generating plants. During combustion, mineral impurities in the coal (clay, feldspar, quartz, and shale) fuse in suspension and float out of the combustion chamber along with exhaust gases. As the fused material rises with the gas flow, it cools and solidifies into spherical glassy particles called fly ash. It is a fine grained, powdery particulate material that is collected from the exhaust gases by electrostatic precipitators or bag filters.

Depending upon the collection system, varying from mechanical to electrical precipitators or bag houses and fabric filters, more than 90% of the ash from the flue gases is retrieved in the form of fly ash. Fly ash accounts for 75–85% of the total coal ash, and the remainder is collected as bottom ash or boiler slag (Fly Ash and Coal Conversion By-Products 1988).

Fly ash produced from thermal power plants is a variable material because of several factors. These factors include (Siddique and Khan 2011):

- (i) type and mineralogical composition of the coal;
- (ii) degree of coal pulverization;
- (iii) type of furnace and oxidation conditions; and
- (iv) the manner in which fly ash is collected, handled and stored before use.

Since no two utilities or plants may have all these factors in common, fly ash from various power plants is likely to be different. Fly ash properties may also vary within the same plant because of load conditions over a 24-hour period. Fly ash particle size primarily depends upon the type of dust collection equipment. It is generally finer than Portland cement. Diameter of fly ash particles usually ranges between $1-150 \mu$ m. The chemical composition of fly ash is determined by the types and relative amounts of incombustible material in the coal used. Depending upon the source and makeup of the coal being burned, the components of fly ash vary considerably, but all fly ash includes substantial amounts of silicon dioxide (SiO₂) (both amorphous and crystalline), aluminium oxide (Al₂O₃) calcium oxide (CaO) and ferric oxide (Fe₂O₃), both being endemic components in many coal bearing rock strata. Use of fly ash in concrete was first reported by Davis et al. (1937).

2.2 List of Relevant Standards

ASTM C618 (2015) categorizes fly ashes into the two categories as shown in Table 2.1. Class F fly ashes are usually of lower CaO content. They are normally produced from burning anthracite or bituminous coal. This class of fly ash exhibits

Requirements	Fly as	h
	classif	ication
	F	C
Chemical requirements SiO ₂ +AlO ₃ +Fe ₂ O ₃ , min (%)	70.0	50.0
SO ₃ , max (%)	5.0	5.0
Moisture content, max (%)	3.0	3.0
Loss of ignition, max (%)	6.0	6.0
Physical requirements. Amount retained when wet sieved on 45-µm sieve, max (%)	34	34
Pozzolanic activity index, with Portland cement at 28 days, min (%) of control	75	75
Pozzolanity activity index with lime at 7 days, min (MPa)	5.5	_
Water requirements, max (%) of control	105	105
Autoclave expansion or contraction, max (%)	0.8	0.8
Specific gravity, max variation from average	5	5
Percentage retained on 45 μm sieve, max variation, percentage points from average	5	5

 Table 2.1
 Requirements for fly ash for use as a mineral admixture in Portland cement concrete (Data taken from ASTM C618-2015)

pozzolanic property but rarely, if any, self-hardening property. They are predominantly (70%) non-crystalline silica, which is the determining factor for pozzolanic activity. Their crystalline minerals are generally composed of quartz, mullite, and spinels magnetite (Gomes et al. 1999). Class C fly ashes are generally produced from lignite or sub-bituminous coal. This class of fly ash has both pozzolanic and varying degree of self-cementitious properties. Most Class C fly ashes contain more than 15% CaO, but some Class C fly ashes may contain as little as 10% CaO. Class C fly ashes contain predominantly calcium alumino-siltca glass which is highly reactive. Crystalline phases in Class C ash include: quartz, lime, mullite, gehlenite, anhydrite, and cement materials such as C_3A , C_2S and C_4A_3S .

In Europe, the use of high-calcium fly ashes HCFA(s) blended directly into concrete is not defined by a specific regulative frame as in the case of siliceous fly ashes where there is the standard EN 450-1:2005, but there are definitions in European standards for cement (www.ecoba.com 2007, EUROGYPSUM-ECOBA-VGB 2005). Therefore, the only way of utilizing HCFA as an accept-able mineral admixture is to follow limits according to standard EN 197-1 (2013), where HCFA(s) are symbolized by (W)—calcareous fly ashes. Logically, the main limits in the quality of HCFA(s) are related to the quality of produced cement with a specified replacement level of clinker with HCFA.

In Greece, after long term working period of a relevant Scientific Committee, the Hellenic Specification for the Use of HCFA in Unreinforced Concrete or Cement Products was approved by the State and put in force in October 2007 (Hellenic technical specifications 2007). Two categories of HCFA are specified in this standard: the EIT1 with R45 \leq 45% and SO₃ \leq 7% and EIT2 with R45 \leq 30% and SO₃ \leq 5% and CaO free \leq 3%. EIT refers to unprocessed while EIT refers to processed high calcium fly ash. In Poland, national certifications for the use of HCFA in concrete and road construction have also been issued. In addition, different processing methods of HCFA have been used for improving their quality, such as: sieving for reducing grain size and unburnt carbon content, slaking for reducing hot lime undesirable effect, milling and slaking for increasing fineness, reduction of free lime content and homogenization of HCFA (Papayianni 2010a, b).

2.3 Environmental Sustainability

While the production of energy from coal does produce about 25% of the CO₂ released by the humans globally (World coal Institute 2003), the impact of this can be reduced if beneficial use is made of its by-product, fly ash. Hence, increasing the use of fly ash in construction works can yield significant technical, environmental and economic benefits and such use would contribute considerably to sustainable development. Fly ash has been widely used for numerous applications and no environmental problem resulting from its use has ever been reported (Camoes et al. 2003).

For conventional structural applications, fly ash as a cement constituent in concrete is well accepted. This is due to several factors, including: better consistency during the fresh stage, and superior durability with respect to chloride resistance; coupled with lower material cost. Fly ash concrete also decreases environmental impact by reducing the amount of cement used, thus consuming less energy and releasing fewer greenhouse-gas emissions than conventional Portland cement concrete (Manmohan and Mehta 1981). Utilization of fly ash in cement and concrete has significant environmental benefits such as (Siddique and Khan 2011):

- Increasing the service life of concrete roads and structures by improving concrete durability,
- Reduction in energy use and greenhouse gas and other adverse air emissions when fly ash is used to replace or displace manufactured cement,
- Reduction in amount of coal combustion products that must be disposed in landfills, and
- Conservation of other natural resources and materials.

Making blended cements with fly ash also makes the cement plant utilize their limestone source longer and postpone building new cement plants.

2.4 Fresh Properties of Fly Ash

2.4.1 Size, Shape and Colour

Fly ash particle size is finer than ordinary Portland cement. Fly ash consists of silt sized particles, which are generally spherical in nature and their size typically ranges between 1 and 100 μ m. These small glass spheres improve the fluidity and workability of fresh concrete. Fineness is one of the important properties contributing to the pozzolanic reactivity of fly ash. Fly ash colour depends upon its chemical and mineral constituents. It can be tan to dark gray. Tan and light colours are generally associated with higher lime content, and brownish colour with the iron content. A dark gray to black colour is attributed to elevated unburned carbon (LOI) content. Fly ash colour is usually very consistent for each power plant and coal source (Siddique and Khan 2011).

2.4.2 Fineness

Fineness of fly ash is most closely related to the operating condition of the coal crushers and the grindability of the coal itself. Fineness of fly ash is related to its pozzolanic activity. For fly ash use in concrete applications, fineness is defined as the percent by weight of the material retained on the 45 μ m (#325) sieve. ASTM C618 (2015) limits the maximum amount of fly ash retained on the 45 μ m (#325) mesh sieve on wet sieving as 34%. Generally, a large fraction of ash particles is smaller than 3 μ m in size. In bituminous ashes, the particle sizes range from less than 1 to over 100 μ m. A coarser gradation can result in a less reactive ash and could contain higher carbon content.

2.4.3 Specific Gravity

The specific gravity is related to shape, color and chemical composition of fly ash particles. In general, specific gravity of fly ash may vary from 1.3 to 2.8. Canadian fly ashes have specific gravity ranging between 1.94 and 2.94, whereas American ashes have specific gravity ranging between 2.14 and 2.69 (Siddique and Khan 2011).

2.4.4 Pozzolanic Activity

The property of low calcium fly ashes possessing little or no cementing value by themselves, to react with calcium hydroxide (usually from cement hydration) in the presence of water and produce highly cementitious water insoluble products, is called pozzolanic reactivity. The meta-stable silicates present in self-cementitious high calcium fly ash react with calcium ions in the presence of moisture to form water insoluble calcium-alumino-silicate hydrates.

The pozzolanic activity of a fly ash depends on its: (1) fineness; (2) calcium content; (3) structure; (4) specific surface; (5) particle size distribution; and (6) LOI content (Joshi 1979). Several investigators have reported that when fly ash is pulverized to increase fineness, its pozzolanic activity increases significantly. However, the effect of increase in specific surface area beyond 600 m²/kg is reported to be insignificant (Joshi 1979).

2.4.5 Particle Morphology

Fly ash particles consist of clear glassy spheres and a spongy aggregate. Several morphological investigations have been carried out on particle shape and surface characteristics of various types of fly ashes using scanning electron microscope (SEM) and energy dispersive x-ray analysis (EDXA) (Diamond 1985; Mehta 1988). Scanning electron micrographs of different fly ashes show the typical spherical shape of fly ash particles, some of which are hollow. The hollow spherical particles are known as cenospheres or floaters as they are very light and tend to float on water surface. Cenospheres are unique free flowing powders composed of hard shelled, hollow, minute spheres. Cenospheres are made up of silica, iron and alumina. Cenospheres have a size range from 1 to 500 μ m. Colours range from white to dark gray.

Sometimes fly ashes may also contain many small spherical particles within a large glassy sphere, called pherospheres. The exterior surfaces of the solid and hollow spherical particles of low-calcium oxide fly ashes are generally smooth and better defined than those of high-calcium oxide fly ashes which may have surface coatings of material rich in calcium (Mehta 1988).

2.4.6 Moisture

Any amount of moisture in Class C fly ash may cause hardening from hydration of its cementitious compounds. Even surface spraying may cause caking. To prevent caking and packing of the fly ash during shipping and storage and to control uniformity of fly ash shipments, a 3.0% limit on moisture content is specified in ASTM C618 (2015). Therefore, it is important that such ashes are kept dry before being mixed with cement.

2.4.7 Chemical Composition

Chemical composition of fly ashes include silica (SiO_2) , alumina (Al_2O_3) , and oxides of calcium (CaO), iron (Fe₂O₃), magnesium (MgO), titanium (TiO₂), sulphur (SO₃), sodium (Na₂O), and potassium (K₂O), and Loss of ignition (LOI). Amongst these, SiO₂ and Al₂O₃ together make up about 45–80% of the total ash. The sub-bituminous and lignite coal ashes have relatively higher proportion of CaO and MgO and lesser proportions of SiO₂, Al₂O₃ and Fe₂O₃ as compared to the bituminous coal ashes. Table 2.2 presents the chemical analysis of different American fly ashes (ACI 226 1987).

2.4.8 Mineralogical Characteristics (References)

Mineralogical characterization determines the crystalline phases that contain the major constituents of fly ash. Fly ashes usually have 15–45% crystalline matter. The high-calcium ashes contain larger amounts of crystalline matter ranging between 25 and 45% (McCarthy et al. 1988).

Although high-calcium Class C ashes may have less glassy or amorphous material, they do contain certain crystalline phases such as anhydrite (CaSO₄), tricalcium aluminate (3CaO·Al₂O₃), calcium sulpho-aluminate (C₄A₃<u>S</u>) and very small amounts of free lime (CaO) that participate in producing cementitious compounds (Siddique and Khan 2011). Also, glassy phase in Class C ashes is usually more reactive. The glassy particles in Class C fly ashes contain large amounts of calcium, which possibly makes the surface of such particles highly strained, and probably, this is the reason for the highly reactive nature of Class-C fly ashes (Papayianni-Papadopoulou 1981; Papayianni 2010a, b).

Anhydrite (CaSO₄) is formed from the reaction of CaO, SO₂ and O₂ in the furnace or flue. Quantity of anhydrite increases with the increase in SO₃ and CaO contents. It has a significant role in hydration behavior of fly ash because it participates along with tricalcium aluminate and other soluble aluminates to produce ettringite and calcium sulphoaluminate hydrate (Papayianni-Papadopoulou 1981;

Parameter (%)	Class F fly ash	Class C fly ash
Silicon dioxide	45-64.4	23.1-50.5
Calcium oxide	0.7–7.5	11.6–29.0
Aluminum oxide	19.6-30.1	13.3–21.3
Iron oxide	3.8-23.9	3.7–22.5
Sodium oxide	0.3–2.8	0.5–7.3
Magnesium oxide	0.7–1.7	1.5–7.5
Potassioum oxide	0.7–2.9	0.4–1.9
Loss on ignition	0.4–7.2	0.3–1.9

Table 2.2Composition ofClass F and Class C fly ashes(data taken from ACI 2261987)

Table 2.3 Concentration	Minerals	Concentration (%)
range of minerals in bituminous fly ashes (data	Mulite	6.5–9.0
taken from Alonso and	Hematite	1.1–2.7
Wesche 1992)	Magnetite	0.8–6.5
	Quartz	2.2-8.5
	Free CaO	Up to 3.5

Papayianni 1996; Papayianni 2010a, b; Mehta 1986a, b). Tricalcium aluminate $(3CaO \cdot Al_2O_3)$ is one of the most important crystalline phases to identify and quantify the fly ash because it contributes to ettringite formation, and also in self-hardening reactions as well as disruptive sulfate reactions in hardened concrete.

Periclase is the crystalline form of magnesium oxide (MgO). Presence of this form of MgO in fly ash affects the soundness of the resulting concrete through its expansive hydration to brucite, $Mg(OH)_2$ (Papayianni-Papadopoulou 1981; Mehta Mehta 1986a, b). Crystalline iron oxide, ferrite spinel and/or hematite are generally found in all fly ashes. In most of the fly ashes, about 0.33–0.50% of iron is present as crystalline oxide. The reactivity of fly ash is, however, dependent on the Fe₂O₃ content in the glassy phase (Siddique and Khan 2011). The concentrations of important minerals found in bituminous coal fly ashes, as reported by Alonso and Wesche (1992) are given in Table 2.3.

2.5 Effect of Fly Ash on the Fresh Properties of Cement and Concrete

Fresh concrete is a concentrated suspension of particulate materials of different densities, particle sizes and chemical composition in a solution of lime and other compounds. Fresh concrete properties include workability, air-entrainment, bleed-ing and segregation, pump ability, compactability, and finishability. In fresh concrete, fly ash plays an important role in the fluidity of concrete.

2.5.1 Workability

The spherical shape and glassy surface of most fly ash particles, usually finer than cement, permit greater workability or slump for equal water–cement ratios.

Lane and Best (1982) concluded that the use of fly ash as partial replacement of cement usually reduces the water content for a given consistency. With proper proportioning of the concrete, cohesion and plasticity are adequate, and bleeding is reduced. Helmuth (1987) has reported that if the water reduction were due to the

spherical shape of the fly ash particles or the lack of chemical reactivity, the water reduction would progressively increase with increase in fly ash content.

Brown (1982) conducted several studies with fly ash replacing cement and fine aggregate at levels of 10–40% by volume. He concluded that for each 10% of ash substituted for cement, the compacting factor or workability changed to the same order as it would by increasing the water content of the mix by 3–4%. When fly ash was substituted for sand or total aggregate, workability increased to reach a maximum value at about 8% ash by volume of aggregate. Further substitution caused rapid decrease in workability.

Yuan et al. (1982) showed that the water demand decreased by adding 15 and 20% fly ash and increased when fly ash content was higher than 20%. This was attributed to the increase in water demand from the introduction of additional specific surface and porous grains, and the decreased deflocculation resulting from the adsorption of fine grains of fly ash on cement clusters. Owens (1979) reported that with the use of fly ash containing large fraction of particles coarser than 45 μ m or a fly ash with high amount of unburnt carbon, exhibiting loss on ignition more than 1%, higher water demand was observed. Water demand was noticeably increased to maintain the desired level of fluidity. The effect of coarse fly ash particles on the water demand of concrete mixtures is clearly shown in Fig. 2.1.

At a given content of cementitious materials in concrete the addition of fly ash generally reduces water demand and improves workability. However, some fly ashes may increase the water demand by up to 5% (Gebler and Klieger 1986). Jiang and Malhotra (2000) have studied the effect of 8 different fly ashes on the water demand, and the experimental results are given in Table 2.4. At a given fly ash content of 55% by mass of cementitious materials, 8.8–19.4% reduction in the water demand was achieved depending on the quality of the fly ashes. The



Fly ash	Fly ash-to-cementitious material ratio	Water-to-cementitious material ratio	Reduction in water demand, %
-	0	0.43	-
F1	55	0.38	11.2
F2	55	0.39	8.8
F3	55	0.37	14.1
F4	55	0.35	17.6
F5	55	0.34	18.8
F6	55	0.38	9.4
F7	55	0.38	10.6
F8	55	0.34	19.4

 Table 2.4
 Reduction in the water demand due to the addition of different fly ashes (data taken from Jiang and Malhotra 2000)

reduction of the water demand is often attributed to the spherical shape and plain surface of fly ash particles, called "ball-bearing effect" and also to the improved grain size composition, called "filling effect". Due to the electrical charges of fly ash, the finer fly ash particles are adsorbed on the surface of cement particles. If enough fine fly ash particles are present to cover the surface of cement particles, the cement particles will become deflocculated and the water demand for a given workability will be reduced (Roy 1987). In this manner, fly ash has similar action on the water demand as plasticizers (Helmuth 1987).

The effect of fly ash on the water demand is determined mainly by its fineness, grain size composition, shape and carbon content. The increase in fineness generally results in a reduction of the water demand, which is attributed to the improved grain composition of the cement and fly ash mixture (Efes 1980). The spherical particle of fly ash contributes to the "ball bearing effect" and therefore has a positive effect on reducing the water demand (Braun and Gebauer 1983). High carbon content in fly ash has a negative effect on the workability due to the water absorption by porous carbon particles (Neville 1995).

The effect that fly ash has on the fresh properties of concrete mixtures strongly depends on its chemical composition (Low calcium or high calcium ash) and the fineness of the ash. According to Papayianni (2010a, b) the role of high calcium fly ash (HCFA) in the rheology of fresh concrete is governed by the fact that these fly ashes more or less take part in the hydration reaction of cementitious systems as soon as they are mixed with water. Regarding the water demand of HCFA concrete mixtures, it could be said that the issue of Abdun Nur (1961) about HCFA improving the workability is not verified in all cases. Moderately cementitious HCFAs (with relatively low CaO and SO₃ content) usually do not greatly affect the water required for a given workability, while the highly cementitious fly ashes (high content in CaO, Al₂O₃ and SO₃) increase the water demand. This extra water does not have so close relation to HCFA carbon content nor to the coarse fragment of grains >45 μ m, but rather to the presence of free lime, calcium aluminates and



Fig. 2.2 Influence of fly ash content on plastic viscosity and yield stress of concrete (data taken from Khan 2010)

calcium sulfoaluminates (concentrated in fine particles) which are rapidly hydrated by binding a great number of H_2O molecules in their phase.

In order to develop a theoretical concept and understanding of the rheology of fresh fly ash concrete, Tattersall and Banfill (1983) suggested mathematical expressions relating the yield value (τ) and the plastic viscosity (μ) to the volumetric proportions of concrete mix constituents, in terms of Bingham model. Yield stress and plastic viscosity varied with volumetric proportions of concrete mix constituents, water-to-cement ratio, replacement levels of cement/aggregate with fly ash, and fineness of fly ash. An increase in the volume of the paste at a constant ratio of ash to total cementitious material resulted in an increase in plastic viscosity. Apparently because of fine particle size and smooth glassy texture as well as spherical shape, fly ash acts to plasticize concrete at a given water content when used as partial replacement of cement or fine aggregate. Khan (2010) reported that the incorporation of 20, 30 and 40% fly ash increased the plastic viscosity of concrete whilst the yield stress of concrete reduced with increase in fly ash content, see Fig. 2.2.

2.5.2 Bleeding and Segregation

Incorporation of fly ash in mortar or concrete significantly reduces the bleeding and segregation. This is due to the lubrication effect of the glassy spherical fly ash particles and the increased ratio of solids to liquid which make the concrete less prone to segregation and improve concrete pumpability. Figure 2.3 shows the bleeding rate of fly ash concrete compared to that of control concrete (CEGB 1967).





Joshi and Lohtia (1993) used Alberta fly ashes in making high-volume fly ash concrete mixes, and concluded that fly ash concrete mixes were more cohesive than control mixes. During the slump test, the fly ash concrete mixes subsided more slowly and gradually than the control mixes which exhibited abrupt fall or subsidence.

In general, concrete containing fly ash is cohesive and has reduced bleeding and segregation. The addition of fly ash can, therefore, solve the excessive bleeding problem particularly in concretes which are deficient in fine aggregates. Figure 2.3 shows a comparison of the bleeding of concretes with and without fly ash. The reduced bleeding is due to the reduced water demand by the addition of fly ash. Gebler and Klieger (1986) have reported the correlation between the reduced bleed water and the reduced water demand. Another reason is that finer fly ash provides a greater surface area of solid particles for a given workability (Idorn and Henriksen 1984).

2.5.3 Setting Time

With the addition of water to concrete, hydration reaction starts and the cement paste begins to stiffen accompanied by heat release. The rate of stiffening of cement paste is expressed in terms of setting time. Generally, the effect of fly ash on the setting time depends upon the characteristics and amount of fly ash used.

The interacting effects of fly ash with other chemical and mineral admixtures may also influence the setting of concrete. Investigations have revealed that the addition of low-calcium Class F fly ashes result in retarding the cement setting. High-calcium fly ashes, generally low in carbon and high in reactive and/or cementitious components sometimes exhibit the opposite behavior, i.e. reduced

Fly ash source	Type of coal	Major chemical compounds (% by weight)					
		SiO ₂	Al ₂ O ₃	Fe ₂ O ₃	CaO	MgO	LOI
1	Bituminous	47.1	23.0	20.4	1.21	1.17	2.88
2	Bituminous	44.1	21.4	26.8	1.95	0.99	0.70
3	Bituminous	35.5	12.5	44.7	1.89	0.63	0.75
4	Bituminous	38.3	12.8	39.7	4.49	0.43	0.88
5	Bituminous	45.1	22.2	15.7	3.77	0.91	9.72
6	Bituminous	48.0	21.5	10.6	6.72	0.96	6.89
7	Sub-bituminous	55.7	20.4	4.61	10.7	1.53	0.44
8	Sub-bituminous	55.6	23.1	3.48	12.3	1.21	0.29
9	Sub-bituminous	62.1	21.4	2.99	11.0	1.76	0.70
10	Lignite	46.3	22.1	3.10	13.3	3.11	0.65
11	Lignite	44.5	21.1	3.38	12.9	3.10	0.82

Table 2.5 Properties of some Canadian fly ashes (data from Carette and Malhotra 1984)

setting time. Not all Class C fly ashes cause rapid setting. Ramakrishan et al. (1981) reported an increase in setting time with the use of high-calcium fly ash in concrete. Lane and Best (1982) concluded that the influence of fly ash on setting time is less than the influence due to cement fineness, water content, and ambient temperature. Carette and Malhotra (1984) studied the effect of Canadian fly ashes on the fresh concrete properties. Fly ashes were collected from 11 different sources. Cement was replaced with 20% fly ash in all the mixes. The w/b ratio was equal to 0.40 for all mixtures. Chemical properties of fly ashes are given in Table 2.5 and fresh concrete properties in Table 2.6.

Mix No Cement (kg/m ³)		Slump (mm)	Air (%)	Bleeding (%)	Setting time (h:min)	
					Initial	Final
Control	295	70	6.4	2.9	4:10	6:00
F1	236	100	6.2	3.1	4:50	8:00
F2	237	102	6.2	4.6	7:15	10:15
F3	237	100	6.2	5.1	5:20	8:10
F4	238	110	6.3	4.3	6:20	8:25
F5	237	65	6.4	2.7	5:15	8:55
F6	238	75	6.5	2.6	4:30	6:50
F7	239	100	6.1	2.9	4:15	6:20
F8	236	115	6.2	5.6	5:10	7:30
F9	236	100	6.4	4.4	5:25	9:00
F10	237	130	6.5	2.5	4:45	7:00
F11	237	140	6.6	0.6	4:00	6:05

Table 2.6 Properties of concrete with Canadian fly ashes (data from Carette and Malhotra 1984)

Rodway and Fedirko (1989) studied the setting times of concretes made with varying percentages (0, 56, 68 and 76%) of fly ash of the total cementitious material. High fly ash concrete mixes exhibited increasingly greater initial setting times of 22-42.5 h with increasing fly ash content from 56 to 76% compared to 7.6 h for the control mix without fly ash. They observed that delays appeared to be related to the problem of compatibility between cementitious materials and superplasticizer used to maintain workability. Sivasundram et al. (1990) investigated the setting time of high-volume fly ash (HVFA) concrete mixes, and concluded that the initial setting time of 7.50 h was comparable to that of the control concrete, whereas the final setting time was extended by about 3 h as compared to that of the control concrete. Joshi et al. (1993) examined three different sub-bituminous Alberta coal ashes at replacement levels of 40-60% by cement weight to produce superplasticized and air entrained concretes. They observed that fly ash concrete achieved an initial setting time of 5-11 h as compared to about 5 h for neat Porltand cement concretes. The final setting time varied from 10 to 13 h compared to 7 h for control mixes without fly ash.

2.5.4 Chemical Admixture Interaction

Ng and Justnes (2016) studied the influence of 5 different plasticizers on cementitious paste in which the OPC was replaced by siliceous (Class F) fly ash (FA) in increments of 20–60% by mass and with a constant water-to-powder ratio of 0.36. The plasticizers were lignosulfonate (LS), naphthalene sulfonate-formaldehyde condensate (NSF) and 3 different polycarboxylate ethers (PCEs). The flow resistance (FR) of the pastes decreased steadily with increasing replacement of OPC by FA in spite of increased total volume of solids resulting from the density of FA being lower than OPC. The decrease in FR is due to the spherical nature of FA and



Fig. 2.4 Heat of hydration (Power) evolution for cementitious pastes with 0 (OPC), 20 (FA20), 40 (FA40) and 60% (FA60) replacement of OPC with FA. All pastes are plasticized by 0.2% dry NSF of powder mass (data taken from Ng and Justnes 2016)



Fig. 2.5 Heat of hydration (Power) evolution for cementitious pastes with 0 (OPC), 20 (FA20), 40 (FA40) and 60% (FA60) replacement of OPC with FA. All pastes are plasticized by 0.2% dry PCE of powder mass (data taken from Ng and Justnes 2016)

the low reactivity of the glass phase at this early stage. Furthermore, there is much lower interaction of the plasticizers with FA than with cement, so the effective plasticizer-to-cement ratio is increasing and thereby also increasing the retardation of the cement as illustrated in Figs. 2.4 and 2.5 for NSF and one PCE, respectively. Hence, the required plasticizer dosage for equal flow and/or acceptable setting time has to be reduced when cement is replaced by Class F FA. The situation may be different for Class C FA depending on its C_3A content etc.

2.6 Early Age Strength Development

Figure 2.6 shows the effect of temperature on the strength development of fly ash concrete grade 40. At an early age, in all mixes, the strength development of PC and FA concretes at higher curing temperatures is faster than at lower curing temperatures. This is attributed to an increase in the hydration rate. However, at a later age, the strength achieved at higher curing temperatures was reduced. The later age strength of Portland cement was much more detrimentally affected by higher curing temperatures than that of fly ash concretes, the so-called "crossover" effect. Furthermore, this effect appeared earlier for Portland cement concretes than FA concretes. The crossover effect is significantly delayed with increasing cement replacement by fly ash (Elsageer 2011; Hatzitheodorou 2007; Soutsos et al. 2016). The later age strengths of the 30 and 45% fly ash concrete samples cured at 30 and 40 °C, i.e. other than those cured at 50 °C, did not significantly get affected by the high early age curing.

The strength development under all curing temperatures relative to achieved standard 20 °C cured specimens for 32-day strength is shown in Fig. 2.7. The ratio of the strength development at all curing temperatures of fly ash concretes was slightly below the equivalent PC concrete up to the age of 4 days, except from the



Fig. 2.6 Strength development of PC and FA concrete under 10, 20, 30, 40 and 50 °C curing temperatures (grade 40) (data from Elsageer 2011)



Fig. 2.7 Relative strength of all concrete mixes (grade 40) (data taken from Elsageer 2011)

45% FA concrete that reached more than 100% of its 32-day strength at 20 °C at the age of 4 days. It can be also seen that the 45% FA concrete cured at 40 °C is capable of reaching the 32 days standard 20 °C cured strength within just 8 days. On the other hand, 30% FA concrete reached more that 100% of the 32 days standard cured strength within 8 days, only when cured at 50 °C.

The strength development of all the concretes under adiabatic conditions is shown in Fig. 2.8 (Elsageer 2011). Higher early age strength was achieved for all



Fig. 2.8 Adiabatic, standard and 50 $^{\circ}$ C strength development of PC and PFA concrete (grade 40) (data taken from Elsageer 2011)

concretes, compared to the standard cured strength; however, at later age the strength development was detrimentally affected by the high adiabatic curing temperature, i.e. the strength development was lower in comparison with the samples cured under standard curing condition. It can be observed that the fly ash concretes benefited from the adiabatic temperatures more than Portland cement concrete. The greatest strength benefit appears to take place within the first 4 days. At this age, i.e. 4 days, all fly ash concrete had achieved more that 100% of their 32-day standard strength, but the strengths levelled off from this age onwards. The peak temperatures of these concretes are reached after 3 days and therefore, a more pronounced improvement in strength at 4 days is observed.

A comparison of the strength development of FA concretes to PC concrete at standard and adiabatic curing conditions is shown in Fig. 2.9. The early age strengths at standard curing are slightly lower as levels of cement replacement with FA increased, for example, the strength of 30% FA at 1-day was 73% of the strength of the Portland cement concrete. Nevertheless, from the age of 64-days onwards, the strength is higher as the levels of cement replacement with fly ash increase. The strength development of FA concretes benefits considerably more from the adiabatic temperature rise than the PC concrete. However, at later age, the adiabatic temperature rise is responsible for a levelling off of strength gain for all the concretes. For example, as shown in Fig. 2.9b, at 2 days, 15 and 45% fly ash concretes had greater strength than PC concrete and the greater improvement was observed at the age of 4 days. From the age of 4 days onwards, the strength rations drop continuously with age and the ratios are higher as the percentage of fly ash increases.



Fig. 2.9 Ratio of fly ash/Portland cement compressive strength development and standard and adiabatic curing regimes (grade 40) (data taken from Elsageer 2011)

2.7 Heat of Hydration, Rate of Reaction (Influence of Temperature and Curing, Maturity Functions)

The rate of heat output generation is highly dependent on temperature and time, i.e. it increases at higher temperatures for Portland cement and Portland cement/fly ash mixes. The use of fly ash reduces the amount of heat generated when compared to that of Portland cement (Papayianni-Papadopoulou 1981; Elsageer 2011; Hatzitheodorou 2007; Poole et al. 2010), thus potentially reducing the risk of thermal cracking in concrete and this can be the main reason for its use in concrete.

The binder mortars' isothermal heat output results in W/kg are plotted on log scale to highlight the differences at early ages. Figure 2.10 indicates that the higher the temperature, the earlier and sharper the heat of hydration peak appears. In all mortars and under all curing regimes, the peak of PC was higher than all levels of FA and the heat decreased gradually with the increase of the level of FA.

Higher temperature accelerates the reactions of fly ash to a greater extent than in the case of Portland cement alone. As a consequence, the behaviour of concrete



Fig. 2.10 Heat output per kg of binder of mortar (grade 40) (data taken from Elsageer 2011)

containing fly ash may be different in massive concrete elements from the behaviour in small concrete elements. This is relevant to the strength development of fly ash concrete.

For mass concrete projects the performance of the concrete designs should be tested using the local materials to ensure their performance regarding temperature and strength development. Adiabatic tests may be used for this purpose. The adiabatic temperature histories are shown in Fig. 2.11 for Grade 40 concretes (Elsageer 2011). The maximum temperature rise was highest for the PC concrete, which is 49 °C from the casting temperature of 16.7 °C and slightly lower for concrete with 15% fly ash. The maximum temperature rise was reduced in the concretes with 30% and 45% fly ash. The rate of temperature was higher and the maximum temperature was reached in a longer time as the level of fly ash increased. The temperature development in concrete blocks is not only affected by their size but also by the ambient temperature at the time of casting. Strength grade and level of replacement by fly ash both affect the temperature increase in the concrete. Figure 2.12 shows the DETR project blocks (Soutsos et al. 2016) that were cast to determine the ratio of in situ strength (determined from cores) to companion cubes cast and cured alongside the blocks. A unique ratio does not exist as the strengths will be affected by the different temperature histories depending whether it is winter or summer. Winter temperatures allow more heat dissipation from the concrete blocks and the lower reaction rate of fly ash assists in obtaining lower peak temperatures. The differences in peak temperatures between the PC and fly ash mixes increase with winter conditions (Fig. 2.13).



Fig. 2.11 Adiabatic temperature rise of grade 40 concretes (data from Elsageer 2011)



Fig. 2.12 The DTI Concrete Core project (photo from Soutsos et al. 2016)



Fig. 2.13 Temperature development in concrete blocks containing 30% fly ash during summer and winter (30 and 50 MPa concretes) (data from Soutsos et al. 2016)

2.8 Compressive Strength

The pozzolanic reaction of fly ash affect the compressive strength of concrete mixtures by different ways. Mehta (1986a, b) has identified these as:

- the reaction is slow, so that the rates of both heat liberation and strength development are correspondingly slow
- the reaction consumes lime rather than producing it
- the reaction products are efficient in filling up space and subdividing pores.

The rate of strength development depends upon the following factors (Siddique and Khan 2011):

- fly ash characteristics such as its chemical and mineralogical composition, fineness, and pozzolanic reactivity
- type of cement (in particular alkali content, but also fineness)
- · replacement level of cement with fly ash
- mixture proportions
- ambient temperature
- curing environment reference.

When aggregates or cement are replaced by low-calcium fly ash (up to a certain level, Pmax) higher strengths are observed. In the former case the strength enhancement is significantly higher and obvious 2–3 weeks after the mixing,

whereas in the latter case the enhancement is much lower and obvious after 3 months. The final strength gain is roughly proportional to the content of active silica in the concrete volume. (Papadakis 1999).

High calcium fly ashes start their contribution to strength development almost from the onset of Portland cement hydration (Siddique and Khan 2011). Some high-calcium fly ashes, with calcium oxide content more than 15%, result to compressive strength increase as early as 3 days after mixing because of their self hard-ening and pozzolanic properties (Siddique and Khan 2011; Papayianni 2010a, b).

Because of its fineness as well as pozzolanic reactivity, fly ash in concrete significantly improves the density of cement paste and the micro-structure of the transition zone between the binder matrix and the aggregate (Siddique and Khan 2011; Papadakis 2000a, b). As a result of the continual process of pore refinement, due to the inclusion of fly ash hydration products in concrete, a gain in strength development with curing age is achieved. When high-calcium fly ashes are used, the strength development with time is usually different from the one observed when using low calcium fly ashs. The self-hardening reactions in the high calcium fly ashes are likely to occur within the same time frame as the normal Portland cement hydration reactions, giving equal or sometimes greater strengths at early ages (Papayianni-Papadopoulou 1981; Mehta 1986a, b; Sideris 1996; Papadakis 2000a, b; Siddique and Khan 2011). The pozzolanic activity of such cementitious fly ashes further enhances strength at later ages (Sideris 1996; Papadakis 2000a, b; Papayianni 2010a, b).

Lane and Best (1982) observed that proportioning fly ash concrete on strength basis requires a replacement ratio greater than one-to-one by mass so that the fly ash in effect replaces some of the fine aggregate. When fly ash replaces cement on a one-to-one basis, the rates of hardening and strength gain at early ages are reduced. In order to take into consideration the reactivity of fly ash on the compressive strength of concrete mixtures the concept of fly ash efficiency factor was introduced by EN 206-13 (EN206 2013). The efficiency factor (or k-value) is defined as the part of the fly ash in a pozzolanic concrete, which can be considered as equivalent to Portland cement, having the same properties as the concrete without SCM (obviously k = 1 for Portland cement). The quantity of the fly ash in the mixture can be multiplied by the k-value to estimate the equivalent cement content, which can be added to the cement content for the determination of the water/cement (W/C) ratio, minimum required cement content etc. (Papadakis and Tsimas 2002). According to EN 206 (2013), when a fly ash conforming to EN 450 is used a k-value of 0.4 is permitted for concrete containing cements CEM I and CEM II-A conforming to EN 197-11. Papadakis and Tsimas (2002) reported that the pulverized high calcium fly ashed used in their research performed k-values ranging from 0.9 to 1.4.

Carette and Malhotra (1984) studied the effect of Canadian fly ashes on the compressive strength of concrete mixes. Cement was replaced with 20% fly ash in all the mixes. Compressive strength was measured up to the age of 365 days, and results are given in Table 2.7. It can be seen from this table that compressive strength of all tested mixtures continued to increase with age, indicating pozzolanic reaction of fly ashes.

2.7 Compressive	Mix No	Compressive strength (MPa)				
h of hardened concrete aken from Carette and		7 days	28 days	91 days	365 days	
tra (1984))	Control	23.4	30.6	34.9	39.2	
	F1	18.4	25.7	31.4	38.3	
	F2	16.9	25.2	34.8	37.0	
	F3	14.4	21.0	27.6	34.4	
	F4	17.8	23.3	32.3	36.9	
	F5	20.1	28.0	33.9	44.3	
	F6	18.4	24.8	31.8	39.2	
	F7	16.7	24.1	29.1	35.7	
	F8	17.9	27.7	29.0	40.4	
	F9	16.7	24.9	31.1	35.6	
	F10	19.2	28.5	33.7	39.7	
	F11	21.1	29.4	35.3	40.1	

Table 2 strength (data ta Malhot

Mehta (1994) reported that no significant contribution to strength development was noticed up to 7 days with the use of low-calcium fly ash in concrete. At 28 days and beyond, most fly ashes at the replacement levels of up to 30% by cement weight exhibited strength gain in concrete and the strength generally equalled that of control concrete.

Haque et al. (1988) concluded that for concrete mixes with 40–75% bituminous fly ash replacing cement, the increase in flexural strength was slightly less than the increase in compressive strength between 28 and 91 days of curing. Klieger and Perenchio (1972) found that concrete made with Type-I cement [EN 197-1(2013)] partially replaced with fly ash had lower strength than the control (neat Type I cement) at all ages up to 3 years. Lower casting and initial-curing temperatures resulted in higher strengths at later ages for both types of concretes. Korac and Ukraincik (1983) found that the early-age strengths of 50% fly ash concrete were lower than the controls; after 90 days strengths were comparable.

Erdoğdu and Türker (1998) studied the effect of particle size of high and low calcium fly ash on the compressive strength of mortar. Fly ashes were sieved from the 125, 90, 63, and 45-µm sieve by a sieve-shaker. Six different size groups, including the all-in ash, were investigated by combining the materials retained on each sieve. They were; material retained on 125 µm sieve, material having 125-90, 90-63, and 63-45, and material passing 45-µm sieve. For strength tests, mixtures composed of 25% fly ash and 75% Portland cement, by weight, were prepared. Tests were conducted up to the age of 90 days, and results are given in Table 2.8. It is evident from these results that (1) mortars with high-calcium ash exhibited higher strengths than mortars with low-calcium ash at all ages; (2) the finer the size of a fraction then the higher was the compressive strength.

		Compressive strength (N/mm ²)			
		2 days	7 days	28 days	90 days
25% High + 75% PC	All-in ash	27.6	36.7	46.7	55.7
	Above 125 µm	19.2	26.6	31.2	33.2
	125–90 μm	22.6	27.6	35.0	38.4
	90–63 μm	24.8	31.3	35.4	42.6
	63–45 μm	26.6	35.1	41.4	47.5
	Under 45 µm	32.0	43.0	55.8	64.6
25% Low + 75% PC	All-in ash	23.5	33.2	39.6	47.4
	Above 125 µm	17.9	24.4	26.7	29.9
	125–90 μm	21.6	29.2	32.0	37.1
	90–63 μm	22.6	29.6	34.9	40.6
	63–45 μm	23.8	33.5	37.4	46.8
	Under 45 µm	26.6	37.3	43.4	57.2
100% PC 32.5		38.0	44.4	51.6	58.2

 Table 2.8
 Compressive strength results of the mortars (data taken from Erdoğdu and Türker 1998)

Siddique (2003) studied the effect of partial replacement of fine aggregate (sand) with varying percentages of Class F fly ash on the compressive strength of concrete up to the age of 365 days. Fine aggregate (sand) was replaced with five percentage levels (10, 20, 30, 40, and 50%) of Class F fly ash by weight. Control mix (without fly ash) was proportioned to have a 28-day cube compressive strength of 26.4 MPa. Compressive strength results are shown in Fig. 2.14.

Based on the results shown in Fig. 2.14, it was concluded that (1) compressive strength of fine aggregate (sand) replaced fly ash concrete specimens was higher



Fig. 2.14 Compressive strength versus fly ash percentage (data taken from Siddique 2003)

than the plain concrete (control mix) specimens at all the ages. The strength difference between the fly ash concrete specimens and plain concrete specimens became more distinct after 28-days; (2) compressive strength continued to increase with age for all fly ash replacement levels; and (3) The maximum compressive strength occurs with 50% fly ash content at all ages. It was 40 MPa at 28-day, 51 MPa at 91-day, and 55 MPa at 365-day.

Demirboğa et al. (2007) investigated the role of high-volumes of Class C fly ash on the compressive strength of concrete. Cement was replaced with 0, 50, 60, and 70% fly ash. Compressive strength of concrete mixtures was determined at the ages of 3, 7, 28 and 120 days. The researchers reported that:

- (i) fly ash reduced the compressive strength of tested mixtures at all tested ages and at all replacement levels
- (ii) strength reductions were very high at the early ages of hydration, but the percent of strength reduction decreased as the hydration age increased
- (iii) cement paste containing fly ash showed a steady reduction in strength at 3, 7, 28 and 120 days as a function of replacement percentage.

Chindaprasirt et al. (2007) studied the effect of fly ash fineness on the compressive strength of concrete. Three fly ash finenesses: coarse, medium and fine were used. The coarse fly ash was 100% original fly ash (100FA). The medium fly ash was the 45% fine portion of the original fly ash (45FA). The fine fly ash was the 10% fine portion of the original fly ash (10FA). Three concrete mix series viz. a low, a normal/medium and a high strength concrete mix series were made. For the low- and normal-strength concrete, the water-to-cement ratios of 0.54 and 0.48, respectively, were used for Portland cement mixes. For the high strength concrete, the water-to-cement ratio was kept low with the use of a superplasticizer. The fly ash dosage of 30% by weight of binder was used for all fly ash concrete mixes. The strengths of fly ash concrete were higher than those of the Portland cement concrete in the same group. For the normal-strength concrete, the 28-day strength of the PC2 concrete was 49 MPa, whereas those of fly ash concretes were between 44 and 52 MPa. For the high strength concrete, the strength of the PC3 concrete was 80 MPa, whereas those of the fly ash concretes were between 71 and 84 MPa. For the low strength concrete series, the strength of PC1 concrete was lower than the fly ash concrete owing to a very large reduction in the water content of the fly ash concrete. The reduction in the water content, the good dispersing and the filling effect of the fly ash contributed to the relatively good strength development of the fly ash concrete in this series. With the use of finer fly ash, the water content was further reduced and the strength of concrete enhanced further.

In general, the replacement of cement by fly ash has a retarding effect on the early-age strength development of concrete and a positive effect on the later-age strength. However, some highly reactive fly ashes, especially Class C fly ashes, could increase the compressive strength even at early ages. Figure 2.15 shows the strength development of concrete with different fly ashes (Whiting 1989).





Beside the mix composition of concrete and the properties of aggregates and the curing conditions, the strength of concrete containing fly ash is determined by the pozzolanic reactivity of fly ash. The chemical composition of fly ash strongly affects its pozzolanic reactivity. The major components in fly ash contributing to the reactivity are silicates and aluminates contained in the glass phase (Wesche 1991). In general, Class C fly ash has a higher reactivity than Class F fly ash, and this results in different performance in terms of strength development (Neville 1995). The fineness of fly ash is another important factor affecting the reactivity. Many researchers (Costa and Massazza 1983; Ravina 1980) reported a direct correlation between the fineness of fly ash and its reactivity as well as the strength development of the concrete containing it. Grinding fly ash increases the fineness, which has a positive effect on the reactivity (Jaturapitakkul et al. 2004). However, the grinding destroys the spherical particles of fly ash and results in an increase in the water demand (Monzo et al. 1995), which possibly causes an adverse effect on the strength development.

Papayianni (2010a, b) used two high calcium lignite fly ashes for the production of concrete mixtures in cement replacement levels from 50 to 100%. She reported that plain concrete mixtures with only raw fly ash (100% replacement) developed 7-and 28-days compressive strength of 2.5 and 5.0 MPa, respectively. When processed fly ash was used the mixtures developed comparable strength values with the reference mixture produced with CEM II 32.5N cement from the age of 7 days, see Fig. 2.16.

Sideris et al. (1997) used two high calcium lignite fly ashes at replacement levels of 10 and 30% for the production of concrete mixtures with limestone or silicate aggregates. They concluded that only the 10% fly ash mixtures developed 28 day strength comparable with the one measured in the reference mixture. However at the ages of 60 days and beyond all fly ash mixtures gained significant strength values (Fig. 2.17).



Fig. 2.16 Compressive strength development of concrete mixtures produced with raw (EIT1) and processed (EIT2) high calcium lignite fly ashes (data taken from Papayianni 2010a, b)



Figure 5: Compressive strength of different PFA concretes for various hydration ages.



Figure 7: Compressive strength of different MFA concretes for various hydration ages.



Figure 6: Compressive strength of different PFA concretes for various hydration ages.



Figure 8: Compressive strength of different MFA concretes for various hydration ages.

Fig. 2.17 Compressive strength development of mixtures produced with high calcium lignite fly ashes at different replacement levels. Total cementitious content: 300 kg/m^3 , w/c ratio = 0.60 (data taken from Sideris et al. 1997)

2.9 Tensile Strength

Carette and Malhotra (1984) studied the effect of Canadian fly ashes on the flexural strength of concrete mixes up to the age of 91 days. According to the results of this research, flexural strength continued to increase with age. The researchers attributed this trend to pozzolanic action of fly ash.

Siddique (2003) investigated the effect of partial replacement of fine aggregate (sand) with varying percentages of Class F fly ash on the splitting tensile strength and flexural strength of concrete. Fine aggregate was replaced with five levels of percentages (10, 20, 30, 40, and 50%) of Class F fly ash by weight. A reference mix (PC concrete) was designed with a 28-day compressive strength of 26 MPa. Tests were performed up to the age of 1 year (365 days). Siddique (2003) concluded that:

- splitting tensile strength, and flexural strength of fine aggregate (sand) replaced fly ash concrete specimens was higher than OPC concrete (reference mix) specimens at all the ages. However, the strength differential between the fly ash concrete specimens and OPC concrete specimens became more distinct after 28-days
- both splitting and flexural strengths continued to increase with age for all fly ash percentages
- fly ash concrete mix with the higher content of 50% performed best at all tested ages having the maximum measured values.

2.10 Transport Properties

In ordinary Portland cement concrete, calcium hydroxide formed during hydration of Portland cement can be leached out over a period of time (Siddique and Khan 2011). This creates channels available for the ingress of water and deleterious salt solutions. When fly ash is incorporated in the mixture, it reacts with the calcium hydroxide to produce calcium silicate and aluminate hydrates of the same or similar type that are formed in the normal hydration of cement (Papayianni-Papadopoulou 1981; Mehta Mehta 1986a, b; Papadakis and Tsimas 2002; Siddique and Khan 2011). Thus pozzolanic reaction consumes calcium hydroxide and converts it to water insoluble hydration products. The reactions reduce the risk of leaching calcium hydroxide, pozzolanic products fill capillaries and reduce diffusion to aggressive fluids such as chloride or sulfate solutions. It is clear therefore that addition of fly ash results in pore refinement since it transforms bigger pores into smaller ones due to the formation of pozzolanic reaction products concomitant with the progress of cement hydration (Sideris 1996; Siddique and Khan 2011). Since permeability of concrete is related to the volume of pores larger than 100 Å in the hydrated paste, incorporation of fly ash results to more impermeable concrete mixtures.

The effect of low-calcium fly ash on the pore size distribution at the ages of 28 days and 1 year for pastes with w/cm = 0.50 is shown in Fig. 2.18 (Manmohan and Mehta 1981). The partial replacement of cement with 30% fly ash results in a higher porosity and a greater volume of macropores measured at the age of 28-days. The total volume of the pores measured at the age of 1 year is reduced in both pastes, but the difference is most significant in the fly ash paste. In this case there is a very significant reduction in the capillary-sized pores between 28 days and 1 year. It is also noticeable that there is a significant shift from the macropores to mesopores for this mixture resulting to a more refined pore structure of the fly ash paste as compared with that of the plain cement paste (100% Portland cement (PC) at the age of 1 year. The improvements in pore structure with time emphasize the importance of curing, especially with slowly reacting pozzolans, if the potential benefits associated with their use are to be realized.


Fig. 2.18 Effect of fly ash on pore size distribution at 28 days and 1 year (data taken from Manmohan and Mehta 1981)

High-CaO lignite fly ashes exhibit both pozzolanic and hydraulic behaviour (Papayianni 1996). When mixed with water some high-calcium fly ashes will harden due to the hydration of crystalline calcium silicate, the reaction between free lime and some of the glass, and the formation of ettringite. According to Taylor (1997) the hydration products in blends of Portland cement and high CaO are essentially the same as those that form in Portland cement mixes with the addition of strätlingite and C_2AH_8 (and increased quantities of calcium aluminate hydrates).

The porosity of mixtures produced with high calcium fly ash (HCFA) at different ages is plotted in Fig. 2.19 (Sideris 1996). HCFA replaced ordinary Portland cement (OPC) at different levels up to 40%. All cement pastes produced were with a water/cement ratio of 0.50. Porosity measurements were taken up to the age of 730 days (two years). The porosity of cement pastes at the age of 5475 days (15 years) was calculated using the cement hydration equation model (Sideris and Sideris 1997, 2003). Total porosity of fly ash cement pastes was slightly increased



Fig. 2.19 Total (1.102.940 Å < D < 75 Å) and water permeable (1.102.940 Å < D < 1000 Å) porosity of cement pastes produced with high calcium fly ash (data taken from Sideris 1996)

at all ages as compared with OPC paste. However, the water permeable porosity was decreased or remained the same with the one measured on OPC pastes at ages greater than 90 days for replacement levels of 20–40%.

This pore refinement taking place at later ages is responsible for the impermeability observed in fly ash mixtures. Davis (1954) was among the first researchers who studied the permeability of concrete used for pipes and the effects of replacing 30 or 50% of the cement with Class F fly ash from two different sources. Fly ash concrete was found to be more permeable at the age of 28 days, especially at higher levels of replacement. However, the trend was reversed at the age of 180. At this age fly ash concrete was found to be significantly less permeable.

2.10.1 Carbonation

Kasai et al. (1983) studied the carbonation of mortar specimens produced with different types of cement and fly ash after 7 days of moist curing. The researchers observed that (i) carbonation was found to progress rapidly up to the age of 3 months and after that it slowed down; and (ii) the greater the coefficient of permeability of the specimen, the greater was its susceptibility against carbonation. Specimens prepared with fly ash cement exhibited greater carbonation depth than ordinary Portland cement specimens.

Nagataki and Ohga (1992) found that addition of fly ash increased the carbonation depth of mortars. However, longer curing periods reduced the rate of carbonation, and mortars with greater fly ash contents were found to be more sensitive to extension of the curing period. These results are consistent with the slower hydration and development of a discontinuous pore system in fly ash cement pastes.

Sideris et al. (2006) produced 9 different cement mortars using high calcium lignite fly ashes—HCFA—in replacement levels up to 60%. Different w/cm ratios were used in each case in order to keep the mixtures' fluidity constant. All specimens were water cured for 28 days. After this age they were exposed to indoor conditions. Carbonation measurements were taken for a time period of up to 18 months. The researchers reported that carbonation depths of all fly ash mixtures were greater than the one of the plain cement mixture. This finding was also reported by Papadakis et al. (1992). On the other hand, the carbonation rate, i.e., the increase in carbonation depth at later ages as compared with the one at the initial measurement (6 months), was greater with the plain cement mixture. Carbonation rate generally reduced, as the fly ash content increased. The researchers attributed this finding to the pore refinement phenomenon.

Sideris and Savva (2001) produced five different concrete mixtures using two natural pozzolans and two lignite fly ashes. All SCMs replaced Portland cement at a constant level of 20%. Concretes were produced with a w/cm ratio of 0.65 and the content of cementitious materials was 350 kg/m³. Concrete specimens were fog cured for 28 days. After this age specimens were exposed in two different environments: (a) specimens of the first series were exposed to a coastal environment,

150 m away from the beach and left unprotected to the rain, and (b) specimens of the second series were exposed in indoor conditions. Carbonation measurements were performed at different ages up to 4 years.

Carbonation depth of blended cement mixtures was in both curing environments greater than the one of normal Portland cement mixture. Among all blended cement mixtures tested, specimens with pre-treated high calcium lignite fly ash performed the lowest carbonation rate, mainly due to the high CaO content of the ash.

Papadakis (2000a, b) examined the carbonation resistance of different mortars produced with low calcium fly ash (FL) and high calcium lignite fly ash (FH). Both ashes were used to replace cement or aggregates at percentages of up to 30%. All specimens were kept for 28 days in a laboratory air environment. They were then placed in a carbonation chamber with a controlled 3% concentration of CO_2 , at a temperature of 25 °C, and relative humidity of 61% for 100 days. He reported that the carbonation depth decreased as aggregate replacement by fly ash increased (positive replacement on the wright of horizontal axis), and increased as cement replacement by fly ash increased (negative replacement on the left of horizontal axis). The lowest carbonation depth was observed for high-Ca fly ash, then for low-Ca fly ash produced concretes (Figs. 2.20 and 2.21).



Fig. 2.20 Carbonation depth of concrete mixtures produced with ordinary Portland cement, natural pozzolans (SkE and ME) and lignite fly ashes (PtFA and MFA) (data taken from Sideris and Savva 2001)

Fig. 2.21 Experimental results and model predictions of carbonation depth of mortars incorporating low-calcium fly ash and high-calcium fly ash as cement (left hand) or aggregate (right hand) replacement (data taken from Papadakis 2000a, b)



The influence of fly ash on carbonation depth of concrete mixtures depends on many parameters such as:

- the chemical and mineralogical composition of the ash, the fineness of the ash.
- the water to cementitious materials ratio (c/cm),
- the level of replacement and the type of replacement (replacing cement or aggregates),
- the type of ordinary Portland cement used (chemical composition and fineness), and the curing period of the specimens.

One must be very careful when comparing some of the conflicting data available in the literature due to the parameters mentioned above.

2.10.2 Resistance to Chloride Ingress

There are many research results available in the literature in the majority of which researchers report that fly ash improves the resistance of concrete to chloride ion penetration, however the extent of the improvement depends on the following factors:

- the chemical and mineralogical composition,
- the replacement level and the fineness of the ash,
- the w/c, and to a lesser extent, the composition and fineness of the Portland cement used,
- the maturity of the concrete,
- the exposure conditions (mainly temperature and carbonation of the concrete), and,
- the extension of the initial curing period of the mixtures.

Papadakis (2000a, b) examined the resistance to chloride ingress of different mortars produced with low calcium fly ash (FL) and high calcium lignite fly ash (FH) by using the Rapid Chloride Permeability test (Fig. 2.22). Both ashes were used to replace cement or aggregates at percentages of up to 30%. The electrical charge passed through the control specimen may be higher than 4000 °C. This quite high value was due to high cement paste volume and the absence of coarse aggregate. All specimens incorporating fly ashes, whether it substituted aggregate or cement, exhibited lower electrical charge.

Most researches available in the literature focus on the chloride permeability of fly ash mixtures measured according to the standards at the age of 28 days. However, resistance of concrete to chloride penetration increases as the concrete matures. As mentioned above both total porosity and permeability of concrete containing fly ash is significantly reduced at later ages.

Thomas and Bamforth (1999) measured the chloride diffusion coefficient of different concrete blocks exposed to the south-eastern coast of the United Kingdom. Concrete blocks were produced with three different mixtures containing 100% ordinary Portland cement, 30% fly ash and 70% slag. All mixtures had the same compressive strength at the age of 28 days and were produced with w/cm ratio of 0.66, 0.54 and 0.44 respectively.

Results from this study indicated that at early ages (e.g., 28 days), the diffusivity of concrete containing 30% fly ash may be expected to have a similar chloride ion diffusivity as an equivalent grade Portland cement concrete. However, after approximately 2 years the diffusivity of the fly ash concrete may be one order of magnitude lower than the Portland cement and decrease further at later ages. This



reduction in the chloride diffusion coefficient of fly ash concrete mixtures has a significant impact on the long-term performance of concrete in chloride environments and on the interpretation of data from tests based on estimating the chloride diffusion coefficient (D28 value). This long term reduction in chloride diffusion coefficient is well known as the *aging factor*. The chloride diffusion coefficient at a particular time t during the service life of a structure is calculated using the following equation:

$$D_{app(t)} = D_{app(to)} \left(\frac{to}{t}\right)^{a}$$

where

Dapp (to) is the apparent diffusion coefficient measured at a reference time of to (usually at the age of 28 days)

a is the aging-factor giving the decrease over time of the apparent diffusion coefficient.

According to fib Bulletin 34 (2006) the aging factor a has a value of 0.30 for ordinary Portland cement and a value of 0.60 for fly ash cements with a fly ash replacement higher than 20%.

2.10.3 Sulfate Resistance

The principal method available to limit sulfate attack is the use of a sulphate resistant cement (Type II or Type V Portland cements instead of Type I Portland cement according to ASTM (2015) or sulfate resistant (SR) cements as described in EN197-1 [2013]) and by ensuring that the concrete has a low w/cm. Among the SR cements described in EN197-1, sulfate resistant pozzolanic cements CEM IV/A-SR and CEM IV/B-SR should contain combinations of natural pozzolanas and siliceous fly ash only up to a content of 55% per weight of cement. In this case the C_3A content of the cement should be lower than 9%, almost double the upper limit value of sulfate resistant Portland cement CEM I-SR5. Another alternative is the use of additives - such as natural pozzolanas, fly ashes or silica fume. Pozzolanic materials have an important role in the long-term durability of mixtures exposed in sulfate environments because they contribute chemically and physically to their properties. Their effect is thought to be explained by two primary mechanisms (Tikalsky et al. 1990): The "dilution effect" (decrease of the C₃A content of the binder when they replace a portion of Portland cement) and the "pozzolanic effect" (formation of secondary CSH). The latter results in a less permeable mortar, from which the excess calcium hydroxide has been consumed and rendered unavailable for the expansive formation of ettringite and gypsum compound (Mehta 1981; Al-AMoudi 1999).

Several attempts have been made in order to predict the sulfate resistance of a fly ash based on its chemical composition. Among them the first is that of Dunstan (1980). He introduced the "Resistance value" which was:

$$R = \frac{CaO - 5}{Fe_2O_3}$$

According to Dunstan, a fly ash improves the sulfate resistance of the mixture if R <1.5, whereas this decreases if the R-value of the ash is higher than 3. In a later research Dunstan (1987) reported that the sulfate resistance of mortars tested according to ASTM C-1012 will be improved, if fly ash with R \leq 3.5 is used.

In other research (Tikalsky 1990) the ratio CaO/SiO_2 of the fly ash was introduced as an indicator of their contribution to the sulfate resistance of mixtures. According to the researchers, fly ash with CaO/SiO_2 ratio less than 0.25, contained no detectable C_3A and provided a level of resistance to sulfate attack equal or greater than that of cement Type II alone. When fly ash had a CaO/SiO_2 ratio greater than 0.60, it reduced the sulfate resistance of the mixtures. Erdogan et al. (1992) reported that the (Free CaO)/Fe₂O₃ and (C₃A + Free alumina)/(Free CaO) ratios of the cement-high lime fly ash mixtures can be used to determine their sulfate susceptibility. According to the authors, there is a clear relationship between these ratios and the sulfate resistance of the mixtures: sulfate resistance increases when the (Free CaO)/Fe₂O₃ ratio decreases and the (C₃A + Free alumina)/(Free CaO) ratio increases.

Mehta (1986a, b) observed that if a fly ash is high in reactive aluminate phases it will not improve the sulfate resistance of concrete. He found that sulfate resistance depends on the type of aluminate phases at the time of sulfate exposure. Upon immersion in sulfate solution, pastes containing monosulfoaluminate or calcium aluminate hydrate suffered from strength loss due to ettringite formation. In contrast blended cement pastes containing fly ash that promoted the formation of ettringite prior to immersion into sulfate solution showed superior resistance. The free SiO₂, the free CaO and the fineness of the material are also of great importance (Mehta 1981; Stamatakis et al. 1997).

Fay and Pierce (1989) performed a study on air-entrained fly ash concrete using three fly ashes from the United States, representing a range of CaO contents of 11– 28.8% and used 10–100% fly ash by weight of the total cementitious material. The specimens were cured for 14 days in a 100% humidity room and for another 14 days in a 50% humidity room before they were immersed in 10% Na₂SO₄ solution or subjected to cyclic soaking and drying phases in 2.1% Na₂SO₄ solution to generate data by accelerated test. They concluded that both low-calcium Class C and Class F fly ashes can be effective cement replacements in controlling sulfate expansion, however Class F fly ash at replacement level of 30% significantly improved the sulfate durability for the cementitious levels and appeared to be optimum for both test conditions employed in their investigation, while for low-calcium Class C fly ash replacement levels were suggested to be greater than 30% and for high-calcium Class C fly ashes the corresponding suggested levels were greater than 75% to achieve the most improved sulfate durability.

Sideris et al. (2006) investigated the sulfate resistance of 8 different cement mortars prepared using two high calcium lignite fly ashes—MFA and PFA—in replacement levels up to 60%. Different w/cm ratios were used in each case in order to keep the mixture's fluidity constant. All cements used in this research were produced in the laboratory by mixing clinker, pozzolanic material and gypsum (CaSO₄ · 2H₂O). The SO₃ content of the pozzolanic material was taken into consideration and the added gypsum was properly adjusted in order to keep the total SO₃ content of the binder (clinker + pozzolan) equal to 3.5%. This was not achieved for the mixtures with a high PFA content. The high SO₃ of PFA increased the total available amount of SO₃ of the mix (clinker + gypsum), although no gypsum was added. The sulfate resistance of binders was evaluated using expansion measurements of mortar prisms immersed in a 5% Na₂SO₄ solution, according to ASTM C1012-95 (2015), up to the age of two years.

They concluded that lignite fly ashes, with high CaO and SO_3 content may have a positive effect on the sulfate resistance of blended cements. Specimens containing PFA fly ash blended cements gave the smallest expansion among all cement mixtures tested in this research and developed high compressive strength from early ages. These specimens also gave the least reduction in compressive and flexural strengths due to sulfate attack. On the other hand specimens containing MFA fly ash blended cements gave the worst performance since they totally deteriorated very fast.

Mixture	Compressive strength loss (%)	Flexural strength loss (%)	One year expansion (%)	Final expansion (%)	Deterioration age (months)	First crack (months)
CEM I 42.5N	30	67.5	1.10	1.10	6–8	6
10% FA	(-)	(-)	0.544	0.544	3-4	No cracks
20% MFA	(-)	(-)	0.428	0.428	3-4	2
30% MFA	30	(-)	0.408	0.408	4-6	No cracks
30% PFA	19	17	0.033	0.049	12–16	No cracks
40% PFA	15.3	14.7	0.033	0.055	16–20	16
50% PFA	-0.8 ^a	-153 ^a	0.016	0.022	Not deteriorated	No cracks
60% PFA	-8 ^a	-179 ^a	0.012	0.016	Not deteriorated	No cracks

Table 2.9 Compressive and flexural strength loss (%), final expansion (%), deterioration age and first crack observed age (months) for all mixtures (data taken from Sideris et al. 2006)

-Totally deteriorated, not measured;

^aStrength increased

The R-value for the two ashes used were RMFA = 1.86 and RPFA = 1.21. Despite the fact that in both cases the R-value is much less than 3.5, their contribution to the sulfate resistance of the mixtures was totally different: MFA had a deleterious effect, whereas PFA had a beneficial one. The two examined lignite fly ashes had similar chemical composition but they had totally different performance regarding the sulfate resistance of the mixtures, indicating that it is the mineralogical composition that really counts and makes the difference (Table 2.9).

2.10.4 Freezing and Thawing Resistance

Addition of fly ash results to changes in pore size distributions due to pozzolanic reactions (Schiepl and Hardtle 1994). The phenomenon of pore refinement as a result of pozzolanic reactions leads to the breaking of continuity of the capillary pore structure. As reported by Malhotra et al. (1982) the pozzolanic reactions alter the pore structure of the cement paste and thus densify the transition zone between the paste and aggregates.

There are many researches in the literature dealing with freeze and thawing resistance of fly ash concretes (Perenchio and Klieger 1976; Majko and Pistilli 1984; Yuan and Cook 1983; Virtanen 1983; Carette and Malhotra 1984; Joshi 1987; Malhotra et al. 1990; Schmidt 1992; Joshi et al. 1993; Thomas 1999; Naik et al. 2003; Knutsson 2010). The majority of them conclude that air content has the greatest influence on the freeze–thaw resistance of concrete and that addition of fly

ash had no influence on the freeze-thaw resistance of concrete if the air content of the mixtures is kept constant. However, if the fly ash contains some residual unburnt carbon, higher dosages of air entrainers may be used to achieve target air content and sometimes unstable air may occur.

2.10.5 Alkali Aggregate Reactions

Replacing cement with SCMs generally reduce expansion due to AAR (Thomas 2011). This has in general been thought to be caused by a reduction in pH (i.e. hydroxyl concentration) of pore water and a lower content of calcium hydroxide. In the author's opinion, the reduction in pH will be the case as long as the alkalis are busy in dissolving SCM in a catalytic way, but the implication is that this may cause only a delay of AAR until the SCM has reacted totally.

According to Thomas (2013) the level of cement replacement required to control AAR expansion increases as (1) SiO₂ content of SCM decreases, (2) CaO of SCM increases, (3) alkali content of SCM increases, (4) alkali availability in the concrete increases, and (5) reactivity of the aggregate increases. Shehata and Thomas (2000) showed that low calcium fly ashes (ASTM Class F) are much more effective in reducing AAR expansion (typical cement replacement level >20%) than high calcium fly ashes (ASTM class C). Shehata and Thomas (2002) demonstrated that the required level of low calcium fly ash could be reduced to 10% when combined with 5% SF as a ternary blend.

Some have suggested that the presence of alumina in SCMs contributes to prevent the release of alkali back to the pore solution by binding in the hydration products. However, Chappex and Scrivener (2012a) showed that this effect is extremely small, and instead it was found that alumina is an inhibitor of silica dissolution Chappex and Scrivener 2012b, 2013 as in their system with metakaoline as SCM.

References

Abdun Nur EA (1961) Fly Ash in concrete evaluation. Highways Res Bull 281

ACI committee 226 (1987) 3R-87: Fly ash in concrete. ACI Mater J 11:381-409

Al-Amoudi OSB (1999) Mechanisms of sulfate attack in plain and blended cements: a review. In: Proceedings of the conference extending performance of concrete structures, international congress "creating with concrete", Dundee, pp 247–260

Alonso JL, Wesche K (1992) Characterization of Fly Ash. Fly ash in concrete, properties and performance, RILEM Report, E & FN Spon, pp 3–23(1992)

ASTM C 618 (2015) Standard specification for coal fly ash and raw or calcined natural pozzolan for use as a mineral admixture in concrete. Annual Book of ASTM Standards, Philadelphia

ASTM C1012-95 (1995) Length Change of hydraulic-cement mortars exposed to a sulfate solution. American Society for Testing and Materials, vol 04.01, Philadelphia, USA

- ASTM C150-95 (2015) Standard specification for Portland cement. American Society for Testing and Materials, vol 04.01, Philadelphia, USA
- Braun H, Gebauer J (1983) Moeglichkeiten und grenzen der verwendung von flugaschen im zement. Zement-Kalkgips (ZKG) 36(5):254–258
- Brown JH (1982) The strength and workability of concrete with PFA substitution. In: Proceedings International Symposium on the Use of PFA in Concrete, University of Leeds, England, pp 151–161
- Camoes A, Agiar B, Jalali S (2003) Durability of low cost high performance fly ash concrete. In: The 2003 International Ash Utilisation Symposium, Center for Applied Energy Research, Kentucky, USA
- Carette GG, Malhotra VM (1984) Characterization of Canadian fly ashes and their performance in concrete. Division report MRP/MSL 84–137, CANMET, Energy, Mines and Resources, Canada
- Central Electricity Generating Board (CEGB) (1967) PFA data book. London
- Chappex T, Scrivener KL (2012a) Alkali fixation of C-S-H in blended cement pastes and its relation to alkali silica reaction. Cem Conc Res 42:1049–1054
- Chappex T, Scrivener KL (2012b) The influence of aluminum on the dissolution of amorphous silica and its relation to alkali silica reaction. Cem Conc Res 42:1645–1649
- Chappex T, Scrivener KL (2013) The effect of aluminum in solution on the dissolution of amorphous silica and its relation to cementitious systems. J Am Ceram Soc 96:592–597
- Chindaprasirt P, Chotithanorm C, Cao HT, Sirivivatnanon V (2007) Influence of fly ash fineness on the chloride penetration of concrete. Construct Build Mater 21(2):356–361
- Costa U, Massazza F (1983) Some properties of pozzolanic cements containing fly ashes. In: Proceedings of the first CANMET/ACI international conference on the use of fly ash, silica fume, slag and other mineral by-products in concrete, ACI SP-79, pp 235–254
- Davies RE (1954) Pozzolanic materials—with special reference to their use in concrete pipe. Technical memo, American Concrete Pipe Association
- Davis RE, Carlson RW, Kelly JW, Davis HE (1937) Properties of cements and concretes containing fly ash. J Am Concr Inst 33:577–612
- Demirboğa R, Türkmen I, Karakoc MB (2007) Thermo-mechanical properties of concrete containing high-volume mineral admixtures. Build Environ 42(1):349–354
- Diamond S (1985) Selection and use of fly ash for high way concrete. Joint Highway Research Project, Purdue University, Indiana
- Dunstan ER Jr (1980) A possible method for identifying fly ashes that will improve sulfate resistance. Cem Concr Aggregates 2(1):20–30
- Dunstan ER (1987) Sulfate resistance of fly ash concretes: the R-value. In: Proceedings of the katharine and bryant mather international conference on concrete durability, ACI SP-100, pp 2027–2040
- Efes Y (1980) Untersuchungen ueber einfluesse auf die spezifische oberflaeche nach blaine von steinkohlenflugaschen und ueber die auswirkungen des blaine-wertes auf andere eigenschaften. Tizfachberichte 104(1):20–29
- Elsageer M (2011) Early age strength development of fly ash mixes as affected by temperature (Ph. D. thesis). The University of Liverpool
- EN 206-13 (2013) European Committee for Standardization, European Standard EN 206: Concrete —specification, performance, production and conformity. CEN, Brussels
- Erdogan TY, Tokyay M, Ramyar K (1992) Investigations on the sulfate resistance of high-lime fly ash incorporating PC-FA mortras. In: Proceedings of the 4th CANMET/ACI international conference on fly ash, silica fume, slag and natural pozzolans in concrete, ACI SP-132, Istanbul, pp 271–280
- Erdoğdu K, Türker P (1998) Effects of fly ash particle size on strength of Portland cement fly ash mortars. Cem Concr Res 28(9):1217–1222
- EUROGYPSUM-ECOBA-VGB (2005) FGD Gypsum—Quality criteria and analysis methods

- Fay KFV, Pierce JS (1989) Sulfate resistance of concretes with various fly ashes. ASTM standardization news, pp 32–37
- Fib Bulletin 34 (2006) Model code for service life design, fib (ISBN 2-88394-074-6)
- Gebler SH, Klieger P (1986) Effect of fly ash on physical properties of concrete. In: Proceedings of the 2nd international conference on fly ash, silica fume, slag, and natural pozzolans in concrete, ACI SP-91, vol 1, pp 1–50
- Gomes S, François M, Abdelmoula M, Refait Ph, Pellissier C, Evrard O (1999) Characterization of magnetite in silico-aluminous fly ash by SEM, TEM, XRD, magnetic susceptibility, and Mössbauer spectroscopy. Cem Concr Res 29(11):1705–1711
- Haque MN, Langan BW, Ward MA (1988) High fly ash concretes. ACI Mater J 8(1):54-60
- Hatzitheodorou A (2007) In-situ strength development of concretes with supplementary cementitious materials (Ph.D. thesis). The University of Liverpool
- Hellenic Technical Specification (2007) Greek gly ashes. J Gov Hellenic Democracy Bull 2(551) (in Greek)
- Helmuth R (1987) Fly ash in cement and concrete, PCA, Skokie, Ill., p 203
- Idorn GM, Henriksen KR (1984) State of the art for fly ash uses in concrete. Cem Concr Res 14 (4):463–470
- Jaturapitakkul C, Kiattikomol K, Sata V, Leekeeratikul T (2004) Use of ground coarse fly ash as a replacement of condensed silica fume in producing high-strength concrete. Cem Concr Res 34 (4):549–555
- Jiang LH, Malhotra VM (2000) Reduction in water demand of non-air-entrained concrete incorporating large volumes of fly ash. Cem Concr Res 30(11):1785–1789
- Joshi RC (1979) Sources of pozzolanic activity in fly ashes—a critical review. In: Proceedings of the 5th international fly ash utilization symposium, Atlanta, GA, USA, pp 610–623
- Joshi RC (1987) Effect of a sub-bituminous fly ash and its properties on sulfate resistance of sand cement mortars. J Durab Build Mater 4:271–286
- Joshi RC, Lohtia RP (1993) Effects of premature freezing temperatures on compressive strength, elasticity and microstructure of high volume fly ash concrete. In: Proceedings of third canadian symposium on cement and concrete, Ottawa, Canada
- Joshi RC, Lohtia RP, Salam MA (1993) High strength concrete with high volumes of Canadian sub-bituminous coal ash. In: Proceedings of the third international symposium on utilization of high strength concrete, Lillachammer, Norway
- Kasai Y, Matsui I, Fukushima U, Kamohara H (1983) Air permeability of blended cement mortars.In: Proceedings of the 1st international conference on the use of fly ash, silica fume, slag and other mineral by-products in concrete. ACI SP 29, pp 435–451
- Khan MI (2010) Rheological characteristics of HPC containing composite cementitious materials. Concrete Technology—Journal of the Concrete Plant International, No 02/10, Germany, pp 78–84
- Klieger P, Perenchio WF (1972) Laboratory studies of blended cement: Portland- pozzolan cements. Research and Development Bulletin RD013, Portland cement Association, USA
- Knutsson A (2010) Freeze/Thaw durability of concrete with fly ash. Master of Science Thesis in the Master's Programme Structural engineering and Building Performance Design, Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, Division of Building Technology, Building Materials, Chalmers University of Technology, Göteborg, Sweden, Master's Thesis 2010:154
- Korac V, Ukraincik V (1983) Studies into the use of fly ash in concrete for water dam structures. ACI Special Publication SP 79:173–185
- Lane RO, Best JF (1982) Properties and use of fly ash in Portland cement concrete. Concr Int 4 (7):81–92
- Majko RM, Pistilli MF (1984) Optimizing the amount of Class C fly ash in concrete mixtures. Cem Concr Aggregates CCAGDP 6(2):105–119
- Malhotra VM, Carette GG, Bremmer TW (1982) Durability of concrete containing granulated blast furnace slag or fly ash or both in Marine environment. CANMET, EMR, Canada Report 80-18E

- Malhotra VM, Caratte GG, Bilodeau A, Sivasundram V (1990) Some aspects of durability of high volume ASTM class F (Low-calcium) fly ash concrete. Mineral sciences laboratories [Division report MSL-90–20 (OP & J)]
- Manmohan D, Mehta PK (1981) Influence of pozzolanic, slag, and chemical admixtures on pore size distribution and permeability of hardened cement pastes. Cem Concr Aggregates 3(1):63– 67
- McCarthy GJ, Johansen DM, Steinwand SJ (1988) X-ray diffraction analysis of fly ash. In: Barrett CS et al (eds) Advances in X-Ray analysis, vol 31. Plenum Press, New York
- McCarthy GJ, Berry EE, Majko RM (1998) Fly ash and coal conversion by-products: characterization, utilization, and disposal IV. In: Materials research society symposium proceedings. (ISBN 978-0931837814)
- Mehta PK (1981) Studies on blended Portland cements containing Santorin earth. Cem Concr Res 11(3):507–518
- Mehta PK (1986a) Effect of fly ash composition on sulfate resistance of cements. ACI Mat J 83 (6):994–1000
- Mehta PK (1986b) Concrete: structure, properties and materials. Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs
- Mehta PK (1988) Standard specifications for mineral admixtures—an overview. ACI SP 91:637– 658
- Mehta PK (1994) In: Khayat IH, Aitcin PC (eds) Symposium on durability of concrete, Nice, France pp 99–118
- Monzo J, Paya J, Peris-Mora E, Borrachero MV (1995) Mechanical treatment of fly ashes: strength development and workability of mortars containing ground fly ashes. In: Proceedings of 5th CANMET/ACI international conference on the use of fly ash, silica fume, slag and natural pozzolans in concrete, pp 339–354
- Nagataki S, Ohga H (1992) Combined effect of carbonation and chloride on corrosion of reinforcement in fly ash concrete. In: Proceedings 4th international conference on the use of fly ash, silica fume, slag, and natural pozzolans in concrete, Istanbul, Turkey, pp 227–244
- Naik TR, Ramme BR, Kraus RN, Siddique R (2003) Long-term performance of high-volume fly ash concrete pavements. ACI Mater J 100(2):150–155
- Neville AM (1995) Properties of concrete, 4th edn. Pearson, Harlow, UK
- Ng S, Justnes H (2016) Influence of plasticizers on the rheology and early heat of hydration of blended cements with high content of fly ash. Cem Concr Comp 65:41–54
- Owens PL (1979) Fly ash and its usage in concrete. Concr Soc J 13(7):21-26
- Papadakis VG (1999) Effect of fly ash on Portland cement systems. Part I: Low calcium fly ash. Cem Conc Res 29:1727–1739
- Papadakis VG (2000a) Effect of supplementary cementing materials on concrete resistance against carbonation and chloride ingress. Cem Conc Res 30(1):291–299
- Papadakis VG (2000b) Effect of fly ash on Portland cement systems. Part II: High calcium fly ash. Cem Conc Res 30:1647–1654
- Papadakis VG, Tsimas S (2002) Supplementary cementing materials in concrete: Part I: efficiency and design. Cem Concr Res 32(10):525–1532
- Papadakis VG, Fardis MN, Vayenas CG (1992) Hydration and carbonation of pozzolanic cements. ACI Mat J 89(2):119–130
- Papayianni J (1996) Standards for Using fly ashes in concrete production and use of greek fly ashes. In: Proceedings of the 12th hellenic congress on concrete, Lemesos, Cyprus, pp 146–155 (in Greek)
- Papayianni I (2010a) Use of calcareous ash in civil engineering. In: Proceedings of the international conference eurocoalash 2010, pp 45–58
- Papayianni I (2010b) Use of calcareous ash in civil engineering. In: Proceedings of Eurocoalash 2010, pp 58–72
- Papayianni-Papadopoulou J (1981) Research for the possibility of using Ptolemaida's fly ash for concrete production. Ph.D. Dissertation, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Thessaloniki, Greece (in Greek)

- Perenchio WF, Klieger P (1976) Further laboratory studies of Portland-pozzolan cements. Portland Cement Research and Development Bulletin RD041.01T
- Poole JL, Rinding K, Juenger M, Folliard K, Schindler A (2010) Effect of supplementary cementitious materials on apparent activation energy. J ASTM Int 7(9):1–16
- Ramakrishan V, Coyle WV, Brown J, Tluskus A, Benkataramanyam P (1981) Performance characteristics of concrete containing fly ash. In: Diamond S (ed) Proceedings symposium on fly ash incorporation in hydrated cement systems, Materials Research Society, Boston, pp 233– 243
- Ravina D (1980) Optimized determination of PFA fineness with reference to pozzolanic activity. Cem Concr Res 10(4):573–580
- Rodway LE, Fedriko WM (1989) Superplasticized high volume fly ash structural concrete. ACI SP 114(1):98–112
- Roy DM (1987) Hydration of blended cements containing slag, fly ash, or silica fume. In: Proceedings of meeting institute of concrete technology, Coventry, UK, pp 29–39
- Schiepl P, Hardtle R (1994) Relationship between durability and fore structure properties of concretes containing fly ash. In: Khayat IH, Aitcin PC (eds) P.K. Mehta symposium on durability of concrete, Nice, France, pp 99–118
- Schmidt M (1992) Cement with inter-ground additives—capabilities and environmental relief. Part 2. Zement-Kalk Gips
- Shehata MH, Thomas MDA (2000) The effect of fly ash composition on the expansion of concrete due to alkali silica reaction. Cem Conc Res 1063–1072
- Shehata MH, Thomas MDA (2002) Use of ternary blends containing silica fume and fly ash to suppress expansion due to alkali-silica reaction in concrete. Cem Conc Res 341–349
- Siddique R (2003) Effect of fine aggregate replacement with class F fly ash on the mechanical properties of concrete. Cem Concr Res 33(4):539–547
- Siddique R, Khan MI (2011) Supplementary cementing materials. Springer (ISBN 978-3-642-17865-8)
- Sideris KK (1996) Influence of natural pozzolanas and fly ash on the compressive strength and porosity of cement mortars and concretes. Ph.D. dissertation, Xanthi (in Greek)
- Sideris KK, Savva A (2001) Resistance of fly ash and natural pozzolans blended cement mortars and concrete to carbonation, sulfate attack and chloride ion penetration. In: Proceedings of the seventh CANMET/ACI international conference on fly ash, silica fume, slag and natural pozzolans in concrete, Madras, India, CANMET/ACI SP 119 Volume II, pp 275–293
- Sideris K, Sideris KK (1997) The cement hydration equation and its application to several hydration criteria according to the literature. In: Justnes H (ed) Proceedings of the 10th international congress on the chemistry of cement, Gothenburg, Sweden, 2ii061
- Sideris K, Sideris KK (2003) Ten years cement hydration equation and its application to chemistry and physics of cement paste, mortar and concrete, Xanthi, p 320 (ISBN 960-343-722-0)
- Sideris KK, Savva AE, Baltzopoulou KD, Economou CM, Sideris K (1997) Influence of silica and limestone aggregates on the final compressive strength of blended cement concretes prepared with the use of three different pozzolanas. In: Justnes H (ed) Proceedings of the 10th international congress on the chemistry of cement, Göthenburg, Sweden
- Sideris KK, Savva A, Papayianni J (2006) Sulfate attack and carbonation of plain and blended cements. Cem Concr Comp 28(1):47–56
- Sivasundram V, Carette GG, Malhotra VM (1990) Selected properties of high volume fly ash concretes. ACI Concrete International, pp 47–50
- Soutsos M, Hatzitheodorou A, Kwasny J, Kanavaris F (2016) Effect of in situ temperature on the early age strength development of concrete with supplementary cementitious materials. Constr Build Mat 103:105–116
- Stamatakis M, Fragulis D, Papageorgiou A (1997) Quality of Greek fly ash and its influence on blended cement production. In: Proceedings of the conference use of fly ash on construction Greece, pp 213–228, 3–4 October 1997 (in Greek)

Tattersall GH, Banfill PFG (1983) The rheology of fresh concrete. Pitman, London

Taylor HFW (1997) Cement chemistry, 2nd edn. Thomas Telford, London

- Thomas MDA (1999) Laboratory and field studies of salt scaling in fly ash concrete. In: Setzer MJ, Auberg R (eds) Proceedings of the RILEM international workshop on frost resistance of concrete with and without deicing chemicals, Essen, Germany, Sept 1997
- Thomas MDA (2011) The effect of supplementary cementing materials on alkali silica reaction: a review. Cem Concr Res 41:1224–1231
- Thomas M (2013) Supplementary cementing materials in concrete. CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group, pp 190 (ISBN 978-1-4665-7298-0)
- Thomas MDA, Bamforth PB (1999) Modelling chloride diffusion in concrete: effect of fly ash and slag. Cem Concr Res 29(2):487–495
- Tikalsky PJ, Carrasquillo RL, Snow PG (1990) Sulfate resistance of concrete containing fly ash. In: Proceedings of the G. M. Idorn international symposium on durability of concrete, ACI SP-131, pp 255–265
- Virtanen J (1983) Freeze-thaw resistance of concrete containing blast furnace slag, fly ash or condensed silica fume. In: Proceedings of the 1st international conference on the use of flyash, silica fume, slag and other mineral by-products, ACI SP-79, pp 923–942
- Wesche K (1991) Fly Ash in Concrete: Properties and Performance. E & FN Spon, London
- Whiting D (1989) Strength and durability of residential concretes containing fly ash, Research and Development Bulletin RD099, Portland Cement Association, http://www.cement.org/pdf_files/ RD099.pdf, pp 42
- World Coal Institute (2003) UK's energy future?, Ecoal, The News Letter of the World Coal Institute, vol 45, 3, (2003)
- www.ecoba.com/ecobaccpprod.html (2007) Production and utilization of CCP's in Europe [EU 15]
- Yuan RL, Cook JE (1983) Study of class C fly ash in concrete. In: Proceeding of the 1st international conference on the use of fly ash, silica fume, slag, and other mineral byproducts in concrete, ACI SP-79 307–319
- Yuan RZ, Jin SX, Qian JC (1982) Effects of fly ash on rheology of fresh cement paste. In: Proceedings materials and research society symposium, pp 182–191
- Chindaprasirt, P., Chotithanorm, C., Cao, H.T., Sirivivatnanon, V.: Influence of fly ash fineness on the chloride penetration of concrete. Construct. Build. Mater. 21(2), 356–361 (2007).

Chapter 3 Silica Fume

Robert C. Lewis

Abstract Silica fume concretes have been used since the mid-1970s, in many areas of the world. Such uses have included high strength, high chemical resistance—especially high chloride and sulfate resistance—abrasion and erosion resistance. With the increased focus on sustainability, silica fume—being a by-product—is used to great effect in reducing the Portland cement content of a mix, and allowing the use of higher cement replacement levels of other SCMs such as blastfurnace slag and fly ash. This can reduce both the energy used and the carbon footprint. The higher performance of the silica fume concrete, in terms of strength, can allow for reductions in structural element size, thus reducing the concrete volume needed, saving natural resources. The increased durability can provide greatly extended lifetimes compared to normal Portland concretes, thus also reducing the need for repairs and replacement. Numerous examples are available from the past 40 years of use, and reference should be made to the relevant manufacturers and associations web-sites, for more information.

Keywords Silica fume • Microsilica • Supplementary cementitious materials Ternary blends • High strength • Chloride resistance • ASR • Durability Sustainability

3.1 Introduction

Silica fume is a very fine powder mostly composed of amorphous silicon dioxide. The terms 'condensed silica fume' or 'microsilica' are also used. However, these terms may also be used for any powder coming out of the smelting industry, so compliance with the accepted standards for 'Silica Fume' is essential for a product that has the properties and quality required for use in concrete. The material is a by-product of the silicon and ferrosilicon smelting industries. Silica fume was first tested in concrete in Norway in the early 1950s (Bernhard 1951, 1952). Good

© RILEM 2018

R. C. Lewis (🖂)

FACI, FCS, FICT. Elkem Silicon Materials, Oslo, Norway e-mail: robert.lewis@elkem.no

N. De Belie et al. (eds.), *Properties of Fresh and Hardened Concrete Containing Supplementary Cementitious Materials*, RILEM State-of-the-Art Reports 25, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70606-1_3

strength results were obtained and later it was established that sulfate exposure tests, begun in those early days (Fiskaa et al. 1971) documented silica fume concrete to be as durable as concrete made with sulfate-resisting cement. However, at that time industrial production was impossible: no method of retaining the large quantities of the ultrafine particles was available. Thus, these favourable results only ended up as an incident, and might have been forgotten.

In the early 1970s the Norwegian government announced strict environmental requirements for the smelting industry. This made necessary huge improvements in filtering technology. Filtering of the particles from the exhaust gases thus became possible and, within a few years, substantial quantities were being collected. The consequence of regulatory action temporarily turned silica fume into a waste product, a stigma which is still noticeable today.

In order to accommodate and use the large volumes of material, large-scale and intensive research efforts were undertaken by the principal Norwegian smelting companies. These efforts, following on and adding to the earlier work, form a large part of the basis of silica fume technology and are essential to the large and increasing use of the material worldwide.

3.2 Production and Use in Concrete

3.2.1 Production

Silica fume is produced during the high-temperature reduction of quartz in electric arc furnaces where the main products are silicon or ferrosilicon alloys. The high-purity quartz is heated to 2000 °C in an electric arc furnace with coal, coke or wood chips added to remove the oxygen. The alloy is collected at the bottom of the furnace. As the quartz is reduced to alloy, it releases silicon monoxide vapour. In the upper parts of the furnace this fume oxidises and condenses into microspheres of amorphous silica (silicon dioxide).

The fumes are drawn from the furnace by powerful fans, often through a pre-collector and cyclone which removes the larger coarse particles of unburned wood or carbon, and are then blown into a series of special filter bags.

Essentially, this main process has not changed since the development of the arc furnace technology (at the Fiskaa plant in Norway, circa 1908). Production is centred on the alloy quality and the input materials—coal, coke, wood chips and quartz purity. As such, production from plant to plant, depending on the furnace input, can mean different characteristics being found in the silica fume. This can be as simple as a colour variation, or silicon dioxide content, or surface properties. As such, reputable sourcing and quality control is essential for consistency of performance within the concrete.

Some plants have been modified for post-production treatment of the silica fume, such as re-burners to reduce carbon content. Such qualities of product are more often used in very high tech applications due to extra cost, and are not used in concrete production.

3 Silica Fume

The chemistry of the process is composed of temperature-dependent steps. The silicon carbide (SiC) formed initially plays an important intermediate role, as does the unstable silicon monoxide gas (SiO) that eventually forms the silica fume:

$$T > 1520 \text{ °C} : \text{SiO}_2 + 3\text{C} = \text{SiC} + 2\text{CO}$$

 $T > 1800 \text{ °C} : 3\text{SiO}_2 + 2\text{SiC} = \text{Si} + 4\text{SiO} + 2\text{CO}$

The unstable gas travels up into the relatively cooler part of the furnace where it reacts with oxygen to form the silicon dioxide:

$$4$$
SiO + $2O_2 = 4$ SiO₂

As the temperature drops in the smokestack, the SiO₂ condenses into small droplets of silica. These small spherical particles have an average diameter of 0.1–0.2 μ m. However, while they are in the molten state, a common occurrence is that some of these primary particles come into contact and fuse into primary agglomerates, typically with a circumscribed diameter of 0.5–0.8 μ m.

3.2.2 Characteristics

Silica fume, in its basic form, is a grey powder (although shades of nearly white to nearly black, due to variable carbon content, may be seen from different furnace operations). The following properties are typical for a silica fume for use in concrete:

- at least 85% SiO₂ content;
- mean primary particle size of 0.1–0.2 μm;
- specific surface area >15,000 m²/kg;
- spherical particle shape;
- low carbon content.

While silica fume for concrete, according to the main standards, should contain a minimum of 85% silicon dioxide, greater values are often obtained and very high purity products are used in specific applications. If the origin is a ferrosilicon furnace, a small proportion of iron may be present, other elements are only present in small amounts (1% or less).

3.2.3 Available Forms

As the particle size of the powder is approximately 100 times finer than ordinary cement, there are certain transportation, storage and dispensing considerations to be taken into account. To accommodate some of these difficulties, silica fume is

available in various forms. The differences between these forms are related to the shape and size of the particles and do not affect the chemical make-up of the material. (These differences have an influence on the areas of use and careful thought should be given to the type of silica fume chosen for a specific application).

The main forms of are as follows.

- Undensified (bulk density 200–300 kg/m³) Due to the very low bulk density and subsequent problems in handling, undensified silica fume is often considered impractical for use in normal concrete production. Areas where it is used successfully are in refractory products and formulated bagged materials such as grouts, mortars, concrete repair systems and protective coatings.
- **Densified** (bulk density >500 kg/m³) The densification process causes the ultrafine particles to become loosely agglomerated, making the particulate size larger. This makes the powder easier to handle and cheaper to transport than the undensified form. Areas where this material is successfully used are in those processes that utilise high-shear mixing facilities, such as precast works, concrete roof tile works or ready-mixed concrete plants with central mixing units, and in the refractory industry. If the densification process results in a bulk density that is too high, the user will experience problems with obtaining proper dispersion of the material (Fidjestøl et al. 1989). Additionally, material that has been densified beyond 700 kg/m³, has shown a tendency, given pessimum combinations of silica fume dosage and cement alkalinity, towards deleterious performance, closely resembling ASR, if the large (>100µm) agglomerates are not broken up (Fidjestøl 1991; Lagerblad and Utkin 1993).
- **Pelletised** (bulk density >600 kg/m³) Pelletising involves forming the silica fume into pellets about 0.5–1 mm in diameter on a pelletising table using water and a small amount of cement to bind the pellets. Material in this form is not suitable for use in concrete since it is virtually impossible to disperse properly during mixing. In Canada, recovered pelletised silica fume has been interground with cement clinker in the manufacture of silica fume blended cement. Pelletising is most commonly used at times of excess or out-of-specification production to prepare the material for use in landfill.
- Slurry (specific gravity 1400 kg/m³) This material is produced by mixing undensified powder and water, in equal proportions by weight, to produce a stable slurry. The production of stable slurry is a complex process, requiring very efficient, high-shear mixers and special silica fume qualities. In this form the material is easily dispersed into the concrete mix.

3.2.4 Use in Concrete

In terms of the practicalities of using silica fume in concrete, a number of documents are available. The Silica Fume Association has produced technical data and published a "User's Manual" (FHWA-IF-05-016). A very comprehensive guide is

Type of concrete (Application)	Dosage of MS % by cementitious* wt.		
Pumping aid	2-3		
Normal strength (~40-70 MPa)	5–10		
High strength (~80–100 MPa)	8–15**		
Underwater	10–15**		
High chemical resistance	12–15^		
UHPC	15–25^^		

Table 3.1 Guideline dosages for different applications

*Total includes Fly Ash or Slag combinations

**Higher dosages may be used with attention to mix proportioning

^Normally a triple blend with Fly Ash or Slag

^^Highly specialised mix designs are required here

available from the American Concrete Institute: ACI 234.06R "Guide to the use of Silica Fume in Concrete" (American Concrete Institute 1996).

The level of addition depends on the application, but the values given in Table 3.1 can serve as guidelines for initial trial mixes. Many project details and research designs are available for reference. However, it should be stressed that even with the precedent of past work contained therein, trial mixes should always be conducted before acceptance of a mixture.

Because of the high surface area of the silica fume, in nearly all ready-mix concrete production a plasticiser or superplasticiser is used to give optimum dispersion while maintaining the water/cement ratio. This can be alleviated—reducing the dosage used—by adjusting the particle packing of the aggregates and powders. Several software programs are available that can review and balance the coarse/fine aggregate ratio, utilising the superfine nature of the silica fume. Such a mix design relies on the silica fume filling the bottom end in the fines percentage and producing a workable mix.

Mixing times will need to be adjusted, depending on dosage and equipment performance, to allow for maximum dispersion of the silica fume. This is most important when using any of the powder forms to prevent any agglomerates within the mix. The slurry form should not need increased mixing times.

Early production often used standard lignosulfonate plasticisers to achieve good dispersion. As workability requirements moved towards more fluid concretes, the use of the lignosulfonate with a pure naphthalene or a sulfonated naphthalene became more widespread—one giving dispersion and the other high workability. Under the drive of major construction in the Middle East, specifically targeted admixtures were designed for use with silica fume, leading to further improvements in durability characteristics. This development continued into the creation of PCEs (polycarboxylate superplasticisers) which are now the most used chemical admixture in silica fume concrete. Like most cementitious materials, the silica fume will function more efficiently with some types of chemical admixtures than with others and here again the need for comprehensive trial mixtures is emphasised. No specific incompatibilities with concrete admixtures are known to the author.

3.2.5 Standards

Various national standards, codes of practice and recommendations relating to silica fume have been in use for a number of years. The two globally accepted standards for the product are the American ASTM and the European EN, as listed. Others may also be seen in local use or within certain project specifications. A number of national and project guidelines/specifications for silica fume also exist.

USA	ASTM C1240 'Silica Fume for use in concrete'		
Europe (CEN)	EN 13263—'Silica Fume for Concrete'		
Canada CSA A3001-13 'Cementitious materials for use in concr			
Japan	JIS A 6207 2000		
Australia	AS 3582. Supplementary cementing materials (1992)		
China	GB/T 18736		
India IS 15388			

3.2.6 Health and Safety

Silica Fume is classified by CAS (Chemical Abstracts Service) number 69012-64-2. The corresponding EINECS (European Index of Existing Chemical Substances) number is 273-761-1. Other forms of silicon dioxide, including fumed silica, colloidal silica, diatomaceous earth and quartz have other classification numbers. Individual producers should also have REACH (Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals) classifications for their products.

Papers presented at a symposium entitled the Health Effects of Synthetic Silica Particulates (Dunnom and Wagner 1981) indicated that there is little health hazard potential from the inhalation of amorphous silica due to the non-crystalline structure. Jahr (1980) stated that experience in Norwegian ferrosilicon manufacturing plants indicated that if the limits (TLV) given in ACGIH (The American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists) are not exceeded, then there is only a very small risk of silicosis from exposure to this type of amorphous silica since the silicon dioxide that causes this lung disease appears to be of the crystalline form. ACGIH specifies as Threshold Limit Value (TLV) a time-weighted average (TWA) of 2 mg/m³ for the respirable portion of the dust.

The author is not aware of any reported health-related problems associated with the use of silica fume in concrete. There are no references to the use of microsilica in the concrete industry in the publications of either OSHA (the Occupational Safety and Health Administration of USA) or ACGIH. It is recommended that workers handling silica fume use appropriate protective equipment and procedures which minimise the generation of dust. Spillages of the powder or slurry should be treated as a 'common mess' i.e. non-hazardous and dealt with accordingly (An exception here is when hydrofluoric acid is present because the reaction product would be silicon tetrafluoride, which is toxic). There are no special requirements for the disposal of the waste material.

Flash inflammation of the material is not a hazard since the powder is completely non-flammable and will act as an extinguishing medium. The use of the slurry material will reduce any potential hazards to a minimal level (with the exception of hydrofluoric acid as stated above).

3.2.7 Environmental Sustainability

Due to the nature of its manufacture (a recovered by-product) and use in the concrete industry, silica fume is a material that can significantly contribute towards sustainable concrete construction due to the improvements in the performance of concrete. Because of its properties, silica fume can be used to significantly increase strength, reduce permeability, and provide a general increase in the overall durability of concrete (ACI 234 Guide for the Use of Silica Fume in Concrete, redraft 2017).

The contribution of silica fume can be noted as follows:

- 1. Cementitious effect—silica fume can be used to replace cement at up to 5 to 1 due to the increased pozzolanic reactivity. This can mean significant reductions in portland cement used for a given strength.
- Increased strength can be achieved using silica fume as an addition, and if incorporated into the engineering design, savings in concrete volume can be achieved. Increased strength can also extend lifetime use in areas of high physical damage.
- 3. Using silica fume to augment multiple blends (OPC with high Fly Ash or Slag volumes) can negate the delay effects usually seen—enabling workable strengths and durability factors at earlier ages.
- 4. The increased durability factors associated with the incorporation of silica fume into a concrete (water resistance, chloride, sulfate and ASR resistance) can mean greatly extended lifetime performance, meaning less repairs or re-builds.

Such methodologies have been used to great effect, reducing concrete volume and utilising SCMs with recycled aggregates, achieving recognised sustainability (LEED) and cost reductions in projects such as 311, South Wacker Drive, Chicago (Orth 1988; Elkem Datasheet C4-12 2001) and the Indianapolis Airport Parking Garage (Vogel 2008).

3.3 Fresh and Early Age Concrete Properties

3.3.1 Workability

The large increase in surface area gives a corresponding increase in internal surface forces which means an increase in the cohesiveness of the concrete. This effect is mostly advantageous, but it also means that the concrete seems to be slightly stiffer in placing, which means that an increase in slump is required to maintain 'apparent' workability. This is one important reason why silica fume is used with plasticisers or superplasticisers.

The term 'apparent' workability refers to the effect of silica fume on the slump cone measurement of a concrete and on how the slump compares with the workability of the mix: a fresh silica fume concrete will have a lower slump than a similar ordinary concrete due to the cohesiveness of the mix. When energy is applied to the mix, as in pumping, vibration or tamping, the silica fume particles, being spherical, will act as ball bearings and lubricate the mix giving it a greater mobility than ordinary concrete of similar slump. The effect is thoroughly described by Wallevik and Gjørv (1988). In the (Tattersall) two-point tester, the addition of silica fume will cause a decrease in the viscosity of the material while slightly increasing the shear strength of the fresh mix.

The effect on workability will vary between silica fumes from different sources (see 'Production'). In addition, the form of product (undensified or densified powder, liquid slurry—see Available Forms) that is used will influence the water demand of the material (Fidjestøl 1991). The high specific surface area of silica fume (typically 15,000–30,000 m²/kg) means that there will be an increased water demand. This can be partly offset by additional modifications to the mix design, such as reducing the content of other fines. Concrete mixes using silica fume are now frequently designed using particle packing methodology. This incorporates the ultrafine spherical particles into the total grading for the mix and thus enables balance between the fine and coarse materials, reducing the extra water demand, and giving improved rheology to the concrete.

3.3.2 Rheology

Since silica fume concrete is more cohesive, it is therefore less susceptible to segregation than regular concrete, even in flowing concretes. The reduced tendency to segregation is also useful for high-fluidity grouts and pumped concrete mixes. The addition of small amounts of silica fume to a mixture designed for pumping will act as a pumping aid, giving very good pumping characteristics (Sandvik et al. 1989; Burnett 1990). The world's tallest building (2015) The Burj Khalifa in Dubai, achieved a world record, of over 600 m, for vertical pumping—with a single pump —using a high performance ternary blend silica fume concrete.

3.3.3 Bleeding

Another consequence of the cohesiveness is that a silica fume concrete will produce virtually no bleed water. Therefore, fresh concrete must be protected from excess evaporation to prevent plastic shrinkage cracking and the hardened concrete must be cured in accordance with good site practice. The lack of bleed water also means that finishing of flatwork, such as power-floating, can start much earlier than with ordinary concretes.

3.3.4 Chemical Admixture Interaction

Vikan and Justnes (2007) made cement pastes with a constant total particle volume of 0.442 corresponding to w/c about 0.40 as basis, while the amount of silica fume (SF) was replacing cement in volume increments of 0.01 from 0.00 to 0.06. They concluded that the influence of SF replacement on the flow resistance depended on the plasticizer type: The flow resistance increased with increasing silica fume replacement when naphthalene sulfonate—formaldehyde condensate (NSF) was added as a plasticizer and decreased when a polycarboxylate ether (PCE) was added. Increased flow resistance and gel strength with SF replacement using NSF may be caused by early gel formation due to water binding by SF or the ionization of SF surface due to the high pH and possible bridging with polyvalent cations like calcium. Decreased flow resistance with increasing SF replacement using PCE can be explained by the dispersing power of the plasticizer and its ability to coordinate to calcium adsorbed on the surface of SF (Lesti et al. 2010) coupled with SF particle packing between cement grains displacing water or by a ball-bearing effect of silica spheres.

3.3.5 Setting Time

The lack of bleed water, increased shear resistance and a tendency to gelling (stiffening when not agitated) have been taken to indicate that the addition of silica fume means a more rapid set. However, it is a pure pozzolan and requires calcium hydroxide to start the pozzolanic reaction. The necessary calcium hydroxide is produced by the hydration of cement and thus the pozzolanic reaction is only possible after the cement has started reacting. The setting times for silica fume concretes are similar to those of ordinary concretes. The effect on the rate of hardening—for a normal concrete (not specifically designed for rapid high strength) —can usually be seen after 8 h and the reaction is strongest during the first 7 days (Fidjestøl and Frearson 1994).

3.3.6 Initial Protection and Curing

Due to the lack of bleed water with a silica fume concrete, all exposed surfaces must be protected from evaporation in the plastic state and then cured properly. This can take many forms.

Misting, wet hessian, membrane forming compounds or evaporation retarders, plastic sheeting or combinations of these. Curing is dependent on the ambient conditions and the nature of the concrete being placed—and should be designated before any concrete work starts.

3.3.7 Shrinkage

The shrinkage of silica fume concrete is similar to that of normal concrete. However, due to the reduced rate of drying, shrinkage takes place at a slower rate. In standard tests this means that shrinkage observed at a relatively early age will be less in silica fume concrete than in normal concrete (Burg and Ost 1994; Johansen 1979; Buil and Acker 1985).

3.3.8 Early Age Strength

As the concrete hardens, the chemical action of the silica fume takes over from the physical effects (Detwiler and Mehta 1989). Silica Fume reacts with calcium hydroxide to produce calcium silicate hydrates (C–S–H). Thus the amount of binder is increased, which both increases the strength and reduces the permeability by densifying the matrix of the concrete.

Since silica fume has a very high surface area and a high content of reactive silicon dioxide, it is more reactive than other supplementary materials, such as pulverised fuel ash/ fly ash (pfa/fa) and ground granulated blastfurnace slag (ggbs) (Regourd 1983; Glasser and Marr 1984). Some investigators have found that the increased reactivity appears to accelerate the hydration of the C_3S fraction of the cement initially (Andrija 1986; Sellevold et al. 1982), thus creating more calcium hydroxide, and that this settles down to more normal rates beyond 2 days.

As the silica fume reacts and produces the calcium silicate hydrates, voids and pores within the concrete are filled as the hydrates that are formed bridge the gaps between cement grains and aggregate particles. The combination of chemical and physical effects means that a silica fume concrete will be very homogeneous and dense. This gives greatly improved strength and impermeability (Diamond 1986).

It has been found that the relatively porous interface, rich in Portlandite, that surrounds aggregate particles in normal concrete is almost absent in silica fume concrete (Bentur et al. 1987; Bentur and Cohen 1987).

3.3.9 Heat of Hydration

Silica fume will give approximately the same heat of hydration as portland cement on a kilo for kilo basis. When used in concrete to replace an equal mass of cement, the total heat of hydration will be approximately the same. When designed for a given 28-day strength, a silica fume concrete will normally develop less heat than a regular portland cement concrete. This is because the silica fume can be added at one-third of the amount of the cement that can be removed and thus, while contributing as much heat as the cement per kilo, the overall reduction in cement content gives a lower total heat. Cement 'replacement' is normally only used where low heat is specifically required. Silica fume is used mainly for higher performance concrete, to increase strength and reduce permeability, and hence is an addition to the base cementitious content. When used in this way, with a lower water cementitious ratio, the heat of hydration may rise faster in the early stages and this should be taken into consideration in the curing of the concrete.

Silica fume concrete is more sensitive, than a pure portland mix, to temperature variations while hardening. The rate of hydration and the gain in strength, will be reduced with low temperatures, and dramatically accelerated with increased ones (Sandvik 1981).

3.4 Hardened Properties

3.4.1 Summary of Effects on Mechanical Properties

High-strength (80 MPa) and very high-strength (120 + MPa) concretes are produced on a routine basis with the addition of silica fume. This can mean faster turnaround and the potential for reduced section thickness, or the ability to build longer spans or taller structures. Tensile and flexural strengths are as in normal concretes, and increase proportionally with the compressive strength, although the addition of fibres, with the increased bond resulting from the silica fume, can increase these properties.

In fire testing, very high-strength, low water/cementitious ratio concrete, may be susceptible to spalling on exposure to a very rapid temperature rise. With correct design and the use of polypropylene fibres (a now standard procedure) high strength silica fume concretes can give excellent fire resistance performance. The increased strength and bond to the aggregate in the matrix means that high-strength silica fume concrete has excellent potential for abrasion and erosion resistance.

3.4.2 Compressive Strength

Many reports are available (Loland 1983; Loland and Hustad 1981; Sellevold and Radjy 1983) which show that silica fume, when added to a concrete mix, will increase the strength of that mix significantly. The actual amount and percentage of strength increase will depend upon numerous factors, some of which are: the type of mix, type of cement, amount of silica fume, use of water reducing admixtures, aggregate properties and curing regimes.

Concrete with silica fume appears to follow the conventional relationship between strength and water/cement (w/c) ratio.

As with other supplementary cementitious materials, silica fume concretes are somewhat sensitive to early drying; one consequence can be reduced final strength (Johansen 1981). Some combinations of silica fume and fly ash appear more resistant to this effect (Maage and Hammer 1985).

With proper mix design, concretes of very high strengths can be produced using normal ready-mix facilities. In the USA concretes of 100–130 MPa are used in tall buildings. Silica fume concrete of approximately 100 MPa was used in the construction of the Petronas Towers in Kuala Lumpur, the Burj Khalifa in Dubai (Elkem Datasheet C13-02 2013) and the [under construction, 2017] Kingdom Tower in Saudi Arabia, three of the world's tallest buildings. Concrete's averaging 130 MPa have been used in towers in Japan (Elkem Datasheet C4-32 2003).

3.4.2.1 High Strength Concrete

High-strength concrete is used in various applications and, as the achievable strength increases with developing technology, the advantages of concrete as opposed to other building materials become more defined. Typically, 'high strength' refers to concretes of 80 MPa and above, but with the advent of highly efficient superplasticisers and silica fume, strengths can be as high as 130 MPa or more, for casting *in situ*. As an example, UK production concrete has reached values in excess of 155 MPa. Such high strengths allow improvements in design, such as a reduction in the cross-section of a compressive member and increased spans of flexural members. Thus large savings can be made on materials and construction and the rent-generating area of a building can be increased. A Brite Euram study (Project 5480. 1995) into the ready mix production and use of concretes over 100 MPa has been led by Taylor Woodrow. The mechanical properties of the 120 MPa concretes easily met the anticipated performance levels with respect to handling and mechanical properties (Price and Hynes 1996; Price 1996).

3.4.2.2 High Early Strength—High Ultimate Strength

High early strength is utilised in the precast industry for faster turnaround of moulds and increased strength for early age handling. High early strength ready-mixed silica fume concrete can be delivered, placed, finished, cured and gain strength of more than 40 MPa within 24 h. This allows fast construction with high turnaround on formwork and short downtime for projects which may require suspension of other activities during construction (e.g. motorway work).

Concretes with high ultimate strength have similar mix design parameters, such as a low water/cement ratio. High ultimate strengths can also be obtained with blended cement, pfa or ggbs (Domone and Soutsos 1995) with a small dosage of silica fume. Here the lower heat of hydration and slower pozzolanic action reduces problems in massive sections, while still giving sufficient early age strength values for construction purposes. A major example of such use was the slipform construction of the twin towers of the Tsing Ma bridge in Hong Kong (Elkem Datasheet C4-14 2001). 65% ggbs was used to reduce thermal effects and 5% silica fume was added to give improved rheology to the mix and better strength gain at early ages (in addition to improved durability to seawater).

High-strength lightweight concretes can also be produced using the pozzolanic action of silica fume. In this way, a wide variation of strengths and densities can be achieved, from 100 MPa at 2000 kg/m³ to 5 MPa at 500 kg/m³.

An example of the use of high-strength silica fume concrete is in one of the world's tallest reinforced concrete buildings, 311 South Wacker Drive, Chicago, completed in 1990. This construction used silica fume concrete of varying strengths. This allowed the same formwork to be used on the columns from the first to the top floor. Nearly 84,000 m³ of concrete was used; starting at 83 MPa for the first 14 floors and ranging from 69 MPa through to 52 MPa at the top. By using high-strength concrete, to give a uniform column size, a saving was achieved, in comparison to the conventional design quantities, of 3000 tonnes of reinforcing steel and 7650 m³ of concrete. The saving in concrete volume is directly equivalent to increased space within the building and hence increased return for the client.

3.4.3 Tensile and Flexural Strength

The relationships between tensile, flexural and compressive strengths in silica fume concrete are similar to those of ordinary concrete. Thus an increase in the compressive strength using silica fume will result in a proportional increase in the tensile and flexural strengths, the same as in concrete without it.

The improved tensile and flexural strengths are important to the use of silica fume concretes in flooring, bridging or roadway projects. The increased tensile strength allows for a possible reduction in the slab thickness while maintaining high compressive strengths, thus reducing overall slab weight and cost. Another facet of the very high strength, 100–120 MPa, silica fume concrete is the utilisation of the high modulus, 45–50GPa. Buildings can be designed to resist fatigue effects that can cause structural failure with normal concretes.

3.4.4 Modulus of Elasticity

The modulus of elasticity is not proportional to the compressive strength, so that a high compressive strength does not mean a similar increase in modulus (Larrard et al. 1987). The final strain before failure in uniaxial compression increases with increasing strength, but the stress–strain curve is often close to linear before such failure. The ductility of the whole structure will rely more on reinforcement and detailing than on the ductility of the component material concrete. Use of particle packing technology is helping to reduce this, by balancing the aggregate/cement relationship and improving the integrity of the concrete mix.

3.4.5 Bond

The improved packing contributed by the very small size of the particles of silica fume will improve the contact surface and the bond between the fresh silica fume concrete and the substrate, such as reinforcement, old concrete, fibres and aggregates. Investigation has shown (Carles-Gibergues et al. 1982) that the aggregate cement interface is altered when silica fume is present, and pull out tests (Gjorv et al. 1986; Monteiro et al. 1986) show improved strength. Bonding to fibres is greatly improved (Bache 1981; Krenchel and Shah 1985; Ramakrishnan and Srinivasan 1983) and is particularly beneficial in steel fibre/silica fume-modified shotcrete.

3.4.6 Creep

Most work on the creep of silica fume concrete is related to high-strength concretes. Ost and Burg (PCA/CTL undated) found significant reduction in creep with the addition of silica fume, while Hansen (1987) reports scant effect of silica fume on creep, providing the modulus of elasticity was constant. Persson (1996) and Tomaszewicz (1985) report reduced specific creep for high-strength concrete with silica fume compared to conventional normal-strength concrete.

3.4.7 Fire Resistance

Based on some early tests (Hertz 1981) a concern formed that high-strength silica fume concretes could explode when exposed to fire. However, several tests (Wolsiefer 1982; Maage and Rueslatten 1987; Shirley et al. CI undated) have shown that under normal fire conditions silica fume concrete does not behave any

differently to normal concrete. The mechanism involved is probably one of high resistance to steam movement (Jahren 1989). If soaked concrete is tested in very intensive fire tests, where the low permeability of the silica fume concrete means that steam cannot escape, spalling occurs due to steam pressure. Well-cured and conditioned concretes like those above have not shown spalling; however, there are indications that for all high-strength concretes, regardless of silica fume content, there is a water/binder ratio below which spalling due to fire may be a concern. Some investigators (Oredsson 1997) put this limit at about 0.33. Below this limit, special care should be taken, and plastic fibres are suggested to reduce spalling (the plastic fibres burn out quickly, leaving pathways for steam to escape).

It should be noted that the type of fire is of great importance. The concerns mentioned above are much more valid for fires with very rapid rise, while for the typical ISO fire, (ISO 834. 1975) the concern and associated risks of spalling are much less, perhaps even absent.

3.4.8 Abrasion and Erosion

High-strength silica fume concretes show greatly improved resistance to abrasion and erosion. This has become an important application area for such concrete. One of the first test beds for this, a large repair project on the Kinzua Dam, USA, has been studied (Holland 1983) and subsequent inspections after 30 years (Luther and Halczak 1995) showed good performance of the silica fume concrete. Increased use in such applications has become widespread, with India and Turkey using this performance characteristic of the concrete for major projects.

The Norwegian practice of using studded tyres on cars during winter means extreme wear of the road surface. In recent years high-strength silica fume concrete has become the paving material of choice for high wear resistance. One example is a 95 MPa concrete on a 10 km stretch of highway north of Oslo. It has been found that the use of such paving reduces the wear by a factor of 5–10 compared to high-quality black-top (Helland 1990).

3.4.9 Transport Properties

3.4.9.1 Porosity

The main physical effect of silica fume on the microstructure of hardened concrete is a refinement of the pore structure. The total pore volume is not necessarily changed, but large pores appear to be subdivided into smaller pores (Yogendran and Langan 1987). The improvement in pore structure is reflected in the higher strength, but it is also of great importance in reducing the permeability of the material.

Another important factor is the improvement in quality of the transition zone between aggregate particles and cement paste. Studies have shown significant improvement in structure and composition (Goldman and Bentur 1989; Regourd M.⁵⁹; Monteiro and Mehta 1986). Apart from the improved bond between aggregate particles and paste, the porosity and transport capacity of the interface region is reduced.

3.4.9.2 Permeability

Permeability is a measure of the ease of passage of liquids or gases through the material. Permeability is determined by measuring the depth of penetration of a liquid or gas into, or passing through, the sample. Measurements using pressure heads can be supplemented by capillarity and porosity studies. Similar information can be obtained (for water) by measuring rate of mass loss during drying.

Permeability, or more generally resistance to fluid penetration, is important for two reasons: the parameter describes how rapidly deleterious substances may enter the concrete and how easily material can be leached from the concrete.

Many examples of testing silica fume concrete, in binary or ternary blends, show that addition of silica fume can significantly reduce the permeability of concrete. Results of zero penetration for water and 'negligible' results (using the ASTM C1202 index test) for chloride ingress have been recorded in numerous major projects (Burj Khalifa, Elkem 2013).

3.5 Durability

The major influence of the silica fume on the chemical and physicochemical durability of concrete is through the large reduction in the permeability. For water, the reduction in permeability can be by a factor of between 10 and 100 times compared to a control concrete. The reduction in the chloride diffusion value can be as high as 500–1000 times.

The deterioration of silica fume concrete is demonstrably slower than comparable normal concretes for most chemical and physicochemical attacks. The actual increase in resistance depends on the mix design, quality control and curing of the concrete. Neglect in the execution of any of these may result in a weaker and less durable concrete than normal.

3.5.1 Sulfate Resistance

A major study was started in Oslo during the first years of testing silica fume in concrete. This involved submerging specimens, of various mixes, in acidic

sulfate-rich groundwater leached from the alum shale in Oslo. (Alum shale contains high amounts of unstable iron sulfides. On contact with air, the sulfur is oxidised into sulfur dioxide, which will give a low pH dissolved in water.) The 12 and 20-year results are available from this trial (Fiskaa et al. 1971; Fiskaa 1973). The results show that the silica fume concretes (15% MS, w/c = 0.6) performed as well as the mixes with sulfate-resisting cement (w/c = 0.45). This is confirmed in unpublished data from 30 years of reports and by laboratory tests (Mather 1980; Fidjestøl 1990).

When used with ggbs or pfa (Carlsen and Vennesland 1982; Fidjestøl and Frearson 1994) silica fume mixes have been found to be more resistant to sulfate attack than special sulfate-resisting portland cements. This experience has caused silica fume to be required for concrete in the Arabian Gulf to combat the severe deterioration of the concrete due to both sulfate attack and chloride initiated corrosion (Rasheeduzzafar 1992).

The good performance of the silica fume mixes in a sulfate environment can be attributed to several factors (Fidjestøl 1987a, b) of which the most important are likely to be:

- the refined pore structure and thus the reduced passage of harmful ions (Popovic et al. 1984)
- the lower calcium hydroxide content, which leads to reduced formation of gypsum (and consequently of ettringite).

3.5.2 Chloride Resistance

Chloride resistance is normally considered in terms of chloride entering from the surface of the concrete. Occasionally, however, chloride can be introduced into concrete at the time of mixing. A common source used to be chloride-based accelerators and poorly cleaned marine aggregates. Thus the ability of the concrete to bind chlorides chemically is of interest, in addition to the ability to withstand chloride penetration, from sea water or de-icing salts.

A number of studies have been made (Mehta 1981; Page and Havdahl 1985; Monteiro et al. 1985) which consider the combined effects of reduced permeability and the reduction of pH in the pore water and how these factors interact regarding the passivity of embedded steel.

The slight reduction in pH, caused by the uptake of calcium hydroxide by the silica fume, will cause a reduction in the threshold chloride concentration, i.e. the amount of chlorides necessary to destroy the passive layer and initiate corrosion. This effect is counter-balanced by the reduced rate of chloride diffusion due to the addition of the silica fume (Gautefall 1986a, b).

The rapid chloride permeability index test (ASTM C1202 1996) is routinely used to describe the resistance of concrete to chloride ingress. Typically, silica fume concrete will achieve a very low (good) to negligible (excellent) rating in this test.

Silica fume works in several ways to reduce the risk of corrosion. The reduced permeability properties of silica fume concrete mean greatly reduced rates of chloride penetration in marine structures and structures exposed to de-icing salts. These concretes also have very high electrical resistivity, thereby greatly diminishing the rate of corrosion, should it be initiated (Wolsiefer 1991; Petterson 1995; Fidjestøl 1993; Fidjestøl and Frearson 1994; Alonso et al. 1992; Berke et al. 1992; Gautefall 1986a, b; Gautefall and Vennesland 1985; Zhang and Gjørv 1991; Fidjestøl 1987a, b).

3.5.3 Alkali Silica Reaction

This aspect of silica fume concrete was one of the first to be commercially exploited on a large scale. Consideration of the effect of silica fume on this form of chemical attack requires attention to the three main factors that are required for possible ASR to take place:

- 1. high alkali content in the mix (normally supplied by the cement);
- 2. reactive aggregates, containing reactive silica;
- 3. available water.

Well-dispersed silica fume reacts with the available alkalis in the fresh concrete, forming alkali silicates. This binds the alkalis, and should prevent attack on reactive siliceous aggregates. This mechanism reduces the risk of ASR through combating factor 1 above. The reduction in pore solution alkalinity provided by silica fume (the conversion of calcium hydroxide to calcium silicate hydrates) will also help prevent deleterious ASR. Since silica fume contributes to a reduced permeability, the amount of available water is less. These factors combine to reduce the susceptibility of the concrete to ASR.

Between 1979 and 2012 the high-alkali blended cement produced in Iceland was made with an average of 7.5% microsilica, a remedy which, together with other improvements in construction procedures, has put an end to the previously severe ASR problems (Asgeirsson and Gudmundsson 1979; Asgeirsson 1986). Although all cement is now imported, and has a lower alkali content than previously, Iceland still use the addition of silica fume to prevent ASR.

The use of 4% silica fume in combination with 25% ggbfs has been effective for over 20 years in controlling ASR in beam and pavements at a field exposure site in Canada (Thomas et al. 2007). Recent, separate, testing in Turkey and Iceland has shown that even with very reactive aggregates, the addition of silica fume, at levels between 8 and 11%, will control expansion to below 0.1% (Lewis and Bayrak 2015).

3.5.4 Carbonation

The conclusions shown by the available reports (Vennesland and Gjørv 1983; Vennesland 1981) are that, for a given strength below 40 MPa, a microsilica concrete may show increased carbonation rates, corresponding to the increase in water/cementitious ratio. Silica fume concrete above 40 MPa, with a lower water/ cementitious ratio, shows little change in carbonation rate. As silica fume concrete will normally be intended for special use and have a low water/cementitious ratio, the concern over the change in carbonation rate is not normally warranted. As always, correct adherence to initial and long term curing are essential for optimum performance of the silica fume concrete.

References

- Alonso C, Andrade C, Bade B, Fidjestøl P (1992) Corrosion de armaduras en microhormigones de humo de silica corbonatados (Corrosion of reinforcement in carbonated microconcrete with silica fume). In: Proceedings of the ERMCO conference, Madrid (in Spanish)
- American Concrete Institute (1996) Guide to the use of silica fume in concrete. American Concrete Institute (ACI 234R-96)
- American Society for Testing and Materials (1996) Electrical indication of concrete's ability to resist chloride ion penetration. ASTM, W. Conshohocken, PA (C 1202)
- Andrija D (1986) Hydration of alite and C₃A and changes of some structural characteristics of cement paste by the addition of silica fume. In: Proceedings of the 8th international congress on chemistry of cement, Rio de Janeiro, vol 4, pp 279–85
- Asgeirsson H (1986) Silica fume in cement and silane for counteracting of alkali–silica reactions in Iceland. Cem Concr Res 16(3)
- Asgeirsson H, Gudmundsson G (1979) Pozzolanic activity of silica dust. Cem Concr Res 9:249–52
- Bache HH (1981) Densified cement/ultrafine particle-based materials. In: Presented at the 2nd international conference on superplasticisers in concrete, Ottawa
- Berke NS, Dallaire MP, Hicks MC (1992) Plastic, mechanical, corrosion and chemical resistance properties of silica fume (microsilica) concretes. In: Proceedings of the 4th CANMET/ ACI international conference on fly ash, silica fume, slag and natural pozzolans in concrete, Istanbul. American Concrete Institute, Detroit (SP-132)
- Bentur A, Cohen MD (1987) Effect of condensed silica fume on the microstructure of the interfacial zone in Portland cement mortar. J Am Ceram Soc 70(10)
- Bentur A, Goldman A, Cohen MD (1987) The contribution of the transition zone to the strength of high quality silica fume concretes. Proc Mater Res Soc Symp Boston 11:1988
- Bernhard JC (1951) Rapport om forsøk utført med stoff fra Fiskaa. Report from Betonglaboratoriet, NTH, 11 Sept 1951 (in Norwegian)
- Bernhard JC (1952) SiO₂-støv som cementtilsetning. Betongen Idag 17(2):1952
- Brite Euram Project 5480: economic design and construction with high strength concrete (1995)
- Buil M, Acker P (1985) Creep of silica fume concrete. Cem Concr Res 15:463–6
- Burg RG, Ost BW (1994) Engineering properties of commercially available high-strength concretes (including three-year data). Portland Cement Association, Skokie, 58 p (Research and Development Bulletin RD 104T)
- Burj Khalifa, Dubai. Elkem Datasheet C13-02, August 2013

- Burnett ID (1990) The development of silica fume concrete in Melbourne, Australia. In: Proceedings of international conference on concrete for the nineties, Leura, Australia
- Carles-Gibergues A et al. (1982) Contact zone between cement paste and aggregate. In: Bartos P (ed) Proceedings of the international conference on bond in concrete. Applied Science Publishers, London, pp 24–33
- Carlsen R, Vennesland O (1982) Sementers sulfat- og sjøvannsbestandighet. FCB/SINTEF, Norwegian Institute of Technology, Trondheim (Report STF65 F82010) (in Norwegian)
- Detwiler RJ, Mehta PK (1989) Chemical and physical effects of silica fume on the mechanical behavior of concrete. ACI Mater J 86(6)
- Diamond S (1986) The microstructures of cement paste in concrete. In: Proceedings of the 8th international congress on chemistry of cement, Rio de Janeiro, vol 1, pp 122–147
- Domone PL, Soutsos MN (1995) Properties of high strength concrete mixes containing PFA and ggbs. Mag Concrete Res 46(173)
- Dunnom DD, Wagner MP (1981) The classification of silicon dioxide powders. ASTM Standardization News (November)
- Fidjestøl P (1987a) Reinforcement corrosion and the use of CSF-based additives. In: Proceedings of the Katharine and Bryant Mather international conference on concrete durability, Atlanta. American Concrete Institute, Detroit (SP-100)
- Fidjestøl P (1987b) The benefit of microsilica-based additives in concretes exposed to aggressive environments. In: Proceedings of the 4th international conference on the durability of buildings, materials and construction, Singapore (4DBMC)
- Fidjestøl P (1990) Concrete for low sulfate concentrations. In: Hinczak I (ed) Proceedings of concrete for the nineties, Leura, NSW
- Fidjestøl P (1991) Ulemper ved for høy kompaktering av microsilica (Problems related to excessive densification of microsilica). NIF kurs Sementer, pozzolaner og tilsetningsstoffer, Gol, 11–13 March 1991. Norwegian Society of Chartered Engineers (in Norwegian) (Also at Fabeko Konferansen, 1993, Norwegian Ready-mix Association, 1993)
- Fidjestøl P (1993) Chloride resistance of blended and triple blend cements. Nordisk Miniseminar om Klorider i Betong, Gøteborg
- Fidjestøl P, Frearson J (1994) High-performance concrete using blended and triple blended binders. In: Malhotra VM (ed) Proceedings of the ACI international conference on high performance concrete. American Concrete Institute, Singapore (SP-149)
- Fidjestøl P et al. (1989) Silica fume-efficiency versus form of delivery. In: Proceedings of the 3rd international conference on the use of fly ash slag, silica fume and natural pozzolans in concrete, Trondheim (supplementary papers volume)
- Fiskaa OM (1973) Betong i alunskifier. Norwegian Geotechnical Institute, Oslo (Publication no. 101) (in Norwegian)
- Fiskaa O, Hansen H, Moum J (1971) Betong i Alunskifer. Norge Geotekniske Institutt, Oslo (Publication no. 86)
- Gautefall O (1986a) Effect of condensed silica fume on the diffusion of chlorides through hardened cement paste. In: Proceedings of the 2nd CANMET/ACI international conference on the use of fly ash, silica fume, slag and natural pozzolans in concrete, Madrid (Paper SP 91–48)
- Gautefall O (1986b) Effect of condensed silica fume on the diffusion of chlorides through hardened cement paste. In: Proceedings of the second international conference on fly ash, silica fume, slag and natural pozzolans in concrete, Madrid. American Concrete Institute (SP-91)
- Gautefall O, Vennesland Ø (1985) Elektrisk motstand og pH-nivå Modifisert Portlandsement, delrapport 5 (Electrical resistivity and pH level. Modified Portland cement project, Part report 5). SINTEF, Trondheim (Report STF 65 A85042) (in Norwegian)
- Gjorv OE et al. (1986) Effect of condensed silica fume on the steel–concrete bond. Norwegian Institute of Technology, Trondheim (Report BML 86.201)
- Glasser FP, Marr J (1984) The effect of mineral additives on the composition of cement pore fluids. In: The chemistry and chemically related properties of cement, British Ceramic Society (Proceedings no. 35) 419–29

- Goldman A, Bentur A (1989) Bond effects in high strength silica fume concretes (ACI86-M39) ACI Mater J 86(5)
- Hansen W (1987) Creep and drying shrinkage of very high strength concrete. University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI (Report on project no. 85–593-P1)
- Helland S (1990) High strength concrete used in highway pavements. In: Hester W (ed) Proceedings of the 2nd international symposium on utilization of high strength concrete, Berkeley
- Hertz K (1981) Brandpåvirkede betongkonstruksjoner. Dansk Betonforening
- Holland TC (1983) Abrasion erosion evaluation of concrete admixtures for stilling basin repairs, Kinzua Dam. US Army Engineer Waterways Experiment Station, Structures Laboratory, Pennsylvania, Vicksburg (Miscellaneous Paper SL-83-16)
- ISO 834: International Standards Organisation 1975. Fire-resistance tests—elements of building construction
- Jahr J (1980) Possible health hazards from different types of amorphous silicas—suggested threshold limit values. Institute of Occupational Health, Oslo (revised) (HD806/79)
- Jahren PA (1989) Fire resistance of high strength/dense concrete with particular reference to the use of condensed silica fume—a review. In: Proceedings of the 3rd international conference on fly ash, silica fume, slag and natural pozzolans in concrete, Trondheim American Concrete Institute: SP-114
- Johansen R (1979) Silicastøv i fabrikksbetong. Langtidseffekter. Trondheim: FCB/SINTEF, Norwegian Institute of Technology (Report STF65 F79019) (in Norwegian)
- Johansen R (1981) Silica in concrete, Report 6: long term effects. FCB/SINTEF, Norwegian Institute of Technology, Trondheim (Report STF65 A81031)
- Krenchel H, Shah S (1985) Applications of polypropylene fibers in Scandinavia. Concr Int: Des Constr 2(3):32–4
- Lagerblad B, Utkin P (1993) Silica granulates in concrete—dispersion and durability aspects. Swedish Cement and Concrete Institute (CBI), Stockholm
- Larrard F et al. (1987) Fracture toughness of high strength concrete. In: Proceedings of the utilization of high strength concrete, Stavanger, pp 215–23
- Lesti M, NG S, Plank J (2010) Ca²⁺ Ion—mediated interaction between microsilica and polycarboxylate comb polymers in model cement pore solution. J Am Cer Soc 93:3493–3498
- Lewis R, Bayrak E (2015) Combating ASR to enable usage of local aggregates in Turkey. XVII ERMCO Congres, Istanbul, Turkey (4–5 June 2015)
- Loland KE (1983) Fasthets-og deformasjonsegenskaper i herdnet tilstand herdebetin-gelser. Presented at the seminar Bruk av Silika i Betong, Norsk Sivilingeniørers Forening, Oslo (in Norwegian)
- Loland KE, Hustad T (1981) Silica in concrete, Report 2: mechanical properties. FCB/SINTEF, Norwegian Institute of Technology, Trondheim (Report STF65 A81031)
- Luther MD, Halczak W (1995) Long-term performance of silica fume concretes in the USA exposed to abrasion-erosion or cavitation—with 10-year results for Kinzua Dam and Los Angeles River. In: Proceedings of the 5th CANMET/ACI international conference on fly ash, slag, silica fume and other natural pozzolans. American Concrete Institute, Detroit (SP-153) pp 863–884
- Maage M, Hammer TA (1985) Modifisert Portlandsement. Delrapport 3. Fasthetsutvikling og E-modul. FCB/SINTEF, Norwegian Institute of Technology, Trondheim (Report STF65 A85041) (in Norwegian)
- Maage M, Rueslatten H (1987) Trykkfasthet og blæredannelse på brannpåkjent høyfastbetong. FCB/SINTEF, Norwegian Institute of Technology, Trondheim (Report STF65 A87006) (In Norwegian)
- Mather K (1980) Factors affecting the sulphate resistance of mortars. In: Proceedings of the 7th international conference on chemistry of cements, Paris, vol 4, pp 580–585
- Mehta PK (1981) Sulphate resistance of blended Portland cements containing pozzolans and granulated blastfurnace slag. In: proceedings of the 5th international symposium on concrete technology, Monterey
- Monteiro P, Mehta PK (1986) Improvement of the aggregate cement paste transition zone by grain reinforcement of hydration products. In: Proceedings of the 8th international congress on the chemistry of cement, Rio de Janeiro, vol 3
- Monteiro PJM et al. (1985) Microstructure of the steel—cement paste interface in the presence of chloride. Cem Concr Res 15:781–784
- Monteiro PJ et al. (1986) Effect of condensed silica fume on the steel—cement paste transition zone. Norwegian Institute of Technology, Trondheim (Report BML 86.205)
- Oredsson J (1997) Tendency to spalling of high strength concrete. Swedish National Project on High Performance Concrete, Stockholm (Report no. M7-4) (in preparation) (available from Swedish Cement and Concrete Institute (CBI), Stockholm)
- Orth WA Jr (1988) 311, South Wacker reaches SKYWARD on climb towards 'Tallest Title'. Constr Digest (5 Sept 1988)
- Ost B, Burg R High strength silica fume concrete. PCA/CTL communication to be published
- Price B (1996) Stronger, bigger, better. Concrete (January/February)
- Price WF, Hynes JP (1996) In-situ testing of high strength concrete. Mag Concr Res 48(176)
- Page CL, Havdahl J (1985) Electrochemical monitoring of corrosion of steel in microsilica cement pastes. Mater Struct 18(103):41–7
- Persson B (1996) Basic creep of high performance concrete at early ages. RILEM committee on creep in concrete (Also: Swedish National Project on High Performance Concrete, Report M6-36. Available from Swedish Cement and Concrete Institute (CBI))
- Petterson K (1995) Chloride threshold value and the corrosion rate in reinforced concrete. In: Tuutti K (ed) Proceedings of the Nordic seminar on corrosion of reinforcement: field and laboratory studies for modelling and service life. University of Lund (Report TVBM-3064)
- Popovic K et al (1984) Improvement of mortar and concrete durability by the use of condensed silica fume. Durab Build Mater 2:171–86
- Ramakrishnan V, Srinivasan V (1983) Performance characteristics of fibre reinforced condensed silica fume concrete. Am Concr Inst 11:797–812
- Rasheeduzzafar (1992) Influence of cement composition on concrete durability. ACI Mater J 89 (6):574–586
- Regourd M Microstructure of high strength cement paste systems. In: Young JF (ed) Materials research society symposium proceedings, vol 42
- Regourd M (1983) Pozzolanic reactivity of condensed silica fume. In: Aitcin PC (ed) condensed silica fume. Université de Sherbrooke, Canada, pp 20–4
- Sandvik M (1981) Fasthetsutvikling for silikabetong ved ulike temperaturnivå. FCB/SINTEF, Norwegian Institute of Technology, Trondheim (Report STF65 F81016) (in Norwegian)
- Sandvik M, Haug AK, Hunsbedt OS (1989) Condensed silica fume in high strength concrete for offshore structures—a case record. In: Proceedings of the 3rd international conference on the use of fly ash slag, silica fume and natural pozzolans in concrete, Trondheim, American Concrete Institute (SP 114-54)
- Sellevold EJ, Radjy FF (1983) Condensed silica fume (microsilica) in concrete: water demand and strength development. American Concrete Institute (Publication SP-79, U), pp 677–94
- Sellevold EJ et al. (1982) Silica fume-cement paste: hydration and pore structure. The Norwegian Institute of Technology, Trondheim, Norway (Report BML 82.610), pp 19–50
- Shirley ST et al. Fire endurance of high strength concrete slabs. Concrete International
- Thomas M, Hopkins DS, Perreault M, Cail K. Ternary Cement in Canada. Concrete International, July 2007
- Tomaszewicz A (1985) Pilotforsøk med kryp i høyfast betong. Delrapport 5. Høyfast Betong. SINTEF/FCB, Trondheim (Report no. STF65A85006)
- Vennesland O (1981) Silica concrete, Report 3. Corrosion properties. FCB/SINTEF, Trondheim (SINTEF Report no. STF65 A81031)
- Vennesland O, Gjørv OE (1983) Silica concrete—protection against corrosion of embedded steel. American Concrete Institute (Publication SP-79), vol 11, pp 719–729
- Vikan H, Justnes H (2007) Rheology of cementitious paste with silica fume and limestone. Cem Concr Res 37:1512–1517

- Vogel E (2008) New Indianapolis Airport Parking Garage delivers Sustainability and 2.5 million square feet of parking space. The Parking Professional
- Wallevik OH, Gjørv OE (1988) Effekt av silika på betongens støpelighetog arbeidbarhet. Institutt For Bygningsmateriallære, Trondheim (Report no. BML 88.202)
- W-Comfort Towers, Tokyo. Elkem Datasheet C4-32, June 2003
- Wolsiefer J (1982) Ultra high strength field placeable concrete in the range 10,000–18,000 psi (69–124 MPa). American concrete institute annual conference, Atlanta
- Wolsiefer JT Sr (1991) Silica fume concrete: a solution to steel reinforcement corrosion in concrete. In: Proceedings of the 2nd international conference on the durability of concrete. American Concrete Institute, Detroit (SP-126), pp 527–558
- Yogendran V, Langan BW (1987) Utilization of silica fume in high strength concrete. In: Proceedings of utilization of high strength concrete. Tapir Publishers, Stavanger, Trondheim
- Zhang M, Gjørv OE (1991) Effect of silica fume on pore structure and chloride diffusivity of low porosity cement pastes. Cem Concr Res 21(6)

Further Reading/Information Sources

ACI publications—ACI 234.R "Guide for the use of Silica Fume in Concrete"

Concrete Society (UK)-Technical Report 41 "Microsilica in Concrete"

CRC Press—"Condensed Silica Fume in Concrete" (1987)

Elkem Silicon Materials-www.elkem.com/en/Concrete

- FIP-State of the Art Report (1988) Condensed silica fume in Concrete
- Institute of Concrete Technology (UK) Advanced Concrete Technology (Constituent Materials) (2003)

The Silica Fume Association (including Life365)-www.silicafume.org

Chapter 4 Limestone Powder

Luc Courard, Duncan Herfort and Yury Villagrán

Abstract Limestone has been successfully used as a constituent of cement and concrete for decades. Fine limestone is commonly included in Portland cement by intergrinding, resulting in an optimal particle size distribution of the modified cement. In other applications, limestone powder is added separately from cement, for producing more stable and robust mixes, especially self-compacting concrete. This chapter examines the performance of limestone modified Portland cement and concrete. The review comprises the effects on cement hydration in relation with the fineness of the limestone, on the fresh properties of mortar and concrete (including its role in self-compacting concrete), and on the strength development in the hardened state. Complementarily, comments regarding sulphate attack and environmental benefits of the use of limestone modified cement are included. Limestone is an effective constituent of cement and concrete, and comparative analyses should always be made to mixes produced to the same strength. In this way, it has to be regarded as a supplementary cementitious material when included by intergrinding with cement clinker, or as a filler when added separately to concrete.

Keywords Limestone • Filler • Concrete • Cement • Durability Hydration • SCC

L. Courard (🖂)

D. Herfort Aalborg Portland A/S, Aalborg, Denmark e-mail: duncan.herfort@aalborgportland.com

Y. Villagrán Department of Concrete Technology, LEMIT, 52 Entre 121 Y 122 s/n, 1900 La Plata, Argentina e-mail: yuryvillagran@conicet.gov.ar

Y. Villagrán Magnel Laboratory for Concrete Research, Ghent University, Tech Lane Ghent Science Park, Campus A, Technologiepark 904, 9052 Zwijnaarde, Belgium

Department of Architecture, Geology, Environment and Constructions, University of Liège, Allée de La Découverteg, 4000 Liege, Belgium e-mail: Luc.Courard@uliege.be

4.1 Introduction

Fine limestone has been added to Portland cement for decades. This is normally achieved by "intergrinding" it with Portland cement clinker in the cement mill. Under normal operating conditions this will result in a surface area of the limestone fraction of between 800 and 1100 m²/kg (depending on the *grindability* of the limestone) for a surface area of the clinker fraction of in the region of 400 m²/kg. Less often the limestone is ground separately and blended with Portland cement. Separate addition of limestone to concrete as a clinker replacement is not widely practiced in conventional concrete, but is used as filler for modifying the rheology of self-compacting concrete.

In the early literature limestone was generally regarded as "inert filler". For this reason it has e.g. become the main constituent in most masonry cements where high levels of replacement of the Portland cement are needed to reproduce the properties of traditional lime mortars. However, for its application in concrete, which is the primary focus of this report, the limestone's contribution to the hydration reactions can be significant when it is co-ground with the clinker, albeit in relatively small amounts. So much so that it can arguably be classified as an SCM alongside GBFS and fly ash.

The first significant use of limestone in general purpose Portland cement took place during WWII when it was used in several European countries to cut costs and increase output (Lea 1998). Its widespread use today can be traced back to the 1973 oil crisis, with France, which had low production of fly ash and blast furnace slag, leading the way. The Portland limestone cements in the European cement standard EN 197-1 (2001), were adopted more or less un-changed from the French standard NF P 15-301 (1981).

A systematic review of all standards and specifications for limestone and Portland limestone cements is beyond the scope of this report. The most recent and comprehensive review of this can be found in Tennis et al. (2011). Many countries allow minor clinker replacement in cement of 5 or 10% limestone, including China (10%), India (5%), Brazil (10%), and the US (5% in ASTM C150). Higher amounts are allowed in the cement standards in Europe (35%), Mexico (35%), Argentina (20%), the US (15% in ASTM C595) and Canada (15%).

Taking Europe as an example (Figs. 4.1 and 4.2), where the volume of limestone used is greatest, in 2010, Portland limestone cements accounted for 27% of all cements produced, or even 46% if the CEM II M composite cements which allows mixtures of limestone and other SCMs is to be considered. This amounts to 4-fold increases in the relative amount of Portland cement containing limestone as a major constituent since 1990 (Hertfort 2008).

As shown in Fig. 4.2 most of the Portland limestone and composite cements conform to the 32.5 and 42.5 strength classes, although "*very high strength*" 52.5 Portland limestone cements are also produced.



Fig. 4.1 Cement types produced in Europe in 2010 (reproduced from CEMBUREAU 2008). Others include CEM II, IV, V and CEM II not containing limestone as a major constituent (i.e. Portland-slag, silica, pozzolana, fly ash, and burned shale cements containing up to 35% clinker replacement)



Most countries around the world specify similar chemical and physical requirements for the limestone that can be used, including a minimum $CaCO_3$ content of 70 or 75%, and maximum contents of clay and TOC (total organic carbon).

A comprehensive review of the application standards for Portland limestone in concrete is beyond the scope in this report, and practices differ widely from country to country. In the US for example cement types for a given application are specified at state level. In Europe, although the cement standard EN 197-1 is harmonized, the cement types that can be used in a given exposure class (defined in the European concrete standard, EN 206) are specified in the national application standards. This



Fig. 4.3 National application standards allowing Portland limestone cements in selected European countries (Herfort 2008). Red filled square—not allowed, Open square—allowed, Square with upper left to lower right fill—allowed except for highly aggressive sulphate environments, [11] LL refers to a maximum of 0.20%

is shown for selected countries in Fig. 4.3. Germany and Denmark, for example, allow the CEM II/A L, LL cements, with up to 20% limestone, in all exposure classes except where high sulphate concentrations are involved in classes XA2 and XA3. The CEM II/B cements allowing up to 35% limestone have more limited application, and where they are allowed, are restricted to the exposure classes where carbonation is the sole source of attack.

4.2 Hydration Reactions and Strength of Portland Limestone Cements

Although it has not been widely accepted until fairly recently that limestone additions are not inert, reports in the literature date back at least 30 years (Bensted 1980) showing that calcium carbonate reacts with the AFm phases to form carbo-aluminate analogues, i.e. the so-called hemi- and mono-carbo-aluminate hydrates. Probably the most comprehensive work on these reactions to date has been performed by Nanocem network partners over recent years (Matchei et al. 2007; Lothenbach et al. 2008; De Weerdt et al. 2010). The results from this work are adapted in this report to show the compatibility of relevant phase assemblages on the sub-ternary phase diagram shown in Fig. 4.4 (a detailed account of ternary phase diagrams applied to hydrated cement can be found in Herfort and Lothenbach



Fig. 4.4 Hydrate phase assemblages in the ternary sub-system for $CaSO_4-C_3A-CaCO_3$ within the multicomponent system for Portland limestone cement. Phases in this subsystem are given in italics, and regions of stability are indicated by the 3-phase regions in which the composition of any given system (e.g. CEM II L + additional CaSO₄) plots onto the diagram. Excess phases are shown in the top right inset of the diagram

2015). This makes it clear that the addition of limestone to a typical Portland cement will result in the following sequence of reactions:

- 1. ettringite forms via consumption of monosulphate,
- 2. when monosulphate is exhausted, monocarbonate forms via consumption of hemicarbonate,
- 3. when the hemicarbonate phase is used up additional calcium carbonate does not react but persists as a stable phase.

Reactions 1 and 2 are space filling resulting in a reduction in porosity, whilst the further addition of carbonates in reaction 3 results in increased porosity. This type of diagram shows the relative contents of phases that form within the sub-system. Of course, higher absolute contents of aluminate (or C_3A defined here as a "component") result in more monocarbonate formation and therefore higher amounts of reacted calcium carbonate before further additions result in an increase in porosity.

By calculating the contents of phases in volume % (by assigning realistic densities to the phases), it is possible to calculate the theoretical porosities and then using an empirical relationship between strength and porosity the theoretical strength can also be predicted. This is illustrated in Fig. 4.5 (from Lothenbach et al. 2008). What is important is the point at which additional calcite ceases to result in increased strength (reduced porosity) and the extent that this correlates with real



Fig. 4.5 The effect on 28 day cement (EN 196 mortar) strengths with additions of fine limestone (c. 1100 m^2/kg) to mineralised cement (c. 400 m^2/kg) (from Lothenbach et al. 2008)

strength data (in this case EN 196 strengths). In the example used here there is indeed good agreement with real data for the increased strengths achieved by the addition of limestone to mineralised cement (Borgholm et al. 1995). Several other workers have confirmed the reactions shown in Fig. 4.4, and the associated reduction in porosity (Lothenbach et al. 2008; De Weerdt et al. 2010).

The optimum 28 day strength occurs at c. 2% addition corresponding to the point where all of the available alumina from the clinker has reacted with the calcium carbonate and sulphate to form AFm and AFt phases. The theoretical porosity is calculated by the method described e.g. in Bensted (1980).

In addition to the hydration reactions described above, fine limestone has also been shown to result in an accelerated hydration of the C_3S phase in Portland cement without directly taking part in the reactions: this is resulting in early strengths being, either unaffected, or increased with up to 10% fine limestone replacement (Borgholm et al. 1995; Kristensen 2008).

4.3 Effect of Limestone Fillers on Fresh Properties of Mortar and Concrete

4.3.1 Influence on Water Requirement

Usually, the main physical characteristics of limestone powder that are highlighted regarding water requirement are fineness, particle size distribution (PSD), and particle morphology (Arvaniti et al. 2015). From the comparison of different studies in the literature on limestone powder use in concrete, Diederich et al. (2012)

concludes that water demand of concrete is affected by the limestone powder content depending on its physical properties. However, a warning should be made as only focusing on the physical properties of limestone powder may lead to contradictory outcome due to the potential influence of certain minor components of limestone on its water requirement (Diederich et al. 2012).

Michel et al. (2007) studied the relation between the properties of several limestone powders and their water requirements. These limestone powders were different from each other with regard to fineness and clay content. Differences between Blaine and BET specific surface areas (Arvaniti et al. 2015) were pointed out and linked to the clay content of limestone. A clear connection between BET specific surface area and clay content determined by methylene blue adsorption (EN 933-9) can be seen in Fig. 4.6. This is reflected in the water requirement (Fig. 4.7), which did not show a good correlation with the Blaine specific surface area or the





particle size distribution (Figs. 4.7 and 4.8), even if these results are changing for the different methods at the same time (Fig. 4.8).

Clay content and type are changing dramatically the percentage of fine particles in the mix.

Equation 4.1 can be empirically derived (Michel et al. 2007) for estimating the water requirement of limestone powder on the basis of its Blaine specific surface area and clay content, where MBA is the methylene blue adsorption in g/kg of limestone and Blaine is the Blaine specific surface area in m^2/g . The coefficients in Eq. 4.1 were obtained by multiple linear regression of data (Michel et al. 2007), with $R^2 = 0.86$ (Fig. 4.9).

$$\beta p = 0.6 + 0.12 \cdot MBA + 0.28 \cdot Blaine \tag{4.1}$$



The clay content of limestone powder is definitely a key parameter to appreciate its influence on water demand. Good correlations (Michel et al. 2007) have been found between mortar consistence and water requirement of limestone powder, i.e. fineness and clay content. It should be noted that Michel et al. (2007) obtained lower values for βp than those obtained for the ordinary Portland cement (OPC) when they used in mortar manufacture only limestones F1 and F2. Then, these two limestone powders would have been capable of reducing water requirement, whereas the rest would have increased it. F1 and F2 were characterized by a Blaine specific surface area lower than 0.55 m²/g and a methylene blue adsorption lower than 1 g/kg of limestone. This implies that the maximum limit established in EN 197 (EN 197-1: 2011) of 1.2/100 g is about ten times higher than the value for which water requirement seems to be affected by the inclusion of limestone.

Moreover, Courard et al. (2011) also analyzed differences between bentonite and kaolinite as minor components of limestone powder. They found a remarkable influence of bentonite on water demand, and a very little influence of kaolinite, which is explained by the much higher swelling property of bentonite. Therefore, they refer to the swelling clay content as the key property as regards water demand, instead of the total clay content.

Diederich et al. (2012) found no relationships between the flow properties of mortar including limestone powder and its morphology. They derived that it should not be considered that clay is included as grains, but as phases included in the grains of limestone particles. Therefore, under the effect of the grinding process, these phases would be exposed at the surface of grains and modify the surface properties that affect the flow.

In a comparison with other blended Portland cements (Voglis et al. 2005) and despite a higher fineness of limestone cement (required to achieve a similar strength level than others), water demand of limestone cement was not higher than that of OPC, but it was lower than for pozzolanic and fly ash cements. Similar results are presented in Courard and Michel (2014) where they use limestone powder in partial substitution of cement to produce mortars. All these binary cements were produced by intergrinding of clinker, gypsum and supplementary cementitious materials (replacement percentage of 15%). The main reason given for this lower water demand of limestone cement is that its particles had a wider particle size distribution than the particles of the other blended cements. This may imply a better packing density of particles and a lower requirement of water.

When cement is blended with different limestone percentage replacements, the optimum dry packing density of fines is obtained for a certain powder content dependent on the particle size distribution of both cement and limestone powder. In this regard, Joudi-Bahri et al. (2012) reported optimum limestone powder contents in concrete between 100–120 kg/m³. They argued that intergranular voids are not well filled with lower limestone powder contents, whereas excess of single-sized particles lead to a loose suspension that demands higher mixing water content for a specific consistence level. This is in partial agreement with results from (Jones et al. 2003), where it is shown that the limestone powder content giving the lowest water

demand is less than the powder content required to achieve a minimum voids ratio from theoretical dry packing computations. They argue that the agglomeration of limestone powder particles, which increases its particle size and voids ratio, is responsible for this difference. In concrete with a lower Portland cement content $(<350 \text{ kg/m}^3)$, the voids ratio of the concrete decreases with an increase in limestone content up to a certain limit, after which further increases in limestone content only result in small changes in the voids ratio. The decrease of voids ratio with increasing limestone content is reduced with increasing Portland cement contents; for high cement contents, the addition of cement-sized powder will even increase the voids ratio and the water demand. Since the lowest water demand, for a given workability of a binary limestone powder-Portland cement, was obtained for a limestone powder content lower than the one corresponding to the highest packing density, Jones et al. (2003) suggested two criteria to determine the optimum powder content for minimum water demand in plasticized mixes: a voids ratio reduction of 0.02 (equivalent to a reduction of concrete water demand of 15 l/m³) in comparison with cement paste without limestone powder and a voids ratio reduction rate larger than 0.02% m³/kg (i.e., the voids ratio reduced by more than 0.02% per m³ of concrete through the addition of 1 kg of powder).

In a different direction, Wong and Kwan (2008) asserted that the packing density of particles is not directly related to the solid concentration in the mix, which varies with the w/c ratio. Therefore, the water demand could not be deduced from dry packing density of particles. Here, it is noted that the mixing water content at standard consistence of the mix is quite different from the basic water content, which is just sufficient to fill up the voids in the granular skeleton, or the minimum voids ratio. Moreover, entrapped air in the mix causes a positive effect giving more mobility to the mix and indirectly affecting water demand (Wong and Kwan 2008).

Using the method to determine the wet packing density (Wong and Kwan 2008) for limestone and cement blends, Diederich et al. (2012) found that the multiple influences of the different limestone powder and cement characteristics can be accurately represented through the evaluation of the excess water volume ratio defined as the surplus over the minimum void volume ratio of the paste. Accordingly, they found a general relationship between excess water volume ratio and flow parameters (yield stress and viscosity) for several limestone powders and cement types (Diederich et al. 2012).

4.3.2 Influence on Bleeding

Soria and Rahhal (2003) obtained similar bleeding values for 19 cm-slump at 20 $^{\circ}$ C for concrete with or without a limestone powder content near 20%. At higher temperatures, however, they found that limestone concrete reduced bleeding capacity. The main explanation comes from the increase in the hydration rate caused by the filler effect.

On the other hand, Joudi-Bahri et al. (2012) reported decreasing bleeding capacity with higher limestone powder content for 23 cm-slump concrete. The influence reported for 15 and 7 cm-slump concrete mixes analyzed in the same study was much lower. The Blaine specific surface area of limestone was $310 \text{ m}^2/\text{kg}$, and its PSD was $d10/d50/d90 = 1.5/18/65 \mu\text{m}$, respectively; the same parameters for the OPC were $320 \text{ m}^2/\text{kg}$, and $d10/d50/d90 = 0.8/7.5/35 \mu\text{m}$, respectively. The decreasing in bleeding is explained by the requirement of a high volume of powder for high-slump concrete in order to stabilize the suspension of particles: when high flow concrete with low powder content, an excess in mixing water content will increase bleeding.

It should be mentioned that, as finer limestone powder tends to give more cohesive mixes and stronger suspensions (Diederich et al. 2012), an impact of the fineness of limestone powder on concrete bleeding may be expected, in accordance with the respective powder content. Three main physical phenomena acting on fresh cement paste are linked to bleeding (Perrot et al. 2012): Brownian motion, colloidal attractive forces and gravity. For pure cement systems, if colloidal attractive forces prevail over gravity, a stable suspension of particles in which particles cannot rearrange their relative positions is obtained. Low bleeding is usually observed in stable mixes. Predominant colloidal attractive forces also result in the ability to withstand an external stress up to a critical value, called yield stress. Though there is no direct correlation between yield stress and bleeding (Perrot et al. 2012), these two properties are strongly linked. On the other hand, gravity will dominate colloidal attractive forces in low viscosity mixes, and particles may settle with high bleeding capacity as a result. The phenomenon is of interest in the case of very fluid mixes such as self-consolidating ones. Several results on the influence of limestone powder on the yield stress and viscosity of cementitious systems can be found in the literature, especially for self-consolidating mixes. Forward, a section dealing with this topic can be found. It could be claimed that in the same way that limestone powder affects yield stress, and viscosity in the case of fluid mixes, it may also affect bleeding.

Joserrand et al. (2006) suggested that the influence of a limestone powder (BET s.s.a. = $6081 \text{ m}^2/\text{kg}$ and PSD $d10/d50/d90 = 1.7/10.5/52 \mu\text{m}$) on cement hydration and particle flocculation can lead to more prolonged bleeding, and a consequent high bleeding capacity. This is in agreement with (García et al. 2008; Bentz and Garboczi 1991), where initial setting time is reported as an indication of a percolation threshold that affects connectivity between solid particles and voids within the newly hardened cement paste.

4.3.3 Influence on Setting

Fineness of limestone powder is a main characteristic as regards its influence on setting. Soria and Rahhal (2003) investigated the influence of ambient temperature of concrete made with limestone powder on slump, slump loss, setting time and

bleeding. They found that, in hot weather conditions, concrete produced with limestone cement may result in a greater reduction in slump compared to OPC concrete. They also found shorter setting times for limestone concrete in comparison with pure cement concrete at 20, 30, and 40 $^{\circ}$ C; they suggested that this is due to the increase in the hydration rate caused by nucleation effect. Similar results for the effect of the limestone powder content on setting time are presented in Khaleel and Razak (2014). On the other hand, limestone cement with replacement percentage of 15% showed similar setting times to ordinary, pozzolanic and fly ash cements, even when limestone cement had higher fineness (Voglis et al. 2005). In this sense, Michel et al. (2007) noticed an influence of limestone powder on initial setting time only when it had a Blaine specific surface area of 770 m^2/kg , whereas no influence was determined for limestone powder with Blaine fineness between 220 and 650 m²/kg. Courard et al. (2005) present results in agreement when they tested mortars with limestone powder with Blaine s.s.a. = $305 \text{ m}^2/\text{kg}$ in partial replacement of cement. Accordingly, Sato and Beaudoin (2011) proposed the addition of nano-CaCO₃ for accelerating the hydration of OPC when delayed by the presence of high volumes of supplementary cementitious materials, such as fly ash and slag. Based on this work, Bentz et al. (2012) added fine limestone powder to high volume fly ash concrete to compensate for the excessive retardation effect on hydration, delayed setting times, and low strengths at early age. They analyzed a nano-limestone powder and two other limestone powders of increasing median particle size $(4.4-16.4 \ \mu\text{m})$ for their propensity to reduce setting times in a Class C fly ash/cement blend. They obtained a measurable acceleration of hydration and compensation of setting times due to the fineness of the limestone, which they attributed to both physical and chemical action mechanisms of limestone particles.

On the other hand, Ezziane et al. (2010) found increasing setting times with limestone powder (Blaine s.s.a. = $340 \text{ m}^2/\text{kg}$) content when they tested superplasticized mortar. They attributed this delay to the higher effective relationship superplasticizer dosage/cement content. Thus, the increase in setting time should be attributed to the effect of the superplasticizer, in which the relative content to the cement weight is increased by the increase in the limestone powder content.

Courard et al. (2011) reported values for setting times of mortars including different limestone powders and without chemical admixtures. The influence of the mineral additions seems to be linked to their clay content and BET specific surface area. In most cases, however, this effect is very low and the overall effect on setting time is essentially neutral.

The effect of temperature on setting of limestone blended mixes has been also analyzed in Ezziane et al. (2010). They found consistent shortening of setting time with increasing temperature, but no influence of the limestone powder content on these decreases could be found, as the relative differences according to the limestone powder content remained similar for each series.

4.3.4 Influence on Superplasticizer Demand

Studies on interaction between limestone-blended cements and superplasticizers have primarily focused on polycarboxylic-ether (PCE) based admixtures (Magarotto et al. 2003; Şahmaran et al. 2006; Artelt and Garcia 2008; Plank et al. 2010; Banfill 2011), as they are commonly used in self-consolidating concrete.

Differences in superplasticizer demand between limestone-blended cement and ordinary cement would be mainly due to limestone-admixture interaction. According to Alonso et al. (2007), the effect of PCE admixtures on CEM II/B-L (Blaine s.s.a. = $438 \text{ m}^2/\text{kg}$) cement pastes is similar to the changes induced in cement pastes without mineral additions. The use of 30% limestone in cement pastes (Burgos-Montes et al. 2012) raises the adsorption of both lignosulfonate-(LS) and melamine-(PMS) based superplasticizers, indicating that these admixtures had greater affinity to CEM II/B-L (Blaine s.s.a. = $524 \text{ m}^2/\text{kg}$, BET s.s.a. = 2110 m²/kg) than to CEM I (Blaine s.s.a. = 502 m²/kg, BET s.s. a. = $1220 \text{ m}^2/\text{kg}$), while naphthalene—(PNS) and PCE based superplasticizers behaved similarly with limestone blended and non-blended cements. The presence of supplementary cementitious materials changes the physical-chemical properties of the cement and its behavior in terms of superplasticizer adsorption. Results in Burgos-Montes et al. (2012) show that superplasticizer adsorption on limestone—or limestone and clayey material-was similar to its adsorption on limestone-blended cement because, although affinity was much smaller for limestone than for cement particles, the presence of limestone in the blend led to a higher total consumption of admixture as a result of its greater specific surface. Similarly, Mikanovic and Jolicoeur (2008) observed adsorption of PNS was twice as much as that of PCE, and that adsorption of both polymers was twice as high on CEM I cement as on pure CaCO₃ particles, both with the same BET s.s.a. = $1200 \text{ m}^2/\text{kg}$. Also Petit and Wirquin (2010) found increasing superplasticizer demand with limestone powder (of unknown fineness) content in self-consolidating mortar mixes with PNS admixture, but this increase was in connection with an increase in the content of fines in the mix.

Adsorption of PCE admixture on limestone particles is due to an enthalpic contribution resulting from the electrostatic attraction between the opposite charges of substrate and PCE molecules, and the entropic contribution originated in the release of numerous counter ions and water molecules into pore liquid. These contributions are influenced by the ionic composition of pore liquid. Plank et al. (2010) investigated the adsorption of different PCE admixtures on CaCO₃: whereas the electrostatic attraction between the substrate and the PCE molecules decreases in the presence of Ca²⁺ ions, PCE adsorption is connected with a high gain in entropy due to the same reason. The PCE molecule characteristics (structure, molecular weight, types of anchor groups), and the surface loading of the substrate with PCE are also important features in the adsorption process. These influences of the molecular weight and structure of the PCE have therefore a significant influence on the rheological behavior and water-reduction of the limestone cement

(Magarotto et al. 2003; Banfill 2011). The anionic charge density of PCE molecules (Plank et al. 2010) influences both enthalpy and entropy. With higher anionic charge density, the enthalpic contribution to adsorption increases, whereas the entropic contribution decreases. A higher anionic charge density results from decreasing the side chain length of the PCE macromolecule. In consequence, a gain in entropy is the major force driving PCE adsorption and a decisive parameter of its effectiveness as superplasticizer.

Mikanovic and Jolicoeur (2008) studied the relationship between particle–superplasticizer interactions, rheology and paste stability, and blending, sedimentation and consolidation. Their findings showed that the mechanisms involved in superplasticizer action on limestone and OPC cement varied depending on whether the admixture was PCE or PNS-based. They also observed that even if the dispersion effect of both admixtures was similar in water–limestone pastes, the presence of Ca (OH)₂ improved the effectiveness of PCE admixture. In this sense, Hallal et al. (2010) observed better compatibility of superplasticizers with limestone blended cement than with pozzolana blended cement.

Additionally, the BET is essential to describe the powder/superplasticizer interaction that controls particle dispersion (Diederich et al. 2012). BET specific surface area allows the fineness of particles and their texture to be quantified as well (Arvaniti et al. 2015). It is therefore more descriptive of the surface on which PCE molecules may be adsorbed than Blaine s.s.a., which is connected with particle size only. Therefore, the increase in specific surface area and packing density due to the partial replacement of OPC by limestone powder might affect concrete flowability (Esping 2008), and the dosage of superplasticizer must therefore be modified to maintain it.

In this regard, Diederich et al. (2012) showed that the effectiveness of superplasticizer depends on the composition and surface charge of the limestone powder, specifically the effect of the presence of impurities such as clay. Limestone powder usually exhibits a rather low hydrophilic behavior (Diederich et al. 2012). However, when a PCE admixture is included, different evolutions of the contact angle may be expected depending on the nature of the powders and in connection with their electrostatic charge. In this regard, negatively charged powders show a decrease in the contact angle, i.e. a higher affinity with the aqueous solution, whereas other powders show a lower affinity with the liquid phase (Diederich et al. 2012). These dissimilar interactions between PCE admixture and limestone powder induce a modification of the rheological properties of suspensions: the yield stress (Fig. 4.10) and the apparent viscosity of suspensions with limestone powder are reduced with the use of a PCE admixture to different extents depending on the nature of the limestone powder.

The obtained relative decreases in static yield stress and viscosity were significant only for limestone powders that showed a wettability decrease with the inclusion of PCE admixture. The lower wettability would allow a larger amount of free water available for the fluidification of the mix (Diederich et al. 2012). In this analysis, it is important to note that the lower wettability may be in conjunction with a positive electrostatic charge of the powder, and, if so, limestone powder may



Fig. 4.10 Variation of the shear yield stress of slurries with constant spreading (ASTM C230) and with 0.5% polycarboxylate superplasticizer as a function of the filler amount (3 types of natural limestone fillers) (Rossomme 2010)

be in competition with cement for the adsorption of PCE molecules. Therefore, this may result in a net negative influence on the flow properties of superplasticized mixes with limestone blended cement. On the other hand, Diederich et al. (2012) found no relationships between the flow properties of limestone suspensions incorporating PCE and those of limestone-blended cement-based suspensions. They accordingly conclude that the flow of the *cement* + *limestone* + *PCE* + *water* suspension is influenced by the properties of the individual components and also by their concentration and the interactions existing between them.

Then, it seems very important to take into account the particle size distribution and the complementary effect with that of the cement in order to achieve minimum voids and allow lower superplasticizer demand.

4.4 Effect of Limestone Powder on Fresh Properties of Self-Consolidating Concrete

In a comprehensive study performed by the BRE (Building Research Establishment) and BCA (British Cement Association) in the early 90s (Moir and Kelham 1993), Portland limestone cements were shown to "have a largely neutral effect on slump, and are mostly beneficial particularly if the limestone is interground with the clinker and the fineness of the clinker fraction is less than c. $380 \text{ m}^2/\text{kg}$ " (Moir and Kelham 1997). The same study showed clear benefits in reducing the tendency of bleeding for cements that without limestone addition had a narrow size distribution (which are more common nowadays with more efficient closed circuit cement mills), or in self compacting concrete (Moir and Kelham 1997; Livesey 1991). These conclusions were generally confirmed in a recent review of limestone cements by the PCA (Tennis et al. 2011).

Much of the research that has been done on the influence of limestone powder on the fresh state concerns self-consolidating concrete. Self-consolidating Concrete (SCC) is stable highly flowable concrete that can spread readily into place and fill the formwork without any consolidation and without undergoing any significant segregation. The solid fraction of paste phase of concrete must be increased in order to obtain stable and flowable SCC. In this sense, non-pozzolanic powders are frequently used to optimize the particle packing and flow behavior of cementitious paste in SCC mixtures.

By using limestone powder with fineness and grading that can greatly improve the particle packing and deformability of the cementitious paste, the amount of mixing water can be considerably reduced for set values of rheological parameters (Ghezal and Khayat 2002; Bokan Bosiljkov 2003; Yahia et al. 2005b, Courard et al. under revision). Alternatively, limestone powder may enable superplasticizer contents to be reduced in some cases (Nepomuceno et al. 2012): this is conditioned by the fineness of limestone powder. Increased superplasticizer demand of SCC due to the inclusion of limestone powder has also been reported (El Hilali et al. 2006; Gesoğlu et al. 2012) (Fig. 4.11).

Limestone powder may play a significant role in the stability of self-consolidating concrete (Georgiadis et al. 2010) by compensating poor gradation and enhancing mixture consistency. Yahia et al. (2005a, b) investigated the effect of a limestone powder addition in superplasticized cement mortar rheology. Their results show that the physical effect of limestone powder is mainly affected by the W/C and the limestone powder content; for a given W/C, the addition of



Fig. 4.11 Variation of W/P ratio for constant spread (ASTM C230) of 220 mm, with and without PC superplasticizer (Courard et al. under reviewing)

limestone powder within a certain range did not affect fluidity. However, beyond a critical dosage, the incorporation of some limestone powder resulted in a substantial increase of mortar viscosity. However, it must be taken into account that sand may be a substantial source of fines which may reduce the optimum limestone powder content to obtain a stable and flowable self-consolidating mix (Tobes et al. 2007).

Similarly to conventional concrete, results for setting time of SCC with limestone powder are somewhat variable. Şahmaran et al. (2006) obtained increasing setting times when fly ash was included in SCC that could be reduced by using ternary mixtures including also limestone powder. In contrast, Gesoğlu et al. (2012) reported increased setting times for both binary and ternary self-consolidating mixes with limestone powder and fly ash. Again, the clear influence of limestone powder is a result of opposite effects of hydration stimulation and dilution of clinker. Limestone powder fineness might be the deciding factor on the predominance of one or the other.

Partial replacement of cement by limestone powder may reduce plastic viscosity and yield stress of highly-flowable mortars (Yahia et al. 2005b). On the other hand, Gesoğlu et al. (2012) reported increased values for the viscosity of self-consolidating concrete due to the inclusion of limestone powder, including binary and ternary blended mixes with Portland cement and fly ash. The contradictory results on the effect of limestone powder on flow behavior may be explained by the fact that flow properties of the mix are highly influenced by the surface charges, wettability and fineness of limestone powder, which in turn may differ very much among different sources of raw material (Diederich et al. 2012). In this sense, clay content of limestone powder, which affects its characteristics, is a key factor controlling the flow of limestone blended mixes.

Evidence on the influence of limestone powder on rheological parameters has also been presented by Vieira and Bettencourt (2007), in relation to the modification of particle packing. They reveal a higher influence of limestone powder content on the V-funnel time than the influence of superplasticizer content. In this sense, they explain that the V-funnel test is very dependent on the lubricant effect of particles, whereas the flow spread, which is less affected by the limestone powder content, depends on the characteristics of the paste as a whole. Similarly, slump flow was found to be more affected by the limestone powder content than by the superplasticizer content (Yahia et al. 2005b). Diamantonis et al. (2010) also attributed the decreased values of plastic viscosity with limestone powder content for both binary and ternary pastes to a better packing density of fines provided by the inclusion of limestone powder. They also found lower values of yield shear stress when compared to other binary mixes, but not lower than that of the reference mix. In consequence, they suggest limestone powder as the most convenient mineral addition as regards SCC rheology.

Many authors (Heirman et al. 2007) are suspecting that an excessive limestone powder content can considerably increase water demand of self-consolidating mixes if the specific surface area of the powder is increased (Yahia et al. 2005a, b; Şahmaran et al. 2006; Emdadi et al. 2007; Uysal and Yilmaz 2011; Petit and Wirquin 2010). Though the specific surface area of limestone might not show a

significant effect on slump flow and flow time responses (Yahia et al. 2005b), it has a comparable opposite effect on plastic viscosity than the replacement percentage of limestone powder. Therefore, the use of powder with higher surface specific area increases the water and superplasticizer demands (Esping 2008). Accordingly, Czarnecki et al. (2010) found decreased fluidity in mortar when they used limestone powder in comparison with coarser quartz powder, and Uysal and Yilmaz (2011) obtained increased fluidity in concrete when they used limestone powder in comparison with finer marble and basalt powders. On the contrary, Jones et al. (2003) showed that if limestone powder is included in replacement of sand instead of cement, it can lead to a reduction in the water demand as long as it reduced voids ratio of fines. This is more likely for ultrafine limestone powder than for coarser limestone powder. Diederich (Diederich et al. 2012) contends that, to infer the influence of limestone powder on water demand of SCC, it is very important to characterize the BET specific surface area of limestone powder, as it is descriptive of its fineness, smoothness and particle shape, whereas the Blaine method only describes fineness.

Thixotropic characterization of cement pastes with different limestone powder contents has been pointed out (Rubio-Hernández et al. 2013), where transitory flow was measured. Whereas the non-steady flow curve depends on the initial structural state of the material, flow after a pre-shear has been applied since it requires less work. Results from this study show that the required work per time and volume units necessary to break the microstructure that forms in the material decreases when the limestone powder proportion increases. Limestone powder develops a weaker structural binding (Rubio-Hernández et al. 2013): only cement particles develop a microstructure network, and, thus, the substitution of cement by limestone powder does not have substantial effect on the kinetic of microstructural development related with the thixotropy of cement paste.

The air content in SCC does not seem to depend on the limestone powder content used in the mix, but on its rheological properties (Valcuende et al. 2012). SCC usually shows lower volume of air than conventional concrete, but if its flowability is reduced or viscosity increased the air content increases and can far exceed the values recorded for normally vibrated concrete. In practical terms, air content can be directly linked to the parameters from the slump flow test: final diameter of the concrete mass and the time the mass takes to reach a diameter of 50 cm. Consequently, limestone powder content would affect air content to the extent that it also affects concrete rheology.



Fig. 4.12 Synergetic effect of metakaolin-limestone reaction on strengths (Steenberg et al. 2011)

4.5 Hydration and Strength of Portland Composite Cements Containing Limestone

As shown in Fig. 4.1, Portland composite cements (CEM II M), the bulk of which consist of combinations of limestone and slag or limestone and fly ash, account for close to 20% of cements produced in Europe. It has been shown that these combinations result in increased performance of the limestone constituent (Borgholm et al. 1995). The same synergetic effect has also been shown for combinations of natural pozzolans and limestone (Torresan et al. 2000; Steenberg et al. 2011). This is illustrated in Fig. 4.12 (from Steenberg et al. 2011) where the synergetic effect of the metakaolin-limestone reaction on strengths was shown to result from the increased formation of carboaluminate hydrates (Fig. 4.5) and the increased reaction of the limestone (Antoni et al. 2012).

The impact of limestone on the hydration reactions described above, and the effect that this has on strength and porosity, is strongly dependent on the fineness of the limestone. In general, when the limestone is ground separately to a fineness comparable to the clinker fraction, e.g. in the region of 400 m²/kg, performance resulting from either of the above reactions (early acceleration of the C₃S reaction, or later formation of carbo-AFm's) is limited. There seems to be a general agreement in the literature that the fineness of the limestone needs to be at least 600 m²/g determined by the Blaine method, or with a median size of less than 5 μ m (Pera et al. 1999; Berodier et al. 2013; Khanh 1999; Hawkins et al. 2003), with the best results achieved at a fineness of 1000 m²/kg or more. This degree of fineness is only consistently achieved when the limestone is interground with the clinker, and in the majority of published reports where the limestone is blended with the clinker, the Blaine fineness of the limestone is less than 500 m²/kg. That is not to say that

blending cannot be achieved with a finer limestone, but in practice this is not normally the case.

In addition to the benefits of a high fineness of the limestone on the hydration reactions, the greater the difference between the fineness of the clinker fraction and the limestone fraction, the higher the packing density, resulting in a lower water content for the same concrete consistence. Evidence of this is clearest when the limestone and clinker is interground, or where the surface area of limestone is at least twice as high as the surface area of the clinker (Khanh 1999; Moir and Kelham 1993).

4.6 Evaluation of Industrially Produced Portland Limestone Cements

Even though industrially produced Portland limestone cements are overwhelmingly interground, performance, either regarding strength or durability, is not always in the limestone cement's favor.

The most common reason for this is that, even though a Portland cement and comparable Portland limestone cement may be produced on the same mill from the same clinker with optimum gypsum addition, etc., the correct fineness needed to allow a meaningful comparison is not always targeted. For example, in normal closed circuit cement mill, a constant output and separator speed will achieve a significantly finer finished product for the limestone cement (c. 10 m²/kg for each additional %-point of limestone) at an essentially constant fineness of the clinker fraction (CemCalc 2011–2013). However, in some cases the target fineness of the limestone cement is relaxed, either to increase production output and reduce the specific power consumption, or due to bottlenecks elsewhere in the process such as insufficient capacity in the packing department for a finer product. Whatever the reason, direct comparison of the performance of Portland cement and Portland limestone cement is not possible if they are produced under different operating conditions of the mill because this will result in different finesses of the clinker fraction. Lower fineness of the clinker fraction will of course lead to poorer performance (i.e. slower rates of reaction and, higher porosity) other things equal. Despite this, for a given output and clinker fineness, optimum performance in terms of strength, porosity and workability is ensured when the limestone is interground with the clinker.

4.7 Durability

With the possible exception of thaumasite formation discussed below, to the authors' knowledge even if likely to be contentious, no investigations performed at equal strength have shown significantly inferior performance of Portland limestone cements compared to Portland cements. The conclusion of the BRE/BCA study mentioned above, (Moir and Kelham 1993) was as follows: "A relationship exists between the strength class of the cement, the cement content and the strength of the concrete. It demonstrates that the strength of the concrete is a better guide to carbonation than the type of cement used (which included a wide range of cements with different contents and sources of limestone); that the degree of air entrainment governs the performance in freeze/thaw conditions, and that the chemical composition of the base cement controls the resistance to sulphates and chlorides (i.e. regardless of the limestone content as long as the concrete is produced to the same strength)".

In principle, dilution by limestone addition implies a reduction of chloride binding capacity in connection with lower content of aluminate and ferrite phases in cement. However, some results indicate a contribution of the carbo-AFm phases to the chloride binding capacity owing to a continuous solid solution that forms between the chloride and carbo-AFm phases, Friedel's salt and monocarbonate (Nielsen et al. 2003). This is a different case from carbo-AFm phases formed during carbonation of concrete, where the associated reduction in pH decomposes Friedel's salt.

The increased use of Portland limestone cements is reflected by the national application standards where these cements are permitted in most European countries. Except for the exposure classes involving chemical attack (XA1, 2 and 3 defined in EN 206), most European national application standards permit the use of Portland limestone cements in the majority of exposure classes: this is particularly true for the CEM II/A-L,LL types, not so for the CEM II/B-L,LL (Fig. 4.3). In the UK for example they are permitted in all classes not involving chemical attack (BS 8500-1). In Denmark they are allowed in all classes except XS3 and XA3 (severest sea water and chemical attack) (DS/INF 158). The main reason for excluding Portland limestone cements from conditions involving sulphate attack is probably the perceived risk of thaumasite attack which is discussed in more detail below.

The general consensus after several years of research on the formation of thaumasite (Juel et al. 2003; Schmidt et al. 2008) is that:

- 1. although thaumasite may be thermodynamically stable at temperatures above 10 °C, reported field cases of thaumasite formation are virtually non-existent in warmer climates, even if not completely true (Torres et al. 2011), and
- where climatic conditions are conducive to thaumasite formation, an external source of sulphate is required, since there is invariably insufficient sulphate present in Portland cement to thermodynamically stabilise thaumasite regardless of the kinetic conditions.



Fig. 4.13 Ternary sub-system for $CaSO_4$ – C_3A – $CaCO_3$ from Fig. 4.4 showing the effect on the hydrate mineralogy of external sulphate attack of a typical CEM I and CEM II L

This latter point is illustrated in Fig. 4.13. This diagram shows that thaumasite can only form at much higher sulphate contents than are present in normal Portland cements (between 6 and 8% SO₃ by weight of the anhydrous cement). Thaumasite can therefore only occur where external sulphate attack is involved, and to all extents and purposes, only where ambient temperatures are consistently below 10 to 15 °C. These phase relationships have been extensively tested and verified experimentally (Juel et al. 2003; Schmidt et al. 2008).

Where external sulphate attack is involved, it can be argued that resistance to ettringite related expansion is the main factor affecting performance, since as shown in Fig. 4.13, ettringite precedes thaumasite formation with increasing sulphate contents. In most cases the main cause of failure probably results from expansion due to ettringite formation, rather than thaumasite which is simply the final product to form. Maximum resistance is achieved at low C_3A contents and low porosity. In practice, the most workable means of achieving a low porosity is to target a high strength. For this reason specifying sufficiently high strengths for the concrete, and minimizing the water/cement ratio in the final application should offer the best protection against all types of attack, both chemical and physical. The situation is the same for Portland limestone cements regardless of the limestone content.

The relationships apply equally to attack by $MgSO_4$ or alkali sulphates which are of course much more soluble than the calcium sulphates and therefore more severe. In the case of $MgSO_4$, brucite forms as an excess phase, so that the composition plotted onto the sub-system follows the same path towards $CaSO_4$, and remains valid as long as calcium hydroxide (CH) remains in excess. This is also the case with alkali sulphates, but where the concentration of alkalis and hydroxyl ions (and therefore the pH) increases in the pore solution.

4.8 Environmental Benefits

The 4-fold increase in the use of Portland limestone cement in Europe or as a substitute for cement since the early 1990s is a reflection of the limited supply of traditional supplementary cementiteous materials such as fly ash and granulated blast furnace slag and the relative cheapness of limestone fillers (Damtoft et al. 2008). Since further reductions in the clinker content of cement is a key element in reducing CO_2 emissions, this development is likely to continue with even higher contents of limestone. Moreover, limestone is one of the supplementary cementitious materials with the lowest transport-related CO_2 emission for cement production, as the source for the raw material is the same source for clinker production. This will no doubt lead to the increased use of CEM II/B Portland limestone cement and its acceptance in the concrete codes. Of course, this must take place at the same concrete performance in terms of strength and durability, so the synergies outlined above between clinker, limestone and other SCMs must be fully exploited if levels of clinker replacement are to be maximised.

The current average clinker-to-cement ratio over all cement types in the EU27 is 73.7% (http://lowcarboneconomy.cembureau.eu). If all of the global production of hard coal fly ash and slag currently not utilized was used as a one to one clinker replacement for the same concrete performance, overall clinker contents in Portland cements could be reduced to current European level of about 0.76 (Herfort 2008). It has been estimated that the theoretical limit for clinker replacement in Portland cement using combinations of limestone and traditional SCMs is about 40% before concrete performance is significantly affected. If this is to be achieved globally the level of replacement by limestone will probably need to be increased by c. 20% on average (Herfort 2008).

4.9 Conclusions

As described above, when the limestone is ground to a Blaine fineness greater than c. 600 m²/kg, its impact on the hydration reactions is usually significant. The acceleration of the C_3S reaction is significant within the first 24 h, and formation of carbo-AFm phases is significant within 28 days, the latter having the biggest impact at higher aluminate contents, either from high C_3A contents in the clinker or from alumino-silicate pozzolans. The carbo-aluminate reaction involves the reaction of calcium carbonate with the alumina present in the pozzolan and Ca(OH)₂ supplied

from the cement. To all intents and purposes limestone under these conditions should be regarded as an SCM with surface area being the primary determining factor. If it is sufficiently fine it will contribute to the space filling reactions which reduce porosity and increase strength within a period of around 28 days at normal temperature. If it is too coarse it will primarily function as inert filler. When ground separately to a comparable fineness of the clinker it will contribute to some (albeit limited) extent to the hydration reactions, but have little impact on reducing the water demand. Of course, when the limestone is ground to a lower fineness than the clinker this will improve workability, but it will have essentially no impact on the hydration reactions. In this case it should be solely characterized as filler.

Any attempt to define limestone as an SCM in a prescriptive standard or specification as a stand-alone material (i.e. not an integral constituent in a Portland cement) would require a dedicated systematic research program (http://www.astm. org/WorkItems/WK36906.htm), but the current literature does suggest a minimum fineness in the region of 600 m^2/kg as a working definition. At present, in order to ensure optimum workability and reactivity, the only effective solution at this stage is that the limestone is interground with the clinker. Intergrinding fulfills the requirements for both SMC reactivity and improved workability. There is no guarantee that similar performance can be achieved with a blended cement or direct concrete addition without specifying both the clinker and limestone fineness for a given application. Also, if a limestone of proven performance with a given source of clinker is used with another source of clinker, e.g. with a lower aluminate content or reactivity, or without optimizing the SO₃ content, its performance may be significantly affected. This is in contrast with other essentially pozzolanic SCMs such as fly ash and GBFS which are less dependent on the source of clinker, and makes it much more difficult to specify performance requirements such as the activity index or k-value for limestone additions to concrete.

Comparison of performance in concrete other than strength should also be made under realistic conditions. For example, ready mixed concrete is usually specified according to range of slump and minimum strength (e.g. S2 and C30 in EN 206). The amount of water needed to achieve the slump target may of course differ between a Portland and Portland limestone cement. In some cases the Portland limestone cement may require more water for the same concrete consistence, but in most cases when it is interground it will require less water (Tennis et al. 2011). After adding the correct amount of water for the desired slump, the cement content is then adjusted to achieve the required w/c ratio for the desired strength. At low limestone contents, the W/C ratio (and cement content) will usually be comparable, or even higher (lower cement content) for the Portland limestone cement resulting in a direct saving and improved environmental performance. At higher limestone contents (e.g. higher than c. 10%), a lower W/C ratio (and higher cement content) will normally be required, but even here the overall clinker content would normally be lower compared to concrete produced from Portland cement for the same concrete strength. i.e. also resulting in a net saving and improved environmental performance; but admixtures will also probably be needed.

4 Limestone Powder

Regarding the interaction with water reducers, limestone shows more extensive compatibility with these admixtures than other supplementary cementitious materials. Limestone cement usually exhibits lower superplasticizer demand than ordinary Portland cement due to less adsorption of the admixture on limestone than on clinker particles, but this reduction depends on the difference in the fineness and surface area. In this sense, limestone filler represents a key constituent for stable self-consolidating concrete, with some advantages over other types of filler.

References

- Alonso MM, Palacios M, Puertas F, De la Torre AG, Aranda MAG (2007) Effect of polycarboxylate admixture structure on cement paste rheology. Materiales de Construcción 57(286):65–81
- Antoni M, Martirena F, Scrivener K (2012) Cement substitution by a combination of metakaolin and limestone. Cem Concr Res 42(12):1579–1589
- Artelt C, Garcia E (2008) Impact of superplasticizer concentration and of ultra-fine particles on the rheological behaviour of dense mortar suspensions. Cem Concr Res 38:633–642
- Arvaniti EC, Juenger M, Bernal SA, Duchesne J, Courard L, Leroy S, Provis J, Klemm A, De Belie N (2015) Physical characterization methods for supplementary cementitious materials. Mater Struct 48(11):3675–3686
- Banfill PFG (2011) Additivity effects in the rheology of fresh concrete containing water-reducing admixtures. Constr Build Mater 25(6):2955–2960
- Bensted J (1980) Some hydration investigations involving Portland cement—effect of calcium carbonate substitution of gypsum. World Cem Technol 11(8):395–406
- Bentz DP, Garboczi EJ (1991) Percolation of phases in a three dimensional cement paste microstructure model. Cem Concr Res 21:325–344
- Bentz DP, Sato T, de la Varga I, Weiss WJ (2012) Fine limestone additions to regulate setting in high volume fly ash mixtures. Cem Concr Compos 34:11–17
- Berodier E (2013) Nanocem CP9 report (April)
- Bokan Bosiljkov V (2003) SCC mixes with poorly graded aggregate and high volume of limestone filler. Cem Concr Res 33:1279–1286
- Borgholm HE, Herfort D, Rasmussen S (1995) A new blended cement based on mineralised clinker. World Cem Res Dev 27–33
- Burgos-Montes O, Palacios M, Rivilla P, Puertas F (2012) Compatibility between superplasticizer admixtures and cements with mineral additions. Constr Build Mater 31:300–309
- CEMBUREAU Activity report (2008) 44 p
- CemCalc (2011–2013) Ternary blended cement with high limestone filler content and low GBFS content. Scientific and Technical report (BBRI Belgian Building Research Center, CRIC Belgian Research Center for Cement Industry, ULg University of Liège), 348 p
- Courard L, Michel F (2014) Limestone fillers cement based composites: effects of blast furnace slags on fresh and hardened properties. Constr Build Mater 51:439–445
- Courard L, Degeimbre R, Darimont A, Michel F, Willem X, Flamant S (2005) Some effects of limestone fillers as a partial substitute for cement in mortar composition. In: Banthia N (ed) ConMat'05 third international conference on construction materials: performance, innovations and structural implications. Vancouver, Canada (August 22–24, 2005) (Theme 3 —Chapter 5), 10 p
- Courard L, Michel F, Pierard J (2011) Influence of clay in limestone fillers for self-compacting cement based composites. Constr Build Mater 25:1356–1361

- Czarnecki L, Klemm AJ, Sikora K (2010) The effects of mineral fillers and superplasticizers on rheology and the heat of hydration of cementitious mortars. In: Proceeding of international RILEM conference on use of superabsorbent polymers and other new additives in concrete, 15–18 August 2010, Lyngby, Denmark, pp 23–32
- Damtoft JS, Lukasik J, Herfort D, Gartner E, Sorrentino D (2008) Sustainable development and climate change initiatives. Cem Concr Res 38:115–127
- De Weerdt K, Kjellsen KO, Sellevold E, Justnes H (2010) Synergy between fly ash and limestone powder in ternary cements. Cem Concr Compos 33(1):30–38
- Diamantonis N, Marinos I, Katsiotis MS, Sakellariou A, Papathanasiou A, Kaloidas V, Katsioti M (2010) Investigations about the influence of fine additives on the viscosity of cement paste for self-compacting concrete. Constr Build Mater 24:1518–1522
- Diederich P, Mouret M, de Ryck A, Ponchon F, Escadeillas G (2012) The nature of limestone filler and self-consolidating feasibility—relationships between physical, chemical and mineralogical properties of fillers and the flow at different states, from powder to cement-based suspension. Powder Technol 218:90–101
- El Hilali A, Ghorbel E, Gonnon P (2006) Influence des fillers sur l'ouvrabilité des bétons autoplaçants, 24èmes Rencontres Universitaires de Génie Civil "Construire: les nouveaux défis", 1 et 2 juin 2006. Association Universitaire de Génie Civil, La Grande Motte (France), p 8
- Emdadi A, Ali Libre N, Mehdipour I, Vahdani M, Dara S (2007) SCC mixtures with different aggregate gradation and limestone powder. In: Proceeding of 5th international RILEM symposium on self-compacting concrete, 3–5 September 2007, Ghent, Belgium, pp 155–162
- Esping O (2008) Effect of limestone filler BET(H₂O)-area on the fresh and hardened properties of self compacting concrete. Cem Concr Res 38(7):938–944
- Ezziane K, Kadri EH, Hallal A, Duval R (2010) Effect of mineral additives on the setting of blended cement by the maturity method. Mater Struct 43:393–401
- García A, Castro-Fresno D, Polanco JA (2008) Evolution of penetration resistance in fresh concrete. Cem Concr Res 38:649–659
- Georgiadis AS, Sideris KK, Anagnostopoulos NS (2010) Properties of SCC produced with limestone filler or viscosity modifying admixture. J Mater Civ Eng 22:352–360
- Gesoğlu M, Güneyisi E, Kocabağ ME, Bayram V, Mermerdaş K (2012) Fresh and hardened characteristics of self compacting concretes made with combined use of marble powder, limestone filler, and fly ash. Constr Build Mater 37:160–170
- Ghezal A, Khayat KH (2002) Optimizing self-consolidating concrete with limestone filler by using statistical factorial design methods. ACI Mater J 99(3):264–272
- Hallal A, Kadri EH, Ezziane K, Kadri A, Khelafi H (2010) Combined effect of mineral admixtures with superplasticizers on the fluidity of the blended cement paste. Constr Build Mater 24:1418– 1423
- Hawkins P, Tennis P, Detwiler R (2003) The use of limestone in Portland cement. A state of the art review. Portland Cement Association, Engineering Bulletin 227, ISBN: 0–89312-229-7
- Heirman G, Vandewalle L, Van Gemert D, Feys D, De Schutter G, Desmet B, Vantomme J (2007) Influence of mineral additions and chemical admixtures on the rheological behaviour of powder type SCC. In Proceeding of 5th international RILEM symposium on self-compacting concrete, 3–5 September 2007, Ghent, Belgium, pp 329–334
- Herfort D (2008) Developments needed in the production and use of cement for large reductions in CO₂ emissions by 2050. In: Proceedings of the Anna Maria workshop IX sustainable cements: challenges, opportunities & applications (November 11–14)
- Herfort D, Lothenbach B (2015) A practical guide to microstructural analysis of cementitious materials. In: SrivenerK (ed) Taylor & Francis Inc
- Jones MR, Zheng L, Newlands MD (2003) Estimation of the filler content required to minimise voids ratio in concrete. Mag Concr Res 55(2):193–202
- Josserand L, Coussy O, de Larrard F (2006) Bleeding of concrete as an ageing consolidation process. Cem Concr Res 36:1603–1608

- Joudi-Bahri I, Lecomte A, Ben Ouezdou M, Achour T (2012) Use of limestone sands and fillers in concrete without superplasticizer. Cement Concr Compos 34:771–780
- Juel I, Herfort D, Gollop R, Konnerup-Madsen J, Jakobsen HJ, Skibsted J (2003) A thermodynamic model for predicting the stability of thaumasite. Cem Concr Compos 25 (8):867–872
- Khaleel OR, Abdul Razak H (2014) Mix design method for self compacting metakaolin concrete with different properties of coarse aggregate. Mater Des 53:691–700
- Khanh VB (1999) Development of limestone modified cements for high performance concretes. Ph.D. thesis, Department of Civil, Mining and Environmental Engineering, University of Wollongong, 1999. http://rouow.edu.au/theses/1238
- Kristensen T (2008) Characterisation of Portland cement including limestone additions by solid state MAS NMR spectroscopy, instrument centre for solid-state NMR spectroscopy and interdisciplinary nanoscience center, Department of Chemistry, University of Aarhus (March)
- Lea FM (1998) The chemistry of cement and concrete, 4th edn. Chemical Publishing Company, 740 p
- Livesey P (1991) Strength characteristics of Portland-limestone cements. Constr Build Mater 5 (3):147-150
- Lothenbach B, Le Saout G, Gallucci E, Scrivener K (2008) Influence of limestone on the hydration of portland cements. Cem Concr Res 38:848–860
- Magarotto R, Torresan I, Zeminian N (2003) Influence of the molecular weight of polycarboxylate superplasticizers on the rheological properties of fresh cement pastes, mortar and concrete. In: Proceeding 11th international congress on the chemistry of cement, Durban, South Africa, 11– 16 May 2003, vol 2, pp 514–526
- Matschei T, Lothenbach B, Glasser FP (2007) Thermodynamic properties of Portland cement hydrates in the system CaO–Al₂O₃–SiO₂–CaSO₄–CaCO₃–H₂O. Cem Concr Res 37:1379–1410
- Michel F, Piérard J, Courard L, Pollet V (2007) Influence of physico-chemical characteristics of limestone fillers on fresh and hardened mortar performances. In: Proceedinf 5th international RILEM symposium on self-compacting concrete, 3–5 September 2007, Ghent, Belgium, pp 205–210
- Mikanovic N, Jolicoeur C (2008) Influence of superplasticizers on the rheology and stability of limestone and cement pastes. Cem Concr Res 38:907–919
- Moir GK, Kelham S (1993) Durability: performance of limestone-filled cements. Report of joint BRE/BCA/Cement industry working party, 27 Nov 1989, Building Research Establishment, Garston
- Moir GK, Kelham S (1997) Developments in the manufacture and use of Portland limstone cements. In: Proceedings of the ACI international conference on high performance concrete: design and material and recent advances in concrete technology, December, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
- Nepomuceno M, Oliveira L, Lopes SMR (2012) Methodology for mix design of the mortar phase of self-compacting concrete using different mineral additions in binary blends of powders. Constr Build Mater 26:317–326
- Nielsen EP, Herfort D, Geiker M, Hooton RD (2003) Effect of solid solution of AFm phases on Chloride Binding. In: 11th international congress on the chemistry of cement, Durban, South Africa, vol 3, pp 1497–1506
- Perrot A, Lecompte T, Khelifi H, Brumaud C, Hot J, Roussel N (2012) Yield stress and bleeding of fresh cement pastes. Cem Concr Res 42:937–944
- Petit J-Y, Wirquin E (2010) Effect of limestone filler content and superplasticizer dosage on rheological parameters of highly flowable mortar under light pressure conditions. Cem Concr Res 40:235–241
- Pera J, Husson S, Guilhot B (1999) Influence of finely ground limestone on cement hydration. Cem Concr Compos 21(2):99–105

- Plank J, Sachsenhauser B, de Reese J (2010) Experimental determination of the thermodynamic parameters affecting the adsorption behaviour and dispersion effectiveness of PCE superplasticizers. Cem Concr Res 40:699–709
- Rubio-Hernández FJ, Morales-Alcalde JM, Gómez-Merino AI (2013) Limestone filler/cement ratio effect on the flow behaviour of a SCC cement paste. Adv Cem Res 25(5):262–272
- Rossomme J (2010) Effects of the interaction between superplasticizer, cement and limestone fillers on the rheology of cement based slurries. Master thesis, University of Liège
- Şahmaran M, Christianti HA, Yaman IO (2006) The effect of chemical admixtures and mineral additives on the properties of self-compacting mortars. Cem Concr Compos 28:432–440
- Sato T, Beaudoin JJ (2011) Effect of nano-CaCO₃ on hydration of cement containing supplementary cementitious materials. Adv Cem Res 23(1):33–43
- Schmidt T, Lothenbach B, Romer M, Scrivener K, Rentsch D, RenFigi R (2008) A thermodynamic and experimental study of the conditions of thaumasite formation. Cem Concr Res 38:337–349
- Soria EA, Rahhal VF (2003) Cast in place temperature's influence on fresh concrete made with limestone filler and blended cement. Materiales de Construcción 53(271–272):27–36
- Steenberg M, Herfort D, Poulsen S, Skibsted J, Damtoft JS (2011) Composite cement based on Portland cement clinker, limestone and calcined clay. In: XIII international congress on the chemistry of cement, July 2011, p 97
- Tennis PD, Thomas MDA, Weiss WJ (2011) State of the art report on use of limestone in cements at levels of up to 15%, Portland Cement Association, PCA R&D Serial No. SN3148
- Tobes JM, López A, Giaccio G, Barragán B, Zerbino R (2007) Effect of sand particle size distribution on fluidity and passing ability of highly flowable mortars. In: Proceeding of 5th international RILEM symposium on self-compacting concrete, 3–5 September 2007, Ghent, Belgium, pp 163–168
- Torres SM, Leal AF, Vieira APP, Barbosa NP (2011) Thaumasite form of sulphate attack in a tropical climate weather. In: Palomo A (ed) 13th ICCC international congress on the chemistry of cement, Madrid (paper 901), p 401
- Torresan I, Magarotto R, Żeminian N (2000) Interaction between superplasticizers and limestone blended cements rheological study. ACI Special Publication 195:229–248
- Uysal M, Yilmaz K (2011) Effect of mineral admixtures on properties of self-compacting concrete. Cem Concr Compos 33:771–776
- Valcuende M, Parra C, Marco E, Garrido A, Martínez E, Cánoves J (2012) Influence of limestone filler and viscosity-modifying admixture on the porous structure of self-compacting concrete. Constr Build Mater 28:122–128
- Vieira M, Bettencourt A (2007) Rheology of pastes and mortars with fines resulting from ornamental rock waste. In: Proceeding of 5th international RILEM symposium on self-compacting concrete, 3–5 September 2007, Ghent, Belgium, pp 279–284
- Voglis N, Kakali G, Chaniotakis E, Tsivilis S (2005) Portland-limestone cements. Their properties and hydration compared to those of other composite cements. Cem Concr Compos 27:191–196
- Wong HHC, Kwan AKH (2008) Packing density of cementitious materials: part 1—measurement using a wet packing method. Mater Struct 41:689–701
- Yahia A, Tanimura M, Shimoyama Y (2005a) Rheological properties of highly flowable mortar containing limestone filler-effect of powder content and W/C ratio. Cem Concr Res 35:532– 539
- Yahia A, Tanimura M, Khayat KH (2005b) Experiment design to evaluate the effect of mixture parameters on rheological properties of self-comsolidating concrete equivalent mortar. In: Proceeding of 1st international symposium on design, performance and use of self-consolidating concrete, 26–28 May 2005, Changsha, China, pp 271–282

Standards

- ASTM C150/C150M-15, Standard Specification for Portland Cement, ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA, 2015, www.astm.org
- ASTM C595/C595M-09, Standard Specification for Blended Hydraulic Cements, ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA, 2009, www.astm.org
- ASTM C230/C230M-14, Standard Specification for Flow Table for Use in Tests of Hydraulic Cement, ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA, 2014, www.astm.orgBS 8500-1:2015. Concrete. Complementary British Standard to BS EN 206. Method of specifying and guidance for the specifier
- BS 8500-2:2015. Concrete. Complementary British Standard to BS EN 206. Specification for constituent materials and concrete
- DS/INF 158:2004, Concrete technology—Compilation of DS/EN 206-1 and DS 2426 together with DS/EN 206-1/A1 (*in Danish*)
- EN 197-1:2011. Cement—Part 1: Composition, specifications and conformity criteria for common cements.
- EN 206-1:2000. Concrete-Part 1: Specification, performance, production and conformity
- EN 933-9+A1: 2013. Tests for geometrical properties of aggregates. Assessment of fines. Methylene blue test

Chapter 5 Metakaolin

F. Wang, K. Kovler, J. L. Provis, A. Buchwald, M. Cyr, C. Patapy, S. Kamali-Bernard, L. Courard and K. Sideris

Abstract Metakaolin (MK) is known to be a highly pozzolanic material that can be used in concrete. MK is usually produced by heating kaolin-containing clays, within the temperature range of about 600–900 °C. This chapter summarizes the utilization of metakaolin in relevant worldwide standards, mainly in Europe and North America. The health, safety and environmental sustainability concerns on using metakaolin as a supplementary cementitious material are also addressed in this chapter. It is reported that MK incorporation has benefits on both early-age and long-term properties. On the other hand, this chapter also reports that the results of heat of hydration and rate of reaction in metakaolin-blended concrete are controversial and need further investigation. Overall, the optimum level of cement replacement by MK is around 10–20%, which provides concrete the maximum strength. Metakaolin appears to have an excellent potential as a supplementary

F. Wang · K. Kovler (⊠)
Faculty of Civil and Environmental Engineering, Technion—Israel Institute of Technology, 32000 Haifa, Israel
e-mail: cvrkost@technion.ac.il

J. L. Provis (⊠) Department of Materials Science and Engineering, University of Sheffield, Sir Robert Hadfield Building, Mappin St, Sheffield S1 3JD, UK e-mail: j.provis@sheffield.ac.uk

A. Buchwald ASCEM B.V., Schaarweg 4, 6991 GV Rheden, The Netherlands

M. Cyr · C. Patapy Université de Toulouse; UPS, INSA; LMDC (Laboratoire Matériaux et Durabilité Des Constructions), 135, Avenue de Rangueil, 31 077 Toulouse Cedex 4, France

S. Kamali-Bernard UEB, INSA-Rennes, LGCGM, 20 Avenue Des Buttes de Coësmes, 35708 Rennes Cedex 7, France

L. Courard

GeMMe Research Group, ArGEnCo Department, University of Liege, Liege, Belgium

K. Sideris

Department of Civil Engineering, Democritus University of Thrace, 67100 Xanthi, Greece

© RILEM 2018

153

N. De Belie et al. (eds.), *Properties of Fresh and Hardened Concrete Containing Supplementary Cementitious Materials*, RILEM State-of-the-Art Reports 25, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70606-1_5

cementitious material in structures made of high-performance concrete, because it controls deleterious expansion due to alkali-silica reaction in concrete (depending on the nature of the aggregate), and reduces the ingress of chloride by improving the microstructure and chloride binding behavior.

Keywords Metakaolin · High-performance concrete · Supplementary cementitious material · Properties · Sustainability

5.1 Overview and Background

To reduce the environmental impact of the global cement industry, and to achieve cost and performance benefits in concrete production, metakaolin (MK) and other supplementary cementitious materials are used as partial replacements for cement in concrete. Metakaolin reacts chemically via a pozzolanic process with Ca(OH)₂, as a source of reactive Si and Al, and its degree of structural disorder plays a major role in determining its reactivity (Shvarzman et al. 2003).

Sabir et al. (2001) carried out a review of the utilization of metakaolin as a pozzolanic material for mortar and concrete and reported that the use of metakaolin as a pozzolan will help in the development of early strength and also give some improvement in long term strength. Metakaolin addition alters the pore structure in cement paste, mortar and concrete, and greatly improves its resistance to transport of water and diffusion of harmful ions, which can lead to the degradation of the matrix, as will be discussed in detail later in this chapter. Siddique and Klaus (2009) also reviewed the use of MK as a partial replacement for cement in mortar and concrete, producing results which are in general agreement with those of Sabir et al. (2001): MK was found to be an effective pozzolan in concrete, enhancing both the early age and long-term mechanical performance, reducing the water penetration into concrete by capillary action, reducing permeability, improving the resistance to sulfate attack, increasing chemical resistance, and offering control of deleterious expansion due to alkali-silica reaction. These properties, and others, will be addressed in this chapter.

Kaolinite, $Al_2Si_2O_5(OH)_4$, (shown in Fig. 5.1) is a clay mineral that provides the basis of the plasticity of traditional ceramics in the unfired (hydrous) state; it can be converted by firing to produce a hard, durable, watertight, water-resistant material, which has for millennia been used in everyday life worldwide. The name of kaolin is derived from the Chinese term 'Kao-ling' meaning high ridge, the name of a hill in the city of Jingdezhen, where this material was mined centuries ago for use in ceramic production. Structurally, kaolinite consists of octahedral alumina sheets and tetrahedral silica sheets stacked alternately, and takes on a plate-like morphology as shown in Fig. 5.2.

The typical microstructure observed is shown in Fig. 5.3.

Metakaolin, which has the approximate chemical formula $Al_2O_3 \cdot 2SiO_2$ or AS_2 , is produced by heating kaolin-containing clays within the temperature range of

5 Metakaolin

Fig. 5.1 Kaolin (Rashad 2013)



Fig. 5.2 Kaolin plates and stacks (Murray 2000)

about 600–900 °C. Kaolinite crystals with hexagonal morphology tend to be preserved when heating kaolin at a temperature of 550 °C. Heating kaolin above 550 °C transforms it into MK by the loss of structural OH groups and a rearrangement in Si and Al atoms leading to a decrease in octahedral Al and the appearance of penta- and tetra-coordinated Al (Brown et al. 1985). As the temperature increases (650 and 800 °C), the kaolinite flakes become more deformed and locally condensed into disordered material, although the original layered structure of the kaolinite is at least partially retained (White et al. 2010a, b; Lee et al. 1999, 2001). Above 900–950 °C, MK begins to recrystallize to a siliceous spinel and disordered silica; at higher temperatures, crystalline mullite is generated (Brown et al. 1985). The spinel and mullite phases both have low pozzolanic



Fig. 5.3 HR-SEM micrograph of pure standard kaolin Shvarzman et al. (2003)

activity, and sintering also takes place, so the over-calcination of MK reduces its reactivity as a supplementary cementitious material.

In the pure form, disordered kaolins tend to yield metakaolin with higher pozzolanic activity (Kakali et al. 2001), and it has also been suggested that chemical treatment to introduce additional stacking faults into a high-crystallinity kaolin may provide a more highly reactive material (White et al. 2011). The calcination conditions need to be selected and optimized for each type of kaolin to provide optimal reactivity (Shvarzman et al. 2003), as the dehydroxylation of kaolinite during calcination is known to be a complex, multi-step, kinetically-controlled process (Bellotto et al. 1995; Lee et al. 1999; MacKenzie et al. 1985; White et al. 2010b). This process is also complicated by impurities in the clays, where the processing conditions may need to be altered to optimize the removal of sulfates (Badogiannis et al. 2005b) or to account for the presence of a larger volume of unreactive components such as quartz (Castillo et al. 2010), or less-reactive non-kaolin type clays (He et al. 1995; Habert et al. 2009).

According to Shvarzman et al. (2003), the dehydroxylation of kaolinite is preceded by a "pre-dehydroxylation" stage in the range 80–150 °C where the evolution of a small amount of water is observed, see Fig. 5.4a. Between 900 and 1100 °C, the exothermic formation of crystalline phases such as spinel and mullite is characterized by an exothermic peak in the DTA curve and insignificant weight loss in the TGA curve, see Fig. 5.4b. It is also noted that the commercial calcination of kaolinite, whether carried out via traditional rotary kiln processes or the increasingly-popular flash calcination process, often does not result in full dehydroxylation of the clay particles, and a non-zero loss on ignition is thus observed (San Nicolas et al. 2013, 2014).

Rashad (2013) presented a comprehensive overview of the previous works carried out on kaolin history, MK sources, production and composition. Based on the comparison of different thermal treatment, which includes calcination



Fig. 5.4 a Mass spectroscopy analysis of water released by pure kaolinite during calcination; **b** DTA and TGA curves for pure kaolinite (Shvarzman et al. 2003)

Component	% by weight
SiO ₂	51.5
Al ₂ O ₃	40.2
Fe ₂ O ₃	1.2
CaO	2.0
MgO	0.1
K ₂ O	0.5
SO ₃	0.0
TiO ₂	2.3
Na ₂ O	0.1
L.O.I.	2.0

Table 5.1 Typical chemicalcomposition of a metakaolin(Ambroise et al. 1994)

temperatures and heating periods, he concluded that the optimum temperature for heating kaolin to obtain MK may be in the range from 600 to 850 $^{\circ}$ C for 1–12 h.

The typical chemical composition of metakaolin as reported by Ambroise et al. (1994) is given in Table 5.1. Commercial sources of kaolin are rarely 100% pure kaolinite, often containing silica (quartz) impurities, as well as some substitution of Fe^{3+} for Al^{3+} in the octahedral layers. The ceramics industry generally demands higher purity (and thus 'whiteness') of the clay than is required for use as a pozzolan, but commercial exploitation of clay deposits tends to focus on those of higher purity and thus higher value, as it is currently motivated more by demand from the higher-value-added ceramics industry, with the production of cementitious components a secondary consideration for many producers.

There are also alternative sources of materials which can be used in place of pure calcined kaolinite clay. These include:

- Lower purity kaolin clays containing moderate to high amounts of quartz can be used as pozzolans (Castillo et al. 2010)
- Paper sludge—this is often a mixture of kaolin with cellulose, sometimes also containing calcite, which can be calcined to give an impure metakaolin-like material (Banfill and Frias 2007)
- 2:1 layered clays such as illite and montmorillonite can be used, but tend to show lower pozzolanic activity, and thermal processes for their amorphization are less effective than for kaolinite (Snellings et al. 2012)
- The 1:1 tubular clay halloysite is not yet widely studied in PC blends, but is known to be moderately reactive in alkali-activation (MacKenzie 2009), and so may offer scope for utilisation in place of metakaolin in the parts of the world where it is available.

5.2 List of Relevant Standards

Blends of Portland cement (PC) with up to 30% metakaolin are fairly widely tested, and are incorporated into the European standard for common cements (EN 197-1: 2011) (European Committee for Standardization (CEN) 2011) in two categories: CEM II/A-Q, 6–20% metakaolin, and CEM II/B-Q, 21–35% metakaolin. Metakaolin can also be included in Portland-composite cements (CEM II/A-M and CEM II/B-M), and in potentially higher fractions in the CEM IV and CEM V specifications in parallel with another SCM. The main limitations on the achievable degree of metakaolin inclusion in many concretes are related to the water demand of this material, related to its plate-like particle morphology, as well as its very high specific surface area, which is far higher than that of fly ash, and almost approaching that of silica fume considered as the finest SCM, see Table 5.2.

In Europe (except France) metakaolin is not among the materials whose general suitability as a Type II (at-mixer pozzolanic or latent hydraulic) addition is incorporated into EN 206: 2013 (European Committee for Standardization (CEN) 2013), and so no *k*-value has been defined in that standard for metakaolin. Since 2012 in France, the national complement of NF EN 206/CN (Association Française de Normalisation (AFNOR) 2014) allows the use of up to 15% MK for all exposure classes of concrete, with a k-value of 1. The requirements for MK are found in the French standard NF P18-513 (Association Française de Normalisation (AFNOR) 2012), entirely dedicated to the specifications of MK. The main requirement is the need of an activity index of 1 at 28 days (based on a substitution level of 15 wt%). Other requirements include chemical characteristics of the metakaolin (e.g., $Al_2O_3 + SiO_2 > 90$ wt%), and calcium hydroxide fixation (Chapelle modified test)

Table 5.2 Specific surface area of kaolin and metakaolin measured by BET (N_2 adsorption-desorption at 77 K, Monosorb, Quantachrome) method (Ambroise et al. 1994), in comparison with that of fly ash and silica fume

SCM	Specific surface area, m ² /kg
Metakaolin	12–15
Kaolin	16–18
Fly ash	2.3
Silica fume	18.0

of at least 700 mg $Ca(OH)_2/g$ of metakaolin. Moreover, two categories of fineness and water demand are defined to characterize the metakaolin.

In the North American regime, metakaolin is classified by ASTM C 618 (ASTM International 2015b) as a Class N material, acceptable as long as it does not increase the water requirement of the cement by more than 15% (among other stipulated properties), and so ASTM C 595 (ASTM International 2015a) allows its use in blended cements at replacement levels of up to 40%. The American Concrete Institute has also reported on the use and application of metakaolin in concrete via a report (ACI Committee 232 2012), including commentary on the technical rationale underpinning the ASTM standards in this area. Similarly, metakaolin is described in Canadian standard A3001-08 (Canadian Standards Association 2008a) as a Type N material, while requirements of primary properties are aligned with ASTM. A3004-E1 (Canadian Standards Association 2008b) represents a practical evaluation of alternative SCMs which do not meet current definitions of SCMs in A3001-08 (Canadian Standards Association 2008a).

Metakaolin is not included as a possible cement component in Australian Standard AS 3972-2010 (Standards Australia 2010). Indian Standard IS 456: 2000 includes metakaolin as an allowed mineral admixture, with the properties of the metakaolin itself governed by the recently-approved IS 16354 (Bureau of Indian Standards 2015). Brazilian Standard NBR 5736: 1991 (Associação Brasileira de Normas Técnicas 1999) describes pozzolanic cements with replacement levels of Portland cement by pozzolans (including metakaolin) of up to 50% as cements of class CP-IV.

5.3 Health and Safety Issues

Metakaolin appears to be exempt from the REACH legislation (EC Regulation 2006) under Annex V.7, as a mineral that has not been chemically modified (definition: Not chemically modified substance: means a substance whose chemical structure remains unchanged, even if it has undergone a chemical process or treatment, or a physical mineralogical transformation, for instance to remove *impurities*). Little information is available regarding the leaching of any potentially hazardous elements from the metakaolin itself. Cr^{6+} seems to be found only in very small quantities in commercial MK (<1 ppm) (San Nicolas 2011). It would be expected that any leaching would differ very significantly between materials from different clay deposits, and so this absence of hazard will need to be validated on a local level rather than by making general assumptions. Metakaolin is often used in blended cements to decrease the leaching of nuclear or toxic wastes. Pera and Bonnin (1996) showed that the use of 20% of metakaolin led to a reduction in the heavy metals leached into the mixing water from pastes and mortars containing solutions of chromium, lead and cadmium. Metakaolin was used by Cyr et al. (2012) in ternary and quaternary binders using cement (75 wt%), metakaolin (22.5 wt%), and industrial by-products from combustion processes containing heavy metals. Results showed that the use of metakaolin led to a significant decrease in soluble fractions and heavy metals like Cr, Cd, As, Cu or Pb.

The key concern related to most commercial metakaolins would be associated with respirable crystalline silica, which is a minor component of a high-reactivity metakaolin but is present at much more significant levels in less-pure products, and requires appropriate precautions and personal protective equipment to be employed.

5.4 Environmental Sustainability

Kaolinite clays are widely available worldwide, and have been identified as potentially providing a low-cost, high-volume source of SCMs, if some technical issues related to the physicochemical nature of the metakaolin particles can be overcome. Because metakaolin is not generally sourced as an industrial by-product, its supply is much more future-proof than most commonly used supplementary cementitious materials. Industries such as coal-fired electricity generation and ironmaking are likely to see significant structural and technological changes in coming decades—either led by the industries or imposed by regulators—which means that the supply and characteristics of the by-products derived from these processes are likely to be affected. Conversely, metakaolin is a direct manufactured mineral product, relying only on the availability of (globally widely distributed) kaolin-type clay deposits, moderate-temperature calcination, and grinding facilities.

If cement is to be partially substituted by metakaolin, the following ecological aspects play an important role: the production process itself, and the transport to the site of utilization, see Fig. 5.5.

Specifically:

 <u>Transport distance</u> from the production place of the metakaolin to the place where the concrete is produced needs to be taken into account. The transport distance is sometimes not transparent through the cost price, because the ex-factory prices are highly different. Relevant metakaolin production in Europe takes place in France, Great Britain, Germany, Czech Republic, Ukraine and Bulgaria, among others. There are also commercially known metakaolins



Fig. 5.5 Steps involved in the utilization of metakaolin

produced in the USA, Brazil, Canada, China and India. The transport history cannot be neglected and should be investigated by the supplier. Long transport distances might turn a positive eco-balance into a less favorable situation.

2. The production process itself: how much ecological impact is made during the production process of the metakaolin. The production process can be separated into the activities of mining and cleaning steps to reach a certain kaolinite quality, and as third step the transformation to metakaolin during a heat treatment at about 500-900 °C. Within the mining step several activities might be necessary such as breaking/milling and drying of the raw kaolin source. Extensive cleaning steps might be necessary if the resource contains low amounts of kaolinite and/or a very pure or white material has to be produced. These activities have consequences for the environmental impact, for instance in the energy demand and pollution of the environment due to cleaning chemicals. The dehydroxylation to obtain highly reactive metakaolin takes place either in a rotary kiln, a shaft kiln, fluidized bed furnace, flash calciner or a pulsation furnace. Due to the different efficiencies of these thermal processes and the amount and type of fuels used, the energy demand (CED-cumulative energy demand) as well as the CO₂ emissions [GWP 100—global warming potential (GWP)] might be very different between processes. Reliable and verified data about the environmental impact are difficult to obtain, but Table 5.3 summarizes some of the data which have been collated. The main differences are related to whether the kaolin is originally produced with a high purity or not, see columns 2–4 in comparison to columns 5–7. Further, the furnace and fuel type seem also to play an important role (Table 5.3).

For a plausibility check, two other processes might be considered. The GWP given in the ECOINVENT database (http://www.ecoinvent.org/) for comparable processes are:

- The whole process of producing natural anhydrite is specified with 0.085 kg CO₂ eq./kg anhydrite. This natural material is produced by surface mining and further crushing, drying and milling. No further burning process is required.
- Production of expanded clay is specified with 0.3 kg CO₂ eq./kg. For this process also the clay is obtained from a surface mine, and the material is further crushed, dried and milled. The clay powder is afterwards granulated and burned in a rotary kiln at about 900 °C. Usually gas, oil or coal is used as fuel.

With this background, the data given can be evaluated as follows:

- A GWP below 0.1–0.2 kg CO₂ eq./kg metakaolin seems to be very ambitious, and probably only feasible with renewable fuel and usage of a very efficient furnace type such as a flash calciner.
- A GWP between 0.2 and 0.7 kg CO₂ eq./kg metakaolin seems to be a conservative basis for comparison with CEM I.
- Transport distances must be considered, especially if cement from nearby manufacturers is to be substituted by metakaolin purchased far away. For quick evaluation of the breakeven point, a GWP of 0.154–0.185 kg CO₂ eq./t km may be used.

Source	Weil et al. (2010)	Weil et al. (2010)	Weil et al. (2010)	Habert et al. (2011)	ARGECO (2013)	CEM I
Product/area	EU	EU	Brazil	France	France	EU mean
GWP (kg CO ₂ eq./kg)	0.67	0.52	0.57	0.09	0.09–0.2	0.8–1
ARC ^a (kg Sb eq./kg)	5.32	4.03	4.54	0.00017	-	1.5
CED (MJ/kg)	12.41	9.52	10.3	-	2.1-2.4	3.8-4.2
Data source	Producer ^a	Different	Different	Different	Producer ^b	Ecoinvent
Mining	Producer ^c	Ecoinvent	Brazil ^d	Ecoinvent		
Cleaning	Producer ^c	Ecoinvent	No	No	No	
	Intense ^e					
Burning	Producer ^c			Producer ^f		
Furnace	Rotary kiln				Flash calciner	
Fuel	Gas/oil			Biomass	Oil	

Table 5.3 Environmental assessments of different metakaolins by comparison to CEM I cement

^aData from a producer in Europe

^bARGECO (http://www.argeco.fr/), producer of ARGICEM/F (flash calcined), calculation made by LCPC

^cAbiotic resource consumption

^dSurface mine, transported by ship to Europe for further burning

^eKaolin produced for paper industry

fAGS Mineraux/Imerys Group

5.5 Fresh Properties

5.5.1 Workability, Slump, Water Demand, Rheology, Bleeding

In terms of the influence of metakaolin on concrete rheology, the results described in the literature are very mixed (Hassan et al. 2010). In general, the workability of concrete containing metakaolin seems to be slightly poorer than plain Portland cement concrete, but less problematic (creamier and less sticky) than when silica fume is included. Processes such as flash calcination seem to produce, in addition to plate-like particles, some spherical particles similar to those obtained for fly ashes (Claverie et al. 2015). San Nicolas et al. (2013) found up to 20% of these spherical particles in MK, which improve the workability of the mixtures when compared to MK produced in rotary kiln (composed of only plate-like particles).

There is also a tendency towards higher thixotropy (Quanji 2010), which is probably related to the particle shape of the platy clay particles. For this, and other reasons, the agglomeration/dispersion state of the metakaolin powder seems to be important in determining the early-age properties of the concrete. Metakaolin addition may also reduce bleed of concrete (Andriolo and Sgaraboza 1986).

Moulin et al. (2001) evaluated the rheology of metakaolin-blended pastes using a shear vane rheometer to characterize yield stress, and found that the presence of MK significantly increased both the 5 and 90-min yield stress when compared to reference pastes. This confirmed that MK blending results in a higher water demand and leads to thixotropic behavior, which was explained to be linked to the accelerating effect of MK on PC hydration.

Wild et al. (1996) reported that workability of concrete at 0.45 water cement (w/ c) decreased with increase in replacement of cement by metakaolin. It is found that slump loss was in the range of 2–32 mm when replacement level of cement was in the range of 5–35%. Dubey and Banthia (1998) reported that on inclusion of 10% metakaolin, slump loss of 20 mm was observed as compared to control concrete. Qian and Li (2001) reported that for concrete with 1% superplasticizer addition, the slump progressively decreased with increasing metakaolin content. Comparable results showing reductions in slump or fluidity have been observed by other authors (Brooks and Johari 2001; Li and Ding 2003).

Bucher et al. (2015b) assessed the relevance of the use of metakaolin in self-compacting concretes (SCC) by using it as sole supplementary cementing material. Although the water demand of MK was higher, it was shown that this material could be used in SCC with the condition of using a suitable method of design that took into account the specific surface area of MK.

5.5.2 Chemical Admixture Interaction

Due to its sometimes-detrimental influence on rheology and its high surface area, the addition of metakaolin to concrete can lead to a higher demand for superplasticizers (San Nicolas et al. 2013). There also appears to be an increase in the demand for air-entraining agents (or a reduction in their efficiency) with metakaolin addition (Christodoulou 2000), but there is little openly available information in this regard. The balance between cement, metakaolin and gypsum is also challenging with regard to early-age behavior, and has been identified as particularly needing attention in ternary systems also containing limestone (Antoni et al. 2012).

5.5.3 Setting Times, Plastic Settlement, Plastic Shrinkage, Curing

Previous researchers have found MK incorporation to have varying effects on the setting behavior of mortars and pastes. The comparison of setting times depends significantly on whether mixes are designed to standard consistency (in which case the metakaolin-containing mixes have similar setting times to a PC control), or at constant w/cm—water to cementitious materials ratio (which yields a much shorter setting time in the metakaolin-containing mixes due to the high water demand of

metakaolin) (Justice et al. 2005). Problems in the determination of early-age properties by standard test methods have also been noted due to the dry nature of mixes at lower w/c ratios (Sabir et al. 2001). Brooks et al. (2000) examined the effect of silica fume, MK, FA, and slag on setting time of high strength concrete (HSC) via ASTM C403. For HSC containing MK, there was a progressive increase in the retarding effect up to 10% replacement, but a reduction at higher replacement levels.

Similar results were reported by Batis et al. (2005) who examined both a commercially available MK product and local Greek kaolin heat-treated in their own lab, and found all MK mixtures to have significantly longer setting times than control pastes at normal consistency. The mixture with 20% MK set slowest, requiring 205 min for initial set compared to 105 min for the control. However, while the control mix required a w/cm of 0.275 to achieve normal consistency, 20% MK mixtures required a w/cm of 0.41. Vu et al. (2001) reported that for the particular Vietnamese kaolin used, setting times of pastes at normal consistency in the lower replacement range (10–20% MK) were not significantly affected by blending. Beyond this range, the initial and final setting times increased by 15 and 10%, respectively, attributed to the lower cement and higher water contents involved.

Badogiannis et al. (2005a) reported the water demand and setting times of cements containing five metakaolins, see Table 5.4. The amorphous contents in metakaolins MK1, MK2, MK3, and MK4 (derived from poor Greek kaolins) were 36, 37, 71, and 49% respectively, but 95% in a commercial metakaolin (denoted MKC) of high purity. The authors concluded that (1) blended cements demanded significantly more water than the unmodified cement; and (2) the initial and final setting time of metakaolin cements were affected by the metakaolin content. Cements with 10% metakaolin generally exhibited similar setting times to that of PC, while for 20% metakaolin content there was a delay in setting. MK4 showed the greatest effect on the setting time, as well as the highest water demand, see Table 5.4.

Sample	Metakaolin (%	Water	Setting	time
	mass)	demand	Initial	Final
		(% mass)		_
PC	-	27.5	105	140
MK1-10	10	29.0	75	130
MK2-10	10	29.0	85	130
MK3-10	10	32.0	105	160
MK4-10	10	32.5	155	180
MKC-10	10	31.0	95	130
MK1-20	20	32.0	105	160
MK2-20	20	31.5	110	165
MK3-20	20	38.5	120	160
MK4-20	20	41.0	205	230
MKC-20	20	37.5	140	170

Table 5.4	Properties of
metakaolin	blended cements
(Badogianr	nis et al. 2005a)



Cracking due to plastic settlement has been observed to be much higher in metakaolin-containing concretes than in control PC mixes (Marikunte et al. 2004), although the widths of the cracks appeared slightly narrower in specimens containing MK than in the unmodified samples, see Fig. 5.6.

5.6 Properties at Early Age

5.6.1 Autogenous Shrinkage

Metakaolin is known to be very effective in reducing autogenous shrinkage at later age (Gleize et al. 2007). Wild et al. (1998) investigated chemical shrinkage and swelling of MK-PC pastes with 5–25% MK, at a water/binder ratio of 0.55, for up to 45 days. Chemical shrinkage was also found to reach a maximum between 10 and 15% MK and then decrease sharply for higher MK contents. At later age in metakaolin-containing concretes, autogenous shrinkage appears to be reduced compared to PC alone (Gleize et al. 2007), and drying shrinkage also tends to be lower than that of PC, see Fig. 5.7, as long as the samples are cured appropriately before testing (Güneyisi et al. 2008, 2012), but seems to be less than PC-silica fume systems.





5.6.2 Early Age Strength Development

The influence of MK on the early-age strength of concretes depends strongly on its particle size (i.e., reactive surface area), and also whether the comparison is conducted at constant w/c or at constant consistency. High fineness metakaolins can enhance early strength, less fine metakaolins sometimes have little influence on early strength and can sometimes reduce it, particularly at higher blending fractions. Sets of samples prepared at constant consistency will generally require more water in the MK-blended materials, as noted above, and this will have a negative influence on mechanical performance.

The reactivity of MK generally takes effect after a few days, so poor short-term performance can sometimes be obtained, which is a disadvantage in cases where the concrete needs to be rapidly stripped of its formwork. The use of chemical activators such as sodium sulfate is an efficient method to increase the short-term strength, but it could lead to a decreased activity at later ages (Saidat et al. 2012). Strength evolution as a function of curing duration will be considered in more detail later in the chapter.

5.6.3 Heat of Hydration, Rate of Reaction (Influence of Temperature and Curing, Maturity Functions)

Results available in the literature related to reaction rates and heat output are very mixed, largely because of the differences between the characteristics of various metakaolins as noted in the previous section. Some reports show a higher overall heat of hydration of blended cements containing metakaolin, others show similar or slightly lower, but few authors account in detail for the filler effect and corresponding acceleration of PC hydration in these discussions. The potential role of

metakaolin in chemically accelerating PC hydration has also been suggested but requires further investigation (Ambroise et al. 1994; Wild and Khatib 1997). There seems to be a tendency towards increased heat release beyond the first few days due to the pozzolanic reaction (Frías et al. 2000), but the point at which the heat evolution exceeds that of plain PC seems to depend mainly on the fineness of the metakaolin, which is both (a) variable, and (b) rarely reported accurately. So, it becomes difficult to draw overall conclusions regarding the influence of metakaolin on early-age heat evolution.

According to Zhang and Malhotra (1995), 10% replacement of PC with MK caused a 7 °C increase in the early-age temperature rise compared to PC concrete. Ambroise et al. (1994) reported temperature rises of 8, 6 and 1 °C over controls, for 10, 20 and 30% replacement, respectively, in mortars. The smaller temperature increases at higher replacement levels are likely to be due to the dilution effect of removing such a large mass of Portland cement from the system. By comparison, replacement with 10% silica fume produced a temperature rise of only 0.5 °C in the same study.

Bai and Wild (2002) looked specifically at the effects of FA and MK on heat evolved from insulated 150 mm cube mortar specimens, see Fig. 5.8. With increasing replacement levels, the temperature rise in FA systems was found to decrease, while the temperature rise in MK systems increased substantially. Ternary blends at total PC replacement levels of up to 40% appeared to have a compensatory effect on temperature rise: the temperature rise for a 10% FA-10% MK blend was the same as that of the control, see Fig. 5.8b.

Figure 5.9 shows the time to peak temperature for the binary and ternary blend mortars. Both FA and MK delay the time taken to reach peak temperature. The time delay imparted by MK, see Fig. 5.9a, is, however, greater than that imparted by FA at the same replacement level and, unlike FA, MK does not produce systematic changes in delay time with an increase in the replacement level. When both FA and MK are blended together with PC, see Fig. 5.9b, the delay time may increase substantially with an increase in the proportion of MK to FA in the blend. At 30 and



Fig. 5.8 a Peak temperature rise for metakaolin and FA blended PC mortars; **b** Peak temperature rise for PC-MK–FA blended mortars, as a function of the total replacement level and the fraction of this that is MK (Bai and Wild 2002)



Fig. 5.9 a Time to peak temperature for metakaolin and FA blended mortars; **b** Time to peak temperature for MK–FA–PC blended mortars as a function of the total replacement level and the fraction of this that is MK (Bai and Wild 2002)

40% total replacement levels, the observed impact of the MK on the delay time was less pronounced because of the much lower MK to FA ratios employed in these mixtures.

The principal reaction of metakaolin during cement hydration is between the MK (represented here as AS_2) and the CH derived from cement hydration, in the presence of water. This reaction forms additional cementitious C-A-S-H gel, together with crystalline products, which include calcium aluminate hydrates and aluminosilicate hydrates (C₂ASH₈, C₄AH₁₃ and C₃AH₆). The crystalline products depend principally on the AS₂/CH ratio and the reaction temperature.

Kostuch et al. (2000) reported that the CH content of hydrated cement paste was significantly reduced during the time of the reaction for MK replacement levels of 10 and 20%; 20% replacement of cement by MK led to consumption of all of the CH at 28 days. Oriol and Pera (1995) reported that between 30 and 40% MK was required to remove all the CH from an MK-PC paste at a water binder ratio of 0.5 when cured in lime-saturated water for 28 days. Ambroise et al. (1994) showed that during the hydration period, CH was quickly consumed, the microstructure was rich in C-S-H and strätlingite (C_2ASH_8), and the pore size distribution was refined. At up to 30% replacement, MK acted as an accelerating agent, and the CH content was considerably reduced.

Frías and Cabrera (2000) determined the degree of hydration of MK-PC pastes according to the measured CH content at a w/c ratio of 0.55 as a function of blending fraction and age, see Fig. 5.10. Calcium hydroxide contents of MK/PC samples increased with age until 3–7 days as the PC hydrated. Subsequently, the values started decreasing, at a time that depends on the MK content. In the cases of mixtures with 10 and 15% MK, an inflection point at 56 and 90 days, respectively, was observed and corresponded to the consumption of the CH by MK in the pozzolanic reaction, and beyond this point, the calcium hydroxide content progressively increased.

The pozzolanic reaction of metakaolin could be promoted by microwave heating (Oriol and Pera 1995). As heat is generated quickly inside the cementitious material, thermal acceleration of the reaction becomes more efficient, allowing both



reduction of the necessary amount of metakaolin (15%) instead of 30-40% in normal conditions) and of the w/c ratio (0.4 instead of 0.5). These results are quite interesting for the development of fiber-reinforced cement composites, in which microwave heating allows the reduction of the curing period.

5.7 Compressive Strength

Many researchers have found that compressive strength of concrete produced with metakaolin increased when compared to control mixtures, for instance Wild et al. (1996) reported that a maximum increase of 35% in 28-day strength was identified at a 20% replacement level. Higher surface area metakaolins generally yield a higher strength and the fastest rate of strength gain. Dubey and Banthia (1998) reported that upon inclusion of 10% high reactivity (high purity and fineness) metakaolin, compressive strength increased by 9% at 28 days. Qian and Li (2001) also reported that the compressive strength increases substantially with metakaolin addition; at 3 days, an increase of 51% in concrete strength was achieved at 15% MK relative to concrete without metakaolin. The 3 day strength achieved at 15% MK was higher than the 28 day strength without metakaolin, confirming that metakaolin has a pronounced influence on early strength. Li and Ding (2003) also showed that the ternary combination of MK with PC and ultra-fine slag provided higher strength gains at 28 days than were achieved in the absence of slag.

As with other SCMs, the mechanical efficiency of MK is strongly dependent on the characteristics of the cement used. A statistical analysis done on a set of 11 different PC (Cyr et al. 2014) showed a good correlation of compressive strength of MK mixes with the contents of C_3A , C_4AF and SO_3 of PC. On the other hand, the fineness of cements, and their C_3S , C_2S , and Na_2Oeq contents were not correlated.



Fig. 5.11 Relative compressive strengths of Portland cement blends with various percentages (as marked) of limestone (LS), metakaolin (MK), and a 2:1 blend of the two (MK-B); data from (Antoni et al. 2012), all values are presented as a percentage of the Portland cement control specimen at the same age

In particular, the pozzolanic reaction was postponed with low- C_3A cements compared to normal Portland cement.

The combination of metakaolin with limestone at high substitution percentages, both with (Bernal et al. 2011) and without (Antoni et al. 2012) an added alkali source, has also recently been noted to give improved binder properties related to the formation of carboaluminates, strätlingite, and other Al-rich binding phases which contribute to the strength, see Fig. 5.11, and impermeability of the material.

5.8 Tensile Strength

The tensile strength of concrete incorporating metakaolin shows similar tendencies to those observed in concretes without metakaolin; there does not appear to be strong evidence for modifying the standard calculation processes whereby tensile strength is predicted from compressive strength by power-law relationships (Lawler et al. 2007). Any metakaolin addition that improves compressive strength, as outlined in section 10, would therefore be expected to correspondingly enhance tensile strength also. For example, Qian and Li (2001) reported that the tensile and compressive strengths of concrete both increase systematically with increasing metakaolin replacement level up to 15%, as shown in Table 5.5.

Metakaolin content (% mass)					
Strength at 28 d	0	5	10	15	
Direct tensile	3.35	3.58	3.88	4.29	
Compressive	37.8	45.7	63.8	69.7	

 Table 5.5
 Tensile and compressive strengths of concrete with different replacement levels of

 Portland cement by metakaolin (Qian and Li 2001)

5.9 Flexural Strength

The comments presented earlier for tensile strength are also relevant for discussion of flexural strength; it is highly likely that the improvements in compressive strength that are achieved by addition of metakaolin will induce corresponding improvements in flexural strength. For example, Dubey and Banthia (1998) reported that on inclusion of 10% metakaolin, flexural strength increased by 9% at 28 days; the flexural toughness factor for concrete containing metakaolin was about 9% greater than for nonpozzolanic control concrete and 21% greater than for the silica fume concrete in the same study. Justice and Kurtis (2007) also reported that flexural strength measured in 4-point loading of concrete specimens was increased by 20–40% at 8% metakaolin addition.

5.10 Modulus of Elasticity

As it has been shown to increase compressive strength and to densify the microstructure, it follows that the addition of MK might also lead to increased modulus of elasticity (MOE), yielding a stiffer or more brittle concrete. From the literature, MOE generally seems to increase with increasing MK content, although the rate of increase is lower than that observed for compressive strength.

Qian and Li (2001) reported that after three days of curing, concrete containing 15% MK had an elastic modulus of 26.2 GPa, compared to 24.1 GPa for the control sample at this age. At 60 days of age, 15% MK and control concretes showed modulus values of 34.7 and 30.4 GPa, respectively. Those authors also commented on the notable increase in the brittle behaviour of the metakaolin concretes during mechanical testing. Khatib and Hibbert (2005) evaluated dynamic modulus of elasticity for w/c = 0.50 concretes containing 0, 10, or 20% MK. They found that MK increased the modulus values at all curing times, but that there was little difference observed between 10 and 20% MK replacement. Between 28 and 90 days in the metakaolin, the dynamic modulus of elasticity increased from 38 to 50 GPa, indicating significant ongoing reaction of the MK beyond 28 days. Justice and Kurtis (2007) reported that by inclusion of 8% metakaolin, an increase in elastic modulus by 5–19% compared to control concrete was observed.

5.11 Fatigue

Based on the results of static and fatigue flexural tests conducted by Kaur et al. (2014), it is revealed that the addition of MK (and also of silica fume and fly ash) enhances the mechanical behaviour of fiber-reinforced concretes, probably through densification of the paste and interfacial transition zone microstructures (as identified in other studies, e.g., (Duan et al. 2013), analysing microhardness). However, metakaolin was only tested under fatigue conditions as a component of ternary blends so it is difficult to isolate its effects from those of the other blending components (fly ash and limestone powder). There are very few data available in the literature regarding the influence of metakaolin on fatigue performance of concrete, so this is an area that would benefit from further study.

5.12 Transport Properties and Related Durability Issues

Metakaolin is well known to contribute to the technical properties of concretes with regard to pore refinement leading to lower permeability (Ambroise et al. 1994; Frías and Cabrera 2000; Poon et al. 2006; Ramezanianpour and Bahrami Jovein 2012). However, this depends to some extent on the testing method adopted for analysis of porosity and permeability, and also in some cases on the curing duration prior to testing (Courard et al. 2003; Frías and Cabrera 2000; Khatib and Clay 2004). The additional aluminate phases formed through the pozzolanic reaction of metakaolin can also aid in resistance to chloride penetration through chemical binding effects, see Fig. 5.12, specifically the conversion of AFm phases to Friedel's salt (Thomas et al. 2012), and can also reduce alkali-silica expansion (Ramlochan et al. 2000). However, the carbonation rates of concretes containing MK may be either better or worse than those of plain PC—there is a trade-off between binder chemistry (where



Free Chloride, C_f (Mol.)

lower calcium content tends to give higher carbonation rates) and permeability (which is normally reduced by metakaolin addition). The carbonation depths of mixtures of MK and PC (up to 25%) are similar to the ones of commercially blended cements containing fly ash or GGBS (e.g., CEM III/A and CEM V/A) (Bucher et al. 2015a). Combination of MK and limestone filler could be an interesting way to reduce the carbonation of MK blended cements (Bucher et al. 2015a), as the hemicarboaluminates formed in these ternary mixtures (Antoni et al. 2012) tend to be transformed into calcite when the CO_2 concentration increases (Damidot et al. 1994), meaning that these hydrates could play the role (as Portlandite) of CO_2 pump in clinker-limestone filler-MK mixtures (Bucher et al. 2015a).

The influence of MK in improving concrete durability is achieved to a significant degree in the interfacial transition zone (ITZ), which is characterized by a higher local w/c, a higher porosity, and differing mineralogical and chemical composition than the bulk paste. These properties of the ITZ can be detrimental to transport-related durability properties, in particular resistance to chloride and sulfate transport. MK has shown an effect on the chemistry and microstructure of the ITZ, and may thus play a significant role in reducing ion diffusion and improving concrete durability (Asbridge et al. 2001).

PC-MK concretes show significantly lower conductivity values than PC concrete (Zhang and Malhotra 1995), which is often taken as an indication of good resistance to chloride ingress. Courard et al. (2003) examined the chloride diffusion rates of mortars which contained 0, 10, 15, and 20% metakaolin as partial replacement of cement using a non-steady state through-diffusion test. The apparent diffusion coefficient of the mortar rose with 5% MK addition but then decreased with metakaolin content from 5 to 15%, see Table 5.6; however, the mortar with 20% MK did not show breakthrough of chlorides through a 7 mm thick specimen even after 300 days.

Khatib and Wild (1998) evaluated the effect of metakaolin on the sulfate resistance of blended cement mortars. Expansion was found to decrease systematically with an increase in MK content (from 5 to 20%), for two cements having high C_3A and intermediate C_3A levels. Mortars containing high C_3A cement and 0–10% MK showed rapid expansion and deterioration between 40 and 70 days of exposure to a 5% sodium sulfate solution, while those with 15 or 20% MK showed a small but rapid expansion during this time period, but subsequently stabilized and

 Table 5.6
 Chloride diffusion rates for mortars with CEM I 42.5, metakaolin and kaolin (Courard et al. 2003)

Material	Breakthrough time (days)	Apparent diffusion coefficient (m ² /s)
CEM I 42.5	13	1.29 × 10–12
5% metakaolin	45	4.71 × 10–12
10% metakaolin	82	3.31 × 10–12
15% metakaolin	203	1.23 × 10–12
20% metakaolin	>300 d	-

contracted slightly. For the intermediate- C_3A cement mortars, the expansion process was delayed significantly. Those containing 10% or more MK exhibited essentially no expansion, while those containing 0 or 5% did not begin expanding until 150 days and did not grow rapidly until approximately 350 days. Al-Akhras (2006) also showed an improvement in resistance to sodium sulfate attack, even at w/c ratios as high as 0.6.

However, Lee et al. (2005) found that metakaolin influences negatively the performance of mortar or paste specimens when exposed to magnesium sulfate solution. This is partially attributed to the formation of gypsum, but not ettringite and thaumasite. Another possible reason may be the decalcification of primary and secondary C-S-H gel following the formation of M-S-H gel.

In terms of alkali-silica reaction (ASR), Ramlochan et al. (2000) reported that incorporation of metakaolin as a partial cement replacement at levels between 10 and 15% may be sufficient to mitigate deleterious expansion from ASR in concrete, depending on the nature of the aggregate. The mechanism by which metakaolin may suppress expansion due to alkali-silica reaction appeared to be entrapment of alkalis by the supplementary hydrates and a consequent decrease in the pH of pore solutions.

Zhang and Malhotra (1995) evaluated the performance of air-entrained concretes incorporating metakaolin in ASTM C 666 (ASTM International 2015c) freeze-thaw tests and in ASTM C 672 (ASTM International, 2012) salt scaling tests. Concrete with 10% metakaolin showed great resistance to freeze-thaw damage, with a residual flexural strength of 89% and a durability factor of 100.3%, after 300 cycles of freezing and thawing. On the other hand, the residual flexural strength and durability factor values for the control Portland cement concrete specimens were 85 and 98.3% respectively. For the salt-scaling test, the concrete incorporating 10% metakaolin underperformed slightly when compared to the control concrete, but had similar results to the concrete with 10% SF.

Badogiannis and Tsivilis (2009) prepared nine concrete mixtures: a reference PC concrete and eight metakaolin concretes where metakaolin replaced either cement or sand in percentages 10 or 20% by weight of the control cement content. The metakaolin concrete, compared to PC concrete, exhibited significantly lower chloride permeability, gas permeability and sorptivity because of refinement of the pore structure of the metakaolin mixtures.

Batis et al. (2005) prepared eight mortar mixtures: a reference PC concrete and six metakaolin mortars where metakaolin replaced either cement or sand in percentages 10 or 20% by weight of the control cement content. They measured the corrosion resistance of prepared mortars against chloride and carbonation induced corrosion. They concluded that the use of metakaolin, either as a sand replacement up to 20% weight of the control cement content, or as a cement replacement up to 10%, improved the corrosion behavior of mortar specimens. However, higher percentages of metakaolin decreased the corrosion resistance.

San Nicolas et al. (2014) applied the concept of equivalent performance by assessing the durability of concrete using metakaolin as a Portland cement replacement. The study considered large panels of concrete types, with different

workabilities, from immediate release to self-compacting concrete, and different strengths from low to high performance concrete, for either general or structural purpose. Many technical benefits for the concrete user, such as lower permeability, higher strength and decreased chloride ion penetration were found. It seemed from that study that MK met the requirements of the equivalent performance concept.

5.13 Concluding Remarks

Metakaolin can be considered as a highly pozzolanic material and appears to have an excellent potential as a supplementary cementing material for high-performance cementitious materials. However, there are a number of characteristics of metakaolin-blended concrete, which need additional detailed analysis to aid in the deployment of this material as a large-scale supplementary cementitious material:

- Sulfate resistance depends on metakaolin content and the method of measurement (strength or expansion) (Khatib and Wild 1998)
- Shrinkage behaviour seems variable and needs further analysis
- Effect of clay source/mineralogy is complex—this is currently understood mainly on an empirical level, but theoretical developments are now moving rapidly
- Other long-term mechanical properties, e.g., creep of concrete, require additional investigation
- Molecular level details of interactions with organics are not yet well described.

The optimum level of cement replacement seems to be around 10-20%, where maximum strength is observed. Incorporation of high reactivity metakaolin as a partial cement replacement between 10 and 15% may also be sufficient to control deleterious expansion due to alkali-silica reaction in concrete, depending on the nature of the aggregate. The addition of metakaolin reduces the ingress of chloride by improving the microstructure and chloride binding behaviour.

References

- ACI Committee 232 (2012) Use of Raw or Processed Natural Pozzolans in Concrete, ACI 232. 1R-12. Farmington Hills, MI
- Al-Akhras NM (2006) Durability of metakaolin concrete to sulfate attack. Cem Concr Res 36:1727-1734
- Ambroise J, Maximilien S, Pera J (1994) Properties of metakaolin blended cements. Adv Cem Based Mater 1:161–168
- Andriolo FR, Sgaraboza BC (1986) The use of pozzolan from calcined clays in preventing excessive expansion due to the alkali-aggregate reaction in some Brazilian dams. In: Grattan-Bellew PE (ed) 7th International Conference on Concrete Alkali-Aggregate Reactions, 1986 Ottawa. Noyes, pp 66–70

- Antoni M, Rossen J, Martirena F, Scrivener K (2012) Cement substitution by a combination of metakaolin and limestone. Cem Concr Res 42:1579–1589
- Argeco Developpement (2013) http://www.argeco.fr/application_beton.argicem.php
- Asbridge A, Chadbourn G, Page C (2001) Effects of metakaolin and the interfacial transition zone on the diffusion of chloride ions through cement mortars. Cem Concr Res 31:1567–1572
- Associação Brasileira De Normas Técnicas (1999) Cimento Portland Pozolânico (NBR 5736: 1991 Versão Corrigida: 1999). Rio de Janeiro
- Association Française De Normalisation (AFNOR) (2012) Addition for concrete—Metakaolin— Specifications and conformity criteria—Métakaolin, addition pouzzolanique pour bétons (NF P18–513)
- Association Française De Normalisation (AFNOR) (2014) Béton: Spécification, performance, production et conformité–Complément national à la norme (NF EN 206/CN)
- ASTM International (2012) Standard test method for scaling resistance of concrete surfaces exposed to deicing chemicals (ASTM C672/C672 M-12). West Conshohocken, PA
- ASTM International (2015a) Standard specification for blended hydraulic cements (ASTM C595/ C595 M—15^{ε1}). West Conshohocken, PA
- ASTM International (2015b) Standard specification for coal fly ash and raw or calcined natural pozzolan for use in concrete (ASTM C618–15). West Conshohocken, PA
- ASTM International (2015c) Standard test method for resistance of concrete to rapid freezing and thawing (ASTM C666/C666 M-15). West Conshohocken, PA
- Badogiannis E, Kakali G, Dimopoulou G, Chaniotakis E, Tsivilis S (2005a) Metakaolin as a main cement constituent. Exploitation of poor Greek kaolins. Cem Concr Compos 27:197–203
- Badogiannis E, Kakali G, Tsivilis S (2005b) Metakaolin as supplementary cementitious material. Optimization of kaolin to metakaolin conversion. J Therm Anal Calorim 81:457–462
- Badogiannis E, Tsivilis S (2009) Exploitation of poor Greek kaolins: durability of metakaolin concrete. Cem Concr Compos 31:128–133
- Bai J, Wild S (2002) Investigation of the temperature change and heat evolution of mortar incorporating PFA and metakaolin. Cem Concr Compos 24:201–209
- Banfill P, Frias M (2007) Rheology and conduction calorimetry of cement modified with calcined paper sludge. Cem Concr Res 37:184–190
- Batis G, Pantazopoulou P, Tsivilis S, Badogiannis E (2005) The effect of metakaolin on the corrosion behavior of cement mortars. Cem Concr Compos 27:125–130
- Bellotto M, Gualtieri A, Artioli G, Clark SM (1995) Kinetic study of the kaolinite-mullite reaction sequence. 1. Kaolinite dehydroxylation. Phys Chem Miner 22:207–214
- Bernal SA, Skibsted J, Herfort D (2011) Hybrid binders based on alkali sulfate-activated Portland clinker and metakaolin. In: Palomo A (ed) XIII International Congress on the Chemistry of Cement, 2011 Madrid. CD-ROM proceedings
- Brooks J, Johari MM (2001) Effect of metakaolin on creep and shrinkage of concrete. Cem Concr Compos 23:495–502
- Brooks J, Johari MM, Mazloom M (2000) Effect of admixtures on the setting times of high-strength concrete. Cem Concr Compos 22:293–301
- Brown IWM, Mackenzie KJD, Meinhold RH, Bowden ME (1985) Outstanding problems in the kaolinite-mullite reaction sequence investigated by ²⁹Si and ²⁷Al solid-state nuclear magnetic resonance: II. High-temperature transformations of metakaolinite. J Am Ceram Soc 68:298– 301
- Bucher R, Cyr M, Escadeillas G (2015a) Carbonation of blended binders containing metakaolin. In: Scrivener K, Favier A (eds) Calcined clays for sustainable concrete: proceedings of the 1st international conference on calcined clays for sustainable concrete. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht
- Bucher R, Diederich P, Mouret M, Escadeillas G, Cyr M (2015b) Self-compacting concrete using flash-metakaolin: design method. Mater Struct 48:1717–1737
- Bureau of Indian Standards (2015) Metakaolin for use in cement, cement mortar and concrete specification (IS 16354). New Delhi

- Canadian Standards Association (2008a) Cementitious materials for use in concrete (A3001-08). Mississauga, ON
- Canadian Standards Association (2008b) Standard practice for the evaluation of alternative supplementary cementing materials (ASCMs) for use in concrete (A3004-E1). Mississauga, ON
- Castillo R, Fernández R, Antoni M, Scrivener K, Alujas A (2010) Activation of low grade clays at high temperatures. Revista Ingeniería de Construcción 25:329–352
- Christodoulou G (2000) A comparative study of the effects of silica fume, metakaolin and PFA on the air content of fresh concrete. SCI Lecture Papers Series. Society of Chemical Industry, London, UK
- Claverie M, Martin F, Tardy J, Cyr M, de Parseval P, Grauby O, le Roux C (2015) Structural and chemical changes in kaolinite caused by flash calcination: Formation of spherical particles. Appl Clay Sci 114:247–255
- Courard L, Darimont A, Schouterden M, Ferauche F, Willem X, Degeimbre R (2003) Durability of mortars modified with metakaolin. Cem Concr Res 33:1473–1479
- Cyr M, Idir R, Escadeillas G (2012) Use of metakaolin to stabilize sewage sludge ash and municipal solid waste incineration fly ash in cement-based materials. J Hazard Mater 243:193–203
- Cyr M, Trinh M, Husson B, Casaux-Ginestet G (2014) Effect of cement type on metakaolin efficiency. Cem Concr Res 64:63–72
- Damidot D, Stronach S, Kindness A, Atkins M, Glasser F (1994) Thermodynamic investigation of the CaO-Al₂O₃-CaCO₃-H₂O closed system at 25 °C and the influence of Na₂O. Cem Concr Res 24:563–572
- Duan P, Shui Z, Chen W, Shen C (2013) Effects of metakaolin, silica fume and slag on pore structure, interfacial transition zone and compressive strength of concrete. Constr Build Mater 44:1–6
- Dubey A, Banthia N (1998) Influence of high-reactivity metakaolin and silica fume on the flexural toughness of high-performance steel fiber reinforced concrete. ACI Mater J 95
- EC Regulation (2006) No 1907/2006—REACH of 18 December 2006 concerning the Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH) and establishing a European Chemicals Agency
- European Committee for Standardization (CEN) (2011) Cement—Part 1: composition, specifications and conformity criteria for common cements (EN 197-1: 2011). Belgium, Brussels
- European Committee For Standardization (CEN) (2013) Concrete: specification, performance, production and conformity (EN 206: 2013). Belgium, Brussels
- Frias M, Cabrera J (2000) Pore size distribution and degree of hydration of metakaolin-cement pastes. Cem Concr Res 30:561–569
- Frías M, Sánchez de Rojas MI, Cabrera J (2000) The effect that the pozzolanic reaction of metakaolin has on the heat evolution in metakaolin-cement mortars. Cem Concr Res 30:209– 216
- Gleize PJP, Cyr M, Escadeillas G (2007) Effects of metakaolin on autogenous shrinkage of cement pastes. Cem Concr Compos 29:80–87
- Güneyisi E, Gesoğlu M, Karaoğlu S, Mermerdaş K (2012) Strength, permeability and shrinkage cracking of silica fume and metakaolin concretes. Constr Build Mater 34:120–130
- Güneyisi E, Gesoğlu M, Mermerdaş K (2008) Improving strength, drying shrinkage, and pore structure of concrete using metakaolin. Mater Struct 41:937–949
- Habert G, Choupay N, Escadeillas G, Guillaume D, Montel JM (2009) Clay content of argillites: influence on cement based mortars. Appl Clay Sci 43:322–330
- Habert G, D'espinose De Lacaillerie JB, Roussel N (2011) An environmental evaluation of geopolymer based concrete production: reviewing current research trends. J Clean Prod 19:1229–1238
- Hassan AAA, Lachemi M, Hossain KMA (2010) Effect of metakaolin on the rheology of self-consolidating concrete. In: Khayat KH, Feys D (eds) Design, Production and Placement of Self-Consolidating Concrete. RILEM, Bookseries 1, Paris, France

- He C, Osbaeck B, Makovicky E (1995) Pozzolanic reactions of six principal clay minerals: activation, reactivity assessments and technological effects. Cem Concr Res 25:1691–1702
- Justice J, Kurtis K (2007) Influence of metakaolin surface area on properties of cement-based materials. J Mater Civ Eng 19:762–771
- Justice JM, Kennison LH, Mohr BJ, Beckwith SL, Mccormick LE, Wiggins B, Zhang ZZ, Kurtis KE (2005) Comparison of two metakaolins and a silica fume used as supplementary cementitious materials. In: Proceedings of the Seventh International Symposium on Utilization of High-Strength/High Performance Concrete, ACI SP-228, 2005. American Concrete Institute, Washington DC, pp 213–226
- Kakali G, Perraki T, Tsivilis S, Badogiannis E (2001) Thermal treatment of kaolin: the effect of mineralogy on the pozzolanic activity. Appl Clay Sci 20:73–80
- Kaur G, Singh SP, Kaushik SK (2014) Fatigue analysis of fibrous concrete with cement additions. Proc Inst Civil Eng Const Mater 167:79–90
- Khatib J, Hibbert J (2005) Selected engineering properties of concrete incorporating slag and metakaolin. Constr Build Mater 19:460–472
- Khatib J, Wild S (1998) Sulphate resistance of metakaolin mortar. Cem Concr Res 28:83-92
- Khatib JM, Clay RM (2004) Absorption characteristics of metakaolin concrete. Cem Concr Res 34:19–29
- Kostuch J, Walters V, Jones T (2000) High performance concretes incorporating metakaolin: a review. Concrete 2:1799–1811
- Lawler JS, Connolly JD, Krauss PD, Tracy SL, Ankenmann BE (2007) NCHRP Report 566, guidelines for concrete mixtures containing supplementary cementitious materials to enhance durability of bridge decks. Washington DC
- Lee S, Kim YJ, Lee HJ, Moon H-S (2001) Electron-beam-induced phase transformations from metakaolinite to mullite investigated by EF-TEM and HRTEM. J Am Ceram Soc 84:2096–2098
- Lee S, Kim YJ, Moon H-S (1999) Phase transformation sequence from kaolinite to mullite investigated by an energy-filtering transmission electron microscope. J Am Ceram Soc 82:2841–2848
- Lee S, Moon H, Hooton R, Kim J (2005) Effect of solution concentrations and replacement levels of metakaolin on the resistance of mortars exposed to magnesium sulfate solutions. Cem Concr Res 35:1314–1323
- Li Z, Ding Z (2003) Property improvement of Portland cement by incorporating with metakaolin and slag. Cem Concr Res 33:579–584
- Mackenzie KJD (2009) Utilisation of non-thermally activated clays in the production of geopolymers. In: Provis JL, Van Deventer JSJ (eds) Geopolymers: Structure, Processing, Properties and Industrial Applications. Woodhead, Cambridge, UK
- Mackenzie KJD, Brown IWM, Meinhold RH, Bowden ME (1985) Outstanding problems in the kaolinite-mullite reaction sequence investigated by ²⁹Si and ²⁷Al solid-state nuclear magnetic resonance: I. Metakaolinite. J Am Ceram Soc 68:293–297
- Marikunte SS, Hiranya AS, Darling N (2004) Plastic shrinkage cracking of concrete modified with silica fume and metakaolin. In: Weiss WJ, Kovler K, Marchand J, Mindess S (eds) International RILEM Symposium on Concrete Science and Engineering: A Tribute to Arnon Bentur. RILEM, Evanston, IL
- Moulin E, Blanc P, Sorrentino D (2001) Influence of key cement chemical parameters on the properties of metakaolin blended cements. Cem Concr Compos 23:463–469
- Murray HH (2000) Traditional and new applications for kaolin, smectite, and palygorskite: a general overview. Appl Clay Sci 17:207–221
- Oriol M, Pera J (1995) Pozzolanic activity of metakaolin under microwave treatment. Cem Concr Res 25:265–270
- Pera J, Bonnin E (1996) Inertization of toxic metals in metakaolin-blended cements. Am Ceram Soc, Westerville, OH (United States)
- Poon CS, Kou SC, Lam L (2006) Compressive strength, chloride diffusivity and pore structure of high performance metakaolin and silica fume concrete. Constr Build Mater 20:858–865

- Qian X, Li Z (2001) The relationships between stress and strain for high-performance concrete with metakaolin. Cem Concr Res 31:1607–1611
- Quanji Z (2010) Thixotropic behavior of cement-based materials: effect of clay and cement types. MSc MSc, Iowa State University, Ames IA
- Ramezanianpour AA, Bahrami Jovein H (2012) Influence of metakaolin as supplementary cementing material on strength and durability of concretes. Constr Build Mater 30:470–479
- Ramlochan T, Thomas M, Gruber KA (2000) The effect of metakaolin on alkali–silica reaction in concrete. Cem Concr Res 30:339–344
- Rashad AM (2013) Metakaolin as cementitious material: History, scours, production and composition-a comprehensive overview. Constr Build Mater 41:303–318
- Sabir B, Wild S, Bai J (2001) Metakaolin and calcined clays as pozzolans for concrete: a review. Cement Concr Compos 23:441–454
- Saidat F, Mouret M, Cyr M (2012) Chemical activation of metakaolin in cement-based materials. In: 10th International Conference on Superplasticizers and Other Chemical Admixtures in Concrete. Prague (Czech Republic)
- SAN Nicolas R (2011) Performance-based approach for concrete containing metakaolin obtained by flash calcination. Université de Toulouse, Toulouse, p 340
- San Nicolas R, Cyr M, Escadeillas G (2013) Characteristics and applications of flash metakaolins. Appl Clay Sci 83–84:253–262
- San Nicolas R, Cyr M, Escadeillas G (2014) Performance-based approach to durability of concrete containing flash-calcined metakaolin as cement replacement. Constr Build Mater 55:313–322
- Shvarzman A, Kovler K, Grader G, Shter G (2003) The effect of dehydroxylation/amorphization degree on pozzolanic activity of kaolinite. Cem Concr Res 33:405–416
- Siddique R, Klaus J (2009) Influence of metakaolin on the properties of mortar and concrete: a review. Appl Clay Sci 43:392–400
- Snellings R, Mertens G, Elsen J (2012) Supplementary cementitious materials. Rev Mineral Geochem 74:211–278
- Standards Australia (2010) General purpose and blended cements (AS 3972-2010). Sydney
- Thomas MDA, Hooton RD, Scott A, Zibara H (2012) The effect of supplementary cementitious materials on chloride binding in hardened cement paste. Cem Concr Res 42:1–7
- Vu D, Stroeven P, Bui V (2001) Strength and durability aspects of calcined kaolin-blended Portland cement mortar and concrete. Cem Concr Compos 23:471–478
- Weil M, Dombrowski-Daube K, Buchwald A (2010) How to assess the environmental sustainability of geopolymers? a life cycle perspective. Adv Sci Technol 69:186–191
- White CE, Provis JL, Proffen T, Riley DP, Van Deventer JSJ (2010a) Combining density functional theory (DFT) and pair distribution function (PDF) analysis to solve the structure of metastable materials: the case of metakaolin. Phys Chem Chem Phys 12:3239–3245
- White CE, Provis JL, Proffen T, Riley DP, Van Deventer JSJ (2010b). Density functional modeling of the local structure of kaolinite subjected to thermal dehydroxylation. J Phys Chem A 114:4988–4996
- White CE, Provis JL, Gordon LE, Riley DP, Proffen T, van Deventer JSJ (2011) The effect of temperature on the local structure of kaolinite intercalated with potassium acetate. Chem Mater 23:188–199
- Wild S, Khatib J, Jones A (1996) Relative strength, pozzolanic activity and cement hydration in superplasticised metakaolin concrete. Cem Concr Res 26:1537–1544
- Wild S, Khatib J, Roose L (1998) Chemical shrinkage and autogenous shrinkage of Portland cement—metakaolin pastes. Adv Cem Res 10:109–119
- Wild S, Khatib JM (1997) Portlandite consumption in metakaolin cement pastes and mortars. Cem Concr Res 27:137–146
- Zhang M, Malhotra V (1995) Characteristics of a thermally activated alumino-silicate pozzolanic material and its use in concrete. Cem Concr Res 25:1713–1725

Chapter 6 Natural Pozzolans

Christos Dedeloudis, Monika Zervaki, Kosmas Sideris, Maria Juenger, Natalia Alderete, Siham Kamali-Bernard, Yury Villagrán and Ruben Snellings

Abstract This chapter is dedicated to several kinds of natural pozzolans that occur around the globe and describes their specific characteristics, origin and use in concrete. Moreover, the advantages and disadvantages of their use in concrete mixes are highlighted in terms of concrete properties. In particular, the referenced

C. Dedeloudis (🖂) · M. Zervaki

Imerys Functional Additives, Andrea Metaxa 15, 14564 Kifissia, Greece e-mail: Christos.dedeloudis@imerys.com

M. Zervaki e-mail: Monika.Zervaki@imerys.com

K. Sideris
Laboratory of Building Materials, Democritus University of Thrace, 12 Vas. Sofias Street, 67100 Xanthi, Greece
e-mail: kksider@civil.duth.gr

M. Juenger

Department of Civil, Architectural and Environmental Engineering, University of Texas at Austin, 301 E. Dean Keeton St. C1748, Austin, TX 78712, USA e-mail: mjuenger@mail.utexas.edu

N. Alderete · Y. Villagrán Magnel Laboratory for Concrete Research, Ghent University, Tech Lane Ghent Science Park, Campus a, Technologiepark 904, 9052 Zwijnaarde, Belgium e-mail: nataliamariel.alderete@ugent.be

Y. Villagrán e-mail: yuryvillagran@conicet.gov.ar

N. Alderete · Y. Villagrán Department of Concrete Technology, LEMIT, 52 Entre 121 Y 122 S/N, 1900 La Plata, Buenos Aires, Argentina

S. Kamali-Bernard Laboratoire de Génie Civil et Génie Mécanique, INSA-Rennes, 20 Avenue Des Buttes de Coësmes, CS 70839, 35708 Rennes Cedex 7, France e-mail: siham.kamali-bernard@insa-rennes.fr

R. Snellings Sustainable Materials Management, Boeretang 200, 2400 Mol, Belgium e-mail: ruben.snellings@vito.be

© RILEM 2018 N. De Belie et al. (eds.), *Properties of Fresh and Hardened Concrete Containing Supplementary Cementitious Materials*, RILEM State-of-the-Art Reports 25, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70606-1_6 181

properties in this chapter are that of fresh and hardened concrete, its microstructure and chemical durability. The chapter is summarized by mentioning the specifications concerning natural pozzolans according to the relative standards. Overall, the benefits of using natural pozzolans in cement and concrete are evident in terms of higher later age compressive strength, increased concrete durability, lower heat of hydration, reduced bleeding and others.

Keywords Natural pozzolans · Concrete properties · Volcanic ash Pumice · Zeolite · Scoria · Tuff · Diatomite · Perlite durability Compressive strength

6.1 Introduction

Natural pozzolans were the first cementing materials used for the production of artificial stones—ancient mortars and concretes—3000 years ago. Ancient Romans used volcanic tuffs, known as pozzolans (also spelled pozzolana) in combination with lime as hydraulic binders for the construction of bridges and other masonry and brickwork. Roman engineers used two parts by weight of pozzolan mixed with one part of lime. During the 3rd century BC, the Romans used pozzolan instead of sand in concrete and mortared rubblework, giving extraordinary strength. Used with an aggregate of broken tuff, travertine, brick, or marble, the material contributed to the evolution of new architectural forms in such monumental constructions as the Pantheon and the Baths of Caracalla in Rome (Encyclopædia Britannica, n.d.).

An even older concrete came to light during the archaeological excavations in the area of the ancient Greek city of Camiros in the island of Rhodes. Citizens of Camiros constructed during the 8th century BC a water storage tank with a storage capacity of 600 m^3 of water. They used a concrete layer as a water sealing material (Fig. 6.1). This ancient concrete was investigated by Efstathiadis (1978) in the early 1970s.



Fig. 6.1 Water storage tank in the ancient city of Camiros, Rhodes, Greece. Concrete layers were used as water sealers. The water tank was put out of order during the 3rd century BC due to the construction of a Doric Portico with foundations of 1.60 m \times 200 m (Efstathiadis 2004)

Fig. 6.2 Concrete from the water storage tank of ancient city of Camiros (Efstathiadis 2004)



According to Efstathiadis (2004) this sealing material was an ancient concrete produced with limestone and silicate aggregates with maximum aggregate size of 20 mm. The binder consisted of Santorinian Earth (volcanic tuff from the eruption of Santorini's volcano in 1500 BC) and lime (Fig. 6.2) with a ratio 3:1.

Efstathiadis (2004) reported that this concrete performed at the age of the test a compressive strength of 13 MPa while its water sealing capacity was verified in the laboratory. It is particularly of interest to note that the aggregates consisted of limestone and silicate natural coarse aggregates with a grading curve similar to the Fuller's curve (Fig. 6.3).



Fig. 6.3 Grading curve (left) (Efstathiadis 1978) of aggregates used in the concrete of ancient Camiros (right) (Efstathiadis 2004)

Efstathiadis (2004) reported that similar concretes were found in other ruins of ancient infrastructure such as in a bridge at the river Ilissos in Athens and a water storage tank in the ancient city of Paleros in western Greece.

During the next centuries volcanic tuffs were used as hydraulic binder by the ancient Romans for the construction of infrastructure works and monuments. Although pioneered by the ancient Greeks, it was the Romans that eventually fully developed and widely used the potential of lime-pozzolan pastes as binder phase in Roman concrete used for buildings and underwater construction. Vitruvius speaks of four types of pozzolan: black, white, grey, and red, all of which can be found in the volcanic areas of Italy, such as Naples. Typically it was very thoroughly mixed two-to-one with lime just prior to mixing with water. The Roman port at Cosa was built of pozzolan-lime concrete that was poured underwater, apparently using a long tube to carefully lay it up without allowing sea water to mix with it. The three piers are still visible today, with the underwater portions in generally excellent condition even after more than 2100 years (McCann 1994). Jackson et al. (2013) have studied the concrete blocks created by the Romans by mixing lime with pumiceous earth and seawater as binder and packed with decimeter-sized chunks of zeolithic tuff as aggregates. The hydrated binder phase was found to be intact after 2 millenia of immersion in seawater. The extraordinary durability of this sea-water concrete was attributed to the formation of Al-tobermorite and hydrocalumite hydrates as binder.

The Byzantines used Santorinian earth to a great extent as the main constituent to produce hydraulic binders for the construction of infrastructure, palaces, churches and monasteries (Manita 1999; Manita and Triantafilloy 2011; Moropoulou and Bakolas 1998; Papayianni 1998; Binda et al. 1999; Moropoulou et al. 2002; Manita 2005). During the last centuries Santorinian earth was used as a main constituent for the production of modern concretes mainly used in marine structures all over the Aegean Sea and the Eastern Mediterranean basin (Corinthos' Canal, Suez Canal in Egypt (Ramachandran 1995), etc.). Santorinian earth was used for the production of the "Greek type Cement Ia", a blended type cement where Santorinian earth replaced Portland clinker at a standard percentage of 10%. The production of this kind of cement stopped by 1980 (cf. infra).

6.1.1 Types of Natural Pozzolans

Pozzolans are (alumino–) silicate materials that can be used as a substitute for cement in mortar mixtures. Some forms of it occur naturally and others are manmade. Pozzolans commonly used in modern Portland cement are coal combustion fly ashes and silica fume by-products from (ferro–) silicon production.

Naturally occurring pozzolan deposits are mainly of volcanic origin. They occur as tuffs, volcanic ash and pumice and are found abundantly in areas with a geological history of volcanic activity. The meaningful use of such volcanic debris can transform them into natural resources, and does not only provide a lower cost of cement and concrete but can also help to decrease CO_2 emissions related to Portland cement production by replacing clinker.

In general, a good natural pozzolan contains low quantities of unreactive minerals such as clay minerals, alkali feldspar and quartz and high quantities of reactive components such as zeolite minerals and volcanic glass. The dissolution of the silicates in the alkaline cement pore solution enables them to react readily as the cement hydrates. Chemically, natural pozzolans are comprised principally of silicon and aluminium oxides. Table 6.1 gives the chemical and physical composition of some natural pozzolans.

The materials that have been investigated or even commercially applied as natural pozzolans the recent years are classified based on their geological origin as follows:

Volcanic ash (VA) and pumice: Volcanic ash and pumice are non-consolidated materials consisting of a mixture of minerals and glassy phases ejected from vents during a volcanic eruption. Volcanic ash is the fine counterpart, pumice the coarser counterpart. Often they are found mixed or interstratified as during volcanic eruptions first the coarse material is deposited, while later the finer material settles. In areas that experienced past volcanic activity, volcanic ashes and pumices have been widely used with Portland cement and other components to make blended cements. The pozzolanic activity of this material is related to its siliceous components. Comprehensive research has been conducted over the last few years on the use of volcanic ash and pumice in cement and concrete production (Hossain 2005a, b; Hossain and Lachemi 2004; Mechti et al. 2012; Dadu et al. 2012).

Scorias are coarse, porous natural materials of volcanic origin. They resemble pumice but derive from basic—basaltic magmas, thus they contain less silica than the corresponding pumices. They contain glass and mineral phases such as feldspar and biotite. Clay minerals and zeolites occur as alteration products. The high porosity of the natural pozzolan is an advantage for easy and economical crushing (Binici et al. 2007). It has a dark brown/blackish color, porous structure and low crystal water.

Tuffs are lithified volcanic ashes and pumices. These rocks generally contain clay, zeolite and carbonate minerals as filling/binding materials. Zeolitization is the alteration of the volcanic glass to zeolite-group minerals and occurs under alkaline conditions in a range of geological environments. When tuffs rich in zeolite minerals are mixed with slaked lime and water, they form calcium silicate hydrate and calcium aluminate hydrate phases (Mertens et al. 2009). Zeolites of different origin and varying mineralogy and chemistry have been investigated regarding the influence of their addition in concrete. Even though zeolites have a crystalline nature, fine size and higher surface area of this natural sediment make them suitable as a pozzolan in cements. Recent research efforts are focused in evaluating the influence of zeolites and zeolitic tuffs addition in concrete. A review of these efforts is provided by Najimi et al. (2012).

Besides zeolites, tuffs suitable for use as natural pozzolans can also include combinations of various silicate minerals such as quartz, feldspar, mica, hornblende, pyroxene, cristobalite, clay minerals and volcanic glass (Cavdar and Yetgin

Chemical analysis (%)	Natural zeolite	ite	Pumice		Natural pozzolan	Volcanic ash	Natural pozzolan	Volcanic tuff
					(Algeria)		(Algeria)	(Argentina)
	Najimi	Karakurt and	Hossain and	Kabay	Siad et al.	Hossain and	Kaid et al.	Alderete
	et al.	Topçu (2011)	Lachemi	et al.	(2013)	Lachemi	(2009)	et al. (2016)
	(2012)		(2006)	(2015)		(2006)		
CaO	1.68	2.37	4.44	0.1	8.98	6.1	9.2	1.34
SiO_2	67.79	62.78	60.82	77.52	45.67	59.3	46.8	62.53
Al_2O_3	13.66	10.66	16.71	12.99	15.10	17.5	18.8	10.76
$\mathrm{Fe}_2\mathrm{O}_3$	1.44	4.2	7.04	1.5	10.14	7.0	10.5	1.81
MgO	1.2	1.1	1.94	0.4	3.45	2.6	3.8	1.13
K_2O	1.42	0.74	2.25	0.95	I	3.8	0.5	3.67
Na_2O	2.04	0.35	5.42	0.12	I	3.8	0.8	5.66
SO_3	0.52	Ι	0.14	0.52	0.19	0.7	0.2	0.34
Specific surface blaine (m ² /kg)	1	1	295	440	366	285	300	858 ^a
Density (kg/m ³)	2200	I	1	2320	2610	1	2670	2410
$^{\mathrm{a}}Laser$ diffractometry: dv10 (µm) 1.36, dv50 (µm) 7.05, dv90 (µm) 28.14	: y: dv10 (μm)	1.36, dv50 (µm) 7	7.05, dv90 (µm) 28	.14				

Table 6.1 Chemical composition and physical properties of some natural pozzolans

2007). Next to zeolites, the volcanic glass phase is usually the major reactive component.

The most widespread siliceous zeolites are clinoptilolite and mordenite. These zeolites are observed to form in the alteration of siliceous glasses, whereas the common more aluminous zeolites, phillipsite, chabazite, analcime and heulandite (alumina-rich polymorph of clinoptilolite) form from the alteration of more basic glasses. Heulandite-clinoptilolite is by far the most frequently (up to 60%) identified zeolite mineral in natural zeolite-rich pozzolans (Snellings et al. 2012).

Diatomite: Diatomite is a pozzolanic material of biogenic origin containing amorphous silica, opal CT (components of the siliceous skeletons of diatoms) and minor amounts of residual minerals. Diatomaceous earth consists of fossilized remains of diatoms, a type of hard-shelled algae.

Hydrothermal siliceous sinters: The supply of natural amorphous silica from hydrothermal deposits is limited. A few years ago, the only quarry evaluated to be economical was in New Zealand in the Tikitere region (Christie et al. 2000). This amorphous silica rock has been used in traditional concretes and high performance concretes. The material from this deposit can be classified as 'silica fume' according to the corresponding international standards (Microsilica NZ, n.d.). A new deposit in the Keciborlu region of Turkey has been evaluated concerning the pozzolanic properties in concrete (Davraz and Gunduz 2005).

Bentonite: Bentonite is an absorbent aluminium phyllosilicate clay consisting mostly of montmorillonite. Recent citations concern the evaluation of dried and milled Pakistani Ca-bentonite without any thermal treatment as partial replacement of cement (up to 21% by weight). Test results showed that all the mixes satisfied the requirement of strength activity indices as laid down by ASTM C618. The workability, fresh concrete density and water absorption decreased as the ordinary Portland cement substitution by bentonite increased, while later age compressive strength (56 days) increased compared to control mix. Mixes containing bentonite performed better than control mix against acid attack. The aggressiveness of sulfuric acid on concrete was more pronounced than hydrochloric acid (Shazim et al. 2012).

Perlite: Perlite is an amorphous volcanic glass that has a relatively high water content, typically formed by the hydration of obsidian. It occurs naturally and has the unusual property of greatly expanding when heated sufficiently. There is no previous investigation so far on the use of natural perlite in concrete. The use of calcined perlite in concrete has been investigated with positive effects on concrete durability (surface resistivity, rapid chloride permeability and chloride migration coefficient) (Ramezanianpour et al. 2014). There is however literature information concerning perlite incorporated in blended cements (Erdem et al. 2007; Erdogan and Saglik 2013; Cobirzan et al. 2015) demonstrating good pozzolanic reactivity but never reaching the compressive strength of the baseline (100% cement) without the addition of activators.

6.1.2 Type of Incorporation

Natural pozzolans, like all other SCMs, can be introduced upstream at the cement facility to produce "blended" or "composite" cement or downstream at the concrete manufacturer to produce concrete products. Composite cements have the advantage of stable quality and less machinery and infrastructure in concrete production. Downstream introduction results in "tailored-made" concrete products with specific properties, especially durability. However this approach results in higher delivered cost due to higher processing cost and more complex logistics.

Recent research results concern various combinations of SCMs, natural and/or manmade (Belaidi et al. 2012; Herbert and Li 2012; Shannag 2000; Ghrici et al. 2007). By systematic adjustment of the proportions, ternary blended cement (see Chap. 9) is produced (Ordinary Portland Cement–Limestone Filler–Natural Pozzolan otherwise abbreviated as OPC–LF–NP) which utilizes the desirable characteristics of one addition while compensating for the undesirable characteristics of the other. For example, the limestone filler contributes to the early strength and the natural pozzolan increases the long-term strength. On the other hand, the best combination of these mineral additions, can lead to an enhanced durability performance. Such combinations are used in special applications, like in high strength concrete where the use of natural pozzolan with silica fume is often met (NP–SF) or in self-compacting concrete (SCC) with the use of natural pozzolan and marble powder (NP–MP).

On the other hand, successful results are not always obtained (Sisman and Gezer 2011). Combination of zeolitic pozzolan with rice husk ash resulted in specimens with lower strength and increased water absorption.

6.2 Geographical Occurrence

Natural pozzolans are either reactive materials with an amorphous structure or materials that are derived from amorphous minerals. It seems then natural that their occurrence is strongly connected with recent volcanic activity (Snellings et al. 2012) (Fig. 6.4).

6.2.1 Occurrence

The following data concern the research efforts since 2000. These efforts are subdivided by the geographical occurrence of the investigated pozzolans.



Fig. 6.4 Global distribution of volcanic rocks (grey areas) and deposits of reported natural pozzolans (black dots) (Snellings et al. 2012)

6.2.1.1 Europe

Greece: The Minoan eruption of Santorini, also referred to as the Thera eruption or Santorini eruption, was a major catastrophic volcanic eruption with a Volcanic Explosivity Index (VEI) of 6 or 7 and a dense-rock equivalent (DRE) of 60 km³ (14 cu mi), (McLeish 2006), which is estimated to have occurred in the mid-second millennium BC (Hardy 1989). The eruption was one of the largest volcanic events on Earth in recorded history (Oppenheimer 2003; McCoy and Dunn 2002; Sideris 1996). The volcanic tuff produced was a well-known pozzolanic material since the antiquity and was widely used for mortar and concrete production for more than 25 centuries all over the Aegean Sea and the eastern Mediterranean basin. This so-called Santorinian earth (SE) was used till 1980 for the production of Greek type cement, a blended type cement with a 10% replacement of clinker by SE.

In 1981 the Greek government prohibited the mining and exploitation of Santorinian earth for reasons related to the protection of the island of Santorini. Nowadays the natural pozzolans used in Greece for the production of natural pozzolan blended cements are Milos's earth and Skydrian earth.

Milos's earth is a volcanic tuff originated from the nearby island of Milos. It is originated from the same eruption of Santorini's volcano, so actually consists of similar chemical composition; however it consists of lower percentages of volcanic glass and is more altered to clay minerals, therefore Milos's earth is less reactive than Santorinian Earth (Table 6.2).

Skydrian earth is a volcanic zeolite tuff located in the area of Skydra in Northern Greece. Its suitability for the production of blended cements was extensively investigated by Savva (1991).

Italy: The zeolitization of the Neapolitan yellow tuff took place soon after emplacement in a well-insulated thermal system in presence of hot aqueous

Table 6.2 Chemical composition of Greek natural pozzolans (Sideris 1996)	Oxides (%)	Santorinian earth	Milos's earth	Skydrian earth
	SiO ₂	66.2	65.9	61.7
	CaO	4.1	4.0	4.62
	Al ₂ O ₃	15.4	15.7	19.6
	Fe ₂ O	3.9	3.95	4.1
	MgO	1.3	1.4	2.6
	SO ₃	-	_	-
	Alkalis	3.83	5.65	3.9

solutions of hydromagmatic origin. The distribution and the type of zeolites in the Tufo Lionato have been analyzed by Giampaolo et al. (2006), which is the lower ignimbrite unit of the Villa Senni Eruption Unit, a large mafic ignimbrite eruption from the Colli Albani volcano, a few kilometers south of Roma (central Italy). The Tufo Lionato ignimbrite is radially distributed around the Colli Albani volcano over 1500 km² and occurs as far as 35 km from the vent.

Germany: One of the deposits of natural zeolite is found near the town of Freiburg in the small volcanic region called Kaiserstuhl. The volcanic material with the name phonolite contains 45% zeolite (=natrolite) (Hauri 2006). Another well-known natural pozzolan called "trass" is found in the Eifel region. Trass is quarried at various locations and consists of variable proportions of volcanic glass and the zeolite minerals phillipsite, chabazite and analcime as reactive phases.

Bulgaria: There are six deposits of zeolites in the Eastern Rhodopes. The deposits are associated with the first Oligocene acidic volcanism (Beli Plast, Gorna Krepost, Most, Golobradovo and Ljaskovetz) and to the second Oligocene acidic volcanism (Bilia Bair). The zeolites from the deposits Beli Plast, Gorna Krepost, Most, Golobradovo and Belia Bair are clinoptilolitic types while those from the Ljaskovetz deposit are mordenitic. The estimated reserves of clinoptilolite rocks total 722 million tones and those of mordenite total 114 thousand tones. The Beli Plast deposit is composed of thick- to moderately thick-layered rocks with a white, red or pink color (Petrov 2006).

Croatia: In spite of the fact that zeolites have been found at several locations, so far only two regions with economically interesting concentrations are known, both situated in the northern part of the country. The first one is located in the Macelj area in north-western part of Hrvatsko zagorje (NW Croatia) in which Lower Miocene (Egerian-Ottnangian) volcanoclastic rocks crop out on several localities. They have variable primary composition, and contain various alteration products of volcanic glass. The alteration products comprise zeolites (clinoptilolite as the most abundant zeolite, analcime and mordenite), clay minerals (smectite, authigenic mica), SiO₂ phases and authigenic feldspars. Performed investigations indicate that alteration products are the result of burial diagenesis. In the other deposit, located in the vicinity of village Poljanska in Požega Valley, on the southern slopes of Mt. Papuk (Slavonian Mountains, N Croatia) analcime-bearing rocks can be found.

Analcime was formed within closed hydrological system i.e. shallow saline alkaline lake which existed during early Miocene (Ottnangian) time (Tibljaš and Jelavić 2006).

6.2.1.2 Middle East

Turkey: Turkey is rich in natural pozzolans. Almost 155,000 km² of the country is covered by Tertiary- and Quaternary-age volcanic rocks, among which tuffs occupy important volumes. Although there are many geological investigations on these volcanic deposits their potential as natural pozzolans is not well established (Cavdar and Yetgin 2007).

As seen from the study of Cavdar and Yetgin (2007), it is possible to easily find rich natural pozzolan resources in Northeast of Turkey (Trabzon–Bayburt district). The rocks that were taken from this region and investigated were volcanic origin and they showed pozzolanic property. They consisted of tuffs, except one, and they mostly fulfilled the TS 25 standard requirements for both pozzolanic activity and chemical composition.

Other recent studies have been focusing on several natural pozzolans in Turkey such as scoria (Ozvana et al. 2012), diatomite (Ergün 2011), perlite (Erdem et al. 2007) and natural amorphous silica (Davraz and Gunduz 2005).

Syria—S. Arabia—Jordan: Ash-like product of volcanic activity can be found in the Middle East Syria and Saudi Arabia (Al-Chaar et al. 2011), among other regions. Research on these deposits showed that this type of pozzolan is very suitable for use in concrete in wet conditions. Tuff from Jordan (Shannag 2000), incorporated together with silica fume, resulted in high strength concrete.

Iran: The interest in natural pozzolans has been increased in Iran recently. Natural zeolites are abundantly present in Iran and it can be easily quarried and processed while usual pozzolans such as fly ash, silica fume, high-reactivity metakaolin and slag are rarely available and relatively expensive. Additionally, with the focus on increasing the durability of concrete structures especially in aggressive environments such as the Persian Gulf region, finding of an available and economical supplementary cementitious material has gained great importance in Iran. Therefore, Ahmadi and Shekarchi (2010) evaluated the effect of natural zeolite, coming from Semnan in the center of Iran, on properties of concrete using various testing methods. Natural pozzolan from Ghorve, located in the west of Iran, and the influence of their addition for the production of massive high-strength concrete was investigated by Nili and Salehi (2010). Numerous other studies have been focused on Iranian pozzolans such as clinoptilolite (Najimi et al. 2012), volcanic pumice (Ramezanianpour et al. 2012), tuffs (Jamshidi et al. 2009) and other pozzolans from Iranian mines in Rafsanjan, Sirjan and Sharbabak areas (Foroughi et al. 2012).

6.2.1.3 Americas

USA: Natural pozzolans are not as widely used as other SCMs. Commercially available pozzolans in the U.S. include calcined shale or clay and metakaolin, a popular variety of treated natural pozzolan. To date, commercial production of natural pozzolans in the U.S. has been limited to less than ten locations (Keybridge Research LLC 2010).

Mexico: Since natural pozzolans are available in Mexico, the exploitation of pozzolanic or both pozzolanic and cementitious properties of mineral admixtures, when used as a partial replacement for cement, can lead to a considerable economic benefit and durability.

Cuba: Cuba has over 500 million tons of prospective resources in several deposits. Presently, a blended cement containing 20% zeolite tuff is produced in the area while other materials located around the island containing altered, vitreous (volcanic glass) and zeolitized tuff are being studied. In addition, the country is in possession of several hundred million tons of forecast vitreous tuff which requires more thorough study to make sure it can be used as pozzolan.

Argentina: There are several regions in the country where suitable natural pozzolans are found and exploited. The most exploited natural pozzolans are located near the Andes Mountains, where significant volcanic activity is still present. Pyroclastic pozzolans are found in Mendoza, San Juan and Neuquén (Batic et al. 2003), which were deposited by airborne transport. In some places they underwent diagenetic processes and turned into tuffs that are found as extensive banks with limited thickness (1–2 m). They generally have a homogeneous appearance and very high porosities. These materials are commonly found as mixes of the original volcanic glass and alteration products. Also significant exploitation of pumice takes place in Argentina [120,000 tons/year (Harben 2006)], including application to the production of blended cement. Pozzolanic portland cement with up to 50% (admitted) or 40% (in practice) replacement ratio is broadly produced in Argentina. Zeolitic tuffs are also found in the provinces of La Rioja, Catamarca, San Luis and Salta.

Paraguay: In the east of the country there are reserves of sediments of volcanic ashes (MOPC 1993) that are exploited by the cement industry (40,000 tons/year). There are also significant reserves of kaolinitic clays mixed with diatomite on the border with Brazil.

Ecuador: In the inter-Andean region of the country at least a dozen volcanoes can be found, many of them are active. Significant deposits of volcanic ashes can be found mainly around the 4 most active volcanoes of Ecuador, which are Cotopaxi, Tungurahua, Sangay and Reventador. These natural pozzolans are currently exploited for the production of pozzolanic cements. Pozzolanic cement including up to 40% content of pozzolan is the most used cement in Ecuador (Delgado-Vallejo and Negrete-Martínez 2012), and it is produced for the five cement plants in the country.

6.2.1.4 China

In China, since the first zeolite mineral deposit on an industrial scale was discovered in Jin-yun County of Zhejiang Province in 1972, there are more than one hundred zeolite mineral deposits found in a great range of twenty one provinces. Three of the largest are: (a) Dushikou Mine at Chi-cheng County of Hebei Province, which contains middle- and high-quality clinoptilolite at a mineral content of 50–70%, and has a deposit of 400 million tons; (b) Jin-yun County Mine in Zhejiang Province, which has a deposit of over 100 million tons, and mostly comprised of clinoptilolite and some mordenite; and (c) Hai-ling County Mine in Heilongjiang Province, which has a deposit of over 100 million tons at a zeolite content of 65%, with the longest history of supplying zeolite as a blended material for cement plants, and the largest production scale (Feng and Peng 2005).

Nowadays, the industry of the largest zeolite consumption in China is cement production. Cement produced in many plants with vertical kilns possesses an inferior volume stability, due to its high content of free lime (f–CaO). Natural zeolite can be used as a blending material in most of these cement plants to solve the volume stability problem of hardened concrete. Zeolite has also been applied as a mineral admixture for concrete production during more than twenty years in China. It can prevent bleeding, segregation and delamination of fresh concrete so as to make pumping process easier, decrease permeability of hardened concrete, enhance durability especially the resistance to alkali-aggregate reaction, increase concrete strength, and minimize cracking caused by self-shrinkage in high performance concrete. As a result, in 2005 the China Concrete Association has put forward a technical recommendation to promote the application of natural zeolite in the construction industry in China. Presently, the annual consumption of natural zeolite in China is over 30 million tons (Feng and Peng 2005; Najimi et al. 2012).

6.2.1.5 Africa

Algeria: In Algeria, most of the cement is being blended with additions such as limestone and natural pozzolan. Natural pozzolan from the Beni–Saf quarry in the west of Algeria that consists mainly of Cordierite, Analcime and Axinite is being used for cement manufacturing by at least six of the twelve Algerian cement plants whereas two cement plants use limestone. These cement plants add usually about 15% of natural pozzolan and 10% of limestone filler as cement replacement by weight (Ghrici et al. 2007).

Nigeria: The pumice tuffs studied by Dadu et al. (2012) were obtained from Kajuru, Kaduna in North East Nigeria. Compressive strengths and the strength activity index of concrete containing the tuffs indicated that the materials met the ASTM C618 (2005) specifications for a natural pozzolan to be used as a mineral admixture in Portland cement concrete.

6.2.1.6 Oceania

Papua New Guinea: Extensive research has been done on a pozzolan deposit of pumice in the East New Britain province of Papua New Guinea (Hossain 2005a, b; Hossain and Lachemi 2004). Hossain (2005a, b) showed that blended concretes with 20% cement-replaced by Volcanic Ash (VA) and pumice showed better performance in terms of Cl-diffusivity and perform better in resisting reinforcing bar corrosion than does the plain concrete. All mixes containing up to 40% Volcanic Pumice (VP) or VA, satisfy the ASTM C 618 requirement of 0.8% maximum autoclave expansion. Strength activity index values for mixes with 10, 20 and 30% VA or VP content are more than 75% as required by ASTM C 618.

6.2.2 Global Consumption of Natural Pozzolans

Globally, about 75 million tons/year are utilized in the cement and concrete industry (Cement Sustainability Initiative GNR, n.d.). Recently, the most important utilization of natural zeolite in cement and concrete industry has been reported in China. As mentioned by Najimi et al. (2012) in 2012, the total quantity of zeolite consumed in this field was as much as 30 million tons per year in China. Zeolitic tuffs are also used as pozzolanic materials in some cement plants of Russia, Germany, Slovenia, Cuba, Serbia and Spain. In general the material has been applied in the production of paving stones, concrete slabs, ready mixed concrete, and high-strength concrete pipes (Najimi et al. 2012; Hossain 2005a, b; Hossain and Lachemi 2006). In addition, the use of natural zeolite as a pozzolanic material is gaining an increasing trend in Iran recently (Najimi et al. 2012).

It has been reported in 2007 that approximately 50,000 tons/year of zeolitic tuff have been used for the production of Portland pozzolan cements in Germany. At the same period Italy consumed yearly about 3 million tons and China about 5 million tons of zeolitic tuffs as a component of blended portland cements (Jana 2007).

6.3 Influence of Natural Pozzolans Addition on Concrete Properties

6.3.1 Properties of Fresh Concrete

6.3.1.1 Consistency and Water Demand

The effect of natural pozzolans on water demand for a certain slump value depends on the type of pozzolan. Some natural pozzolans may notably increase water demand, such as diatomite and zeolite which are usually characterized by a high
water absorption capacity. Others like volcanic ash and pumice have moderate impact only if they are included at high percentages.

In general, some reduction in slump by natural pozzolan addition is because the cement is partially replaced with natural pozzolan by weight and therefore, according to the lower specific gravity of natural pozzolan in comparison with that of cement, the volume of solids in the paste is higher than that of the control mixture. Then more mixing water is necessary for lubricating particles.

The increase in volume may require more mixing water but this is not necessarily a disadvantage. As indicated in Ramezanianpour et al. (2013), this increase in volume allows for a more stable mix, and better conditions for the design of fluid mixes such as self-consolidating concrete might be obtained.

Particle size, shape and internal structure are very important characteristics that define the impact of the pozzolan on water demand. In general, pozzolanic cements require higher fineness than ordinary portland cement to achieve similar strength level, due to its slower reaction rate. Therefore, the increase in water demand can initially be linked to this technological aspect that is a consequence of cement design rather than the properties of the natural pozzolan itself. However, Menéndez et al. (2003) reported no increase in water demand when natural pozzolan was finely ground separately (760 m²/kg Blaine fineness), as the extensive grinding destroyed internal pore structure of natural pozzolans it reduced their water absorption capacity. In consequence, the effect of natural pozzolans on the demand of mixing water for same consistency can vary significantly.

For zeolites, characterized by a highly porous internal structure, a main reason for the significant increase in water demand is its high surface area and water absorption capacity (Şahmaran et al. 2006; Ezziane et al. 2007; Feng et al. 1990; Adjoudj et al. 2014; Uzal and Turanli 2012; Perraki et al. 2010). In consequence, a reduction in slump with the inclusion of zeolite as replacement of cement is found in many studies (Jana 2007; Najimi et al. 2012; Adjoudj et al. 2014; Feng et al. 1990).

The inclusion of diatomite also increases water demand significantly (Stamatakis et al. 2003; Kastis et al. 2006). This is as well due to the pore structure of diatomite which allows its very high water capacity. In this sense, Yilmaz (2008) obtained much more water demand with inclusion of diatomite than volcanic tuff.

Also using volcanic tuff, Turanli et al. (2005) reported a 14% increase in water demand when increasing the pozzolan content from 35 to 55%. Çolak (2003) reported similar results for 40% replacement, but for lower replacement ratios (20 and 30%), no significant change in water demand in comparison with control cement was obtained.

Also moderate increase in water demand due to perlite inclusion in cementitious systems is found in the literature (Erdem et al. 2007; Uzal et al. 2007). This lower impact seems to be connected with a coarser particle size distribution, which might cause perlite to show also a lower superplasticizer demand than other natural pozzolans such as natural zeolite or volcanic tuff (Uzal et al. 2007).

Volcanic ash and pumice are also among the natural pozzolans with most moderate effect on water demand. Hossain and Lachemi (2006) found little

influence of volcanic ash and pumice on slump of concrete at up to 20% of cement replacement. Similarly, Hossain (2003) reported that normal consistency decreased by about 4–5% when 25% of volcanic ash or volcanic pumice was included in cement, and about 12–14% when this ratio increased to 50%. Therefore, little influence was noted for low replacing ratios whereas the effect triplicated when the replacing ratio duplicated. Here, the only effect of these natural pozzolans seems to be caused by the reduction of cementitious binder in the fresh mixture with the increasing content of natural pozzolan and the lower density of the natural pozzolans in comparison with clinker phases.

The opposite influence has also been reported by Al-Chaar et al. (2011) in their investigation on the use of volcanic ash from Syria in concrete. They report that the pozzolan addition results in slump increment, and water reduction was required in order to maintain the slump stable.

6.3.1.2 Setting

The influence of natural pozzolans on setting times is governed by the dilution effect of cement in the paste. This causes a delay in setting. However, this effect is compensated by water absorption for the particular cases of zeolite and diatomite. And whereas a balanced net effect is obtained for diatomite, for the case of zeolite the water absorption prevails resulting in a reduction of setting times.

(2003) investigated the effect of a volcanic Colak tuff with a $SiO_2 + Al_2O_3 + Fe_2O_3$ proportion (which relates to the pozzolanic activity within the material) of 80.6%. The setting times of the pastes increased with increasing content of this natural pozzolan. Here, the increase in setting time is attributed to the increase in the water to Portland cement ratio. However, amounts under 20% of the natural pozzolan had little effect on the setting times, and only for 40% of replacement significant delaying of setting times in comparison with the plain ordinary portland cement paste was obtained. However, Turanli et al. (2005) obtained dissimilar effect of volcanic tuffs on setting time. Whereas reduced setting times were obtained for 55% of replacement, increased times for 35% and similar setting times to those of the reference paste for 45% were obtained. In fact, Uzal and Turanli (2003) obtained different effects of volcanic tuffs from two different origins in Turkey, which decreased and increased setting times according to their origin. Here, the mechanism that governs the effect of pozzolan content on setting time could not be explained by the authors.

As said, the high water absorption of zeolite also plays a significant role in its effect on setting. As a lower proportion of OPC is present in the blended system, a delay in setting times could be expected. But there is also the competing effect of water absorption by the zeolite which increases stiffness of the paste as it progresses. Then, delayed setting times with the inclusion of low amounts of zeolites are reported in Perraki et al. (2010), but earlier setting times are reported by Uzal and Turanli (2012) and Şahmaran et al. (2008) when they applied high replacement ratios. Shorter setting time values recorded for mixtures with natural zeolite are

probably due to reduction in consistency of the mixtures rather than faster hydration of the blended system. However, in practical terms both events affect concrete workability similarly. As the water absorption rate reduces when zeolite particles approach to saturation, the effect of zeolite water absorption is more significant on initial setting time than on final setting time. In consequence, when used in high percentage (50% replacement) and compared with other natural pozzolans, zeolite seems to be the one that might reduce the setting times the most (Uzal et al. 2007), whereas a slight reduction of setting times is also demonstrated by volcanic tuff, and a retardation is showed by perlite. Delayed setting with 30% replacement by perlite and up to 50% by volcanic ash is also reported in Erdem et al. (2007) and Hossain and Lachemi (2010), respectively.

A balanced effect is noticed for diatomite. Stamatakis et al. (2003) found similar setting times to those of the reference paste for the diatomites they studied except for one, which was actually characterised as diatomaceous limestone instead of diatomite. In this case, the increased fineness of the interground pozzolanic cement increased setting time, and intergrinding seems to destroy the structure of the pozzolan, reducing its water absorption capacity. The same material studied in (Kastis et al. 2006) with separate grinding resulted in similar setting times for control and diatomite blended cements. Therefore, competing effects of water absorption and cement dilution will result in an increase or reduction of setting times depending on the fineness of the pozzolan.

6.3.1.3 Bleeding and Segregation

As natural pozzolans tend to have a flocculent structure when blended in cementitious mixes, more cohesive mixes with higher water retention capacity are obtained. Consequently, bleeding and segregation are considerably reduced with the use of pozzolan as a mineral admixture in concrete (Jana 2007) and thus improving the pumpability of concrete (Mehta and Monteiro 2001). In general this is due to (1) the lubricating effect of the glassy particles; (2) increased ratio of solids to liquid make the concrete less prone to segregation and increase concrete pumpability and (3) increased volume of fines as natural pozzolans are less dense than Portland cement.

6.3.1.4 Rheology and Interaction with Chemical Admixtures

The use of a superplasticizer breaks the flocculent structure in pozzolan blended mixes and in some cases the late inclusion of the admixture may cause segregation of water initially absorbed by the pozzolan.

The compatibility between pozzolanic cement and water reducers is connected to the particular characteristics of cement hydration and the dilution effect of the pozzolan in the contents of C_3A , sulfate and soluble alkali, and also its particle size distribution. On its own, several characteristics of the water reducer such as

molecular weight and its distribution, chemical composition, structure and nature of the counter ion, have main impact on the performance of the system cement-water reducer (Alonso et al. 2007; Bonen and Sarkar 1995).

The compatibility between a given cement and a superplasticizer differs polycarboxylate-based depending on whether the admixture is or polysulfonate-based. In general, cements that are more compatible with a polynaphthalene-based admixture incompatible are also more with а polycarboxylate-based admixture, and vice versa (Yamada and Hanehara 2001). In this sense, alkali sulfates play a key role in the efficiency of polycarboxylates, and the optimum sulfate content for polycarboxylates is much lower than for polynaphthalenes (Saric-Coric 2001). In this sense, Sosa et al. (2012) reported results for compatibility that do not correlate with the total alkali content in pozzolanic cements. They explain their results considering that natural pozzolan contains alkalis which are less soluble than those of clinker, and thus, pozzolanic cement can also show extended compatibility to polycarboxylate-based water reducers despite the amount of alkali provided by the pozzolan. Therefore, high alkali contents from some natural pozzolans (e.g. Hossain (2003) reported 5.83 and 7.69% for volcanic ash and volcanic pumice, respectively) might not show proportional effect on the cement-admixture compatibility depending on the solubility of these alkalis.

In connection with its effect on the previously mentioned fresh properties, a potential reduction in the ability of admixtures to reduce the mixing water content with pozzolanic cement than with ordinary portland cement is reported (Erdogdu 2000).

As an increasing proportion of natural pozzolan causes a decrease in the workability of the mixture, the demand of superplasticizer for a certain consistency level is expected to increase as well. The efficiency of the superplasticizer is also connected with the MgO content of the mineral admixture (Moncef 2000), and in this regard the addition of a natural pozzolan with a high MgO content will likely inhibit the dispersing effects of the superplasticizer and cause a loss in fluidity of the mixture. In practical terms this means an increase in the demand of water-reducer.

Results in Hallal et al. (2010) indicate that the fluidity of pastes including natural pozzolan (presumably of volcanic origin) increases with the increase of w/c ratio but does not always increase with the superplasticizer dosage. In this sense, the use of natural pozzolans may lead to an increase in the saturation dosage of superplasticizer. Even more, similar results reported in (Agullo et al. 1999), with lower fluidity for pastes including diatomite in comparison with silica fume admixed pastes, showed that the lower efficiency of water reducers with diatomites may require to be also compensated with an increase in mixing water content to maintain the fluidity level.

On its own, the higher requirement of superplasticizer to maintain the slump of concrete with higher replacement ratio of cement by natural zeolite (Şahmaran et al. 2008; Chan and Ji 1999; Feng et al. 1990; Ahmadi and Shekarchi 2010; Ramezanianpour et al. 2013) is again connected to the large amount of micropores in the zeolite framework structure and the resulting high surface area. Therefore, using higher amounts of natural zeolite leads to an increase of the viscosity of fresh

concrete, and this might mean reduced workability but also an advantage for pumpability of concrete. Similar results for these fresh properties of concrete incorporating natural zeolite are reported by other authors (Feng et al. 1990, 1988), but some reports of unaffected workability of fresh concrete by natural zeolite can also be found (Chan and Ji 1999).

The high specific surface and internal porosity of zeolites is the main reason for the increase in yield stress, plastic viscosity and apparent viscosity (Şahmaran et al. 2008; Chan and Ji 1999; Ahmadi and Shekarchi 2010; Adjoudj et al. 2014; Ramezanianpour et al. 2013), but higher interaction between fine particles can also be claimed as a cause (Şahmaran et al. 2008). In this sense, higher amounts of superplasticizer are necessary for reducing both yield stress and plastic viscosity. Furthermore, the impact of a polycarboxylic-ether type superplasticizer on the rheology of the zeolite admixed grouts in Şahmaran et al. (2008) was higher than that of a viscosity-modifying agent (Welan Gum), and the former admixture is therefore recommended for zeolite admixed grouts. It is also known from the work of Şahmaran et al. (2008) that the addition of a superplasticizer in the grout mixtures including natural zeolite allowed a compensation of the accelerating effect of the pozzolan on setting times.

In contrast, two reports including replacement ratios of up to 50% of volcanic ash (Hossain and Lachemi 2010) and up to 20% of volcanic ash (Triwulan et al. 2011) show no significant influence of this pozzolan on the superplasticizer demand for producing self-consolidating concrete. However plastic viscosity still seems to be slightly increased (longer flow times were obtained with the inclusion of volcanic ash), this is not due to water retention by the natural pozzolan as a slight tendency to increased bleeding is also reported for increasing volcanic ash content. Then, the interaction among fines seems to be the main mechanism in this case.

In connection with this, Diamantonis et al. (2010) obtained intermediate levels of improvement in the rheological properties of pastes with the use of volcanic ash. Here, increased values of plastic viscosity and shear stress were obtained with 20 and 40% replacement ratios by volcanic ash. However these results are not as good as those obtained for limestone (still the use of a pozzolan further contributing in the hardened state is an advantage), they are better than the ones obtained for fly ash. Also, after previous verification of compatibility between superplacizer and pozzolanic cement (containing volcanic ash), delayed setting was interpreted as an advantage over limestone when producing stable self-consolidating concrete with extended maintenance of slump over time with consequent reduced redosing requirement (Egüez-Alava and Aguirre-Vera 2009).

Ramezanianpour et al. (2012) studied the fresh and hardened properties of self-consolidating concrete (SCC) containing Volcanic Pumice (VP) as natural pozzolan in comparison with ordinary SCC mixture, SCC containing Silica Fume (SF) and conventionally vibrated concrete mixture. When the properties of fresh SCC such as slump-flow and V-funnel time are considered, they showed that using pumice in binary blends slightly decreased the flow diameter of the mixtures whereas on incorporation of silica fume a gradual fall was observed in the flow diameter. Generally, incorporating pumice increased the cohesion of the SCCs

specimens. In comparison with the ordinary SCC specimens and vibrated specimens, it seems Pumice as a pozzolanic material increased the later age compressive strength of SCC. However, it decreased the early age compressive strength. While silica fume increased both early and late age compressive strength by filling of voids and pozzolanic activity.

6.3.2 Heat of Hydration

The hydration of cement paste is accompanied by liberation of heat that raises the temperature of concrete. Because of the slower pozzolanic reaction, partial replacement of cement by natural pozzolans results in a release of heat over a longer period of time enabling the heat to dissipate and the overall concrete temperature to remain lower. This is of immense importance in mass concrete where cooling, following a large temperature rise, can lead to cracking.

As can be seen in Fig. 6.5, a pozzolan from Syria reduced the heat of hydration (Al-Chaar et al. 2011).

6.3.3 Shrinkage and Cracking

The effects of natural pozzolans on drying shrinkage are highly related to the effects on water demand. When incorporation of a pozzolan involves a demand for additional water in the mixture and, correspondingly a larger volume of paste and C–S–H, increased drying shrinkage occurs (Itim et al. 2011; Seraj et al. 2014).

In fact, drying shrinkage in mortars and concrete with natural pozzolans is directly proportional to water lost during drying (Seraj et al. 2014), and most



Fig. 6.5 Influence of different SCMs on the heat of hydration of concretes (Al-Chaar et al. 2011)

differences observed in drying shrinkage are related to water or paste content. Many studies have shown natural pozzolans, including Santorinian earth (Mehta 1981; ACI Committee 232 2012), pumice (Hossain et al. 2011), volcanic ash (Hossain et al. 2006), and calcined shale (Khanna and Puri 1957), to have no significant effect on drying shrinkage within the error of the test method (Seraj et al. 2014). It is possible that the impact of pozzolans on drying shrinkage may be time dependent since it has been shown that pozzolans can mostly decrease early drying shrinkage (≤ 7 days) (Itim et al. 2011).

The expansion and shrinkage mentioned above also create microcracks inside the hardened C–S–H paste and in-between the aggregate and the C–S–H paste. These microcracks significantly contribute to concrete permeability as well as to other concrete defects. The natural pozzolan-Portland cement mixture expands these shrinks so moderately that there is significantly limited microcracking inside the C–S–H paste after curing (Asare et al. 2010).

While concrete is hardening, part of the water is consumed and heat is produced. The surface of the hardening mass then begins to shrink as the temperature goes down from outside. This may result in shrinkage and cracks. In general, natural pozzolans help to moderate the expansion and shrinkage of concrete by reducing thermal cracking. They can also help to lower the water content of the fresh concrete. Therefore, the thermal shrinkage and cracks can be significantly reduced without the process of water cooling.

6.3.4 Microstructure

6.3.4.1 Porosity and Pore Size Distribution

The effect of the use of natural pozzolans on the porosity of cementitious materials is quite varied, mainly depending on the overall reactivity of the pozzolan (derived from the amount of glassy phases, specific surface area, particle size distribution, etc.). On the one hand, some pozzolans that have a high water demand (zeolites, diatomite) may affect the hardened state by increasing porosity (especially at early age) when requiring a higher w/b ratio. On the other hand, some have a strong pozzolanic effect, which decreases total porosity. Regarding pore size distribution, a shift into the smaller pore sizes is generally found due to the pozzolanic reaction.

For the case of volcanic tuff and diatomite, microstructural analysis through SEM was performed by Yilmaz (2008). The author found that the structure of pastes at 28 days with 10% diatomite and 10% volcanic tuff contained much less pores and capillary voids in comparison with the paste containing 20% of diatomite. This might be due to the higher water demand of diatomite in comparison with volcanic tuff, but also due to the fact that the pore structure of the ternary blended paste consisted of more complex shapes (increased tortuosity). In consequence, a much denser structure was seen after 365 days for the ternary blend than for the diatomite blend. Also for the case of diatomite, Janotka et al. (2014) studied the

porosity of pastes with natural clayey diatomite (5, 10 and 15% replacement of cement) and found that the total porosity at 365 days was slightly increased with diatomite content in comparison with the control paste.

Clinoptilolite-rich zeolite tuffs from two different origins were studied by Uzal and Turanli (2012). They applied mercury intrusion porosimetry to pastes with 55% replacement after 28 and 91 days of curing and found that the intruded porosities of control pastes were higher than the respective blended pastes for all cases. However, according to the origin of the zeolite, porosity changes over time were different. One of the zeolites noticeably reduced the total intruded porosity of the blended paste at 91 days, while the other did not show any improvement. This difference was due to the different pozzolanic activity that both zeolites had, as indicated by the lower amount of free CH present in the paste with higher porosity reduction.

Regarding volcanic pumice and ash, Hossain and Lachemi (2006) studied the effect of 20% cement replacement on the porosity of pastes. Results at 56 days show a lower porosity than that of the control paste, both for the volcanic ash and volcanic pumice mixes. Also porosity reduction was found by Senhadji et al. (2014) when using natural pozzolans with a strong acidic character. Results of mortars at 365 days made with 20% of replacement indicate a 47% porosity reduction with respect to the value of OPC mortar. Accordingly, compressive strength at early ages of mortars with natural pozzolans were lower than control, however, at 365 days results were similar.

The porosity of mixtures produced with natural pozzolans at different ages is plotted in Figs. 6.6 and 6.7 (Sideris 1996). Milos's earth and Skydrian earth replaced ordinary Portland cement (OPC) at different levels up to 40%. All cement pastes were produced with a water/binder mass ratio of 0.50. Porosity measurements were taken up to the age of 730 days (two years). The porosity of cement pastes at the age of 5475 days (15 years) was calculated using the cement hydration equation model (Sideris and Sideris 1997, 2003). Water permeable porosity (pores



Fig. 6.6 Total $(1.102.940\text{\AA} < \text{D} < 75\text{\AA})$ and water permeable $(1.102.940\text{\AA} < \text{D} < 1000\text{\AA})$ porosity of cement pastes produced with Milos's earth (M.E.) (Sideris 1996)



Fig. 6.7 Total (1.102.940 Å < D < 75 Å) and water permeable (1.102.940 Å < D < 1000 Å) porosity of cement pastes produced with Skydrian earth (S.E.) (Sideris 1996)

with diameter between 1000 and 1.102.940 Å) is indicated with grey colour while water impermeable porosity (pores with diameter between 75 and 1000 Å) is indicated with blue colour. Total porosity measured (pores with diameter between 75 and 1.102.940 Å) is the sum of grey and blue colour. Total porosity of cement pastes produced with natural pozzolans was increased at all ages as the replacement level also increased. However the water permeable porosity was about the same as the one measured on OPC pastes at ages greater than 90 days for replacement levels of 10%.

Regarding pore size distribution, the main result of the use of pozzolans in cementitious materials is the pore refinement. Particularly, there is an increase in small pores (<50 nm) at later ages as a result of densification due to secondary C-S-H or C-A-S-H. In this sense, Senhadji et al. (2014) found that the volume of the pore size distribution between 2.5 and 125 nm was more noticeable for mortar with 20% of natural pozzolans than for mortar with silica fume or OPC mortars. Moreover, the mean pore size at 365 days was drastically reduced from 60 to 16 nm on mortar samples when incorporating only 20% natural pozzolan. Likewise, mean pore reduction at 365 days was found by Janotka et al. (2014) on pastes with 5, 10 and 15% of clayey diatomite in comparison to control pastes. For the cases of zeolites, Uzal and Turanli (2012) found that at 91 days zeolite blended cement pastes (with 55% of replacement) contained lower volumes of pores with size >50 nm than OPC paste, this was indicated as the reason for better impermeability performance of blended cements containing high volume of natural zeolite. Pores size distribution of mortars blended with volcanic ash from Papua New Guinea was studied in Hossain and Lachemi (2004). The authors found a larger amount of pores >20 nm in the control mortar than in the ones with 20 and 40% of volcanic ash, as well as a larger amount of pores <20 nm in the mortars with volcanic ash. This indicates that the incorporation of volcanic ash leads to appreciable pore refinement. Furthermore, later Hossain and Lachemi (2006) performed differential scanning calorimetry on reference mortar samples and samples with volcanic ash and volcanic pumice. They correlated this with a lower content of CH in the samples with volcanic ash or volcanic pumice than in the control mix. And then related the consumption of CH due to pozzolanic action with pore refinement due to the resultant C–S–H.

Changes in microstructure due to pozzolanic activity not only affects total porosity and pore size distribution but also have an impact on tortuosity and pore connectivity. Several authors (Stroeven 2000; Wong et al. 2006; Promentilla et al. 2009; Provis et al. 2012; Liu 2012) have studied those features and their effect on transport properties. The complex microstructure due to the pore refinement effect is directly translated in the performance regarding transport properties, given that the pore size distribution and connectivity and not the total pore volume are the main responsible features that govern those properties. Therefore, pozzolanic action from natural pozzolans is generally reported to have a higher impact on transport properties than on total porosity.

6.3.4.2 Transport Properties

Usually, the durability properties of concrete are improved by the partial replacement of Portland cement with natural pozzolans. Particularly, values for transport properties like gas permeability and diffusivity are generally lower in cementitious materials with pozzolans. This is mainly attributed to the pore refinement action mentioned in Sect. 3.4.1. In this sense, Ahmadi and Shekarchi (2010) found that concrete made with 5, 10, 15, and 20% of clinoptilolite type natural zeolite from Iran had lower water absorption than the control concrete. However, only concretes made with 5 and 10% of natural pozzolan showed reduced oxygen permeability in comparison with the control, at 28 days. The authors suggested that the reason for this increase in oxygen permeability with the highest natural zeolite replacements (15 and 20%) is that a partial amount of the zeolite is still unreacted in hardened concrete paste. Still, this should have had a similar impact on the water absorption tests. It should also be mentioned that samples were dried at 105 °C during 7 days before measuring oxygen permeability, which very likely had a strong impact on the microstructure of the mixes. Furthermore, electrical resistivity of the concrete mixtures with natural zeolite was registered at different time intervals until 90 days and it was always higher than the one recorded for control concretes. Since the samples were cured under water during the whole period, the authors attributed this enhancing effect to the finer pore size distribution and decreasing ionic strength. Najimi et al. (2012) also studied concrete mixes with the same natural zeolite from Iran, with 15 and 30% replacement of cement. Here, water penetration depth at 28 and 90 days was lower for higher replacement levels. On the other hand, water absorption of the concrete mixtures containing natural zeolite was higher than that of the control concrete. This was attributed to the fact that natural zeolite has a considerably higher water absorption than the paste at concrete surface.

Positive effects of natural pozzolans on the transport properties of self-compacting concrete (SCC) have also been reported. Siad et al. (2014) showed

that the incorporation of natural pozzolan reduces sorptivity, water porosity, chloride diffusion, and gas permeability. The SCCs with natural pozzolan and with fly ash exhibit quite equivalent coefficients, significantly lower than those obtained with the control SCC containing limestone filler. Likewise, Samimi et al. (2016) also found an improved durability performance of SCC with natural pozzolans.

6.3.5 Properties of Hardened Concrete

6.3.5.1 Compressive Strength

The pozzolanic reaction between natural pozzolans and calcium hydroxide usually occurs after the C_3S in the cement has started hydrating and portlandite is formed as a result.

Usually pozzolanic effects of strength improvement are more pronounced at late ages (i.e., beyond 28 days) than at early age. It was reported by several researchers that the most obvious disadvantage of the natural pozzolan used as substitutes for Portland cement is that early strength is normally decreased (Ozvana et al. 2012; Itim et al. 2011). The strength of the pozzolanic cement is directly affected by the mineralogical features (amorphous/crystalline components) and physical properties (micro-meso porosity, particle size, surface areas) of the pozzolanic material.

In general, at the early stage of curing (up to 7 days), 30% natural pozzolan substituting Portland cement mixture is slightly lower than reference OPC (Ordinary Portland Cement) in regard to compressive strength. As time goes by, natural pozzolan continues to react with the calcium hydroxide produced by cement hydration and increases the compressive strength by producing additional C–S–H. After 21 curing days, the 30% natural pozzolan/70% Portland cement mixture begins to exceed the reference OPC in compressive strength. After 28 days, it exceeds the reference OPC by about 15%. The pozzolanic reaction continues until there is no free calcium hydroxide available in the mass and the compressive strength exceeds the reference OPC by 30-40% (Asare et al. 2010).

There are however references on natural pozzolans (Ozvana et al. 2012), where the addition resulted in improvement of the mechanical strength at early age. Compressive strength of scoria (added up to 30%) concrete mixtures showed higher compressive strengths up to 112% from the first tested curing ages (3 days). Some pozzolans start to chemically react very shortly after contacting with water. The hydration of C_3S was accelerated by the addition of pozzolan caused by the filler effect (Ozvana et al. 2012).

It has been found (Shannag 2000) that certain natural pozzolan-silica fume combinations can improve the strength of mortars more than natural pozzolan or silica fume alone. Considerably, a higher 28-day compressive strength of about 110 MPa was achieved by adding 15% silica fume and 15% natural pozzolan by weight of cement, compared to just 15% silica fume (87 MPa) or just 15% natural pozzolan (69 MPa). The increase in strength can be attributed to the improved

aggregate-matrix bond resulting from the formation of a less porous transition zone in the silica fume concrete.

An important factor that affects the mechanical properties is the particle size distribution of the pozzolan, as many researchers have shown up to now (Mechti et al. 2012). Apart from the impact on the pozzolanic activity, the finer the grain size is more closed the pores are, resulting in denser structures. This results in increased mechanical strength (Mechti et al. 2012).

Imerys micrasil (Imerys Minerals Arabia L.L.C. 2015), a natural pozzolanic material consisting of highly active volcanic glass, has proven a superior behaviour by the combination of highly reactive natural pozzolanic properties and finer grain size. When compared to silica fume, one of the most effective industrial pozzolans used in concrete today, in terms of compressive strength, it showed improved results in basic commercial concrete mixes while in parallel it demonstrated an improvement in workability and chloride permeability (Fig. 6.8).

In particular, compressive strength results of several natural pozzolans mentioned in previous sections are summarized below:

Ergün (2011) investigated the mechanical properties of concrete specimens containing diatomite and waste marble powder (WMP) as partial replacement of cement. Test results indicated that the concrete specimens containing 10% diatomite, 5% WMP and 5% WMP + 10% diatomite replacement by weight for cement had the best compressive and flexural strength. The replacement of cement with diatomite and WMP separately and together using a superplasticizing admixture could be utilized to improve the mechanical properties of the conventional concrete mixtures.

Sideris et al. (1997) used Skydrian earth (SE) at replacement levels of 10 and 30% for the production of concrete mixtures with limestone or silicate aggregates. They concluded that only the 10% SE mixtures developed 28 days strength



Fig. 6.8 Compressive strength (MPa) of C35 concrete mixes with w/b = 0.39 containing micrasil or silica fume (Imerys Minerals Arabia L.L.C. 2015)





comparable with the one measured in the reference mixture. However at the ages of 365 days and beyond all SE mixtures gained significant strength values (Fig. 6.9).

Sideris (1996) used both Milos's earth and Skydrian earth at replacement levels up to 40% for the production of cement mortars (Figs. 6.10 and 6.11). All mixtures were produced according to EN 196-1 with a w/cm = 0.50. Both natural pozzolans were grinded up to a fineness of 5000 Blaine. The retaining in the 45 μ m sieve was 18.75% and 4.8% for Milos's earth and Skydrian earth respectively.



Fig. 6.10 Influence of Milos's earth (M.E.) on the development of compressive strength of cement mortars. Compressive strength values were measured till the age of 90 days (Sideris and Sideris 1997)



Fig. 6.11 Influence of Skydrian earth (S.E.) on the development of compressive strength of cement mortars. Compressive strength values were measured till the age of 90 days (Sideris and Sideris 1997)

Mortars produced with 10% Skydrian earth had similar compressive strength with the reference OPC mortars at the age of 28 days. At later ages mixtures produced with 20 and 30% M.E and 10 and 20% S.E gained higher strength values than the reference mortar. The better strength development of Skydrian earth mortars at young ages was attributed to the increased fineness of the pozzolan as measured with the retaining in the 45 μ m sieve.

Erdem et al. (2007) studied two different Turkish perlites by intergrinding them with clinker for the production of blended cements in 20 and 30% substitution rates. The blended cements showed slightly lower compressive strengths but significantly lower energy consumption and CO_2 emissions. Another study (Erdogan and Saglik 2013) focused on perlite-cement blends up to 75% substitution and on the use of inorganic activators for managing the strength decrease. Cobirzan et al. (2015) studied by optical methods cement-perlite blends with 25% cement substitution which also demonstrated compressive strength lower than the baseline (100% cement).

A study of untreated Ca-bentonite of Pakistani origin with up to 21% cement substitution demonstrated compressive strength results at 3 days of testing lower than the control mix while at 56 days of testing, the bentonite mixes showed higher strength than the control mix (Shazim et al. 2012).

The effects of diatomite as additive on the properties of concrete have also been studied intensively in recent years (Stamatakis et al. 2003). Some authors (Degirmenci and Yilmaz 2009; Aydin and Gul 2007) have shown that the use of diatomite in place of cement for production of cement mortar and concrete did not improve the mechanical properties. Other authors (Paiva et al. 2016) showed an increase at compressive strength of the mortar with addition of 10% diatomite rocks in cement.

Davraz and Gunduz (2005) studied the behavior of natural amorphous silica from Turkey as an admixture in concrete. The amorphous silica was added as 5, 10 and 15% admixture and blended with cement as a partial replacement at 5, 10 and 15% levels, respectively. The strength of all concrete mixtures is higher than control mixture, with 10% addition giving the best results.

Pozzolan obtained from natural deposits in North-West Algeria (Bouhamidi Source situated at about 100 km from Oran) resulted in concrete strength increment when replacing cement. This research (Senhadji et al. 2012) showed that the concrete incorporating 20% pozzolan had higher compressive, splitting and flexural strengths than the control concrete at all ages after 7 days up to 365 days. The concrete at 90 days and over. While concrete mixed with 40 and 50% cement replacement by pozzolan gives lower compressive strengths at all ages up to 365 days.

6.3.5.2 Lithification

Once the natural pozzolan-cement mixture is hydrated, the pozzolanic reaction begins immediately and continues for many years. Eventually, the mass will reach complete lithification. The compressive strength as well as the flexural strength will continue to increase for a long time, as it is shown in Fig. 6.12 (Moulia and



Khelafib 2008). This unique characteristic is one of the main reasons many great ancient structures have lasted for over two thousand years.

6.3.5.3 Abrasion Resistance

Natural pozzolan increases the long term compressive strength of concrete and makes the concrete matrix stronger and denser. It also prevents the formation of pulpy, crispy, or water-soluble materials created by chemical attack. Therefore, it helps the concrete to durably resist abrasion.

6.3.6 Chemical Durability

6.3.6.1 Carbonation

Carbonation of cement/concrete is a multi-factor phenomenon, which despite being abundantly researched, is not yet entirely explained.

According to several literature papers (Bier 1987; Papadakis et al. 1992; Ho and Lewis 1983) concrete with pozzolans are usually less resistant to carbonation. This lower resistance is usually explained by the lower portlandite content in these concretes. In the previous years, Bier (1987) has shown that the depth of carbonation increased as the portlandite content in the cementitious material decreased. However, the portlandite amount is not the only parameter that controls the carbonation mechanisms, permeability and diffusivity are also important parameters to be considered. In concrete with pozzolans, these two parameters have usually low values compared to concrete without pozzolans. Consequently, contradictory results can be found in the literature. Adding natural pozzolans to Portland cement can actually enhance its resistance against carbonation (Ramasamy and Tikalsky 2012).

Kaid et al. (2009) have studied the resistance to carbonation of concrete with and without Algerian natural pozzolans using an accelerated carbonation test. They show that the kinetics of carbonation of the two concretes tested after 60 days of aging are almost equivalent. Bilim (2011) has studied the carbonation of mortars prepared by replacing the Portland cement with 0, 5, 10, 15, 20 and 30% clinop-tilolite by weight. He shows that the carbonation depth of mortars containing clinoptilolite was higher than that of the control mortar at early ages. However, this negative effect disappeared at longer term. He concludes on the fact that the resistance to carbonation of the mortar made with clinoptilolite increased with increasing the clinoptilolite replacement level, the best results are obtained with mortar containing 30% clinoptilolite.

Sideris et al. (2006) produced 15 different cement mortars using natural pozzolans—Milos Earth (ME) and Skydrian Earth (SkE)—and high calcium lignite fly ashes—HCFA—from two different geographic locations in Greece—Megalopolis

Mix.	Composition	Carbonation depth (mm)		
no.		6 months	12 months	24 months
1	Portland cement (ASTM Type I)	1.0	3.0	4.5
2	II—B-M 32.5 N (commerc. Blended cem.)	2.0	4.0	5.5
3	10% ME	1.5	3.0	5.0
4	20% ME	2.2	4.0	6.5
5	30% ME	2.6	5.5	8.5
6	10% SkE	1.5	4.0	4.7
7	20% SkE	1.7	4.0	6.6
8	30% SkE	3.5	7.5	9.0
9	10% MFA	1.6	3.5	5.5
10	20% MFA	2.0	4.0	6.2
11	30% MFA	3.0	5.0	8.3
12	30% PtFA	2.5	4.0	6.2
13	40% PtFA	2.7	5.0	9.0
14	50% PtFA	4.0	6.0	9.5
15	60% PtFA	4.8	8.0	13.5

Table 6.3 Carbonation depth of plain and blended cements

Data taken from Sideris et al. (2006)

Fly Ash (MFA) and Ptolemaida Fly Ash (PtFA)—in replacement levels up to 60%. Different w/cm ratios were used in each case in order to keep the mixture's fluidity constant. All specimens were water cured for 28 days. After this age they were exposed to indoor conditions. Carbonation measurements were taken for a time period up to 24 months. The researchers reported that carbonation depth of all mixtures produced with natural pozzolans was the greatest among all mixtures tested (Table 6.3). This finding was also reported by Papadakis et al. (1992) who reported that the lowest Ca(OH)₂ concentrations were measured on mixtures produced with natural pozzolans.

Sideris and Savva (2001) produced five different concrete mixtures using two natural pozzolans and two lignite fly ashes. All SCMs replaced Portland cement at a constant level of 20%. Concretes were produced with a w/cm ratio of 0.65 and the content of cementitious materials was 350 kg/m^3 . Concrete specimens were fog cured for 28 days. After this age specimens were exposed in two different environments: specimens of the first series were exposed to a coastal environment, 150 m away from the beach and left unprotected to the rain. Specimens of the second series were exposed in indoor conditions. Carbonation measurements were performed at different ages up to 4 years (Fig. 6.13).

Carbonation depth of blended cement mixtures was in both curing environments greater than the one of normal Portland cement mixture. Among all blended cement mixtures tested, specimens produced with natural pozzolans performed the greatest carbonation depth, mainly due to the lower Ca(OH)₂ of these mixtures.



6.3.6.2 Resistance to Chloride Attack

Effects of pozzolanic reactions of natural pozzolans are far more significant in improving concrete durability than in affecting compressive strength. Concrete deterioration caused by the penetration of chloride occurs quickly when chloride ions react with calcium hydroxide. The expansion of hydrated calcium oxy-chloride enlarges the microcracks and increases the permeability that causes quicker chloride penetration and more damage from freezing and thawing action.

One of the most commonly reported effects of natural pozzolans on cementitious materials is the reduction of the chloride ingress. On the one hand, there is the dual action of pore refinement and OH⁻ reduction due to the pozzolanic activity. As the consumption of CH increases, the content of OH⁻ decreases and the chloride penetration is slowed down. Moreover, the chloride binding capacity is enhanced in pozzolans with high alumina contents. Several authors have consistently found reductions in the chloride permeability of cementitious materials made with different levels of replacement of volcanic ash (Hossain and Lachemi 2004); natural zeolite (Valipour et al. 2013) volcanic ash (Siad et al. 2014) and clinoptilolite type pozzolans from different origins: USA (Jana 2007), and Iran (Ahmadi and Shekarchi 2010; Najimi et al. 2012).

ASTM C1202 (2017) specifies concrete as highly permeable if the charge that passes through it is more than 4000 Coulombs. According to a recent review on the influence of VA addition in concrete, a significant decrease in porosity and consequently in the measured charge was observed with pozzolanic VA addition as

compared with the control OPC concrete. This influence is even more evident when the corresponding specimens are subjected to elevated temperatures at 600 and 800 °C (Siddique 2012).

The 30% natural pozzolan added into cement can react with almost all the free calcium hydroxide and form a less permeable paste. Thus, the penetration of chloride can be minimized and the few penetrated chloride ions cannot find free calcium hydroxide with which to react even at early age. This early age effect, however, is more pronounced in non-air-entrained mixtures than in air-entrained ones, as it is shown in Fig. 6.14 (Jana 2007).



Fig. 6.14 Rapid chloride permeability of various zeolite in non-air-entrained **a** and air-entrained **b** concrete mixtures (Jana 2007)



Fig. 6.15 Non-steady-state migration coefficient of chloride ion in different SCC containing metakaolin and zeolite pozzolans

Samimi et al. (2016) have studied the durability properties of SCCs containing metakaolin and zeolite. They found that at the early ages of 3 and 7 days, due to the low pozzolanic activity of the zeolite pozzolan, no improvement in the trend of reducing the chloride migration coefficient occurred. However, at longer ages of 14 and 28 days, natural zeolite at the two different percentages (10 and 15% of OPC replacement) reduced significantly the chloride migration coefficient compared to the control mix (Fig. 6.15).

In addition to the above, a significant decrease of rapid chloride permeability has been noticed with the gradual replacement of cement by the natural pozzolan micrasil (Imerys Minerals Arabia L.L.C. 2015) in standard concrete mixes (Fig. 6.16). Particularly the measured permeability from the ASTM C1202 was reduced by 88% with a 20% cement replacement by micrasil at the age of 28 days, while by just replacing 5% of cement the achieved reduction was 76%.

6.3.6.3 Resistance to Sulfate Attack

There are three chemical reactions involved in sulfate attack on concrete:

- Combination of free calcium hydroxide and sulfate to form gypsum (CaSO₄ \cdot 2H₂O).
- Combination of gypsum and calcium aluminate hydrate (C–A–H) to form ettringite ($Ca_3Al_2O_6 \cdot 3CaSO_4 \cdot 32H_2O$).
- Combination of gypsum and calcium carbonate with C–S–H to form thaumasite (CaSiO₃ · CaCO₃ · CaSO₄ · 15H₂O).



Fig. 6.16 Rapid chloride permeability testing results of concrete mixes with partial replacement of cement by micrasil (Imerys Minerals Arabia L.L.C. 2015)

These volumetric changes cause expansion and internal stresses, which ultimately weaken and destroy the paste bonds, deteriorating the concrete. Thaumasite formation in particular is accompanied by a very severe damaging effect which is able to transform hardened concrete into a pulpy mass.

SCMs induce three phenomena that improve sulfate resistance by:

- consuming the free lime and making it unavailable to react with sulfate;
- reducing permeability by refining the pore size distribution prevents sulfate penetration into the concrete; and
- replacing the cement and reducing the amount of reactive aluminates available.

Karakurt and Topçu (2011) investigated the influence of blended cements produced with different types of pozzolans on sulfate resistance of concrete. Natural zeolite (Z) (clinoptilolite tuff), fly ash (FA), and ground granulated blast furnace slag (GBFS) were used. As observed from the test results, Z-, FA-, and GBFS-blended cements (ZBC, FBC and SBC respectively) protect the composite material against sulfate attack. Ettringite formation in the blended cement specimens is reduced compared to the reference ordinary Portland cement (Fig. 6.17). Under the applied test conditions ettringite formation was found to be the main cause of sulfate deterioration.

Hossain and Lachemi (2006) compared the performance of volcanic ash (VA) and finely ground volcanic pumice (VP) based ASTM Type I and Type V (low C_3A) blended cement concrete mixtures. 20% VA or VP were used in blended cement for preparing concrete mixtures with two (0.35 and 0.45) water-to-binder



Fig. 6.17 Microstructure of test specimens. a CEM I 42.5; b ZBC-30; c FBC-30; d SBC-30 (Karakurt and Topçu 2011)

ratios. Concrete mixtures were immersed in magnesium–sodium sulfate solution for a period up to 48 months. They concluded that type I/V VA/VP based blended cement concrete specimens showed higher and faster rate of deterioration than those of Type I/V plain cement concrete specimens. The higher deterioration in Type I and Type V VA/VP based blended cement concretes in sulfate environment compared to Type I and Type V plain Portland cement concretes can be attributed to the presence of Mg²⁺ cations associated with MgSO₄. The consumption of portlandite (Ca(OH)₂) by the pozzolanic reaction in VA and VP blended cements causes Mg²⁺ cations to react directly with the calcium silicate hydrate (C–S–H) gel converting it to cohesionless, porous, reticulated magnesium silicate hydrate (M–S–H) gel.

Sideris et al. (2006) investigated the sulfate resistance of 15 different cement mortars prepared using natural pozzolans and two high calcium lignite fly ashes— MFA and PFA—in replacement levels up to 60%. Different w/cm ratios were used in each case in order to keep the mixture's fluidity constant. The SO₃ content of the pozzolanic material was taken into consideration and the added gypsum was properly adjusted in order to keep the total SO₃ content of the binder (clinker + pozzolan) equal to 3.5%. This was not achieved for the mixtures with a high PFA content. The high SO₃ of PFA increased the total available amount of SO₃ of the mix (clinker + gypsum), although no gypsum was added. The sulfate resistance of binders was evaluated using expansion measurements of mortar prisms immersed in a 5% Na₂SO₄ solution, according to ASTM C1012, up to the age of two years.

They concluded that the sulfate resistance of blended cements was better than the one of CEM I 42.5 N. All natural pozzolans blended mixtures performed better than the reference I 42.5 N mixture regarding the deterioration age and the final expansion of the specimens. They also observed that sulfate resistance of the mixtures increased as the replacement of cement by the natural pozzolan also increased (Table 6.4). This phenomenon was attributed to the so called 'dilution effect'' (decrease of the C₃A content of the binder and consumption of Ca(OH)₂ when pozzolans replace a portion of Portland cement) (Tikalsky and Carrasquillo 1992).

Mixture	Compressive strength loss (%)	Flexural strength loss (%)	One year expansion (%)	Final expansion (%)	Deterioration age (months)	First crack (months)
CEM I 42.5 N	30	67.5	1.10	1.10	6–8	6
CEM II32.5 N	15.4	-3.5*	0.026	0.035	Not deteriorated	16
10% ME	26.3	79.7	0.458	0.79	16-20	8
20% ME	31.6	84.6	0.040	0.546	22–24	12
30% ME	0.4	44.3	0.044	0.048	Not deteriorated	20
10% SkE	13	69.3	0.650	0.650	6–8	No cracks
20% SkE	17	41.7	0.042	0.220	20-22	8
30% SkE	21	-216*	0.036	0.824	22–24	12
10% MFA	(-)	(-)	0.544	0.544	3-4	No cracks
20% MFA	(-)	(-)	0.428	0.428	3-4	2
30% MFA	30	(-)	0.408	0.408	4-6	No cracks
30% PFA	19	17	0.033	0.049	12–16	No cracks
40% PFA	15.3	14.7	0.033	0.055	16-20	16
50% PFA	-0.8*	-153*	0.016	0.022	Not deteriorated	No cracks
60% PFA	-8*	-179*	0.012	0.016	Not deteriorated	No cracks

Table 6.4 Compressive and flexural strength loss (%), final expansion (%), deterioration age and first crack observed age (months) for all mixtures

Data taken from (Sideris et al. 2006). Sulfate resistance test according to ASTM C1012

-: Totally deteriorated, not measured

*: Strength increased

These results are in a good agreement with those of Siad et al. (2015) on SCC with natural pozzolan. In this study, after 4 years of exposure in magnesium sulfate solution, SCCs with natural pozzolan as well as SCCs with fly ash samples have shown severely deteriorated surfaces, while less deterioration was observed on ordinary concrete mixture. However, the same mixtures (with natural pozzolan and fly ash) have shown a better resistance to sodium sulfate solution. The authors concluded on the beneficial effect of the incorporation of natural pozzolan on the resistance of the SCC if sodium sulfate is the medium (Siad et al. 2013).

Jamshidi et al. (2009) investigated the physical/mechanical properties of concretes made by blended cement containing tuff as natural pozzolan. The microstructure of mortars under sulfate attack is studied using SEM analysis and reaction products are characterized using EDS analysis. The results suggest that, contrary to other studies results, mortars containing this pozzolanic tuff show more expansion and unsatisfactory performance in sulfate solution.

6.3.6.4 Alkali-Silica Reaction (ASR)

Because natural pozzolans usually have a high surface area, it can react quickly with calcium hydroxide and can trap the alkali inside the cement paste by formation of alkali-enriched C–S–H phases. Thus, it helps to form a denser paste and concrete less prone to alkali aggregate reaction.

Expansion due to alkali-aggregate reaction can be a serious problem in concrete. This undesirable expansion causes micro cracks between the aggregate and hardened cement paste. The ASTM C 618 requires that, for effectiveness against the alkali-silica reaction, the expansion (the ratio between the length change of the test mix and that of the control mix) at day 14 should have a maximum value of 100%.

A general review on the influence of the supplementary cementing materials (Thomas 2011) shows that they are effective means for controlling expansion due to alkali-silica reaction and most, if not all, SCMs can be used in this role provided they are used at a high enough level of replacement. The level of SCM required generally increases with the following parameters:

- The alkali available from the Portland cement increases (if significant alkalis are available from the aggregates—e.g. feldspars and greywackes—or from external sources, this will likely also increase the level of SCM required)
- The alkali from the SCM increases
- The CaO/SiO₂ of the SCM increases
- The reactivity of the aggregate increases

SCMs control ASR mainly by reducing the amount of alkalis available for reaction with the aggregate and the ability of SCMs to bind alkalis appears to be strongly related to the CaO/SiO₂ ratio of the SCM. SCMs that are low in alkali and calcium, and high in silica tend to be the most effective in reducing pore solution alkalinity and these materials can be used at relatively low replacement rates to eliminate

damaging expansion. SCMs with increased amounts of alkali and calcium have to be used at higher replacement levels. There is evidence that the alumina may play an important role in determining the alkali-binding capacity of SCMs, and can also inhibit the dissolution of silicates.

A number of research studies have confirmed that natural zeolite effectively prevents the deleterious expansion of concrete due to alkali silica reaction (Ahmadi and Shekarchi 2010). The mechanism by which natural zeolite inhibits alkali silica reaction is by decreasing the alkaline ions (Na^+, K^+) concentration in the pore solution through pozzolanic reaction of natural zeolite.

Experiments show that only substituting 25% PozZ natural pozzolan (a commercial grade of pumice) for OPC can reduce alkali-silica expansion by up to 70%. There are three reasons for this high ASR reduction:

- (A) The alkalies in PozZ are fixed in the glass phase and do not contribute to the ASR.
- (B) During cement hydration, PozZ reacts with the freed calcium hydroxide and maintains the pH level in the paste.
- (C) By binding the alkalies inside the paste in the hydration products the concrete is rendered less prone to alkali aggregate reaction (Ramasamy and Tikalsky 2012).

Research on the ASR mechanism showed that the finer the admixture is the better for the mitigation. Admixtures with low CaO content act as ASR inhibitors, whereas those with more than 10% CaO content act as ASR promoters (Ichikawa 2009). Foroughi et al. (2012) determined that 5% of the total alkalis in the natural pozzolan from Iranian mines of volcanic origin contributed to the expansions of concrete specimens. Furthermore, they concluded that it is inappropriate to use a singular value to estimate the contribution of the alkalis of the pozzolan to the rate of ASR. It is dependent upon the aggregate nature and levels of replacements. Specifications for using pozzolan as an ASR mitigation alternative should take into consideration that highly reactive aggregates require higher amounts of pozzolan in the mixture. As the calcium content of the pozzolan increases, the amounts of the pozzolan used in the concrete should also be increased (Foroughi et al. 2012).

Karakurt and Topçu (2011) investigated the influence of blended cements produced with different types of pozzolans on alkali-silica reaction (ASR) of concrete. For this reason, natural zeolite (clinoptilolite), fly ash (FA), and ground granulated blast furnace slag (GBFS) were used in different types of blended cement production (Karakurt and Topçu 2011). The ASR performance of blended cements is better than ordinary Portland cement. Zeolite (Z-series), FA (F-series), and GBFS (S-series) reduce the ASR gel formation in the microstructure of the composite. As it is shown in Fig. 6.18, GBFS showed best performance against ASR tests, despite the fact that is it usually richer in CaO than zeolite and fly ash.



Fig. 6.18 The ASR length change of mortar bar specimens (Karakurt and Topçu 2011)

6.3.7 Protection of Steel Reinforcement from Corrosion

Investigation results (Hossain 2005a, b; Fajardo et al. 2009) show that the addition of natural pozzolans to concrete mixes appears to improve the long-term corrosion resistance of concrete. Their role is related to both the initiation and the progression of corrosion. They are added as fine particles and upon hydration of cement, they increase the tortuosity of the cement paste. This is accompanied by a decrease of pore size and a smaller effective diffusivity for either chloride or other species. This improves the long-term corrosion resistance of concrete structures. The pozzolanic reaction with calcium hydroxide produces a less permeable concrete and thus mitigates the ingress of chloride ions. This takes place at a slower rate.

The use of natural pozzolan from Puebla State of Mexico as a partial 10–20% substitution of Portland cements (Normal Portland Cement NPC and Commercial grade Portland Cement—CPC) had a beneficial effect on the corrosion behavior of steel as seen in Fig. 6.19 (Fajardo et al. 2009). It resulted into a significantly higher mortar resistivity. A 20% replacement of cement by pozzolan led to a significant increase of the induction time and reduces the corrosion rate by one order of magnitude, improved protection for the reinforcement steel as compared to normal and composite Portland cement as it can also be visually seen in Fig. 6.20. Therefore, the use of natural pozzolans influences both the initiation and propagation time of the progress in steel corrosion. The addition of finely ground natural pozzolan and its subsequent reaction with cement hydrates provides an effective pore filling effect.

The preceding discussions make it very clear that concrete made from 20% natural pozzolan/80% Portland cement mixture can better protect steel reinforcement because of a much lower permeability of the concrete.



Fig. 6.19 Evolution of the corrosion potential, Ecorr, of specimens versus time—20% pozzolan substituting cement leads to lower corrosion probability through time (until 100 days) (Fajardo et al. 2009)







HS OPC (VA-0): Control

HSVAC (VA-20)



6.3.8 Performance at Elevated Temperatures

Although concrete is generally believed to be an excellent fireproofing material, many recent studies have shown extensive damage or even catastrophic failure at high temperatures. Investigation (at macro- and micro-levels) on the strength and durability characteristics of high strength volcanic ash concrete (HSVAC) subjected to elevated temperature showed that HSVACs were found to be able to retain their strength and durability properties better at elevated temperatures. The surface cracks started to appear at around 300 °C and continued to grow till the final rise in temperature up to 800 °C. The crack widths reported in Fig. 6.21 show typical crack patterns observed in different concretes at 800 °C (Hossain 2006).

6.4 Specifications

The specifications that govern the natural pozzolans, raw or calcined are ASTM C 618 "Standard specification for coal fly ash and raw or calcined natural pozzolan for use as a mineral admixture in concrete" (Table 6.5) based on the following classification (only specifications considering natural pozzolans are mentioned): Class N: Raw or calcined natural pozzolans such as some diatomaceous earths, opaline chert and shale, stuffs, volcanic ashes and pumice are included in this category. Calcined kaolin clay and laterite shale also fall in this category of pozzolans.

The minimum amount of $SiO_2 + Al_2O_3 + Fe_2O_3$ for Class N pozzolan is 70%. There are also chemical requirements for maximum sulfate, maximum moisture content, and maximum loss on ignition. There is an optional available alkali limit. Mandatory physical requirements include maximum percentage of material retained when wet sieved on a 45 µm (No. 325) sieve, 7- and 28-day minimum percentage

Test/property	Requirement
$SiO_2 + Al_2O_3 + Fe_2O_3, \%$	\geq 70
SO ₃ , %	\leq 4.0
Moisture content, %	≤ 3.0
Loss on ignition, %	\leq 5.0
Amt. retained when wet-sieved on 45 μm (No. 325) sieve, $\%$	≤ 34
Strength activity index, 7-day, % of control	≥75
Strength activity index, 28-day, % of control	≥75
Water requirement, % of control	≤115
Soundness: autoclave expansion or contraction, %	≤ 0.8
Density, variation from average, %	≤ 5
Percent retained on 45-µm (No. 325) sieve, variation (percantage points from average)	≤5
Available alkalis, %	≤1.5

Table 6.5 Standard specifications of class N pozzolans according to ASTM C618

of control strength (strength activity index), maximum water requirement as a percentage of control, maximum autoclave expansion or contraction (soundness), and uniformity. There are some optional physical requirements, including a maximum increase in drying shrinkage, maximum difference of air entraining agent (AEA) required from a control, effectiveness in controlling ASR, and effectiveness in contributing to sulfate resistance.

Recently the standard ASTM C1697—10 "Standard Specification for Blended Supplementary Cementitious Materials" has been finalized. This specification covers blended supplementary cementitious materials that result from the blending or intergrinding of two or three ASTM compliant supplementary cementitious materials for use in concrete or mortar where hydraulic or pozzolanic action, or both, is desired. The supplementary cementitious materials include slag cement conforming to Specification C989, natural pozzolans and coal fly ash conforming to Specification C618 and silica fume conforming to Specification C1240.

6.5 Conclusions

Natural pozzolans have been used in construction since ancient times in pozzolan-lime concrete providing durable structures that survived over 2000 years. There are many minerals that demonstrate pozzolanic properties such as volcanic ashes and pumices, scorias, tuffs, diatomite, perlite and other. They can be found in several parts of the world with volcanic activity such as Turkey, Greece, Iran, China, Algeria, Middle East, South America and others.

Their use is now extended to modern cement and concrete as supplementary cementitious materials due to the many advantages they offer apart from the obvious environmental benefit of supplementing clinker or cement which require a lot of energy and emit high quantities of CO_2 during their production.

They are responsible for higher compressive strength in later ages of cement hydration which continues to increase for a long period of time, they provide self-healing properties to the concrete and overall significantly improved durability which is the main reason for their use. In particular they demonstrate lower chloride migration and improved sulfate resistance while in most cases their addition leads to mitigation of ASR. Moreover, they reduce bleeding and segregation considerably, lower the heat of hydration which is beneficial in large concrete structures and eliminate micro-cracking. However, their use can lead to reduced workability (especially with zeolites and diatomites) and higher water and superplasticizer demands, and more evident shrinkage.

It is important to acknowledge that each different natural pozzolan has different effects on cement and concrete properties and can be used in different ratios in a concrete mix. In addition, several studies have reported the beneficial effect of using natural pozzolans in combination with several industrial pozzolans (i.e. silica fume, fly ash and slag). Comparative effects of different natural pozzolans to several important properties of concrete are given in Table 6.6.

Overall the benefits of using pozzolans in concrete are well established in most parts of the world leading to extensive research and application in construction worldwide.

Type of pozzolan	Water demand	Early compressive strength	Late compressive strength	Chloride resistance	Sulfate resistance
Zeolite	1	Ļ	1	1	1
Tuff	\rightarrow	Ļ	1		↑↓
Volcanic Ash/ Volcanic Pumice	↑↓	Ļ	←	Î	↑↓
Diatomite	1	1	1		
Perlite	\rightarrow	Ļ	←		
Scoria		1	1		
Bentonite		Ļ	1		
Siliceous sinters	\uparrow		1		

Table 6.6 Natural pozzolans effect on concrete properties

↑: increase

↓: decrease

←: slight decrease

 \rightarrow : slight increase

 $\uparrow\downarrow$: both effects have been reported

References

- ACI Committee 232 (2012) Report on the use of raw or processed natural Pozzolans. American Concrete Institute, Farmington Hills, Michigan, USA
- Adjoudj M, Ezziane K, Kadri E-H, Ngo T-T (2014) Evaluation of rheological parameters of mortar containing various amounts of mineral addition with polycarboxylate superplasticizer. Constr Build Mater 70(15):549–559
- Agullo L, Toralles-Carbonari B, Gettu R, Aguado A (1999) Fluidity of cement pastes with mineral admixtures and superplasticizer—a study based on the Marsh cone test. Mater Struct 32:479–485
- Ahmadi B, Shekarchi M (2010) Use of natural zeolite as a supplementary cementitious material. Cement Concr Compos 32:134–141
- Al-Chaar GK, Yaksic DA, Kallemeyn LA (2011) The use of natural pozzolan in concrete as an additive or substitute for cement. ERDC/CERL TR-11-46
- Alderete MN, Villagrán-Zaccardi AY, Coelho Dos Santos SG, De Belie N (2016) Particle size distribution and specific surface area of SCMs compared through different experimental techniques. In: Jensen OM, Kovler K, De Belie N (eds) Proceedings of the International RILEM conference: Materials, Systems and Structures in Civil Engineering, Segment on Concrete with Supplementary Cementitious Materials. Lyngby: PRO113, 21–24 August 2016, ISBN 978-2-35158178-0, e-ISBN 978-2-35158, pp 61–72
- Alonso M, Palacios MFP, Torre AGdl (2007). Effect of polycarboxylate admixture structure on cement paste rheology. Materiales de Construcción. 286:65–81
- Asare Osei S, Odoom A (2010) Comparing the compressive strength of concrete utilizing natural pozzolana as a partial replacement of ordinary portland cement in concrete production. Cape Coast Polytechnic School of Engineering, s.l.
- ASTM C618-05 (2005) Standard specification for coal fly ash and raw or calcined natural pozzolan for use in concrete, ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA. http://www.astm.org
- ASTM C1202-17 (2017) Standard test method for electrical indication of concrete's ability to resist chloride ion penetration. West Conshohocken, PA. http://www.astm.org
- Aydin A, Gul R (2007) Influence of volcanic originated natural materials as additive on the setting time and some mechanical properties of concrete. Constr Building Mater 21:1277–1281
- Batic O, Fernández J, Brown S (2003) Study of natural pozzolans from the Comahue area for being used in concrete (in Spanish: Estudio de las puzolanas naturales de la zona del Comahue para utilizar en el hormigón). UNCo, Neuquén, Arg.
- Belaidi A, Azzouz L, Kadri E, Kenai S (2012) Effect of natural pozzolana and marble powder on the properties of self-compacting concrete. Constr Building Mater. 31:251–257
- Bier TA (1987) Influence of type of cement and curing on carbonation progress and pore structure of hydrated cement paste. s.l., s.n. 85:123–34
- Bilim C (2011) Properties of cement mortars containing clinoptilolite as a supplementary cementitious material. Constr Building Mater. 25:3175–3180
- Binda L, Baronio G, Tedeschi C (1999) Experimental study on the mechanical role of thick mortar joints in reproduced Byzantine masonry. In: Bartos P, Groot C, Hughes JJ (eds) Paisley, p 227– 247
- Binici H et al (2007) The effect of particle size distribution on the properties of blended cements incorporating GGBFS and natural pozzolan (NP). Powder Technol. 177:140–147
- Bonen D, Sarkar S (1995) The superplasticizer adsorption capacity of cement pastes, pore solution composition, and parameters affecting flow loss. Cem Concr Res 25:1423–1434
- Cavdar A, Yetgin S (2007) Availability of tuffs from northeast of Turkey as natural pozzolans on cement, some chemical and mechanical relationships. Constr Building Mater. 21:2066–2071
- Cement Sustainability Initiative GNR (n.d.) http://www.wbcsdcement.org/index.php/key-issues/ climate-protection/gnr-database [Online]
- Chan S, Ji X (1999) Comparative study of initial surface absorption and chloride diffusion of high performance zeolite, silica fume and PFA concretes. Cement Concr Compos 21(4):293–300

- Christie T, Douch C, Winfield BTB (2000) Industrial Minerals in New Zealand. New Zealand Min 27:14–25
- Cobirzan N, Balog A-A, Mosonyi E (2015) Investigation of the natural pozzolans for usage in cement industry. Procedia Technol. 19:506–511
- Çolak A (2003) Characteristics of pastes from a Portland cement containing different amounts of natural pozzolan. Cem Concr Res 33(4):585–593
- Dadu DW, Stanley AM, Gora KSN, Ehoche PE (2012) Evaluation of the pozzolanic activity of kajuru pumic tuff as sustainable cementitious materials for cement blending. Abuja, Nigeria, s. n., pp 441–449
- Davraz M, Gunduz L (2005) Engineering properties of amorphous silica as a new natural pozzolan for use in concrete. Cement Concr Res. 35:1251–1261
- Degirmenci N, Yilmaz A (2009) Use of diatomite as partial replacement for Portland cement in cement mortars. Constr Building Mater 23:284–288
- Delgado-Vallejo A, Negrete-Martínez C (2012) Evaluation of the use of clay and pozzolans during final milling stage for the production of pozzolanic cement type IP (in Spanish), Cuenca. Ecuador, s.n.
- Diamantonis N et al (2010) Investigations about the influence of fine additives on the viscosity of cement paste for self-compacting concrete. Constr Build Mater 24:1518–1522
- Efstathiadis E (1978) Ancient Greek concrete aged 3000 years, Technical Report. Institute for Research of Public Works, Greek Ministry of Public Works and Infrastructure, Greece
- Efstathiadis E (2004) Ancient Greek technology of building materials and its use in infrastructure, Technical Chronicles May – June 2004, vol 3, Bulletin of the Greek Technical Chamber -Department of Scientific Editions, Athens, Greece
- Egüez-Alava H, Aguirre-Vera C (2009) Study of performance of concrete made with pozzolanic cement and policarboxylate-based admixture in combination with air-entraining agent and setting rettarders (in Spanish), Guayaquil. Ecuador, s.n.
- Encyclopædia Britannica (n.d.) Encyclopaedia Britannica [Online] Available at http://www. britannica.com/technology/pozzolana
- Erdem T, Meral C, Tokyay M, Erdogan T (2007) Use of perlite as a pozzolanic addition in producing blended cements. Cement Concr Compos. 29:13–21
- Erdogan ST, Saglik AU (2013) Early-age activation of cement pastes and mortars containing ground perlite as a pozzolan. Cement Concr Comp. 38:29–39
- Erdogdu S (2000) Compatibility of superplasticizers with cements different in composition. Cem Concr Res 30:767–773
- Ergün A (2011) Effects of the usage of diatomite and waste marble powder as partial replacement of cement on the mechanical properties of concrete. Constr Building Mater. 25:806–812
- Ezziane K et al (2007) Compressive strength of mortar containing natural pozzolan under various curing temperature. Cement Concr Compos 29(8):587–593
- Fajardo G, Valdez P, Pacheco J (2009) Corrosion of steel rebar embedded in natural pozzolan based mortars exposed to chlorides. Constr Building Mater. 23:768–774
- Feng N-Q, Peng G-F (2005) Applications of natural zeolite to construction and building materials in China. Constr Build Mater 19(8):579–584
- Feng N, Yang H, Zu L (1988) The strength effect of mineral admixture on cement concrete. Cem Concr Res 18(3):464–472
- Feng N, Li G, Zang X (1990) High-strength and flowing concrete with a zeolitic mineral admixture. ASTM Cement Concr Aggregates 12(2):61–69
- Foroughi M, Tabatabaei R, Shamsadeini M (2012) Effect of natural pozzolans on the alkali-silica reaction of aggregates in real concrete specimens. J Basic Appl Sci Res 2(5):5248–5254
- Ghrici M, Kenai S, Said-Mansour M (2007) Mechanical properties and durability of mortar and concrete containing natural pozzolana and limestone blended cements. Cement Concr Compos. 29:542–549
- Giampaolo C, Lo Mastro S, De Rita D, Giordano G (2006) Lateral and vertical zeolite grade variations in the Tufo Lionato ignimbrite unit (Colli Albani, Roma, central Italy). Socorro,

New Mexico, USA, Zeolite '06-7th International Conference on the Occurence, Properties and Utilization of Natural Zeolites

- Hallal A et al (2010) Combined effect of mineral admixtures with superplasticizers on the fluidity of the blended cement paste. Constr Build Mater 24(8):1418–1423
- Harben P (2006) World distribution of industrial mineral deposits. In: Elzea Kogel J, Trivedi NC, Barker JM, Krukowski ST (ed) Industrial minerals & rocks: commodities, markets and uses. Society for Mining, Metallugy, and Exploration, Inc., Littleton, USA, p 15–55
- Hardy D (1989) Therea and the Aegean World III, Volume III-Chronology. s.l., s.n
- Hauri F (2006) Natural zeolite from southern Germany: applications in concrete. New Mexico USA, s.n., pp 130–131
- Herbert EN, Li VC (2012) Self-healing of engineered cementitious composites in the natural environment. In: s.l.: HPFRCC 6, RILEM, p 155–162
- Ho D, Lewis R (1983) Carbonation of concrete incorporating fly ash or a chemical admixture. Montebello, Canada Am Concr Inst Spec Pub, pp 333–346
- Hossain K (2003) Blended cement using volcanic ash and pumice. Cement Concr Res 33:1601– 1605
- Hossain KAM (2005a) Chloride induced corrosion of reinforcement in volcanic ash and pumice based blended concrete. Cement Concr Compos 27:381–390
- Hossain KMA (2005b) Volcanic ash and pumice as cement additives: pozzolanic, alkali-silica reaction and autoclave expansion characteristics. Cement Concr Res. 35:1141–1144
- Hossain KMA (2006) High strength blended cement concrete incorporating volcanic ash: performance at high temperatures. Cement Concr Comp. 28:535–545
- Hossain K, Lachemi M (2004) Corrosion resistance and chloride diffusivity of volcanic ash blended cement mortar. Cement Concr Res. 34:695–702
- Hossain K, Lachemi M (2006) Performance of volcanic ash and pumice based blended cement concrete in mixed sulfate environment. Cement Concr Res. 36:1123–1133
- Hossain K, Lachemi M (2010) Fresh, mechanical, and durability characteristics of self-consolidating concrete incorporating volcanic ash. J Mater Civ Eng 22(7):651–657
- Hossain K, Ahmed S, Lachemi M (2006) Development of volcanic ash concrete: strength, durability and microstructure investigations. ACI Mater J 103:11–17
- Hossain K, Ahmed S, Lachemi M (2011) Lightweight concrete incorporating pumice based blended cement and aggregate: mechanical and durability characteristics. Constr Build Mater 25:1186–1195
- Ichikawa T (2009) Alkali–silica reaction, pessimum effects and pozzolanic effect. Cement Concr Res. 39:716–726
- Imerys Minerals Arabia L.L.C. (2015) www.imerys.com. [Online] Available at: https:// onlineexhibitormanual.com/Big5Saudi16/PDF/Brochure_exhiReg394142_Micrasil%20leaflet. pdf
- Itim A, Ezziane K, El-HadjKadri (2011) Compressive strength and shrinkage of mortar containing various amounts of mineral additions. Constr Building Mater. 25:3603–3609
- Jackson MD et al (2013) Unlocking the secrets of Al-tobermorite in Roman seawater concrete. Am Miner 98:1669–1687
- Jamshidi M, Najimi M, Pourkhorshidi A (2009) Investigation on expansion of mortars containing tuff natural pozzolan due to sulfate attack. Asian J Civil Eng (Building and Housing). 10 (6):667–679
- Jana D (2007) A new look to an old pozzolan: clinoptilolite–A promising pozzolan in concrete. s. n., Canada
- Janotka I, Krajči L, Uhlík P, Bačuvčík M (2014) Natural and calcined clayey diatomite as cement replacement materials: microstructure and pore structure study. Int J Res Eng Technol. 03 (Special Issue)
- Kabay N, Tufekci MM, Kizilkanat A, Oktay D (2015) Properties of concrete with pumice powder and fly ash as cement replacement materials. Constr Building Mater. 85:1–8
- Kaid N, Cyr M, Julien S, Khelafi H (2009) Durability of concrete containing a natural pozzolan as defined by a performance-based approach. Constr Building Mater. 23:3457–3467

- Karakurt C, Topçu IB (2011) Effect of blended cements produced with natural zeolite and industrial by-products on alkali-silica reaction and sulfate resistance of concrete. Constr Building Mater. 25:1789–1795
- Kastis D, Kakali G, Tsivilis S, Stamatakis M (2006) Properties and hydration of blended cements with calcareous diatomite. Cem Concr Res 36:1821–1826
- Keybridge Research LLC (2010) Prospects for expanding the use of supplementary cementitious materials in California. Prepared for Coalition for Sustainable Cement Manufacturing & Environment, s.l.
- Khanna R, Puri M (1957) The use of calcined shale as pozzolana in mass concrete. Indian Concr J. 257–263
- Liu Y (2012) Accelerated curing of concrete with high volume Pozzolans-resistivity, diffusivity and compressive strength. Ph.D. dissertation. Florida Atlantic University, s.l.
- Manita P (1999) Repair of historic mortars—a research in the experimental reported data. Master dissertation. Department of Civil Engineering, Democritus University of Thrace, Xanthi Greece
- Manita P (2005) Systematic experimental research and mix design of repair mortars for historical buildings Ph.D Thesis. s.n., Patras, Greece
- Manita P, Triantafilloy T (2011) Influence of the design materials on the mechanical and physical properties of repair mortars of historic buildings. Mater Struct. 44:1671–1685
- McCann A (1994) The Roman Port of Cosa (273 BC). In: Scientific American, Ancient Cities. s. n., s.l., pp 92–99
- McCoy F, Dunn S (2002) Modelling the climatic effects of the LBA eruption of Thera: new calculations of tephra volumes may suggest a significantly larger eruption than previously reported. s.l., s.n
- McLeish T (2006) Santorini eruption much larger than originally believed [Online] Available at http://news.uri.edu/releases/?id=3654
- Mechti W, Mnif T, Samet B, Rouis MJ (2012) Effects of the secondary minerals on the pozzolanic activity of calcined clay: case of quartz. IJRRAS 12(1):61–71
- Mehta PK (1981) Studies on blended Portland cements containing santorin Earth. Cem Concr Res 11:507–518
- Mehta PK, Monteiro PJ (2001) Concrete. Microstructure, properties and materials, 2nd edn. s.n., Berkeley, California
- Menéndez G et al (2003) Cement design with limestone and natural pozzolan (in Spanish). AATH, Santa Fé, Argentina, p 8
- Mertens G et al (2009) Pozzolanic reactions of common natural zeolites with lime and parameters affecting. Cem Concr Res 39:233–240
- Microsilica NZ (n.d.) Microsilica 600 New Zealand [Online] Available at http://www.goldenbay. co.nz/media/1830/general_guide_to_microsilica.pdf
- Moncef N (2000) Why some carbonate fillers cause rapid increases of viscosity in dispersed cement-based materials. Cem Concr Res 30:1663–1669
- MOPC (1993) Analysis of pozzolanic materials in East Paraguay (in Spanish: Análisis de material puzolánico en el Paraguay Oriental). MOPC, Asunción
- Moropoulou A, Bakolas A (1998) Range of acceptability limits of physical, chemical and mechanical characteristics deriving from the evaluation of historic mortars. In: Biscontin G, Moropoulou A, Erdik M, Delgado Rodrigues J (eds) Athens, p 165–178
- Moropoulou A et al (2002) Advanced Byzantine cement based composites resisting earthquake stresses: the crushed brick/lime mortars of Justinian's Hagia Sophia. J Constr Building Mater. 16:543–552
- Moulia M, Khelafib H (2008) Performance characteristics of lightweight aggregate concrete containing natural pozzolan. Building Environ. 43:31–36
- Najimi M, Sobhani J, Ahmadi B, Shekarchi M (2012) An experimental study on durability properties of concrete containing zeolite as a highly reactive natural pozzolans. Construction Building Mater. 35:1023–1033

- Nili M, Salehi A (2010) Assessing the effectiveness of pozzolans in massive high-strength concrete. Constr Building Mater. 24:2108–2116
- Oppenheimer C (2003) Climatic, environmental and human consequences of the largest known historic eruption: Tambora volcano (Indonesia) 1815. Prog Phys Geogr. 27(2):230–259
- Ozvana A et al (2012) Compressive strength of scoria added Portland cement concretes. Gazi Univ J Sci. 25(3):769–775
- Paiva H, Velosa A, Cachim P, Ferreira VM (2016) Effect of pozzolans with different physical and chemical characteristics on concrete properties. Materiales de Construccion. 66(322):83
- Papadakis V, Fardis N, Vayenas C (1992) Hydration and carbonation of pozzolanic cements. ACI Mater J 89(2):119–130
- Papayianni I (1998) Criteria and methodology for manufacturing compatible repair mortars and bricks. In: Biscontin G, Moropoulou A, Erdik M, Delgado Rodrigues J. (eds) Athens, p 179– 190
- Perraki T, Kontori E, Tsivilis S, Kakali G (2010) The effect of zeolite on the properties and hydration of blended cements. Cement Concr Comp. 32:128–133
- Petrov P (2006) On the geology of the zeolite deposit Beli Plast in NE Rhodopes, Bulgaria. Socorro, New Mexico USA, Zeolite '06–7th International Conference on the Occurrence, Properties, and Utilization of Natural Zeolites
- Promentilla M, Sugiyama T, Hitomi T, Takeda N (2009) Quantification of tortuosity in hardened cement pastes using synchrotron-based X-ray computed microtomography. Cem Concr Res 39:548–557
- Provis J et al (2012) X-ray microtomography shows pore structure and tortuosity in alkali-activated binders. Cem Concr Res 42(6):855–864
- Ramachandran VS (1995) Concrete admixtures handbook, 2nd edn. Properties, Science and Technology. USA: ISBN 0-8155-1373-9
- Ramasamy U, Tikalsky P (2012) Evaluation Report of Hess Pumice, s.l.: s.n
- Ramezanianpour A, Samadian M, Mahdikhani M (2012) Engineering properties and durability of self-consolidating concretes (SCC) containing volcanic pumice ash. Asian J Civil Eng (Building and Housing). 13(4):521–530
- Ramezanianpour A, Kazemian A, Sarvari M, Ahmadi B (2013) Use of natural zeolite to produce self-consolidating concrete with low portland cement content and high durability. J Mater Civ Eng 25(5):589–596
- Ramezanianpour A et al (2014) Effects of calcined perlite powder as a SCM on the strength and permeability of concrete. Constr Building Mater. 66:222–228
- Savva A (1991) Influence of Skydrian earth on compressive strength and open porosity of cement mortars. Ph.D. dissertation, Xanthi
- Şahmaran M, Christianto H, Yaman I (2006) The effect of chemical admixtures and mineral additives on the properties of self-compacting mortars. Cement Concr Compos 28(5):432–440
- Şahmaran M et al (2008) Evaluation of natural zeolite as a viscosity-modifying agent for cement-based grouts. Cem Concr Res 38(7):930–937
- Samimi K, Kamali-Bernard S, Maghsoudi A, Maghsoudi M (2016) The Influence of metakaolin and natural zeolite on the rheology, engineering and durability properties of high strength self-compacting concrete at the early age. s.l., s.n
- Saric-Coric M (2001) Interactions superplasticizer-slag in slag-blended cements: concrete properties (in French). Université de Sherbrooke, Québec, Canada
- Senhadji Y et al (2012) Evaluation of natural pozzolan for use as supplementary cementitious material. Eur J Environ Civil Eng 16:77–96
- Senhadji Y et al (2014) Influence of natural pozzolan, silica fume and limestone fine on strength, acid resistance and microstructure of mortar. Powder Technol 254:314–323
- Seraj S et al (2014) Evaluating the performance of alternative supplementary cementing materials in concrete. Technical Report 0-6717-1, Center for Transportation Research, The University of Texas at Austin
- Shannag M (2000) High strength concrete containing natural pozzolan and silica fume. Cement Concr Comp. 22:399–406

- Shazim AM, Arsalan R, Khan S, Lo TY (2012) Utilization of Pakistani bentonite as partial replacement of cement in concrete. Constr Building Mater. 30:237–242
- Siad H et al (2013) Characterization of the degradation of self-compacting concretes in sodium sulfate environment: influence of different mineral admixtures. Constr Building Mater. 47:1188–1200
- Siad H et al (2014) Influence of mineral admixtures on the permeation properties of self-compacting concrete at different ages. Arab J Sci Eng. 39:3641–3649
- Siad H et al (2015) Assessment of the long-term performance of SCC incorporating different mineral admixtures in a magnesium sulphate environment. Constr Building Mater. 80:141–154
- Siddique R (2012) Review: properties of concrete made with volcanic ash. Resour Conserv Recycl 66:40-44
- Sideris K (1996) Influence of natural pozzolanas and fly ash on the compressive strength and porosity of cement mortars and cocnretes. Ph.D. dissertation, Xanthi
- Sideris K, Sideris K (1997) The cement hydration equation and its application to several hydration criteria according to the literature. Gothenburg, Sweden, s.n.
- Sideris K, Savva A (2001) Resistance of fly ash and natural pozzolans blended cement mortars and concrete to carbonation, sulfate attack and chloride ion penetration. Mandras, India, CANMET/ ACI SP 119 Vol II, pp 275–293
- Sideris K, Sideris K (2003) Ten years cement hydration equation and its application to chemistry and physics of cement paste, mortar and concrete, Xanthi. ISBN 960-343-722-0
- Sideris KK et al (1997) Influence of silica and limestone aggregates on the final compressive strength of blended cement concretes prepared with the use of three different pozzolanas. s.n., Göthenburg, Sweden
- Sideris KK, Savva A, Papayianni J (2006) Sulfate attack and carbonation of plain and blended cements. Cement Concr Compos 28(1):47–56
- Sisman CB, Gezer E (2011) Performance characteristics of concrete containing natural and artificial pozzolans. J Food Agric Environ. 9(2):493–497
- Snellings R, Mertens G, Elsen J (2012) Supplementary cementitious materials. Rev Mineral Geochem 74:211–278
- Sosa M, Villagrán-Zaccardi Y, Zega C, Peralta J (2012) Fresh Properties of Mortar made with Pozzolanic Cement and Water Reducers. Cambridge U Press, Cancún, p 7
- Stamatakis M et al (2003) The influence of biogenic micro-silica-rich rocks on the properties of blended cements. Cement Concr Compos 25:177–184
- Stroeven P (2000) A stereological approach to roughness of fracture surfaces and tortuosity of transport paths in concrete. Cement Concr Compos 22(5):331–341
- Thomas M (2011) The effect of supplementary cementing materials on alkali-silica reaction: a review. Cement Concr Res. 41:1224–1231
- Tibljaš D, Jelavić S (2006) Zeolite deposits in Croatia. s.l., Proceedings of the 5th Serbian-Croatian-Slovenian Symposium on Zeolites
- Tikalsky P, Carrasquillo R (1992) Influence of fly ash on the sulfate resistance of concrete. ACI Mater J. 89(1):69–75
- Triwulan JJ, Pujo A, Andika P (2011) Self compacting concrete (SCC) using bromo volcano ash. Surabaya, s.n., pp 271–277
- Turanli L, Uzal B, Bektas F (2005) Effect of large amounts of natural pozzolan addition on properties of blended cements. Cem Concr Res 35(6):1106–1111
- Uzal B, Turanli L (2003) Studies on blended cements containing a high volume of natural pozzolans. Cem Concr Res 33:1777–1781
- Uzal B, Turanli L (2012) Blended cements containing high volume of natural zeolites: properties, hydration and paste microstructure. Cement Concr Compos 34(1):101–109
- Uzal B, Turanli L, Mehta P (2007) High-volume natural pozzolan concrete for structural applications. ACI Mater J 104(5):535–538
- Valipour M, Pargar F, Shekarchi M, Khani S (2013) Comparing a natural pozzolan, zeolite, to metakaolin and silica fume in terms of their effect on the durability characteristics of concrete: a laboratory study. Constr Building Mater. 41:879–888
- Wong HS, Buenfeld N, Head M (2006) Estimating transport properties of mortars using image analysis on backscattered electron images. Cem Concr Res 36:1556–1566
- Yamada K, Hanehara S (2001) Interaction mechanism of cement and superplasticizers—the roles of polymer adsorption and ionic conditions of aqueous phase. Concr Sci Eng 3:135–145
- Yilmaz B (2008) A study on the effects of diatomite blend in natural pozzolan-blended cements. Adv Cement Res 20(1):13–21

Chapter 7 Alternative Supplementary Cementitious Materials

Konstantin Sobolev, Marina Kozhukhova, Kosmas Sideris, Esperanza Menéndez and Manu Santhanam

Abstract The use of supplementary cementitious materials (SCM) has become a major trend in concrete technology with effective utilization of industrial by-products (IBP) such as fly ash, ground granulated blast furnace slag and silica fume. Many types of industrial by-products (IBP) such as fly ash, silica fume, rice husk ash and waste glass are becoming the predominant source of mineral components with pozzolanic properties required to improve the performance of portland cement based materials. The availability of decent quality SCM has almost reached its limits and cannot offset the need for higher volumes of concrete required by developing markets. The use of alternative supplementary cementitious materials, including off-spec products and less-investigated by-products can be a viable alternative. However, there are many obstacles and limitations which hinder the utilization of such products. These are related to the lack of long-term results related

K. Sobolev (🖂) · M. Kozhukhova

Advanced and Nano Cement Laboratory, Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee, 3200 North Cramer Street, Milwaukee 53211, USA e-mail: sobolev@uwm.edu

M. Kozhukhova

K. Sideris

Laboratory of Building Materials, Department of Civil Engineering, Democritus University of Thrace, 67100 Xanthi, Greece e-mail: kksider@civil.duth.gr

E. Menéndez

M. Santhanam Department of Civil Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology Madras, Chennai 600036, India e-mail: manus@iitm.ac.in

© RILEM 2018 N. De Belie et al. (eds.), *Properties of Fresh and Hardened Concrete Containing Supplementary Cementitious Materials*, RILEM State-of-the-Art Reports 25, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-70606-1_7

Institute of Architecture and Construction, Belgorod State Technological University named after V.G. Shukhov, Belgorod 308012, Russia e-mail: mik@uwm.edu

Technical Unit of Physical-Chemical Tests, Institute Eduardo Torroja of Construction Science (IETcc-CSIC), C/Serrano Galvache, 4, 28033 Madrid, Spain e-mail: emm@ietcc.csic.es

to strength and durability, the potential variability in terms of composition and the presence of undesirable substances including heavy metals. These limitations dictate the need for higher production control and product consistency. This report presents the state of the art experience with utilization of modern technologies and potential SCM such as steel slag, pulverized bottom ash, sugarcane bagasse ash, waste glass and low-grade silica fume. Certainly, the current economic conditions make recycling feasible for only a limited number of by-products. Waste materials can be used only when they can be collected, processed, and reused at a cost the same or less than natural raw materials. To increase the rates of recycling, cement and concrete manufacturers need a uniform supply of quality waste; this would require better sorting and also the development of waste identification technology. On the other hand, it is also evident that innovative technologies capable of tolerating multiple contaminants are needed to boost the recycling of industrial by-products and waste beyond the current limits.

Keywords Cement · Concrete · By-product · Steel slag · Bottom ash Sugarcane bagasse ash · Waste glass · Silica fume · Waste · Recycling Supplementary cementitious materials

7.1 Introduction

In the past 15 years, the world production of cement has greatly increased. This trend is the most significant factor affecting technological development and update of manufacturing facilities in the cement industry. In 2015, the demand for cement was at the level of 4.2 billion metric tons. Existing technology for the production of cement clinker is ecologically stressing as it requires the consumption of much energy and natural resources and also results in the emission of pollutants. Indeed, cement production is responsible for about 5% of the total CO₂ emitted and associated with global warming. Since the 2008 G8 summit, the International Energy Agency started to work on the identification of specific industries in order to achieve the sustainable development benchmarks. The cement industry was identified as one having a high improvement potential. Assuming no or little alternative to portland cement clinker chemistry (Ramachandran et al. 1981; Mehta and Polivka 1976; Damtoft et al. 2008; Scrivener and Kirkpatrick 2008) and established limits to utilization of conventional supplementary cementitious materials (SCM), there is only one alternative for reducing the carbon footprint, which is to increase the diversity and utilization rates of SCM in blended cements with new natural materials, industrial by-products, secondary and waste materials. The utilization of industrial by-products and waste (IBPW) as binder components and aggregates comprises a valuable segment of cement and concrete technology. Traditionally, all those mineral components were used in blended cement or concrete individually (Damtoft et al. 2008; Scrivener and Kirkpatrick 2008; Roads and Bridges 1992; Royak and Royak 1983). Nowadays, two or more of these components can be

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
Group I	Group II	Group III		
Steel	slag (10-15) ^b			
Blast furnace slag (30) ^a	30) ^a Steel slag (10–15) ^b Alumina muds (5–6)			
Fly ash (32)	Bituminous coal refuse (100)	Phosphate slimes (20)		
Bottom ash (10)	Phosphate slag (4)Sulphate sludge (5–0)			
Boiler slag (5)	(5) Slate mining waste Scrubber			
Reclaimed concrete	Foundry waste (20)	Copper tailings (200)		
Anthracite coal refuse (10)	Tailings (150–200)	Dredge spoil (300–400)		
	Incinerator residue (10)	Feldspar tailings (0.25–0.50)		
< Was	ste glass (12)	Iron ore tailings		
	Zinc smelter waste (5–10)	Lead/zinc tailings (20-40)		
	Building rubble (20)	Nickel tailings		
Silica fume (0.1)		Rubber tires (3–5)		
Sugarcane bagasse ash		Battery casings (0.5-1.0)		

 Table 7.1
 Classification and production of waste materials in the USA (after Miller and Collins 1976)

^aThe numerals in parentheses refer to the annual production (in 10⁶) in the USA

^bThe transfer of materials from Group II to Group I occurred over the past decade

effectively combined to optimize the properties of concrete and so ternary and quaternary binders are becoming more common (Sobolev 1993; Swamy 1986; Ramachandran 1995; Purdon 1940; Kruger 1990).

There are many examples of successful utilization of industrial by-products, essentially Group I materials in the cement and concrete industry (Table 7.1): burning organic waste including scrap tires as cement kiln fuel and using blast furnace slag and fly ash in cement (Roads and Bridges 1992; Schroeder 1994; Collins and Ciesielski 1993); using blast furnace and steel slag, glass and waste ash as aggregate in hot mix asphalt and sub-base filler material in highway construction (Ramirez 1992; FHWA Final Report 1993; Dewey et al. 1993; Pasetto 1993); using blast furnace slag and fly ash in dam construction (Togawa et al. 1992; Van Jaarsveld et al. 1995; Davidovits 1994; Dole 1989; Comrie and Davidovits 1988a, b); utilization of fly ash and silica fume (Ramachandran et al. 1981; Malhotra 1998; Comrie 1988; Comrie and Davidovits 1988a, b; Glukhovsky et al. 1980). The following IBP have been successfully used in construction (Davidovits et al. 1990; Saylak et al. 1993; EPA 1992; Clean Washington Center Report 1993; FHWA-RD Report 1977):

- Blast furnace slag;
- · Coal fly ash;
- Coal bottom ash;
- Flue gas desulfurization waste;
- Glass;
- Mining tailings;
- Municipal waste combustion ash;

- Reclaimed concrete and asphalt;
- Scrap tires;
- Steel slag;
- Waste rock;
- Carpet fiber waste;
- Waste paper.

Indeed, the use of supplementary cementitious materials has become a major trend since the 1970s with industrial by-products such as fly ash, ground granulated blast furnace slag (also defined as slag cement in the USA) and silica fume. Industrially developed countries such as the USA, the former USSR, China, France, Germany, Japan and the UK are among the largest producers of fly ash, granulated blast furnace slag, and silica fume. In addition to industrial by-products, rice producing countries such as China and India have a promising potential of generating massive quantities of rice husk (or rice hull) ash. Another industrial by-product that can be potentially used as a mineral admixture is calcined red mud, a waste material obtained from the aluminum extraction industry (Ramachandran et al. 1981; Royak and Royak 1983).

Mineral admixtures or SCM refer to finely divided materials that are added to cement or concrete to replace portland cement. Historically, natural pozzolans such as volcanic earth, tuffs, trass, clays, and shale, in raw or calcined form, have been successfully used in concrete for several types of structures such as aqueducts, roads, and water retaining structures (Mehta and Polivka 1976; Sobolev 2003a, b). Natural pozzolans are still used in some parts of the world. In addition to these, many industrial by-products (IBP) such as fly ash, slag, silica fume, red mud, rice husk ash and waste glass are becoming the predominant source of mineral components with pozzolanic properties required for the use in cement and concrete (Table 7.1), Miller and Collins (1976).

As the largest man-made commodity sector, concrete industry demonstrates the increasing demand and interest in new raw materials such as mineral powders and aggregates from non-traditional sources such as industrial by-products and recycled waste (Miller and Collins 1976). There has been considerable interest in realizing the potential of construction materials for the utilization of industrial by-products and waste (IBPW) (Damtoft et al. 2008; Malhotra 1998; Sobolev and Soboleva 1999). Following industrial development, the volume of IBP has significantly increased and will dramatically expand in the future; this is creating several economic and ecological problems (Scrivener and Kirkpatrick 2008; Roads and Bridges 1992; Sobolev 1993; Swamy 1986). Consequently, there is a demand for the development and application of technologies to reduce IBP and transform these into useful products (Ramachandran 1995; Purdon 1940; Kruger 1990; Schroeder 1994).

The availability of decent quality SCM is still limited and cannot offset the need for higher volumes of cement and concrete as required by developing markets (Scrivener and Kirkpatrick 2008; Sobolev 1993). In this regard, one viable alternative can be the use of alternative supplementary cementitious materials, including

off-spec products and less-investigated by-products, Sobolev (2003a, b, 2005), Sobolev and Arikan (2002), Gokmenoglu and Sobolev (2002), Heidrich (2002). Miller and Collins (1976) grouped different waste materials that are commonly used or have a potential application as aggregates (Table 7.1). This classification can be further extended to IBP with potential application as mineral components in blended cement. Some materials of Group I are extensively used in concrete technology. However, materials of Group II and Group III have considerable potential and can be utilized upon further investigation.

Many processes for the recycling of industrial waste and contaminated soil utilize cement, bentonite, zeolite or lime as a binder (Van Jaarsveld et al. 1995; Davidovits 1994; Dole 1989; Comrie and Davidovits 1988a, b; Comrie 1988). The final products were marketed in a form of soil cement, cement treated base (CTB), bentonite mix and roller compacted concrete. Generally, the use of industrial by-products in concrete as cement replacing is strictly defined by existing standards (Royak and Royak 1983; Swamy 1986) and the requirements for by-products or mineral admixtures are summarized in separate standards. According to current standards for use as SCM, the IBP or mineral admixtures must demonstrate some binding or pozzolanic properties as a sign of a synergetic effect and compatibility with portland cement.

Some of the products listed in Group II proved their applicability in different concrete applications. However, despite promising research data, there are many obstacles and limitations which hinder the utilization of products listed as Groups II and III. These are related to lack of long-term results related to strength and durability, the potential variability of IPB in terms of composition, especially for heavy metals. This may dictate the need for higher production control and product consistency. Also, the application of new products usually sparks the resistance of conservative construction industry often driven by the construction schedules and early strength requirements.

7.2 The Need for Innovative Technologies

For many types of industrial by-products, the rate of utilization is limited to less than 30% (Van Jaarsveld et al. 1995; Comrie and Davidovits 1988a, b), mainly because of an incompatible nature of the IBP. In this case, the compatibility of the product and cement system with respect to the simultaneous hydration reactions and structure formation is a most important criterion for the successful utilization of IBP (Comrie 1988; Comrie and Davidovits 1988a, b). Indeed, it is a challenging problem to facilitate the compatibility and, at the same time, increase the performance and utilization rate of IBP (Royak and Royak 1983; Sobolev 1993). The combination of certain mineral and chemical admixtures has been found to be very effective in solving this problem (Swamy 1986; Ramachandran 1995; Van Jaarsveld et al. 1995; Davidovits 1994; Dole 1989). The application of sodium silicate (liquid glass) in combination with granulated blast furnace slag (GBFS) was

recognized as a very effective solution to reduce the permeability and improve the strength of resulting alkali-activated binders, which are essential for the utilization of the IBP at higher volumes (Glukhovsky et al. 1980; Davidovits et al. 1990).

The mechano-chemical activation approach for improving properties of portland cement has been successfully applied for utilization of alum waste and spent chromium-bauxite catalyzer (Sobolev 2005; Sobolev and Arikan 2002; Gokmenoglu and Sobolev 2002). When the maximal loading of these products in conventional blended cement was limited to 10-15%, an activated cement blended with up to 45% of waste resulted in binders possessing strength levels comparable to normal cement. An innovative approach to improve the performance of IBP in cementitious systems includes the addition of nanoparticles, such as nanosilica Flores et al. (2010).

In the production of activated cement, the amounts of clinker can be considerably reduced. Even at high volumes of IBP, the complex admixture "supersilica" used for mechano-chemical activation (Sobolev 2005) provided a blended cement of improved performance (Fig. 7.1). It was demonstrated that activated cement can be made to order: from super-strong cement with extended durability to low cost binders with up to 70% of IBP. Blended or high-volume mineral additive (HVMA) cement of improved performance and ecological compatibility was reported by Sobolev (2005). The technology is based on intergrinding of portland cement clinker, gypsum, supersilica, mineral additives, and—at the same time—using inexpensive natural mineral additives or industrial by-products. This improvement leads to a reduction of



Fig. 7.1 The flow chart of high-performance cement technology (Sobolev 2005)

energy consumption per unit of the cement produced. Higher strength, better durability, reduction of pollution at the clinker production stage, and a decrease of landfill areas occupied by industrial by-products all provide considerable ecological advantages for such cement. Furthermore, the use of higher volumes of mineral additives (limestone, sand or various industrial by-products) can have an important economic and ecological impact. The following mineral additives were used successfully in the composition of HVMA cement (Sobolev and Arikan 2002):

- natural pozzolanic materials;
- pulverized natural sand (used as a part of the binder);
- limestone;
- granulated blast furnace slag (GGBFS);
- ponded fly ash;
- glass or ceramic breakage.

There are two possible approaches to HVMA cement production: the "optimal" approach, which involves keeping the constant dosage of supersilica additive at the level of 5-10% and the "economical" approach when a dosage of supersilica is proportional to the clinker component (and so reduced in low-clinker binders). The technological approach and performance of eco-cements based on inter-milling of portland cement components, supersilica and finely ground mineral additives (FGMA) such as limestone, natural sand, perlite, ponded fly ash, blast furnace slag, waste glass, spent catalyzer, and a waste of alum process was reported by Sobolev and Arikan (2002). In that study, all investigated mineral additives were ground up to the Blaine specific surface area 400–850 m²/kg in the vibrating mill to increase the reaction ability.

The strength characteristics of HVMA cements were determined in accordance with an accelerated test procedure based on ASTM C109 as the strength of mortar

Mineral additive/IBPW	Cement type	Compressive strength, MPa @ mineral additive content, %					
		0	15	30	45	60	
Limestone	Economical	135.4	129.7	108.5	82.1	79.4	
	Optimal		134.2	132.7	133.9	135.8	
Quartz sand	Economical		121.1	112.7	89.9	81.2	
	Optimal		133.3	131.9	136.1	140.5	
Waste glass	Economical		136.6	131.2	89.8	43.4	
	Optimal		157.7	165.6	149.4	80.7	
Waste catalyzer	Economical		130.7	104.5	50.5	-	
	Optimal		141.3	125.9	111.8	-	
Alum waste	Economical		101.5	77.1	45.9	-	
	Optimal		115.9	87.4	62.3	-	

 Table 7.2
 The effect of various IBPW on compressive strength of blended cement (Sobolev and Arikan 2002)



Fig. 7.2 The effect of IBPW on compressive strength of eco-cements (Sobolev and Arikan 2002)

consisting of cement, standard sand and water (in volume required to obtain a flow of 106–115 mm) at a cement to sand ratio of 1:1 using $40 \times 40 \times 160$ mm prismatic samples, cured for 8 h at 80 °C in a steam chamber. The test results outlining the performance of developed cements are reported in Table 7.2 and Fig. 7.2. It was concluded that the HVMA cement with a strength level comparable to that of normal portland cement can be manufactured with up to 45% of FGMA (Sobolev and Arikan 2002).

7.3 The Use of Steel Slag

The steel industry provides valuable raw materials in a form of different slags. Because slag replaces nonrenewable mineral resources and reduces the consumption of natural materials in construction, its use is a sustainable approach. Steelmaking slag includes blast furnace slag (BFS) from cast iron production, electric arc furnace (EAF), basic oxygen furnace (BOF/BOS) and ladle steel slag types (Heidrich 2002). The EAF mills produce steel by remelting scrap steel (Azom 2012) and integrated mills produce steel by combining molten cast iron with scrap steel in the BOF. Steel manufactured in an EAF or BOF is further refined in a ladle furnace and this process further produces different grades of steel ladle slag, LS (Heidrich 2002; Azom 2012).

7.3.1 Composition and Application of Steel Slag

Blast furnace slags have a bulk density similar to natural materials used in cement and concrete technology. Chemical composition and cementing properties make BFS an ideal supplementary cementitious material for application in portland cement concrete. Steel slag has a higher bulk density and results in a cementitious

Constituents as oxides	BFS (%)	BOS Slag (%)	EAF slag (%)
Calcium oxide (CaO)	41	40	35
% Free lime	0	0-2	0-1
Silicon oxide (SiO ₂)	35	12	14
Iron oxide (Fe ₂ O ₃)	0.7	20	29
Magnesium oxide (MgO)	6.5	9	7.7
Manganese oxide (MnO)	0.45	5	5.7
Aluminium oxide (Al ₂ O ₃)	14	3	5.5
Titanium oxide (TiO ₂)	1	1	0.5
Potassium oxide (K ₂ O)	0.3	0.02	0.1
Chromium oxide (Cr ₂ O ₃)	< 0.005	0.1	1
Vanadium oxide (V ₂ O ₅)	< 0.05	1.4	0.3
Sulphur S	0.6	0.07	0.1

Table 7.3 Typical constituents of EAF and BOS slags (CCAA 2008)

matrix that is prone to expansion due to the presence of dead burned lime (CaO) and magnesium oxide (MgO). EAF slag contains different forms of iron oxides and includes magnesium and manganese compounds. The major compounds in EAF slag are quick lime (CaO), magnesium compounds and calcium silicates. The BOF/BOS slag products consist of calcium silicates and ferrites combined with fused oxides of iron, aluminum, calcium, magnesium and manganese (Heidrich 2002). Typical composition and physical properties of EAF and BOS slags are given in Tables 7.3 and 7.4.

In an extensive study of the utilization of steel slag, Yildirim and Prezzi (2011) reported on the composition of different slag products available from the literature (Table 7.5). The study confirmed that the EAF slag consists of CaO, FeO, SiO₂ and Al₂O₃ with some minor components such as MgO, MnO, SO₃. The mineralogical composition of EAF slag is represented by belite, calcium alumosilicates and free CaO and MgO along with other minerals based on CaO, FeO, and MgO, Table 7.3 (CCAA 2008). The physical properties such as density, porosity, and particle size of slag are determined by the cooling rate and process used (air-cooling, expanding and granulating). Steel slag is typically stored and "cured" for up to six months allowing dead burned lime and magnesium oxide to hydrate and expand. The slag may then be crushed, sized, and screened for many applications, such as construction aggregate or mineral additive as reported by Wintenborn and Green (1998).

The BOS slag is composed of CaO, FeO and SiO₂ and the iron content can vary between 10 and 40%. The CaO content is very high (CaO > 35%) and SiO₂ (Wintenborn and Green 1998) is relatively low (7–8%). Most of the lime (CaO) or periclase (MgO) exists in bound forms with other constituents with free lime up to 10% and magnesia up to 10%. The dead burnt lime (CaO) and magnesia (MgO) hydrate expansively at later ages when a dense cementitious matrix has already formed and so it can cause the volumetric instability of the cement-based

Physical property		Iron slag	Steel slag	EAF	Test method				
		BFS	BOS	-					
Concrete application	ns								
Particle density	Dry	2400-2500	3300-3400	3300	AS 1141.5 and AS				
(kg/m ³)	SSD	2500-2600	3350-3450	3400	1141.6				
Dry strength (kN)		85-100	275	250	AS 1141.22				
Wet strength (kN)		65–90	230–300	240– 300					
Wet/dry strength variation (%)		10–20	5-20	5-15					
Water absorption (%)		4-7	1–2 coarse 2–4 fine	1–2 coarse 2–4 fine	AS 1141.5 and AS 1141.6				
LA abrasion		37-43	12-18 (B)	16 (B)	AS 1141.23				
Polished aggregate friction value (PAF)	V)	NA	52-58	58-63	AS 1141.41 and AS 1141.42				
Sodium sulphate soundness (%)	1		-		-		<4	<4	AS 1141.24
Road-base applicati	ons								
Max. dry density (kg/m ³) 20 mm GMB standard compaction		2050–2150	2300–2400	2300– 2400	AS 1141.5.1.1				
Optimum moisture content (%)		8-12 ^a	8-12 ^a	8–12 ^a	AS 1289.2.1.1				

Table 7.4 Physical properties of slags (CCAA 2008)

^aOptimum moisture content depends on the components of the mix

materials with basic-oxygen-furnace slag. BOF slag also contains oxides of other minor elements (such as Al, Mn, Ti, etc.). Dicalcium silicate (C_2S or $2CaOSiO_2$), wustite (FeO), ferrites (Fe₃O₄) and solid solutions of iron oxide (FeO) and (MgO) are typically observed in BOF slag (Robinson 2000; Schoenberger 2001; Shi 2004; Manso et al. 2005).

Ladle slag is composed of CaO, Al₂O₃, SiO₂, and MgO (with less FeO and a higher Al₂O₃ content vs. EAF/BOF) with CaO as the main component (>45%) of the slag. The main phase in the ladle slag is C₂S (Ca₂SiO₄). During the cooling of the slag, conversion from the β -C₂S to γ -C₂S results in an increase in volume, stresses in and self-destruction of the crystals. In this way, ladle slag shows volumetric instability mainly due to the presence of free lime and the C₂S (CCAA 2008; Schoenberger 2001; Shi 2004; Manso et al. 2005). The presence of free lime and magnesia in LS can cause some problems due to delayed expansion (Emery 1982), and several methods have been proposed for the control of the long-term expansion of LS, such as rapid cooling of LS (Tossavainen et al. 2007), weathering in outdoor conditions for a period of at least six months (Altun and Yilmaz 2002; Da Silveira

Reference	Slag	Mineralogical phases
Barra et al. (2001)	EAF	CaCO ₃ , FeO, MgO, Fe ₂ O ₃ , Ca ₂ Al(AlSiO ₇), Ca ₂ SiO ₄
Geiseler (1996)	-	$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$
Juckes (2003)	BOF	C ₃ S, C ₂ S, C ₂ F, RO phase (FeO-MgO-CaO-FeO), MgO, CaO
Luxán et al. (2000)	EAF	Ca ₂ SiO ₅ , Ca ₂ Al(AlSiO ₇), Fe ₂ O ₃ , Ca ₁₄ Mg ₂ (SiO ₄) ₈ , MgFe ₂ O ₄ , Mn ₃ O ₄ , MnO ₂
Manso et al. (2005)	Ladle	Al ₂ O ₄ Mg, Ca(OH) ₂ , Si ₂ O ₆ CaMg, MgO, Ca ₃ SiO ₅ , β -Ca ₂ SiO ₄ , γ -Ca ₂ SiO ₄ , SO ₄ Ca
Nicolae et al. (2007)	BOF	$2CaO \cdot Al_2O_3 \cdot SiO_2$, Fe_2O_3 , CaO, FeO
Nicolae et al. (2007)	EAF	MnO ₂ , MnO, Fe ₂ SiO ₄ , Fe ₇ SiO ₁₀
Nicolae et al. (2007)	Ladle	$CaO \cdot SiO_2, CaOAl_2O_3 \cdot 2SiO_2, CaS, Al_2O_3$
Qian et al. (2002)	EAF	γ-Ca ₂ SiO ₄ , C ₃ MS ₂ , CFMS, FeO-MnO-MgO solid solution
Qian et al. (2002)	Ladle	γ -Ca ₂ SiO ₄ , C ₃ MS ₂ , MgO
Reddy et al. (2006)	BOF	$2CaO \cdot Fe_2O_3, 2CaO \cdot P_2O_5, 2CaO \cdot SiO_2, CaO$
Reddy et al. (2006)	BOF ^a	$2CaO \cdot Fe_2O_3, 3CaO \cdot SiO_2, 2CaO \cdot SiO_2, Fe_2O_3$
Tossavainen et al. (2007)	Ladle	$Ca_{12}Al_{14}O_{33}, MgO \cdot \beta - Ca_2SiO_4, \gamma - Ca_2SiO_4, Ca_2Al_2SiO_7$
Tossavainen et al. (2007)	BOF	β -Ca ₂ SiO ₄ , FeO-MnO-MgO solid solution, MgO
Tossavainen et al. (2007)	EAF	Ca ₃ Mg(SiO ₄) ₂ , β -Ca ₂ SiO ₄ , Spinel solid solution (Mg, Mn)(Cr, A1) ₂ O ₄ , wustite-type solid solution ((Fe, Mg, Mn)O), Ca ₂ (Al, Fe) ₂ O ₅
Tsakiridis et al. (2008)	EAF	$ \begin{array}{c} Ca_2SiO_4, \ 4CaO \cdot Al_2O_3 \cdot Fe_2O_3, \ Ca_2Al(AlSiO_7), \ Ca_3SiO_5, \\ 2CaO \cdot Al_2O_3 \cdot SiO_2, \ FeO, \ Fe_3O_4, \ MgO, \ SiO_2 \end{array} $
Wachsmuth et al. (1981)	BOF	$Ca_2SiO_4, Ca_3SiO_5, FeO, 2CaO \cdot Fe_2O_3$

Table 7.5 Mineralogical phases of BOF, EAF and ladle slags (Yildirim and Prezzi 2011)

^aQuenched—type of slag not provided

et al. 2005), the use of ternary systems with siliceous material and cement (Shi and Hu 2003), and mixing with inert material (Deneele et al. 2005).

7.3.2 Utilization of Steel Slag

The EAF/BOS slag from steel mills can be recycled into a range of useful products for building roads and pavements, and to substitute for virgin quarried materials,

mainly aggregates for asphalt and portland cement concrete. Some common applications for EAF/BOS slag are (Heidrich 2002):

- Base course and top course for asphalt roads;
- Sub-base material for rigid pavements;
- Anti-skid surfacing for roads on accident-prone intersections and curves;
- Low strength concrete;
- Controlled low strength material for backfill and trench stabilization;
- Raw material for production of portland cement clinker;
- Control of CO₂ emissions.

Steel slag has been used in construction since at least the mid-19th century. It is used in all industrialized countries. The German steel industry conducted extensive research on the application of BOF, EAF and blast furnace slags. Modern steel slags are well characterized and evaluated for long-term performance. These are commonly used as aggregates for road construction (e.g., asphaltic or unbound layers), as armor stones for hydraulic engineering construction (e.g. shore stabilization), and as a fertilizer for agriculture.

The suitability of steel slags for particular applications is regulated by national and/or international standards. Based on long-term experience, steel and blast furnace slags have been removed from the European Waste Catalogue and the European Shipment of Waste Regulation of the European Community. European Standards for construction raw materials do not discriminate between diverse sources and are for materials of "natural, recycled and manufactured" origin (Motz and Geiseler 2001). The Australian construction industry currently utilizes more than 4 million tons of fly ash and iron/steel slag per year. These materials are mainly used in road construction, blending with cement and can improve the life expectancy of concrete structures (Heidrich 2002). The EAF/BOS slag is primarily used as asphalt aggregate or for road base and subbase. It was reported that BOS slag aggregate should not be used in concrete due to potential durability issues caused by lime expansion and an aesthetic problem associated with the rust stains on concrete surfaces (Leshchinsky 2004).

The use of steel slag as an aggregate is a standard practice in the US, with many applications in granular base, embankments, engineered fill, highway shoulders, and hot mix asphalt (FHWA-RD 2008). Wintenborn and Green (1998) concluded that steelmaking slag is an environmentally safe product with a wide range of valuable uses. Based on risk assessment it was concluded that "these slags pose no meaningful threat to human health or the environment when used in a variety of residential, agricultural, industrial, and construction applications" (Wintenborn and Green 1998).

7.3.3 Blended Cement with Steel Slag

The chemical composition of steel slags makes these by-products an attractive raw material for the production of portland cement clinker and also as a component of blended cement (Yildirim and Prezzi 2011; Robinson 2000; Shi 2004; Manso et al. 2005). Several researchers demonstrated that Ladle Slag (LS) possesses latent hydraulic and pozzolanic properties and can be used as an alternative component of binder (Hewlett 2004; Akinmusuru 1991; Muhmood et al. 2009; Rodriguez et al. 2009; Papayianni and Anastasiou 2010). The chemical and mineralogical composition of steel slags reveals the potential for application as SCM for the production of blended cement (Tables 7.3 and 7.6). It was reported that blending steel slag with fly ash, blast furnace slag or with alkalis reduces or eliminates the expansion due to delayed MgO and CaO reactions (Hewlett 2004).

The reactivity of LS, as an SCM, increases significantly with its fineness. This increase can be achieved by selecting the finer material or by grinding, which can provide a higher final strength as reported by Papayianni and Anastasiou (2006, 2012). This trend was attributed to the increase of the reactivity of the binding materials due to the milling and higher surface area. At 20% cement replacement rate mortar with ground LS has developed 93% of the strength of the reference mortar (Papayianni and Anastasiou 2012). Because of the increased fineness of the material, the possibility to use LS as a filler material in order to increase the total powder content in self-compacting (SCC) concrete (Georgiadis et al. 2007;

Components	Chemic	al composition	, %		
	BFS	Basic oxygen furnace	Electric arc furnace (carbon steel)	Electric arc furnace (alloy/ stainless)	Ladle
SiO ₂	40.7	8-20	9–20	24–32	2–35
Al ₂ O ₃	11.9	1-6	2–9	3.0–7.5	5-35
Fe ₂ O ₃	0.4	10–35	15-30	1-6	0.1–15
CaO	35.4	30–55	35-60	39–45	30-60
MgO	8.99	5-15	5-15	8-15	1-10
MnO	N/A ^a	2-8	3-8	0.4–2	0–5
TiO ₂	N/A ^a	0.4–2	N/A ^a	N/A ^a	N/A ^a
S	N/A ^a	0.05-0.15	0.08-0.2	0.1–0.3	0.1-1
Р	<0.1	0.2–2	0.01-0.25	0.01-0.07	0.1–0.4
Cr	N/A ^a	0.1-0.5	0.1-1	0.1–20	0-0.5

 Table 7.6
 The chemical composition of investigated steel slags, after Shi (2004) and Sobolev (2005)

^aNot available

Anagnostopoulos et al. 2009; Anastasiou et al. 2014; Sideris 2014) was proposed. It was demonstrated that LS can be used to increase powder content in SCC without compromising self-compacting performance, strength and durability. The use of LS reduced the risk of segregation (at a dosage of superplasticizer adjusted to ensure the adequate fluidity) (Anastasiou et al. 2014) while SCC mixtures prepared with LS had lower superplasticizer demand compared with traditional SCC mixtures prepared with limestone filler (Georgiadis et al. 2007). It was reported that LS had a positive effect on strength development of concrete at the age of 28 and 120 days and increased the durability of concrete (Anastasiou et al. 2014; Sideris 2014). The SCC with ladle furnace slag was found to be more susceptible to spalling effects after fire exposure compared to limestone SCC mixtures because of the pore refinement in the cementitious matrix (Anagnostopoulos et al. 2009).

In China, portland-steel and ground granulated blast furnace slag (GGBFS) blended cements were used for more than 50 years (CABM 1985). For the design of blended cement, several steel slags were tested, and it was found that the basicity was a key factor associated with strength development (Fig. 7.3). The hydraulic reactivity of EAF is due to the presence of C_3S , C_2S , C_4AF , and C_2F and due to the basicity of the material. Free-CaO increases the basicity and reactivity of EAF (Table 7.7), but it lowers the C_3S content (Tang 1973).

The addition of fly ash to portland—steel slag blended cement reduces the detrimental effect of free-CaO. Several combinations of portland cement, steel slag, fly ash and gypsum were investigated by Wu et al. (1999), Bin et al. (1992) as reported in Table 7.8. Lower drying shrinkage and corrosion resistance were demonstrated by the blended cement based on a portland clinker—fly ash—steel slag composition. Due to the replacement of portland cement clinker, the compressive strength of blended cement was reduced in compositions with fly ash and steel slag; however, the addition of 2% of high alumina cement helped to improve the strength of developed cement (Fig. 7.4). The research data reported by Wu et al. (1999) are in a good agreement with CAMB (1985) study.



Hydraulic reactivity	Types of slag	Basicity as CaO/SiO ₂	Major mineral phases
Low	Olivine	0.9–1.5	Olivine, RO phase, and merwinite
	Merwinite	1.5–2.7	Merwinite, C ₂ S, and RO phase
Medium	Dicalcium silicate	1.6–2.4	C ₂ S and RO phase
High	Tricalcium silicate	>2.7	C ₃ S, C ₂ S, C ₄ AF, C ₂ F, and RO phase
High	BFS	<0.9	Akermanite, Melilite, Quartz, Merwinite, Monoticellite

Table 7.7 The basicity, mineral composition and reactivity of steel slags (after Tang 1973)

Table 7.8 Composition of portland-steel slag-fly ash cement, after Wu et al. (1999) and CABM (1985)

Materials	Control	PSSFAC1	PSSFAC2	CABM 1985
Portland cement clinker, %	93	45	45	35
Gypsum, %	7	5	3	5
EAF, %	-	30	30	30
Fly Ash, %	-	20	20	-
Blast furnace slag	-	-	-	30
High alumina cement, %	-	-	2	-





7.4 The Use of Pulverized Bottom Ash

The pulverized coal—fired power plants, especially when low-quality carbon source is used, are responsible for substantial amounts of by-product residues called Coal Combustion Products (CCP) Churcill and Amirkhanian (1999), Pera et al. (1997), Ramme et al. (1998), Cheriaf et al. (1999), Bai and Bashaer (2003), NCAB (2005), ACAA (2006), Sanjuan and Menéndez (2010), Sanjuán and Zaragoza (2013), Argiz (2013), Menéndez et al. (2014a), Sanjuan et al. (2016a, b). The CCP

collected from pulverized coal-fired furnaces such as fly ash (FA) and bottom ash (BA) originate from the unburnt impurities (sand, clays, etc.) from the coal deposit. Also, ash can contain some quantities of unburnt carbon (characterized by higher LOI) due to an incomplete combustion of coal. The BA constitutes around 20% of total CCP volume, and it is composed of larger particles, which drop, melt, conglomerate and vitrify in the bottom of the furnace Siddique (2010), Asokan et al. (2005). Ash can contain trace metals that could be leached to water and damage the aquatic ecosystem Izquierdo and Querol (2012). In Europe, 41 million tons of coal ash was generated in 2009, and around half of these were placed into the landfills ECOBA (2003, 2009). The production of fly ash and bottom ash CCP during 2006 was 300 million tons and the cumulative stock available for utilization is more than 2,500 million tons Sanjuán and Zaragoza (2013), Argiz (2013), Menéndez et al. (2014a), Sanjuan et al. (2016a, b). According to the study completed in 2003, 48.2% of bottom ash is used to manufacture concrete blocks and 33.1% for road construction NCAB (2005). Also, the statistics of the American Coal Ash Association (ACAA) demonstrated that more than 45% of bottom ash is used mainly in transportation applications (structural fill, road base materials and snow and ice control products). Bottom ash is commonly used as an aggregate in lightweight concrete masonry units ACAA (2006). Recently, bottom ash has been investigated to be used alone or in combination with fly ash in blended cement as a mineral admixture Cheriaf et al. (1999), Bai and Bashaer (2003), Sanjuan and Menéndez (2010). Traditionally, the coarse-grained, fused, glassy texture of bottom ash is adequate to substitute natural aggregates Ramme et al. (1998), Pera et al. (1997), Churcill and Amirkhanian (1999).

Many research projects have been conducted to investigate the feasibility of using BA as a partial replacement for portland cement. The use of BA and BA-FA mixes has been studied to analyze the potential utilization in blended cement. The proportion 80:20 of FA to BA was a better option because this represents the ratio at which these types are produced by the power plants. It was reported that the use of 25% substitution level in the BA-FA blends helps to achieve the adequate mechanical properties Argiz et al. (2013, 2014).

7.4.1 Chemical and Mineralogical Composition

In general, the FA and the BA from the same power plant have similar compositions, except for the amount of calcium, iron, magnesium and chromium content, which could be slightly higher in BA. Depending on the type of coal used, higher LOI is observed in the fly ash. Actually, the values of LOI in the bottom ash are significantly lower than these in the fly ash, and the influence of the type of coal on LOI content is considerably less Menéndez et al. (2013). Typical major and minor components of FA and BA from two different coal power stations are reported by Fig. 7.5.



Fig. 7.5 The chemical composition of CCP (Menendez et al. 2013)



Fig. 7.6 The microstructure of CCP: fly ash (left) and bottom ash (right) (Menendez et al. 2013)

The crystalline composition of FA and BA are very similar. The main crystalline phases are quartz (SiO₂) and mullite (Al₄Si₂O₁₀) in fly ash and bottom ash, and small amounts of anorthite (CaAl₂Si₂O₈) in BA. In general, the quartz to mullite ratio was higher in BA than FA, which is associated with the presence of anorthite in BA. While FA-b had a greater proportion of mullite than FA-a, BA-b had a lesser proportion of mullite than BA-a, due to the higher content of anorthite in BA Menéndez et al. (2013), Ward and French (2006).

7.4.2 Microstructure and Physical Properties

The microstructure of FA is determined by spherical particles with different particle distributions and typical values from 10 to 100 μ m, while the BA has angular particles with very porous surface texture. The BA particles range in size from a fine gravel to a fine sand and require grinding to be used as SCM. The morphology of FA and BA (before and after grinding) is reported in Fig. 7.6 (Menéndez et al.

(2013, 2014b). The difference in particle morphology can be explained by the use of different combustion process, the different quality of coals and the grinding process realized for BA Siddique (2010).

7.4.3 Pozzolanic Activity and Mechanical Properties

When the BA products are tested to analyze the pozzolanic activity, it was reported that both FA and BA had similar pozzolanic characteristics when compared at similar fineness Menéndez et al. (2013, 2014b, 2015a, b). The specific surface area of CCP plays a key role in their pozzolanic properties and hence in the mechanical performance of cementitious materials; commonly, the FA had a greater Blaine surface area than ground BA. The CaO content is decreased similarly to the solution alkalinity when FA was tested. While in the case of BA, the CaO content, and the solution alkalinity had no significant changes over time (Fig. 7.7).

The test results related to the compressive strength of standard mortars according to EN 196-1 (2005) are reported in Fig. 7.7 Argiz et al. (2014), Sanjuan and Menéndez (2010), Menéndez et al. (2009, 2013, 2014a), Menéndez and de Frutos (2011). These mortars have used the substitution rate of 10, 25 and 35% for FA, BA and FA and BA mixes at 80:20, 50:50 and 20:80 ratios. At the age of 28 days, the mechanical properties of mortars made with cement containing individual CCP and their blends were similar for the CCP of similar composition (e.g., from the same power plant), especially when the same replacement levels are being used. The compressive strength of specimens with 10% cement replacement was higher than the minimum 28-day strength required by the standard which is 42.5 MPa according to EN 196-1 (2005). Despite this, mortars with 25% replacement were close to the limit, while mortars with 35% of replacement had values of the compressive strength of less than 40 MPa. However, it was proposed that an



Fig. 7.7 The pozzolanic activity (left) and mechanical properties (right) of mortars with CCPs (Menendez et al. 2013)

additional grinding of BA can enhance the mechanical properties of mortars Cheriaf et al. (1999). This behavior was in accordance with the results confirming that the reaction of FA decreases at higher levels of cement replacement, and a better performance is obtained at lower cement replacement levels Menéndez et al. (2014c), Hanehara et al. (2001), Jaturapitakkul and Cheerarot (2003), Kurama and Kaya (2008).

7.4.4 Durability Performance

According to different studies Sanjuan et al. (2016a, b), Menéndez et al. (2014a, 2015a, b), Argiz (2013), mortars manufactured with partial substitution of BA and FA and BA mixes had a good durability with respect to alkali-silica reaction and external sulfate attack. While mortars with CCP had a lower resistance to carbonation or frost damage, this behavior can be associated with higher porosity of mortars. Due to this, it is recommended to limit the CCP substitution levels to 25%. However, the performance of BA and FA and BA mixtures can be further improved with the effective use of water-reducing admixtures.

In general, BA has higher levels of heavy metals than the FA from the same power plant, and the long-term environmental behavior of such materials must be analyzed. The environmental impact of mortars with CCP has been evaluated by leaching tests performed under different conditions (pH of 5 and 10, and the exposure temperatures of 20 and 60 °C). It was reported that the test temperature is a determinant parameter controlling the leaching process. Greater leaching was produced at an acidic pH, except in the case of strontium, which experienced greater leaching at a higher pH. No significant differences were observed in the behavior of mortars with different CCP and CCP blends at 10% of substitution Menéndez et al. (2014a, b).

7.5 The Use of Sugarcane Bagasse Ash

Sugarcane bagasse ash (SCBA) is obtained from boilers of sugar industries as a combustion by-product. After crushing of sugarcane in sugar mills and extraction of juice from prepared cane by milling, the discarded fibrous residual matter of cane is called bagasse. Bagasse is very commonly used as fuel in boilers in the sugar mills for cogeneration process. After burning in the cogeneration boiler, bagasse ash is collected in a baghouse filter and is disposed locally, which causes severe environmental problems. Because of rapid implementation of cogeneration plants in sugar industries, bagasse ash generation is also increasing significantly in India and other major sugarcane producing countries such as Brazil and Thailand. SCBA is mainly composed of silica and can be used as a supplementary cementitious material in concrete instead of disposal. Several studies have reported that sugarcane bagasse

ash can be used as pozzolanic material (Bahurudeen et al. 2015; Frias et al. 2011; Montakarntiwong et al. 2013; Chusilp et al. 2009; Cordeiro et al. 2009a; Bahurudeen et al. 2016).

7.5.1 Composition and Pozzolanic Activity of SCBA

The SCBA primarily contains SiO_2 along with smaller amounts of other oxides. Silica content depends on the burning temperature of bagasse in the boiler (Cordeiro et al. 2008; Singh et al. 2000). Table 7.9 presents the compositions of SCBA reported in the literature. The as-collected SCBA tends to have a large fraction of unburnt carbon particles that causes it to have a very high loss on ignition. The degree of unburnt carbon depends on the efficiency of burning in the cogeneration boiler. Bahurudeen et al. (2016) have reported on the occurrence of coarse and fine fibrous carbon particles in SCBA, as demonstrated by Fig. 7.8. The unburnt carbon particles also reduce the specific gravity of bagasse ash to the values as low as 1.9–2.1 (Ganesan et al. 2007). Furthermore, the fineness of as-collected bagasse ash is affected by more than 65% of relatively coarse material retained on a 45 µm sieve (Somna et al. 2012).

Cordeiro et al. (2009a) used the Chapelle test to compare the pozzolanic activity of bagasse ash samples that were calcined to different degrees; the results of the study proved that the maximum reactivity of bagasse ash was found in the sample that was burned at around 500 °C. The key factor in obtaining the desired degree of pozzolanic activity is, therefore, the removal of the unburned carbon particles, achieved by separation and fine grinding. The effect of three grinding methods on

Oxide	SCBA1	SCBA2	SCBA3	Fly ash	
composition (%)			Class C	Class F	
SiO ₂	64.88	60.96	72.95	32.7	46.9
Al ₂ O ₃	6.40	0.09	1.68	17.6	22.9
Fe ₂ O ₃	2.63	0.09	1.89	5.9	19.2
CaO	10.69	5.97	7.77	27.3	3.8
MgO	1.55	8.65	1.98	6.6	0.8
K ₂ O	N/A	9.02	9.28	0.4	1.7
Na ₂ O	N/A	0.70	0.02	2.2	0.6
SO ₃	1.56	N/A	4.45	2.0	0.3
LOI	8.16	5.70 (optimal calcination)	21.00 (as collected)	0.3	2.3

Table 7.9 Chemical composition of SCBA and fly ash Class C and F (data collected from Chusilp et al. 2009; Cordeiro et al. 2009a; Bahurudeen et al. 2016; Sobolev et al. 2015)



Fig. 7.8 Coarse and fine fibrous particles in SCBA (a), and as-collected and sieved SCBA (b) (Bahurudeen et al. 2016)



Fig. 7.9 The comparison of performance for different SCBA products (Bahurudeen and Santhanam 2015)

pozzolanic activity of bagasse ash was also investigated in a separate study (Cordeiro et al. 2009b), reporting the increase of pozzolanic activity with fineness, and that grinding to values of D80 (80% passing size) below 60 μ m and Blaine fineness above 300 m²/kg resulted in the products classified as pozzolanic. Recently, Bahurudeen and Santhanam (2015) demonstrated that direct calcination or grinding of as-collected material may not be an efficient strategy, both from the point of energy expenditure as well as from the performance perspective. After a thorough assessment, a combination of sieving of as-collected ash (through a 300 μ m sieve) and consequent grinding to a fineness of about 300 m²/kg produced an excellent product performance in the pozzolanic activity tests. A comparative evaluation of the pozzolanic activity index as per ASTM C618 (2012) obtained by processing SCBA through different techniques was reported, as shown in Fig. 7.9 (Bahurudeen and Santhanam 2015).

7.5.2 The Effect of SCBA on Fresh Properties of Concrete

The reactive silica particles in SCBA are usually irregular in shape, with a high surface area, as depicted in Fig. 7.10 (Bahurudeen et al. 2014). As a result, a reduction in workability of concrete with SCBA is expected. The influence of sugarcane bagasse ash and fly ash blends on the rheological behavior of cement pastes was studied by Quero et al. (2013), and loss on fluidity was observed with SCBA replacement rate. An increase in viscosity and yield stress was observed with the increase in bagasse ash was not addressed.

Bahurudeen et al. (2014) reported that bagasse ash replacement caused an increase in the optimal dosage of superplasticizer. Further, the relative fluidity of bagasse ash based cement paste was lower than the control for the same water-binder ratio and superplasticizer dosage, due to the combined effect of an increase in powder volume (owing to the lower density of SCBA) and the irregular particle shape of the SCBA. Nevertheless, SCBA and cement blends had demonstrated satisfactory compatibility with polycarboxylic ether (PCE) based superplasticizers.



Fig. 7.10 The SEM micrograph of SCBA particles (based on Bahurudeen et al. 2014)

The influence of SCBA on the heat of hydration of concrete using a semi-adiabatic system was reported by Montakarntiwong et al. (2013) and this study demonstrated that SCBA reduced the heat evolution compared to plain cement concrete. Bahurudeen et al. (2015) used an adiabatic calorimeter and detected up to 25% reduction of the total heat evolved for the mixtures with 10–20% SCBA; similar reductions were also reported for the peak heat rates, indicating the positive influence of SCBA for hot weather applications.

7.5.3 The Effect of SCBA on Strength and Durability

The replacement of cement with up to 25–30% SCBA does not cause any major changes in the attainment of the 28 and 90 days compressive strength (Bahurudeen et al. 2015; Montakarntiwong et al. 2013). However, the use of SCBA leads to several advantages in terms of durability. The positive influence of SCBA replacement on water permeability was reported by Bahurudeen et al. (2015) and Chusilp et al. (2009), while Frias et al. (2011) were able to demonstrate the reduction in chloride diffusion when SCBA was used in concrete. In a comprehensive evaluation of the durability characteristics of concrete containing SCBA, Bahurudeen et al. (2015, 2016) used a combination of water, gas, and chloride penetration techniques to compare the durability of concretes with and without SCBA, and they also compared the performance to fly ash concrete with the same level of compressive strength. The charge passed in the Rapid Chloride Permeability Test (RCPT) as per ASTM C1202 (2012) and the Chloride Conductivity Index (CCI) as per the SOM African Durability Index Manual (2009) is reported in Fig. 7.11, while the SIA 162/1-E (2003) in comparison with fly ash



Fig. 7.11 The resistance of SCBA concrete to chloride penetration (based on Bahurudeen et al. 2015, 2016)



Fig. 7.12 The performance of SCBA concrete in the air permeability test (Bahurudeen et al. 2016)

Table 7.10 Water	Concrete type	Penetration depth, mm		
penetration results of SCBA concrete based on DIN 1048 test (based on Bahurudeen		28 days	56 days	
	Control concrete	81.0	65.4	
et al. 2016)	Fly ash blended concrete	54.7	28.3	
	Bagasse ash blended concrete	48.0	19.0	

blended concrete is demonstrated in Fig. 7.12. Table 7.10 reports on the relative performance of investigated concrete in water penetration test as per DIN 1048—Part 5 (1994).

7.6 The Use of Silica Fume with Reduced SiO₂ Content

It is well-documented that concrete with silica fume (SF) and metakaolin is characterized by reduced pore volume (for a range of pore diameters of 0.1–4.0 μ m), high strength, reduced permeability, and improved sulfate resistance (Sobolev 1993, 2004; Sobolev and Yeginobali 2005; Arikan et al. 2009; Aras et al. 2007; Batrakov et al. 1992). The bulk of reported research is related to concrete with silica fume containing at least 85% of SiO₂; however, there are very few papers on the use of off-spec silica fume with lower SiO₂ (Batrakov et al. 1992).

The performance of by-product silica fume (including off-spec material, OSF) from metallic silicon (S), low-grade ferrosilicon (FS), and ferro-silicon-chrome (FSC) production was reported by Batrakov et al. (1992). These products contained 91.7, 70.1, 65.6% of SiO₂ and had a surface area of 25.0, 44.9, and 18.5 m²/g, respectively. The S/SF product was like other SF products (Ref/SF) used by industry and reported in scientific literature (Sobolev and Yeginobali 2005). The main chemical and physical properties of investigated SF/OSF vs. Reference SF are

l c t

Characteristics		Types	of silica fun	ne products
	Ref/SF ^a	S/SF	FS/OSF	FSC/OSF
Component content, %				
SiO ₂	90.0	91.7	70.1	65.6
Al ₂ O ₃	0.4	0.5	2.0	1.5
Fe ₂ O ₃	0.36	0.4	3.4	2.4
CaO	1.63	1.2	11.4	0.6
MgO	1.02	-	0.1	14.6
$K_2O + Na_2O$	2.78	-	0.9	-
SO ₃	0.44	-	0.4	-
SiC	-	4.2	-	-
Cr ₂ O ₃	-	-	-	2.2
LOI	2.28	2.0	11.7	2.0
Surface area by BET, m ² /g	-	25.0	44.9	18.15
Bulk weight, kg/m ³	-	160	150	260
Specific gravity, kg/m ³	2.25	2.16	2.07	2.84
Water demand (as normal consistency of SF slurry), $\%$	-	42	137	40

Table 7.11 The chemical and physical characteristics of various silica fume products, after (Batrakov et al. 1992; Sobolev and Yeginobali 2005)

^aFrom Sobolev and Yeginobali (2005)

 Table 7.12
 The composition of cement pastes and compressive strength results (Batrakov et al. 1992)

Mixture No.	Silica fume	Binder, %		HRWR, % (C + SF)	$\frac{W}{C+SF}$	Compressive strength, MPa at the age of, days			
		Cement	SF			3	7	14	28
1	-	100	0	-	0.28	22.1	33.5	35.7	43.6
2	FS/OSF	91	9	0.6	0.28	36.0	47.1	50.0	56.2
3	FS/OSF	83	17	1.3	0.28	36.6	50.9	55.5	62.5
4	FS/OSF	77	23	2.7	0.28	40.0	55.1	61.8	72.2
5	FS/OSF	83	17	2.0	0.28	29.9	58.8	62.6	75.1
6	S/SF	83	17	0.4	0.28	38.2	53.0	57.5	64.2
7	FSC/ OSF	83	17	0.3	0.28	30.0	44.9	50.1	60.0

listed in Table 7.11. It was reported that the use of SF/OSF leads to an increase of gel porosity, a decrease of capillary porosity and an increase in strength, Tables 7.12 and 7.13.

The porosity characteristics were investigated by the Proton Magnetic Resonance (PMR) method enabling the determination of pore sizes ranging from 1 to 100 nm. The PMR test procedure involved the complete saturation of hydrated cement paste specimens with water, followed by subsequent freezing and step-wise heating. The porosity characteristics are reported by Table 7.12 and Figs. 7.13, 7.14

Mixture no	Designation of SF samples	Gel pores, %	Capillary pores, %		Technological pores, %	Total porosity, %
		Supermolecular level	Submicroscopic level	Microscopic level	Macroscopic level	
		$1 \times 10^{-3} < d$	$5 \times 10^{-3} < d$	$1 \times 10^{-1} < d$	$4 \times 10^{1} < d$	$1 \times 10^{-3} < d$
		$\leq 5 imes 10^{-3}$, $\mu { m m}$	$\leq 1 imes 10^{-1}$, $\mu { m m}$	$\leq 4 imes 10^1$, μ m	$\leq 1 \times 10^3$, μm	$\leq 1 imes 10^3$, μm
	1	18.1	8.2	4.7	2.5	33.5
5	FS/OSF	21.6	7.4	1.6	2.9	33.5
	FS/OSF	23.4	5.0	1.0	4.3	33.7
4	FS/OSF	24.5	4.2	1.8	2.9	33.4
5	FS/OSF	26.7	3.8	1.1	3.6	35.2
6	S/SF	23.1	6.4	1.6	4.3	35.4
7	FSC/OSF	22.6	7.0	1.9	3.7	34.2

able 7.13 The porosity and pore size distribution (Batrakov et al. 1992)
le 7.13 The porosity and pore size distribution (Batrakov et
le 7.13 The porosity and pore size distribution (Batrakov e
le 7.13 The porosity and pore size distribution (Batr
le 7.13 The porosity and pore size distributi
le 7.13 The porosity and pore
e 7.13 The porosity and pore
le 7.13 The porosity
le 7.13 The por
e 7.13 T
e 7.1



and 7.15. The total porosity of specimens produced with several types and volumes of SF/OSF at the same W/(C + SF) ratio of 0.28 was virtually at the same level of 33–35%; however, the specimens based on different SF/OSF types were significantly different in terms of pore size distribution (Fig. 7.13). It was reported that the use of silica fume products in portland cement systems resulted in the increase of the volume of gel pores, depending on the dosage and type of SF/OSF. With SF/OSF dosage increased to 10-30%, the gel porosity increased by 3.5-6.4% as compared to the reference specimen (Batrakov et al. 1992).

It was found that the gel porosity was affected by the type of SF/OSF used. For example, the specimen with S type of silica fume and the highest SiO_2 content of 91.7% and the finest specimen FS demonstrated very high gel porosity. The volume of capillary pores of cement pastes with SF/OSF was less than that of the reference



Fig. 7.14 The effect of silica fume content on: a degree of cement hydration, b relative CSH(I) content, c compressive strength (Batrakov et al. 1992)



Fig. 7.15 The effect of superplasticizer (HRWR/SP) content on: **a** degree of cement hydration, **b** relative CSH(I) content, **c** compressive strength of cementitious systems with silica fume (FS at 20%) (Batrakov et al. 1992)

specimen. Normally, the porosity decreased with the increase in the SF/OSF content. The lowest value of capillary porosity was reported for the specimens with FS/ OSF characterized by higher fineness (e.g., mixtures 3, 4, 5). The use of higher dosage of SF/OSF had resulted in the acceleration of cement hydration, the increase of CSH(I) content, and improvement of compressive strength. It was concluded that the overall modification of cement paste microstructure was similar for different types of SF/OSF regardless of SiO₂ content, and so all these products had similar improvements of concrete performance. All investigated SF/OSF increased the strength of hardened cement paste and concrete. Permeability to water and gas was lower than that of the reference concrete. This observation was confirmed by low values of permeability to air, CO₂ diffusion coefficient, and water filtration coefficient. Still, the FS type of silica fume with large surface area appeared to be the best.

Overall, the following conclusions regarding the effects of different SF products were made (Batrakov et al. 1992):

- The SiO₂ content of silica fume product did not affect the parameters of gel and capillary porosity;
- An increase of silica fume fineness caused a decrease in the cement paste capillary porosity and hence reduced the permeability;
- An increase of silica fume dosage led to an increase of CSH(I) and the volume of gel pores, and promoted a decrease in cement paste capillary porosity, contributing to an increase of concrete strength.

7.7 The Use of Waste Glass

Glass is one of the earliest man-made materials, having been made for over 9000 years. Because of its wide availability, cost effectiveness and unique mechanical, chemical, thermal, and optical properties, glass is currently found in many applications U.S. Department of Energy (2002), EPA (1992), Sobolev 2003a; Sobolev et al. 2007). For example, in 2014, in the USA alone about 20 million tons of glass products were manufactured with a shipment value of about \$26.2 billion (Statista 2014). Theoretically, glass is a 100% recyclable material, and it can be indefinitely recycled without any loss of quality. According to EPA statistics, the municipal solid waste (MSW) stream contains about 4.6% of waste glass corresponding to 11.6 million metric tons (with some historical volumes reported by Fig. 7.16) EPA (1992), Sobolev et al. (2007), The Statistics Portal (2014). In 2015, only about 25% of this volume of glass was recycled and the remaining 75% was landfilled Sobolev (2003a, b). Therefore, in spite of the apparent simplicity of glass recovery, its recycling rate in the USA is among the lowest (at an average MSW recovery level of 30%), American Recycler News (2015). In contrast, the European countries achieve the recycling rates for waste glass above 95% U.S. EPA (2002), Sobolev et al. (2004).

Waste glass comes from various sources: glass containers (bottles and jars), construction glass (windows), and electrical equipment (lamps, old style monitors, and TVs). Most (89%) of the waste glass comes from various containers (Fig. 7.17)



EPA (1992), Sobolev et al. (2004). Generally, recovered glass containers are recycled into new containers, other portions are used in newly emerging sectors such as fiberglass insulation, abrasives, light-weight aggregates, yet some quantities are used for concrete and asphalt as an aggregate Geiger (1994), GPI (1999), Stewart (1986), CWC (2003), Apotheker (1989). Recycling of waste glass is attractive to the glass manufacturers because it reduces the costs associated with raw materials and technological process; it lowers energy consumption; and also eliminates the need to dump waste glass in landfills. However, to recycle waste glass effectively within the glass industry, it must contain glass of similar

composition, which has been separated from contaminants which could reduce the quality of new glass products. The following contaminants affect the recycling of waste glass (Sobolev et al. 2004; Gunalaan and Kanapathy 2013; Stewart 1986; Rodriguez 1995; Mayer 2000):

- Glass of fluctuating composition or color (compared with the mainstream);
- Ceramics (dishware, porcelain, pottery, bricks, concrete);
- Metals (including container lids or seals);
- Organics (paper, plastics, cork, wood, plants, food residue, especially sugar).

The construction industry has demonstrated great potential in recycling industrial by-products and waste, including waste glass (Sobolev 2005; Sobolev and Arikan 2002). There are many examples of successful recycling of waste glass in construction: heat insulation (fiberglass and light-weight aggregates), aggregates for concrete and asphalt, base and sub-base filler materials, and as a constituent of cement (as a pozzolanic additive) (GL-93-3 1994; Day and Schaffer1975; Science Daily 2003; Nash et al. 1995; Shin and Sonntag 1994; Shao et al. 1998). Usually, considerable volumes of contaminants can be tolerated in such applications (Khmiri et al. 2012; Khatib et al. 2012; Kumarappan 2013). When the waste glass is proposed as a constituent of cement (as a mineral additive) and concrete (as an aggregate), the immediate concerns with strength reduction and potentially deleterious alkali-silica reaction (ASR) are discussed (Shao et al. 1998; Dyer and Dhir 2001; Naik and Kraus 1999; NRC 1993; Xie et al. 2003; CWC 2003; Meyer 2003; Shayan and Xu 2006; Idir et al. 2010). Usual precautions to avoid ASR (such as the application of low alkali cement and pozzolanic additives) were found to be effective when the waste glass was used in concrete as aggregate. The application of waste glass as a finely ground mineral additive (FGMA) in cement is another promising direction for waste glass recycling EPA (1992), Sobolev 2003a; Sobolev et al. 2004, 2005). According to Sobolev et al. (2007), FGMA glass with a high surface area participates in the relatively quick pozzolanic reactions eliminating the danger of a slower alkali-silica reaction at a later stage.

Utilization of glass powder (GLP) from mixed color waste packaging glass comprising soda-lime glass was reported by Shayan and Xu (2006). It was demonstrated that incorporating different proportions (0, 20, and 30%) of GLP (Table 7.14) as a cement replacement in 40 MPa concrete can result in some improvements with respect to drying shrinkage and alkali reactivity. Incorporation of GLP into concrete matrix decreases chloride ion penetration, thereby reducing the risk of chloride corrosion of steel rebars in concrete. The results of reported research proved that up to 30% of GLP can be used as a supplementary cementitious material to replace cement without loss in concrete performance. At the age of 28 days, concrete with up to 20% GLP met the strength requirements set for a 40 MPa concrete. Concrete with 30% of GLP effectively gained the compressive strength between the 28 and 90 days, reaching 34.0 and 50.6 MPa, respectively. It was demonstrated that considerable pozzolanic reaction occurs in GLP concrete after 7 and 28 days of hardening. At the age of over one year, concrete with 10–20% GLP reached the strength of up to 70 MPa (Shayan and Xu 2006). This

Mix number	Description	Cement	SF	GLP	Coarse aggregate	Coarse sand	Fine sand	Crushed glass	Water
Mix 1	Reference mix	380	0	0	1019	576	192	0	185
Mix 2	10% SF in binder	342	38	0	1019	566	189	0	185
Mix 3	20% GLP in binder	304	0	76	1019	564	188	0	185
Mix 4	30% GLP in binder	266	0	114	1019	558	186	0	185
Mix 5	10% SF m binder; 50% CGS ^a	342	38	0	1019	283	94	356	185
Mix 6	20% GLP in binder; 50% CGS	304	0	76	1019	282	94	355	185
Mix 7	30% GLP in binder; 40% CGS	266	0	114	1019	335	112	281	185
Mix 8	30% GLP in binder, 75% CGS	266	0	114	1019	141	47	523	185
Mix 9	No GLP; 50% CGS	380	0	0	1019	288	96	363	185
Mix 10	100% cement 50% CGS 30% GLP by mass of cement replaced fine sand	380	0	114	1019	288	36	306	185

 Table 7.14 The mix proportions of glass powder concrete (kg/m³) (Shayan and Xu 2006)

^aCGS-crushed glass sand

study demonstrated that the use of up to 30% of soda-lime glass did not cause deleterious AAR expansion; moreover, the obtained results and laboratory evidence indicate that GLP was an effective suppressor of AAR in concrete similar to other SCM. Figure 7.18 reports the results of a rapid chloride permeability test on the cores and cylinders. The chloride penetrability of the mixes 3 and 4 with GLP content of 20 and 30% was significantly lower than that of control (mix 1) and comparable to or lower than that of mixes 2 and 5 containing silica fume (SF).

Considerable research effort on utilization of waste glass was undertaken at Sherbrooke University by Idir et al. (2010). Most of the studies used bottle soda-lime-silica glass of mixed colors, composed of 40, 33, 20 and 1% of colorless, brown, green and blue glasses, respectively. The waste glass material also contained around 6% of impurities (Table 7.15).

It was found that the recycled glass powder with particles smaller than 75 μ m does not induce alkali-silica reaction (ASR); furthermore, some studies suggested that ASR can be reduced by the addition of reactive glass powders (Shao et al. 1998; Dyer and Dhir 2001; Idir et al. 2010). According to the research results, glass particle



Fig. 7.18 The results of rapid chloride permeability of waste glass concrete (Shayan and Xu 2006)

	SiO ₂	A1 ₂ O ₃	Fe ₂ O ₃	CaO	MgO	SO ₃	Na ₂ O	K ₂ O	LOI ^a
Glass	68.6	2.0	0.3	12.3	1.0	0.2	13.5	0.6	1.0
Cement	19.8	5.6	2.5	63.6	1.8	3.1	0.1	0.7	1.7
Glass classes	C0	C1	C2	C3	C4	C5	C6	C7	C8
Mean diameters of particles (pm)	3750	1875	940	473	238	120	11	11	8
Specific surface area ^b (m ² /kg)	1	2	5	11	18	35	182	389	538

Table 7.15 The chemical composition and fineness of glass powders (Idir et al. 2010)

^aLOI-loss on ignition

^bC1–C5—calculated from the average diameter of particles

sizes less than 1 mm were not deleterious in terms of the ASR. However, it was found that the use of glass powder with particle size of 2.5–5 mm and 1.25–2.5 mm led to significant expansion of mortar specimens (Fig. 7.19).

The compressive strength of mortars containing coarse size classes of glass C0 and C1 (Table 7.15) was up to 10 MPa lower, compared to reference mortar without glass. In contrast, particles of finer classes C3–C8 systematically improved the strength, which increased with the fineness of the glass particles. The best results were obtained with fines of 80 μ m or less, which demonstrated strength increase of up to 35 MPa (Idir et al. 2010).

The glass powders exhibit pozzolanic activity enabling the formation of a densified hydrated cement matrix. This material can enhance the properties of concrete with fly ash or silica fume (Khmiri et al. 2012). Some recent studies demonstrated that incorporating soda-lime-silica glass powder can improve the workability of fresh concrete (Gunalaan and Kanapathy 2013; Khatib et al. 2012; Kumarappan 2013). The 28-day compressive and relative strength values of concrete with up to 40% of waste glass powder are reported in Fig. 7.20. At 10% glass







powder, there was an increase in compressive strength compared to the control. However, the incorporation of glass powder above 30% results in considerable reduction of compressive strength (Khatib et al. 2012).

It was demonstrated that the technology of high performance activated cement can be used for engineering of eco-cement with a high volume of mineral additives. Supersilica, a reactive silica-based complex admixture that is added during the cement grinding process, promotes the mechano-chemical activation of cement and imparts high strength and excellent durability to concrete Sobolev and Arikan (2002), Sobolev et al. (2004, 2007). In eco-cement, relatively substantial amounts (up to 70%) of portland cement clinker can be replaced with inexpensive locally available mineral additives, including waste glass Sobolev (2003a). It was proposed that the complex admixture and finely ground mineral additive (FGMA) glass containing significant amounts of amorphous, highly reactive silicon dioxide will participate in simultaneous pozzolanic reactions. A comparison study using a 2-stage grinding process was reported by Sobolev (2003a, b). The effect of FGMA glass (waste sital glass) on the strength behavior of high strength cement based materials has been reported (Sobolev 2005), and recycling of several types of waste glass was discussed (Sobolev and Arikan 2002; Sobolev et al. 2004).

7 Alternative Supplementary Cementitious Materials



Fig. 7.21 Waste glass materials used in the research (Sobolev et al. 2004)

Composition	Clinker	Limestone	Window	Monitor	Bottle gl	Bottle glass	
		(LS)	glass	glass	Brown	Green	
SiO ₂	20.84	-	71.71	83.96	71.19	71.12	
Al ₂ O ₃	5.52	-	1.26	2.03	2.38	1.71	
Fe ₂ O ₃	3.61	-	0.09	0.04	0.29	0.24	
TiO ₂	0.29	-	0.07	0.20	0.15	0.07	
CaO	65.57	52.05	8.44	0.37	10.38	10.02	
MgO	2.13	3.04	4.16	0.01	1.70	3.01	
Na ₂ O	0.82	-	13.61	7.98	13.16	13.17	
K ₂ O	0.19	-	0.40	5.35	0.70	0.19	
SO ₃	0.91	-	0.25	0.05	0.04	0.25	
Cr ₂ O ₃	0.03	-	-	-	-	0.23	
Loss on ignition (LOI)	0.23	42.90	-	-	-	-	

Table 7.16 The chemical analysis of cement components (Sobolev et al. 2004)

The evaluation of the effect of four different waste glass materials (in a form of glass cullet, as per Fig. 7.21): window glass (WG), black-and-white monitor glass (MG), brown and green bottle glass (BBG and GBG, respectively) was evaluated. The chemical composition of investigated waste glass products is reported in Table 7.16. All waste glass materials were milled with clinker (ASTM Type I) and
Type	Composition	n, %			W (cm)	Flexural s	Flexural strength, MPa	а	Compressi	Compressive strength, MPa	MPa
	Clinker	Gypsum	LS W.Glass	super silica		2 days	7 days	28 days	2 days	7 days	28 days
NPC	95	5	0	0	0.45	5.5	5.8	6.7	26.5	36.1	45.4
HPC-A	85	5	0	10	0.30	6.0	7.3	8.5	42.1	58.4	72.3
HPC-BL	48	2	40	10	0.28	5.3	6.9	8.7	34.8	54.8	66.7
WGC	35	5	50	10	0.30	3.4	4.5	7.2	16.4	31.0	50.1
MGC	35	5	50	10	0.30	3.0	4.3	7.0	12.1	25.0	44.5
BBGC	35	5	50	10	0.30	3.0	4.2	6.9	13.2	25.0	45.3
GBGC	35	5	50	10	0.30	2.6	4.2	7.3	11.6	25.5	46.0

2004)
et al.
(Sobolev e
ass cement mortars
cement
of glass
strength o
pressive
and com
flexural
The i
7.17
able

reactive silica-based complex admixture supersilica. These eco-cements were compared with reference cements such as portland cement CEM-I 42.5 (NPC), high strength cement Type A (HPC-A) and Type B (HPC-BL containing 35% of limestone, LS) Sobolev 2003a; Sobolev et al. 2004).

The 2-day compressive strength of activated cements was almost the same for the group of glass cements, where glass cement based on WG demonstrated the best strength. Similar behavior of cement with waste glass was observed at the age of 7 days (Table 7.17 and Fig. 7.22). Considerable delay with strength development of eco-cement (vs. NPC), at the level of up to 50% at 2 days and 30% at 7 days, was explained by the use of a very low clinker content (35%). The simultaneous pozzolanic reactions, as well as the hydration of cementitious matrix at a low W/C ratio, helped to offset this trend at later stages of hardening. Binders with 50% of waste glass had the 28-day flexural and compressive strength at a level similar to NPC, in the range of 6.9–7.3 and 44.5–66.7 MPa, respectively. The best compressive strength was demonstrated by the cement based on the window and green bottle glass (Sobolev et al. 2004). It was mentioned that the low-water demand property of developed cement results in mixtures with very high workability obtained at a relatively low W/CM. This feature helps to improve the strength of mortars and also to offset the performance of slow-reacting mineral additives.

The selection of an appropriate method to produce blended cement is essential in the manufacture of the final product with the required specifications. It was proposed that the pre-grinding of waste glass to obtain the particles of finer size than those of cement clinker (e.g., in the form of FGMA) can considerably improve the strength characteristics of blended cement with waste glass (Sobolev et al. 2004).



7.8 Conclusions

There are many examples of successful utilization of industrial by-products in the cement industry, and the largest commodity sector, the concrete industry, demonstrates the increasing demand and interest in the use of new cement replacing materials, including mineral powders and aggregates from non-traditional sources such as industrial by-products (IBP), off-spec pozzolans and recycled waste.

There has been considerable interest in realizing the potential utilization of industrial by-products and waste (IBP) as a component of binders or blended cement. According to wide-scale investigations, the performance of concrete with controlled volumes of SCM can be improved. The combination of well-investigated mineral additives such as granulated blast furnace slag, fly ash, and silica fume not only bring about concrete with improved properties and economical effectiveness, but they also improve the eco-balance of these materials. Such materials, particularly in finely divided form can improve the performance of concrete such as permeability, sulfate resistance, and resistance to alkali-silica reaction and chloride resistance. Depending on the performance, the optimal substitution rate is established for mineral additives to determine (a) whether the material is indeed improving the property, and (b) the correct dosage, as an overdose or under-dose can be detrimental for the performance or not allow for achieving the desired effect.

The availability of decent quality SCM and CCP is still limited and cannot offset the need for higher volumes of cement and concrete as required by developing markets. Following the industrial development, the volumes of IBP have significantly increased and will expand in the future creating several economic and ecological problems. Consequently, there is a demand for the development and application of technologies to reduce the IBP and pivot the associated waste streams to the supply of raw materials. Following this demand, the use of alternative supplementary cementitious materials discussed in this report such as steel slag, bottom ash, sugarcane bagasse ash, including "off-spec" products such as low SiO₂ silica fume and less-investigated by-products such as waste glass can be very promising. It was demonstrated that such materials can be valuable components of blended cements.

The reactivity of LS and EAF slag increases with its fineness achieved by grinding, which can provide an improved performance. This trend was attributed to the increase of the reactivity of the binders due to the milling and higher surface area. Finely ground LS can be effectively used as a filler material in self-compacting concrete providing improved workability, strength, and durability. Up to 30% of EAF slag can be used in the multicomponent binders incorporating fly ash and blast-furnace slag. Due to fine tuning, these binders have demonstrated a better strength vs. reference portland cement systems. Furthermore, the use of ternary fly ash—portland—steel slag blended cement reduces the detrimental effect of free-CaO from steel slag resulting in a cementitious material with lower drying shrinkage and improved corrosion resistance.

Up to 25% of pulverized bottom ash can be used as an effective pozzolanic additive complementing commonly used fly ash. It was proposed that an additional grinding of bottom ash can enhance the mechanical properties of mortars and concrete.

Processed sugarcane bagasse ash (SCBA) can be used as a pozzolanic material in blended cements providing a positive impact on durability. This component presents a viable alternative to fly ash in regions with limited availability of fly ash.

The use of silica fume with reduced SiO_2 content (such as off-spec silica fume with 65-70% of SiO_2) in blended cement and concrete is beneficial enabling the increase of compressive strength. In this regard, the use of ferrosilicon (FS) type of silica fume with a large surface area and SiO_2 content of 70% had the most significant impact on performance of cement based materials. Water and gas permeability of concrete with off-spec silica fume was lower than that of reference concrete.

Glass powders exhibit pozzolanic activity enabling the formation of a densified hydrated cement matrix. This enables to enhance the properties of concrete with fly ash or silica fume. Incorporating of 10% of soda glass powders can improve the workability and strength of concrete.

The use of fine glass powders systematically improves the compressive strength of mortars and concrete, which was increased with the fineness of the glass particles. The best results were reported for glass powders with particle size of less than $80 \mu m$ which demonstrated an increase of strength by up to 35 MPa.

The selection of an appropriate method to produce blended cement is essential in the manufacture of the final product to meet the required specifications. It was demonstrated that pre-grinding of waste components to obtain particles of finer size than those of cement can considerably improve the strength characteristics of blended cements. It was demonstrated that the use of mechano-chemical activation can significantly improve the performance of cement-based materials and engineer cements with high volumes of supplementary cementitious materials including alternative components and IPB. The developed eco-cements can be available at a significantly reduced cost, making the application of alternative components feasible. Fine milling and mechano-chemical activation can further extend the limits of IBP utilization in blended cements; however, there is a need for quick and reliable separation of undesirable components from alternative components. As most of the research work was focused on mechanical properties and compatibility of alternative components and portland cement matrix, there is a need to investigate the long-term performance of these components including the durability, corrosion resistance, deformational stability and potential leaching of heavy metals. Often IBP have higher levels of heavy metals than traditional SCM, and, therefore, the long-term environmental behavior of these materials must be analyzed. The challenges must be addressed for successful utilization of IBP in cement and concrete. Upon verification of these parameters, alternative components can fill the void in the raw materials supply for sustainable blended cements and future construction.

Certainly, the current economic conditions make recycling feasible for only a limited number of products. Waste materials can be used only when they can be collected, processed, and reused at a cost the same or less than natural raw materials. The inconsistency of the waste streams sometimes makes it more difficult to separate the required product from other recycled materials and so minimize contamination, especially for fine fractions. To increase the rates of recycling, cement and concrete manufacturers need a uniform supply of quality waste; this would require better sorting and also the development of waste identification technology. On the other hand, it is also evident that new alternative technologies capable of tolerating multiple contaminants are needed to boost the recycling of industrial waste products beyond the current limits.

References

- Altun IA, Yilmaz I (2002) Study on steel furnace slags with high MgO as additive in Portland cement. Cem Concr Res 32:1247–1249
- Akinmusuru JO (1991) Potential beneficial uses of steel slag wastes for civil engineering purposes. Resour Conserv Recy 5:73–80
- American Coal Ash Association (ACAA) (2006) Coal combustion product (CCP) production and use. Aurora, CO: American Coal Ash Association; 2007
- American Recycler.com. Recycling glass into building materials. http://americanrecycler.com/ 8568759/index.php/news/glass/1065-recycling-glass-into-building-materials
- American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) (2012) C618-12a, Standard specification for coal fly ash and raw or calcined natural pozzolan for use in concrete
- Americans Continue to Recycle More Than One in Three Glass Containers, October 27, 1999, Glass Packaging Institute, www.gpi.org/98rate.htm
- Anagnostopoulos N, Sideris KK, Georgiadis A (2009) Mechanical characteristics of self-compacting concretes with different filler materials, exposed to elevated temperatures. Mater Struct 42(10):1393–1405
- Anastasiou E, Papayianni I, Papachristoforou M (2014) Behavior of self-compacting concrete containing ladle furnace slag and steel fiber reinforcement. Mater Des 59:454–460
- Apotheker S (1989) Glass processing: the link between collection and manufacture. Resour Recycl 7:38
- Aras A, Albayrak M, Arikan M, Sobolev K (2007) Evaluation of selected kaolins as raw materials for the Turkish cement and concrete industry. Clay Miner 42(2):233
- Argiz C (2013) Study of the use of bottom ash of the coal power plants as addiction of Portland cements. Comparative analysis with the fly ash. Ph.D. dissertation, ETSICCP (UPM), Madrid, Spain, 2014
- Argiz C, Menéndez E, Sanjuán MA (2013) Effect of mixes made of coal bottom ash and fly ash on the mechanical strength and porosity of Portland cement. Mat Const 63(309):49–64. https:// doi.org/10.3989/mc.2013.03911
- Argiz C, Menéndez E, Moragues A, Sanjuán MA (2014) Recent advances in coal bottom ash use as a new common Portland cement constituent. Struct Eng Int 4:503–508
- Arikan M, Sobolev K, Ertün T, Yeğinobali A, Turker P (2009) Properties of blended cements with thermally activated kaolin. Constr Build Mater 23(1):62–70
- Asokan P, Saxena M, Asolekar SR (2005) Coal combustion residues-environmental implications and recycling potentials. Resour Conserv Recycl 43:239–262

- ASTM C1202-12 (2012) Standard test method for electrical indication of concrete's ability to resist chloride ion penetration. West Conshohocken, United States: Annual book of ASTM standards
- Availability of Mining Wastes and Their Potential for Use as a Highway Material-Executive Summary (1977) Publication No. FHWA-RD-78-28, Federal Highway Administration, Washington D.C., September 1977
- Azom (2012) Recycling EAF slag waste in commercial products. http://www.azom.com/article. aspx?ArticleID=1067
- Bahurudeen A, Santhanam Manu (2015) Influence of different processing methods on the pozzolanic performance of sugarcane bagasse ash. Cem Concr Compos 56:32–45
- Bahurudeen A, Marckson AV, Arun Kishore, Santhanam M (2014) Development of sugarcane bagasse ash based Portland pozzolana cement and evaluation of compatibility with superplasticizers. Constr Build Mater 68:465–475
- Bahurudeen A, Kanraj D, Gokul Dev V, Santhanam M (2015) Performance evaluation of sugarcane bagasse ash blended cement in concrete. Cem Concr Compos 59:77–88
- Bahurudeen A, Wani K, Basit M, Santhanam M (2016) Assessment of pozzolanic performance of sugarcane bagasse ash. ASCE J Mater Civ Eng 28(2)
- Bai Y, Bashaer PA (2003) Influence of furnace bottom ash on properties of concrete. In: Proceedings of the institution of civil engineers. Structures and Buildings, 156(1):85–92
- Batrakov VG, Kaprielov SS, Sheinfeld AV (1992) Influence of different types of silica fume having varying silica content on the microstructure and properties of concrete. ACI/CANMET Conference, Turkey, pp 943–963
- Bin Q, Wu X, Tang M (1992) High strength alkali steel–iron slag binder. In: Proceedings of the 9th international congress on the chemistry of cement, vol 3. New Delhi, India, pp 291–297
- Calling All Americans: We Need to Recycle More Glass. http://www.treehugger.com/cleantechnology/calling-all-americans-we-need-to-recycle-more-glass.html
- Cement Concrete & Aggregates Australia (CCAA) (2008) Use of recycled aggregates in construction
- Characterization of Municipal Solid Waste in the United States (1992) Update, executive summary. Report No. EPA/530-S92-019, Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, D. C.
- Cheriaf M, Rocha JC, Pera J (1999) Pozzolanic properties of pulverized coal combustion bottom ash. Cem Conc Res 29:1387–1391
- Chinese Academy of Building Materials (1985) Physical testing methods for cements, 3rd edn. Chinese Construction Press, Beijing
- Churcill VE, Amirkhanian SN (1999) Coal ash utilization in asphalt concrete mixtures. J Mater Civ Eng 11(4):295–297
- Chusilp N, Chai J, Kraiwood K (2009) Utilization of bagasse ash as a pozzolanic material in concrete. Constr Build Mater 23(11):3352–3358
- Clean Washington Center (1993) Using recycled glass as a construction aggregate, a summary of the glass feedstock evaluation project, Seattle
- Collins RJ, Ciesielski SK (1993) Recycling and use of waste materials and byproducts in highway construction, vol 1 and 2, p 12
- Comrie DC (1988) New hope for toxic waste, the world & I. Wash Times 3(8):177-178
- Comrie DC, Davidovits J (1988a) Waste containment technology for management of uranium mill tailings. Paper, 117th annual meeting of the society of mining engineers, USA, Phoenix
- Comrie DC, Davidovits J (1988b) Long term durability of hazardous toxic and nuclear waste disposals. Geopolymer '88, first European conference on soft mineralogy, vol 1. Compiegne, France, pp 125–134
- Cordeiro GC, Filho RD, Tavares LM, Fairbairn EM (2008) Pozzolanic activity and filler effect of sugar cane bagasse ash in Portland cement and lime mortars. Cement Concr Compos 30 (5):410–418
- Cordeiro GC, Filho RD, Tavares LM, Fairbairn EM (2009a) Effect of calcination temperature on the pozzolanic activity of sugar cane bagasse ash. Constr Build Mater 23:3301–3303

- Cordeiro GC, Filho RD, Tavares LM, Fairbairn EM (2009b) Ultrafine grinding of sugar cane bagasse ash for application as pozzolanic admixture in concrete. Cem Concr Res 39:110–115
- Da Silveira NO, Silva MVAM, Agrizzi EJ, De Lana MF (2005) ACERITA—steel slag with reduced expansion potential. In: Proceedings of the 4th European slag conference: slag products-providing solutions for global construction and other markets. Oulu, Finland: Euroslag Publication No. 3; 20–21 June 2005, pp 145–57
- Damtoft JS, Lukasik J, Herfort D, Sorrentino D, Gartner EM (2008) Sustainable development and climate change initiatives. Cem Concr Res 38(2):115–127
- Davidovits J (1994) Geopolymers: inorganic polymeric new materials. J Mater Educ 16:91-139
- Davidovits J, Comrie DC, Paterson JH, Ritcey DJ (1990) Geopolymeric concretes for environmental application. Concr Int 12(7):30–40
- Day DE, Schaffer R (1975) Glasphalt paving handbook. In: Malisch WR, Day DE, Wixson BG (ed) Use of Domestic Waste Glass for Urban Paving: Summary Report, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, University of Missouri-Rolla, p 53 (EPA-670/2-75-053)
- Deneele D, de Larrard F, Rayssac E, Reynard J (2005) Control of basic oxygen steel slag swelling by mixing with inert material. In: Proceedings of the 4th European slag conference: slag products-providing solutions for global construction and other markets. Oulu, Finland: Euroslag Publication No. 3; 20–21 June 2005, 187–198
- Dewey G et al (1993) Municipal waste combustor ash as an aggregate substitute in bituminous mixture. In: Symposium proceedings recovery and effective reuse of discarded materials and byproducts for construction of highway facilities, October 1993
- DIN 1048-Part 5 (2004) Testing of hardened concrete, German Standards
- Dole LR (1989) In situ immobilization: a major trend, symposium innovative waste management technologies, division of environmental chemistry. Am Chem Soc 29(1):135–137
- Durability Index Testing Procedure Manual. South Africa, 2009
- Dyer TD, Dhir RK (2001) Chemical reactions of glass cullet used as cement component. J Mater Civ Eng 13(6):412–417
- ECOBA (2003) NCAB_workshop_Nov 23/24 2005. http://coal-ash.co.il/sadna/Presentation_ Feuerborn.pdf
- ECOBA (2009) Production and utilisation of CCPs in 2009 in Europe. http://www.ecoba.org
- Emery JJ (1982) Slag utilization in pavement construction. In: Hotaling WW (ed) Extending aggregate resources. ASTM STP 774, pp 95–118
- EN 196-1 (2005) Methods of testing cement-Part 1: determination of strength
- Engineering and Environmental Aspects of Recycled Materials for Highway Construction (1993) Volume I: final report. FHWA Contract No. DTFH61-92-C00060, Federal Highway Administration, Washington D.C.
- Flores I, Sobolev K, Torres LM, Valdez PL, Zarazua E, Cuellar EL (2010) Performance of cement systems with nano- SiO₂ particles produced using sol-gel method. Transp Res Rec 2141:10–14
- Frias M, Ernesto V, Holmer S (2011) Brazilian sugar cane bagasse ashes from the cogeneration industry as active pozzolans for cement manufacture. Cem Concr Compos 33:490–496
- Ganesan K, Rajagopal M, Thangavel K (2007) Evaluation of bagasse ash as supplementary cementitious material. Cem Concr Compos 29:515–524
- "Glasphalt" May Pave the Way for Worldwide Aviation in the 21st Century, March 1, 2003. http:// www.sciencedaily.com/releases/1997/11/971110064723.htm
- Geiger G (1994) Environmental and energy issues in the glass industry. Am Ceram Soc Bull 73 (2):32–37
- Georgiadis NS, Anagnostopoulos N, Sideris KK (2007) Mechanical characteristics of self-compacting concretes produced with different filler materials. In: de Schutter G, Boel V (eds) Proceedings of the 5th international RILEM symposium on self compacting concrete, Ghent, Belgium, 3–5 Sept 2007, pp 611–618
- GL-93-3 (1994) Glass feedstock evaluation project: engineering suitability evaluation. evaluation of cullet as a construction aggregate. Clean Washington Center
- Glukhovsky VD, Rostovskaja GS, Rumyna GV (1980) High strength slag-alkaline cements. In: 7th international congress on the chemistry of cement, vol 3, pp 164–168

- Gokmenoglu Z, Sobolev K (2002) Solid waste-cement composite construction materials. In: Creating the future—second FAE international symposium, Lefke, Cyprus, pp. 153–158
- Hanehara S, Tomosawa F, Kobayakawa M, Hwang K (2001) Effects of water/powder ratio, mixing ratio of fly ash, and curing temperature on pozzolanic reaction of fly ash in cement paste. Cem Concr Res 31:31–39
- Heidrich C (2002) Slag-not a dirty word, Geopolymers 2002, Melbourne
- Hewlett P (2004) Lea's chemistry of cement and concrete. Elsevier Science & Technology Books, January 2004
- Idir R, Cyr M, Tagnit-Hamou A (2010) Use of fine glass as ASR inhibitor in glass aggregate mortars. Constr Build Mater 24:1309–1312
- Izquierdo M, Querol X (2012) Leaching behaviour of elements from coal combustion fly ash: an overview. Int J Coal Geol 94:54–66
- Jaturapitakkul C, Cheerarot R (2003) Development of bottom ash as pozzolanic material. J Mater Civ Eng 15(1):48–53
- Juckes LM (2003) The volume stability of modern steelmaking slags. Miner Process Extr Metall 112(3):177–197
- Khatib JM, Sohl HS, Sohl HS, Chileshe N (2012) Glass powder utilisation in concrete production. Eur J Appl Sci. 4(4):173–176
- Khmiri A, Samet B, Chaabouni M (2012) A cross mixture design to optimize the formulation of a ground waste glass blended cement. Constr Build Mater 28(1):680–686
- Kruger RA (1990) The chemistry of fly ash and the pozzolanic reaction. Chem SA:301-303
- Kumarappan N (2013) Partial replacement cement in concrete using waste glass. Int J Eng Res Technol (IJERT) 2(10):1880–1883
- Kurama H, Kaya M (2008) Usage of coal combustion bottom ash in concrete mixture. Constr Build Mater 22:1922–1928
- Leshchinsky A (2004) Slag sand in ready-mixed concrete. Concrete 38(3):38-39
- Luxán MP, Sotolongo R, Dorrego F, Herrero E (2000) Characteristics of the slags produced in the fusion of scrap steel by electric arc furnace. Cem Concr Res 30:517–519
- Making Concrete with Glass—Now Possible (13 May 2002) Ref: 2002/90. http://www.dbce.csiro. au/news/viewpress.cfm/109
- Malhotra VM (1998) High- performance high-volume fly ash concrete, high performance high-strength concrete: material properties, structural behavior and field application, Perth, Australia, pp 97–122
- Manso JM, Losanez M, Polanco JA, Gonzalez JJ (2005) Ladle furnace slag in construction. J Mater Civ Eng ASCE 17(5):513–518
- Mayer P (2000) Technology meets the challenge of cullet processing. Glass Ind., 2
- Mehta PK, Polivka M (1976) Use of highly active pozzolans for reducing expansion in concrete containing reacting aggregates, living with marginal aggregates. ASTM STP 597:25–35
- Menéndez E, de Frutos J (2011) Equivalences between electrical measurement and X-ray diffraction in the formation of crystalline phases of the cement pastes. Bol Soc Esp Cer Vid 50:225–234
- Menéndez E, Álvaro AM, Argiz C, Parra JL, Moragues A (2013) Characterization of bottom ashes from coal pulverized power plants to determine its potential feasibility. Bol Soc Esp Cer Vid 52 (6):296–304. https://doi.org/10.3989/cyv.372013
- Menéndez E, Álvaro AM, Hernández MT, Parra JL (2014a) New methodology for assessing the environmental burden of cement mortars with partial replacement of coal bottom ash and fly ash. J Env Man 133(1):275–283
- Menéndez E, Álvaro AM, Andrade C (2014b) Evolution of hydration of cements with coal bottom and fly ash by non-destructive techniques and porosimetry. In: Proceedings of the international conference on durability of building materials and components. Sao Paulo, Brasil, 2–5 Sept 2014
- Menéndez E, de Frutos J, Álvaro AM (2014c) Application of the electrical characterization to study the phases of hydrated cement with addictions of ashes from the power plants. Bol Soc Esp Cer Vid 53(1):32–40

- Menéndez E, Argiz C, Moragues A, Sanjuan MA (2015a) Coal bottom ash studies as new cement constituents. In: Proceedings of the international conference on cement and concrete science and technology. Beijing, China, 13–16 Oct 2015
- Menéndez E, Argiz C, Sanjuan MA, Ruiz SE (2015b) Durable behaviour of cements with bottom ash and fly ash. In: International conference on sustainable structural concrete. La Plata, Argentina, 15–18 Sept 2015
- Meyer C (2003) Glass concrete. Concr Int 25(6):55-58
- Miller RH, Collins RJ (1976) Waste materials as potential replacements for highway aggregates. NCHRP-166, Transaction of the Research Board
- Montakarntiwong K, Chusilp N, Tangchirapat W, Jaturapitakkul C (2013) Strength and heat evolution of concretes containing bagasse ash from thermal power plants in sugar industry. Mater Design 49:414–420
- Motz H, Geiseler J (2001) Products of steel slags an opportunity to save natural resources. Waste Manag 21(3):285–293
- Muhmood L, Vitta S, Venkateswaran D (2009) Cementitious and pozzolanic behavior of electric arc furnace steel slags. Cem Concr Res 39:102–109
- Municipal Solid Waste Generation, Recycling, and Disposal in the United States: Facts and Figures for 2012
- Naik TR, Kraus RN (1999) Use of glass cullet as aggregates in flowable concrete with fly ash, CBU (CBU-1999-03)
- Nash PT, Jayawickrama P et al (1995) Use of glass cullet in roadway construction, FHWA-TCEQ (0-1331)
- National Research Council Strategic Highway Research Program, Eliminating or Minimizing Alkali-Silica Reactivity, May 1993 (SHRP-C-343)
- NCAB_workshop_Nov. 23/24 (2005) http://coalash.co.il/sadna/Presentation_Feuerborn.pdf
- Papayianni I, Anastasiou E (2006) Optimization of LFS for use as a supplementary cementing material, In: Konsta-Gdoutos MS (ed) Measuring, monitoring and modeling concrete properties, Alexandroupoli, Greece, pp 411–417
- Papayianni I, Anastasiou E (2010) Production of high strength concrete using high volume of industrial by-products. Constr Build Mater 24:1412–1417
- Papayianni I, Anastasiou E (2012) Effect of granulometry on cementitious properties of ladle furnace slag. Cement Concr Compos 34:400–407
- Pasetto M (1993) Cement stabilization of urban solid waste slags and ashes in road base and subbase layers. In: Symposium proceedings—recovery and effective reuse of discarded materials and byproducts for construction of highway facilities, October 1993
- Pera J, Coutaz L, Ambroise J, Chababbet M (1997) Use of incinerator bottom ash in concrete. Cem Concr Res 27(1):1–5
- Purdon AO (1940) The action of alkalis on blast furnace slag. J Soc Chem Ind 59:191-202
- Quero VGJ, Martinez FML, Garcia PM, Tiburcio CG, Nava JCG (2013) Influence of sugar-cane bagasse ash and fly ash on the rheological behaviour of cement pastes and mortars. Constr Build Mater 40:691–701
- Ramachandran VS (1995a) Concrete admixtures handbook, 2nd edn. Noyes Publications, New Jersey
- Ramachandran VS, Feldman RF, Beaudoin JJ (1981) Concrete science: treatise on current research. Heyden & Son Ltd, London
- Ramirez T (1992) Steel slag aggregate in bituminous mixtures-final report, Pennsylvania Department of Transportation
- Ramme BW, Lingle JW, Naik TR (1998) Coal combustion products utilization in Wisconsin—an environmental approach. In: Proceedings of the three-day CANMET/ACI International Symposium on Sustainable Development of the Cement and Concrete Industry. Ottawa, Canada, 21–23 Oct, pp 349–383
- Recycled Glass in Portland Cement Concrete (March 1, 2003) http://www.cwc.org/gl_bp/gbp4-0501.htm
- Roads and Bridges (1992) Fly ash sets standard for recycled material use. pp 50-56

- Robinson HL (2000) The utilization of blastfurnace and steel making slags as aggregates for construction. In: Proceedings of the 11th extractive industry geology conference 2000, 36th forum on the geology of industrial minerals, industrial minerals and extractive industry geology, The Geological Society of London, pp 327–330
- Rodriguez D (1995) Application of differential grinding for fine cullet production and contaminant removal. Ceram Eng Sci Proc 16(2):96–100
- Rodriguez A, Manso JM, Aragon A, Gonzalez JJ (2009) Strength and workability of masonry mortars manufactured with ladle furnace slag. Resour Conserv Recy 53:645–651
- Royak SM, Royak GS (1983) Special cements, 2nd edn. Moscow, Stroyizdat, pp 88-109
- Sanjuan MA, Menéndez E (2010) Experimental analysis of pozzolanic properties of pulverized coal combustion bottom ash. In: Proceedings of the international congress on the chemistry of cement, Madrid, Spain, 3–8 July
- Sanjuán MA, Zaragoza A (2013) Chinese standards about specifications of cements. Cemento y Hormigón 957:8–17
- Sanjuan MA, Menéndez E, Argiz C, Moragues A (2016) Coal bottom ash feasibility study to be a new Portland cement constituent. In: International RILEM conference materials systems and structures in civil engineering, Lyngby, Denmark, 22–24 Aug
- Sanjuan MA, Argiz C, Menéndez E, Moragues A (2016) Alkali-aggregates reaction resistance of mortars with bottom ash from coal power stations. Rehabend. Burgos, Spain, May 24–27 2016
- Saylak D et al (1993) Applications for FGD byproduct gypsum. In: Symposium proceedings recovery and effective reuse of discarded materials and byproducts for construction of highway facilities, October 1993
- Schoenberger H (2001) Final draft: best available techniques reference document on the production of iron and steel. Publications of EC: European Commission, Joint Research Centre, IPTS, European IPPC Bureau
- Schroeder Robin L (1994) The use of recycled materials in highway construction. Publ Roads 58 (2):32–41
- Scrivener KL, Kirkpatrick RJ (2008) Innovation in use and research on cementitious material. Cem Concr Res 38:128–136
- Shao Y, Lefort T, Moras S, Rodriguez D (1998) Waste glass: a possible pozzolanic material for concrete. In: International Symposium on Sustainable Development of the Cement and Concrete Industry, CANMET/ACI, Ottawa, 1998, pp 317–326
- Shayan A, Xu A (2006) Performance of glass powder as a pozzolanic material in concrete: a field trial on concrete slabs. Cem Concr Res J 36:457–468
- Shi C (2004) Steel slag—its production, processing and cementitious properties. J Mater Civ Eng ASCE 16(3):230–236
- Shi C, Hu S (2003) Cementitious properties of ladle slag fines under autoclave curing conditions. Cem Concr Res 33:1851–1856
- Shin CJ, Sonntag V (1994) Using recycled glass as construction aggregate, Transportation Research Board, National Research Council (No. 1437)
- SIA 162/1-E (2003) Non-Destructive Site Air-Permeability Test. Concrete Construction Complementary Specifications. Swiss Standard Method
- Siddique R (2010) Utilization of coal combustion by-products in sustainable construction materials. Resour Conserv Recycl 54(12):1060–1066
- Sideris KK (2014) Long term durability properties of self-compacting concrete mixtures produced with ladle furnace slag. Internal report of the laboratory of building materials, Democritus University of Thrace, p 75 (in Greek)
- Singh NB, Singh VD, Rai S (2000) Hydration of bagasse ash-blended Portland cement. Cem Concr Res 30:1485–1488
- Sobolev K (1993) High- strength concrete with low cement factor. PhD dissertation, Chemical Admixtures Lab, Research Institute of Concrete and Reinforced Concrete, Moscow, Russia
- Sobolev K (2003a) Effect of complex admixtures on cement properties and the development of a test procedure for the evaluation of high-strength cements. Adv Cem Res 15(1):67–76

- Sobolev K (2003b) Sustainable development of the cement industry and blended cements to meet ecological challenges. Sci World J 3:308–318
- Sobolev K (2003) Recycling of waste glass in eco-cement. The American Ceramic Society, pp 9501–9507
- Sobolev K (2004) The development of a new method for the proportioning of high-performance concrete mixtures. Cem Concr Compos 26(7):901–907
- Sobolev K (2005) Mechano-chemical modification of cement with high volumes of blast furnace slag. Cement Concr Compos 27(7–8):848–853
- Sobolev K, Arikan M (2002) High-volume mineral additive ECO-cement. Am Ceram Soc Bull 81 (1):39–43
- Sobolev K, Soboleva S (1999) High performance cement: solution for next millennium. Mater Technol 14(4):191–193
- Sobolev K, Yeginobali A (2005) The development of high-strength mortars with improved thermal and acid resistance. Cem Concr Res 35(3):578–583
- Sobolev K, Türker P, Yeginobali A, Erdogan B (2004) Microstructure and properties of eco-cement containing waste glass. In: International Conference on Sustainable Waste Management and Recycling: Challenges and Opportunities, UK
- Sobolev K, Türker P, Soboleva S, Iscioglu G (2007) Utilization of waste glass in eco-cement: properties and microstructural observations. Waste Manag 27(7):971–976
- Sobolev K, Moini M, Muzenski S, Pradoto R, Kozhukhova M, Flores-Vivian I, Cramer S, Pham L, Faheem A (2015) Laboratory study of optimized concrete pavement mixtures, Report WHRP 0092-13-04. http://wisconsindot.gov/documents2/research/13-04-final-report. pdf
- Somna R, Jaturapitakkul C, Rattanachu P, Chalee W (2012) Effect of ground bagasse ash on mechanical and durability properties of recycled aggregate concrete. Mater Des 36:597-603
- Stewart G (1986) Cullet and glass container manufacture. Resource Recycling, 2
- Swamy RN (1986) Cement replacement materials. Surrey University Press, Surrey
- Tang M (1973) An investigation on mineral composition of steel slag for cement production. Research Rep., Nanjing Institute of Chemical Technology, Nanjing, China
- The Statistics Portal. U.S. glass and glass product manufacturing gross output from 1998 to 2014. http://www.statista.com/statistics/194278/us-glass-manufacturing-gross-output-since-1998/
- Togawa K et al (1992) Study on the effects of blast- furnace slag on properties of no-slump concrete mixtures. In: Proceedings of the fourth international conference on fly ash, silica fume, slag and natural pozzolans in concrete, Istanbul, Turkey
- Tossavainen M, Engstrom F, Yang Q, Menad N, Lidstrom Larsson M, Bjorkman B (2007a) Characteristics of steel slag under different cooling conditions. Waste Manage 27:1335–1344
- Tsakiridis PE, Papadimitriou GD, Tsivilis S, Koroneos C (2008) Utilization of steel slag for Portland cement clinker production. J Hazard Mater 152(2):805–811
- Typical Contaminants in Recycled Glass (1 March, 2003) http://www.cwc.org/gl_bp/gbp1-0201. htm
- U.S. Department of Energy (2002) Glass industry of the future—energy and environmental profile of the U.S. Glass Industry, pp 1–23
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (1992) Markets for recovered glass, pp 1–15 (EPA-530-SW-90-071A)
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (2002) Characterization of municipal solid waste in the United States: 2000 Update, pp 7–41
- User Guidelines for By-products and Secondary Use Materials in Pavement Construction, FHWA-RD-97-148, 2008
- Van Jaarsveld JGS, Van Deventer JSJ, Lorenzen L (1995) Factors affecting the immobilization of metals in geopolymerised fly ash. Research report, Department of Chemical Engineering, University of Stellenbosch, South Africa
- Gunalaan V, Kanapathy SG (2013) Performance of using waste glass powder in concrete as replacement of cement. Am J Eng Res (AJER). 2(12):175–181

- Ward CR, French D (2006) Determination of glass content and estimation of glass composition in fly ash using quantitative X-ray diffractometry. Fuel 85(16):2268–2277. Special Issue: The 2005 World of Coal Ash Conference
- Wintenborn JL, Green JJ (1998) Steelmaking slag: a safe and valuable product. The steel slag coalition
- Wu Xuequan, Hong Zhu, Xinkai Hou, Husen Li (1999) Study on steel slag and fly ash composite Portland cement. Cem Concr Res 29(7):1103–1106
- Xie Z, Xiang W, Xi Y (2003) ASR potentials of glass aggregates in water-glass activated fly ash and portland cement mortars. J Mater Civil Eng. 15(1):67–74
- Yildirim IZ, Prezzi M (2011) Chemical, mineralogical, and morphological properties of steel slag. Advances in civil engineering-special issue of the use of recyclable materials in sustainable civil engineering applications (RMSCE), vol 2011, Article ID 463638, 13 p, 2011

Additional Literature

- Fily-Paré I, Jolin M (2013) The use of recycled glass in shotcrete. In: Proceedings in the International Conference Shotcrete Fall, pp 14–69
- Khan SU, Nuruddin MF, Ayub T, Shafiq N (2014) Effects of different mineral admixtures on the properties of fresh concrete. Sci World J 2014 (2014), Article ID 986567, 11 p. doi:https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/986567
- Pascual AB, Tognonvi MT, Tagnit-Hamou A (2014) Waste glass powder-based alkali-activated mortar IJRET. Int J Res Eng Technol 3(13):2321–7308
- Chapter 3 Fly Ash, Slag, Silica Fume, and Natural Pozzolans Design and Control of Concrete Mixtures EB001
- Jones EE, Murrie SJ (1980) Utilization of steel plant slag products in Australia. Excerpt from a paper presented at the 1st Process Technology Conference, Washington D.C.
- Proctor DM, Fehling KA, Shay EC, Wittenborn JL, Green JJ, Avent C, Bigham RD, Connolly M, Lee B, Shepker TO, Zak MA (2000) Recycled materials in European highway environments: uses, technologies, and policies. FHWA-PL-00-025. Physical and Chemical Characteristics of Blast Furnace, Basic Oxygen Furnace, and Electric Arc Furnace Steel Industry Slags. Environmental Science & Technology. 34(8):1576–1582
- Recycled Materials in European Highway Environments: Uses, Technologies, and Policies, FHWA-PL-00-025, 2000
- Proctor DM, Fehling KA, Shay EC, Wittenborn JL, Green JJ, Avent C, Bigham RD, Connolly M, Lee B, Shepker TO, Zak MA (2000b) Physical and chemical characteristics of blast furnace, basic oxygen furnace, and electric arc furnace steel industry slags. Environ Sci Technol 34 (8):1576–1582
- Soil Screening Guidance: Technical Background Document; EPA/ 540/R-95/128; U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response, Office of Emergency and Remedial Response; Hazardous Site Control Division; U.S. Government Printing Office: Washington, DC, 1996
- McCarthy DF (1993) Essentials of soil mechanics and foundations, 4th edn. Regents/Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, p 54
- EPA TCLP: Toxicity Characteristic Leaching Procedure
- ASTM C151/ C151 M 09 "Standard Test Method for Autoclave Expansion of Hydraulic Cement"
- EN 1744-1:2009, "Tests for chemical properties of aggregates: chemical analysis."
- Barra M, Ramonich EV, Munoz MA (2001) Stabilization of soils with steel slag and cement for application in rural and low traffic roads. In: Proceedings of the beneficial use of recycled materials in transportation application. RMCR University of Durham, Arlington, Va., Nov. 13– 15, pp 423–432
- Geiseler J (1996) Use of steelworks slag in Europe. Waste Manag 16(1-3):59-63

- Murphy JN, Meadowcroft TR, Barr PV (1997) Enhancement of the cementitious properties of steelmaking slag. Can Metall Q 36(5):315–331
- Nicolae M, Vîlciu I, Zăman F (2007) X-ray diffraction analysis of steel slag and blast furnace slag viewing their use for road construction. UPB Scientific Bulletin Series B 69(2):99–108
- Qian GR, Sun DD, Tay JH, Lai ZY (2002) Hydrothermal reaction of autoclave stability of Mg bearing RO phase in steel slag. Br Ceram Trans 101(4):159–164
- Reddy AS, Pradhan RK, Chandra S (2006) Utilization of basic oxygen furnace (BOF) slag in the production of a hydraulic cement binder. Int J Miner Process 79(2):98–105
- Tossavainen M, Engstrom F, Yang Q, Menad N, Larsson ML, Bjorkman B (2007b) Characteristics of steel slag under different cooling conditions. Waste Manag 27(10):1335–1344
- Wachsmuth F, Geiseler J, Fix W, Koch K, Schwerdtfeger K (1981) Contribution to the structure of BOF-slags and its influence on their volume stability. Can Metall Q 20(3):279–284
- Pascoe RD, Barley RW, Child PR (2001) Autogenous grinding of glass cullet in a stirred mill. In: Dhir RK, Limbachiya MC, Dyer TD (ed) Recycling and reuse of glass cullet. Thomas Telford Ltd., London, pp 15–29
- Evaluation of Crushed Recycled Glass as a Filtration Medium in Slow Rate Sand Filtration, Clean Washington Center, 1995
- Marikunte S, Shah SP (1993) Engineering of cement based composites. In: Proceedings of the international RILEM workshop—concrete technology: new trends, industrial applications. E&FN Spon, London, pp 83–102
- Shah SP (1993) Recent trends in the science and technology of concrete. In: Proceedings of the international RILEM workshop—concrete technology: new trends, industrial applications. E&FN Spon, London, pp 1–18
- Batrakov VG (1990) Modified concrete. Stroyizdat, Moscow, pp 6-37 (in Russian)
- Ramachandran VS (1995b) Concrete admixtures handbook. Noyes Publications, New Jersey
- Malhotra VM (1998) High- performance high- volume fly ash concrete. In: Rangan BV, Patnaik AK (ed) Proceedings of the international conference on high performance highstrength concrete: material properties, structural behavior and field application, Curtin University, Perth, 1998, pp 97–122
- Sobolev K, Soboleva S (1998) Complex admixture and method of cement based materials production. International PCT Application PCT/TR98/00008, Vienna (WO98/54108)
- Al-Manaseer AA, Aquino EB, Kumbardi H (1999) Properties of concrete containing ultimax rapid-setting hydraulic cements. ACI Mater J 96(5):529–535
- European Committee for Standardization. European Standard Specification for Cement, European Standard, 1994, EN 197-1
- TSE. Rilem Cembureau Standard Sand, TSE, Ankara, 1989, TS 819
- European Committee for Standardization (1994) Test method for determining compressive strength of cement mortar. European Standard, 1994, EN 196
- American Society for Testing and Materials. Compressive Strength of Hydraulic Cement Mortars (Using 2-in or 50-mm Cube Specimens), Annual Book of ASTM Standards, 1999, ASTM C109
- American Society for Testing and Materials. Compressive Strength of Hydraulic Cement Mortars (Using Portions of Prisms Broken in Flexure), Annual Book of ASTM Standards, 1999, ASTM C349
- Argiz C, Menéndez E, Sanjuán MA (2013) Effect of mixes made of coal bottom ash and fly ash on the mechanical strength and porosity of Portland cement. Mat. Const. 63(309):49–64. https:// doi.org/10.3989/mc.2013.03911
- EN 196 6, 2010. Methods of testing cement Part 6: Determination of fineness
- Vom Berg W, Feuerborn HJ (2007) Produkte aus der kohleverbrennung in Europa wertvolle robstoffe für die bauindustrie
- ETSICCP (UPM) (2014) Study of the use of bottom ash of the coal power plants as addiction of Portland cements. Comparative analysis with the fly ash, Ph.D. Dissertation, Madrid, Spain

- Menéndez E, Frutos Jd, Andrade C (2009) Analysis non-destructive of the degradation state in mortars under frost-thawing cycles. Boletín de la Sociedad Española de Cerámica y Vidrio. 48(5):223–230
- EN 196 5, 2011, Methods of testing cement. Part 5: Pozzolanicity test for pozzolanic cement
- AASHTO Standards: M 147 Materials for Aggregate and Soil-Aggregate Subbase, Base and Surface
- U.S. EPA, Characterization of Municipal Solid Waste in the United States: 1990 Update, June 1990, (USEPA 1990) pp 12, 15
- W.S. Department of Commerce, U.S. Industrial Outlook 1990
- Predicasts, Inc., Predicasts' Basebook, 1989, p 500
- U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, 1987 Census of Manufactures, Industry Series: Glass Products
- US. EPA, Characterization of Municipal Solid Waste in the United States, 1960 to 2000 (update 1988), March 30,1988, pp 21, 22
- U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, 1987 Census of Manufactures, Industry Series: Glass Products. Data from the 1987 Census of Manufactures do not contain revised estimates of cullet use, since a large fraction of the total had to be estimated
- California Division of Recycling, Biannual Report on Redemption and Recycling Rates: July 1, 1988 to December 31, 1988, pp 5, 8
- Darlene Snow and Ballina Edwards, Glass Recycling: Opportunities and Constraints, August 1985
- Nash PT, Jayawickrama PW, Tock RW, Senadheera SP, Viswanathan K, Woolverton B (1995) Use of recycled glass cullet in roadway construction—Final Report. Final Report 1331-2F, College of Engineering, Texas Tech University, Lubbock, Texas, August 1995
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Residential Collection of Household End-of-Life Electrical and Electronic Equipment: Pilot Collection Project (EPA-901-R-98-002), prepared by Northeast Resource Recovery Association for the Common-Sense Initiative – Computer and Electronics Sector, Region I, Boston, MA, February 1998
- US Environmental Protection Agency, San Jose Computer Collection and Recycling Pilot: Draft, prepared by Vista Environmental for the Common-Sense Initiative—Computer and Electronics Sector, Region IX, San Francisco, CA, February 1998
- Union County Utilities Authority, Union County Demanufacturing Program Semi-Annual Report, Union County, NJ, October 1, 1997-March 31, 1998
- Bureau of the Census, Census of Population and Housing, 1990, Washington, DC, 1992
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Household Hazardous Waste Management: A Manual for One-Day Community Collection Programs (EPA-530-R-92-026), prepared by the Waste Watch Center for the Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response, Washington, DC, August 1993
- United States Environmental Protection Agency, Full Cost Accounting for Municipal Solid Waste Management: A Handbook (EPA 530-R-95-041), Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response, Washington, DC, September 1997
- European Commission, Recovery of Waste from Electrical and Electronic Equipment: Economic and Environmental Impacts (AEAT/2004 Issue 1), prepared by AEA Technology for the European Commission DGXI, Oxfordshire, UK, July 1997
- Inc Keep America Beautiful (1994) The Role of recycling in integrated solid waste management to the year 2000. prepared by Franklin Associates, Stamford, CT
- Dana Duxbury & Associates, Proceedings of the Fifth National Conference on Household Hazardous Waste Management, Andover, MA, November, 1990
- Veldhuizen H, Sippel B (1994) Mining discarded electronics. Industry and Environment, vol 17, No. 3, United Nations Environment Program, July–Sept 1994

Woods R (1994) Handling difficult materials. Waste Age

- Cutter Information Corp., "Europe Moves Toward Integrated Product Policy", Product Stewardship Advisor, September 4, 1998
- Paddock T (1989) The costs and benefits of household hazardous waste collection programs. Academy of Natural Sciences

Major Constraints on Glass Waste Recovery and Recycling

http://www.epd.gov.hk/epd/english/environmentinhk/waste/guide_ref/guide_factsheets06.html

Chapter 8 Rice Husk Ash

Guang Ye, Hao Huang and Nguyen Van Tuan

Abstract This chapter reviews the performance of rice husk ash (RHA) as partial cement replace in ordinary Portland cement concrete. After pyroprocessing with controlled combustion, highly pozzolanic RHA can be produced. Due to the high specific surface area and pozzolanic properties, RHA shows very good performance as a supplementary cementitious material in concrete. For early age properties, concrete made of RHA needs more water and high dosages of superplasticizer compared to ordinary Portland cement concrete. The RHA concrete has slightly longer setting times than ordinary Portland cement concrete. When the replacement level of ordinary Portland cement by RHA is about 20% by weight of the total binder material, the compressive strength, tensile strength and flexural strength of concrete made of RHA are enhanced. Due to the special porous structures, RHA shows excellent capacity to keep high relative humidity in the concrete, thus RHA significantly mitigates the autogenous shrinkage of concrete, especially high performance or ultra-high performance concrete made with RHA as addition. From water permeability and chloride diffusivity tests the coefficient of water absorption of RHA concrete is lower and the chloride diffusion coefficient is reduced.

Keywords Rice husk ash • Supplementary cementitious materials Pozzolanic reaction • Concrete properties

G. Ye (\boxtimes) · H. Huang Delft University of Technology, Stevinweg 1, Delft, The Netherlands e-mail: G.Ye@tudelft.nl

H. Huang e-mail: H.Huang-1@tudelft.nl

N. Van Tuan National University of Civil Engineering, 55 Giai Phong Road, Hanoi, Vietnam e-mail: tuannv@nuce.edu.vn

8.1 Introduction

8.1.1 General

The rice plant is one of the plants that absorbs silica from the soil and assimilates it into its structure during the growth (Smith and Kamwanja 1986). Rice husk is the outer covering of the grain of rice plant with a high concentration of silica, after burning generally more than 80–85% (Siddique 2008). It is responsible for approximately 30% of the gross weight of a rice kernel and normally contains 80% of organic and 20% of inorganic substances. The husk normally contains about 50% cellulose, 25–30% lignin, and 15–20% of silica. Upon burning, cellulose and lignin are removed, leaving behind silica ash. On the average, each ton of rice husks, on completion of combustion, produces 200 kg of ash. In 2010 the world-production of rice paddy is approximately 690 million tonnes; thus about 140 million tonnes of rice husks are available for disposal.

There are several methods to convert rice husks to ash that have been suggested. In 1973, Mehta (1973) investigated the effect of pyroprocessing on the pozzolanic reactivity of RHA. Based on his work, Pitt (1976) developed a fluidized bed furnace for the controlled combustion of rice husk. It was found that when the temperature of burning and the residency time inside the furnace are controlled, highly pozzolanic RHA could be produced. Since then, many attempts have been made to produce and use reactive RHA in several countries including, among others, China, Vietnam, Japan, India, Guyana, Malaysia, Senegal, Taiwan, and the UK (Yu et al. 1999; Yamamoto and Lakho 1982; Boateng and Skeete 1990; Singh et al. 1994; Mahmud et al. 1997; Cisse and Laquerbe 2000; Cook et al. 1976; Hwang and Wu 1989; Zhang and Malhotra 1996 ; Bouzoubaa and Fournier 2001; Bui et al. 2005).

There are two forms of RHA, i.e. the crystalline and amorphous RHA after thermal treatment. The amorphous RHA is a highly reactive pozzolanic material suitable for use in lime-pozzolana mixes and for Portland cement replacement (Smith and Kamwanja 1986; Zhang and Malhotra 1996; Nicole et al. 2000; Sakr 2006; Sata et al. 2007). The use of RHA in concrete has been associated with the following essential assets: increased compressive and flexural strengths (Zhang and Malhotra 1996; Ismaila and Waliuddin 1996; Rodriguez 2006); reduced permeability (Zhang and Malhotra 1996; Ganesan et al. 2007). RHA could reduce the effects of alkali-silica reactivity (ASR) (Nicole et al. 2000) and reduced shrinkage (Habeeb and Fayyadh 2009; Ye and Nguyen 2012).

8.1.2 Environmental Issue of RHA

To obtain a major reduction in the CO_2 emission associated with cement production, the clinker content of the final product must be lowered as much as possible by maximizing the proportion of mineral admixtures in cement, and by increasing the use of blended cements in general construction (Mehta 2002, 2009). Among the technically acceptable and economically available mineral admixtures produced every year, such as fly ash (500 million tons), limestone (170 million tons), and blast-furnace slag (75 million tons), RHA with about 28 million tons also offers a potential for reducing a considerable amount of the CO_2 emission attributable to the cementitious materials used in concrete.

During rice cultivation, the bulky nature of rice husk could cause difficulty for storage and transportation. When rice husk is not treated properly, such as dumping into ponds or streams, it seriously pollutes the environment. Using the ash obtained from the husk combustion as a mineral admixture in concrete is one of the useful solutions. As a result, the problems and costs associated with the environmentally safe disposal of this waste can be reduced or sometimes entirely eliminated. The socio-economic benefits, achieved by the utilization of RHA as a mineral admixture in concrete, are now well recognized by all those concerned with the production, disposal, and utilization of this waste.

Like other biomass (e.g. wood), the content of S in rice husk is very low, and the toxic gas generated in the burning of rice husk does not cause a significant damage to human's body.

8.1.3 Reactivity and Pozzolanic Reaction of RHA

The reactivity of RHA associated to lime depends on a combination of two factors: namely the non-crystalline silica content and its specific surface (Dakroury and Gasser 2008). The surface area of the incinerated ash is $60-100 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$ when determined by nitrogen adsorption. The chemical analyses of the ashes produced by the incineration of rice husks show that the silica content ranges from 90 to 95%, alkalis (K₂O and Na₂O) from 1% to 2%, and unburnt carbon from 3% to 18% (Della et al. 2002). The XRD pattern (He et al. 2013) in Fig. 8.1 shows one sharp peak superimposed on a broad hump at 10–35 20. The sharp peak is from cristobalite, a high-temperature polymorph of silica. The very broad hump is from amorphous silica, a major constituent in RHA. A very weak peak from quartz, a crystalline phase of silica, is also present, but its height is masked by the broad hump from the amorphous silica. According to the chemical composition, silica in the RHA is mainly present as amorphous phase with cristobalite and traces crystalline quartz.

As a consequence of the characteristic, RHA is an extremely reactive pozzolanic substance appropriate for use in lime-pozzolana mixes and for Portland cement replacement. The scanning electron microscopic images of typical RHA indicated that RHA particles are angular and still keep the porous structure after grinding as shown in Fig. 8.2 (Nguyen et al. 2011). Experiments have shown that rice husk ash when replacing cement will accelerate the early hydration of C_3S . This is attributed to the high specific surface area of the rice husk ash (Feng et al. 2004).



Fig. 8.1 XRD pattern of rice husk ash Reproduced from He et al. (2013)



Fig. 8.2 SEM images of RHA before grinding (a) and after grinding (b) (Nguyen et al. 2011)

This phenomenon specially takes place with fine particles of RHA. Although the small particles of pozzolans are less reactive than Portland cements (Mehta 1990), they produce a large number of nucleation cites for the precipitation of the hydration products by dispersing in cement pastes. Consequently, this mechanism creates the more homogenous and denser paste as for the distribution of the finer pores due to the pozzolanic reactions between the amorphous silica of the mineral admixture and the calcium hydroxide (CH) (Isaia et al. 2003). Mehta (1987) reported that the finer particles of RHA speed up the reactions and form smaller CH crystals. Berry et al. (1994) revealed that high volume of not completely reacted pozzolanic particles in the cement paste might fill up the voids and enhance density of the paste.

As mentioned, the addition of RHA in cement paste leads to a reduced CH content caused by the pozzolanic reaction. Nguyen (2011) investigated the reactivity and pozzolanic reaction of RHA by comparison with silica fume (SF). The content of $Ca(OH)_2$ present from 0.25 to 360 days in cement paste with and without RHA and SF is shown in Fig. 8.3. It can be seen that the addition of RHA decreases strongly the content of $Ca(OH)_2$ of cement paste beyond 3 days for both w/b ratios



Fig. 8.3 The content of $Ca(OH)_2$ of cement blended with 0, 10 and 20% RHA or SF at ages from 0.25 to 360 days (Nguyen 2011).

of 0.25 and 0.40. The Ca(OH)₂ content falls to a well-defined minimum, which occurs at about 91 days. Compared with the SF paste, the RHA paste had similar CH content from 0.25 to 3 days, but higher values after 7 days. More added SF strongly decreases the CH content of cement paste. This can be caused by the more significant pozzolanic reaction of SF versus time than that of RHA.

8.2 Effect of RHA on Fresh Concrete Properties

8.2.1 Influence on Workability and Bleeding

Laskar and Talukdar (2008) examined the effects of RHA on the rheological behaviour of high performance concrete. In their study, RHA was used to replace cement on mass basis at rates of 5, 10, 15 and 20%. Based on their test results, plastic viscosity increases tremendously with the increase in cement replacement level of RHA. RHA particles have the highest surface area and fineness and lower reaction ability than cement (Shetty 2004). RHA particles fill into the spaces made by larger cement particle, decrease frictional forces of RHA-ordinary Portland cement (OPC) system and improve packing efficiency thereby reducing the yield stress. The steep increase in plastic viscosity with the replacement levels suggests that fineness and shape of RHA play a critical role. The higher fineness and the higher number of contacts among the particles result in the higher resistance to flow. (Nehdi et al. 1998).

Due to the hydrophilic nature and high specific surface of RHA, the water demand increases (Nehdi et al. 2003; Givi et al. 2010). The concrete incorporating RHA required higher dosages of the superplasticizer and the air-entraining admixture than those of the control Portland cement and silica fume concretes to

achieve the same slump and air content (Cordeiro et al. 2009; Hwang et al. 2011). However, studies by Owen (1979) and Jiang and Malhotra (2000) show a different behaviour. They found that there is the possibility of water reduction higher than 20% in the presence of RHA compared to ordinary Portland cement concrete. This is because fine particles of rice husk ash get absorbed on the oppositely charged surfaces of cement particles and prevent them from flocculation. The cement particles are thus effectively dispersed and will trap a large amount of water meaning that the system will have a reduced water requirement to achieve a given consistency.

The bleeding of the concrete incorporating RHA was negligible (Zhang and Malhotra 1996).

8.2.2 Influence on Setting Time

Initial and final setting time tests were shown to yield different results on plain cement paste and pastes containing rice husk ash (Dakroury and Gasser 2008). The studies by Ganesan et al. (2008), Cook (1986), and Bhanumathidas and Mehta (2004) showed that addition of RHA increases the setting time of pastes. Just like for hydraulic cement, the reactivity of rice husk ash cement depends significantly upon the specific surface area or particle size. The rice husk ash cement with finer particles exhibits superior setting time behaviour. Research has shown the increase of the initial setting time by increasing the RHA content compared to plain cement paste. Dakroury and Gasser (2008) concluded that this might be due to the slower pace of heat-induced evaporation of water from the cement and RHA mixture (Fig. 8.4).



8.2.3 Temperature Effects in Concrete

Exothermal reactions occur during the cement hydration. Hydration heat is an essential aspect that influences the setting and behaviour of Portland cements. This temperature variation, from the initial moment of setting until the hardening of the cement paste, may cause shrinkage, which results in the cracks formation that can be seen in some constructions (Rojas et al. 1993). Cement blended with pozzolanic materials usually has decreased heat of hydration compared to pure cement during the period of C₃S hydration (Mostafa and Brown 2005). The rate of hydration heat release of the cement added with pozzolanic material mainly depends on three factors, calcium silicate (C_3S) hydration, aluminate (C_3A) hydration and pozzolanic reaction (Hewlett 1998). Likewise, RHA showed an increase of hydration heat behaviour (positive values) during the first 12 h. The increase in the hydration heat of cement blended with RHA may be due to (1) the acceleration of the early hydration of C₃S ascribed to the high specific surface area of the RHA (Feng et al. 2004) and (2) pozzolanic reaction. The comparison between the hydration heats of control sample (plain cement) with samples by partial pozzolanic materials replacement of cement is shown in Fig. 8.5. Figure 8.5 demonstrates the cement added with RHA has larger enthalpy compared to the plain cement (within 36 h). These effects can be summarized as the pozzolanic activity and the dilution effect. The pozzolanic effect is expected to increase the heat output due to the reaction of pozzolans with calcium hydroxide. The dilution effect is expected to decrease the heat output due to the dilution in the main cement compounds (C_3S) (Mostafa and Brown 2005).

The replacement of cement by condensed SF and RHA does not lower the temperature rise and their use for this purpose is not recommended (Malhotra 1993).





8.3 Influence of RHA on Mechanical Properties of Concrete

8.3.1 Effect of RHA on Compressive Strength of Concrete

The incorporation of RHA as a partial replacement of cement enhances the compressive strength of concrete. The optimum replacement level of OPC by RHA to give maximum long-term strength enhancement has been reported between 10% up to 30% by weight of the total binder material (see Table 8.1). Ganesan et al. (2008) replaced OPC in concrete by RHA from 5 to 35% by weight of cement and tested the compressive strength from 7 to 90 days. He concluded that 15 to 20% cement replacement by RHA appeared to be an optimal level for achieving maximum strength for all ages. However, Dakroury and Gasser (2008) reported that using 30% RHA as a partial replacement of cement could be considered optimum for all water to cement ratios (w/c) in investigated mortar cubes because of its high value of compressive strength. For 50% cement replacement mixes, there was a significant reduction in the compressive strength of mortar samples at early ages as well as at 60 days (AI-Khalaf et al. 1984).

The increase in compressive strength of concretes with residual RHA may also be justified by the filler (physical) effect. It is concluded that RHA can provide a positive effect on the compressive strength of concrete at early ages. In the long term, the compressive strength of concrete blended with RHA produced by controlled incineration shows better performance. According to Rodriguez (2006), the RHA concrete had higher compressive strength at 91 days in comparison to that of the concrete without RHA. Zhang and Malhotra (1996) reported that achieving higher compressive strength and decrease of permeability in RHA blended concrete are perhaps caused by the reduced porosity, reduced calcium hydroxide content and reduced thickness of the interfacial transition zone between the paste and the aggregate. The development of more C–S–H gel in concrete containing RHA due to the reaction between RHA and calcium hydroxide in hydrating cement may progress the concrete properties (Yu et al. 1999).

8.3.2 Effect of RHA on Tensile and Flexural Strength of Concrete

Habeeb and Fayyadh (2009) investigated the effects of concrete incorporating 20% RHA as a partial replacement of cement at three different particle sizes. In their study the tensile strength of concrete increased slightly with increasing RHA replacement. The results of tensile and flexural strength of concrete containing RHA with different particle sizes are shown in Table 8.2.

The use of RHA also resulted in slight improvement in flexural strength of concrete (Habeeb and Fayyadh 2009; Sensale 2006; Sakr 2006; Hesami et al. 2014).

Table 8.1	Compressive st	rength of cor	ncrete mad	Table 8.1 Compressive strength of concrete made with RHA as a partial cement replacement	artial ceme	ent replacem	lent			
Mix No	RHA (%)	Quantities (kg/ m ³)	(kg/	Water (kg/m ³)	Aggregate	fe	Compress	Compressive Strength (MPa)	(MPa)	Citation
		Cement	RHA	1	Fine	Coarse	7 days	28 days	90 days	
0	0	383	0	203	1150	575	27.2	37.1	38.3	Ganesan et al. (2008)
	5	364	19	203	1150	575	27.6	40.0	43.3	Ganesan et al. (2008)
2	10	345	38	203	1150	575	28.0	41.3	44.8	Ganesan et al. (2008)
3	10	279	31	186	1020	835	I	39	I	Antiohos et al. (2014)
4	10	481	53.4	172	1050	069	51.1	60.4	64.3	Sensale et al. (2006)
5	15	326	57	203	1150	575	29.3	41.8	45.7	Ganesan et al. (2008)
9	15	360	64	191	767	957	I	42.9	I	Chalee et al. (2013)
7	20	306	77	203	1150	575	29.7	42.5	46.0	Ganesan et al. (2008)
8	20	427	107	172	1050	069	44.3	54.8	62.7	Sensale et al. (2006)
6	20	248	62	186	1030	840	I	37	I	Antiohos et al. (2014)
10	25	287	96	203	1150	575	28.7	38.8	43.0	Ganesan et al. (2008)
11	30	268	115	203	1150	575	27.4	37.6	38.7	Ganesan et al. (2008)
12	30	400	171	215	557	933	43	54	64	Hwang et al. (2011)
13	35	249	134	203	1150	575	25.7	35.1	37.2	Ganesan et al. (2008)

Table 8.2 Mechanical properties of concrete (Ubeschool for the sector)		Flexura (MPa)	l strengtł	1	Tensile strength	splitting n (MPa)	
(Habeeb and Fayyadh 2009)	Mix	Age (da	ays)		Age (da	ays)	
		28	90	180	28	90	180
	CM ^a	4.5	4.9	5.1	2.6	2.8	2.9
	20F1 ^b	4.9	5.4	5.5	2.9	3.0	3.2
	20F2 ^c	5.0	5.4	5.7	3.2	3.3	3.5
	20F3 ^d	5.2	5.7	6.1	3.2	3.5	3.9
	^a Control m	ix				÷	<u>.</u>

^bRHA with average particle size of 31.3 µm ^cRHA with average particle size of 18.3 µm

^dRHA with average particle size of 11.5 µm



Hesami et al. (2014) stated that the increase in flexural strength could be due to the improvement of the bond between the cement paste and aggregate in the presence of RHA. It is clear from Table 8.2 that the coarser RHA particle mixture showed the least improvement in flexural strength as well in tensile splitting strength. This might be caused by the increased pozzolanic reaction and the packing efficiency of the RHA fine particles.

8.3.3 Effect of RHA on Stress-Strain Relation and Modulus of Elasticity of Concrete

Figure 8.6 compares the stress-axial strain curves of concretes C (reference concrete), N15 (natural RHA, 15% replacement) and G15 (ground RHA, 15% replacement) at 28 days. The modulus of elasticity was 30.8, 28.3 and 31.3 GPa for concretes C, N15 and G15 respectively. As it was indicated, the incorporation of RHA does not cause significant changes in the modulus of elasticity-strength relationship (Zerbino et al. 2011).

Mix*	Modulus of elasticity (GPa)	Flexural strength (MPa)
Control	29.1	3.7
TRHA	30.2	4.5
SF	31.8	5.1
ChRHA	32.1	5.4

Table 8.3 Elastic modulus and flexural strength of concrete mixes at 56 days (Salas et al. 2009)

*Control conventional concrete

TRHA concrete made of 10% conventional type RHA as partial replacement of cement SF concrete made of 10% silica fume as partial replacement of cement

ChRHA concrete made of 10% chemically treated RHA as partial replacement of cement

Salas et al. (2009) examined the mechanical properties of concrete made of 10% of thermal treated RHA (TRHA) and chemical treated RHA (ChRHA) and compared to concrete of 10% silica fume (SF) and ordinary Portland cement concrete (control). The tests results for flexural strength and modulus of elasticity of the concretes are given in Table 8.3. These data also confirmed that flexural strength and modulus of elasticity of the control and TRHA mixes are comparable, while the same properties are comparable for SF and ChRHA (Chemical treated RHA) added mixes (Salas et al. 2009).

Zhang and Malhotra (1996)also found that even if the RHA concrete had lower compressive strengths at ages up to 180 days compared with that of the silica fume concrete, the flexural and splitting tensile strengths, modulus of elasticity, and drying shrinkage were comparable.

8.4 Influence of RHA on Shrinkage and Creep of Concrete

8.4.1 Effect of RHA on Shrinkage of Concrete Mixes

The higher the replacement level of RHA in concrete, the more the volume change characteristics differ from with those of the ordinary Portland cement mixes.

Sensale et al. (2008) claimed that RHA has considerable influence on autogenous deformation and on the autogenous relative humidity change of hardening Portland cement paste with low w/b. RHA markedly decreases the autogenous shrinkage as well as produces an autogenous relative humidity change. Huang and Ye (2016) examined the relative humidity of cement paste with w/b ratio of 0.25, made of 20% RHA addition with different particle sizes and compared to reference sample without RHA (Fig. 8.7). They tested the RH change 20 min after casting. They found that relative humidity started to differ after 2 days curing.

An increase in the RHA content decreases the autogenous deformation. Figure 8.8a shows the development of autogenous shrinkage of ultra-high performance cement paste incorporating different amounts of RHA with average particle size of 5.6 μ m (Ye and Nguyen 2012). When a higher amount of RHA is added,



Fig. 8.7 Internal RH change of different cement pastes in 7 days (Huang and Ye 2016)



Fig. 8.8 Autogenous shrinkage of UHPC mixtures (water/binder = 0.18) with **a** different amounts of RHA with $d_{(RHA)mean} = 5.6 \mu m$, and **b** with different mean particle sizes, measured from the final setting time (Ye and Nguyen 2012)

i.e. 20%, the autogenous shrinkage of UHPC is significantly reduced compared to the reference sample without RHA. After the first twelve hours from the final set, the RHA modified samples show only a very small increase in autogenous shrinkage. In addition, after reaching the age of 10 days, the autogenous shrinkage of the RHA modified samples was further mitigated. Especially the autogenous shrinkage of the 20% RHA sample was even completely eliminated after 15 day of curing.

The effect of the fineness of RHA on autogenous shrinkage is depicted in Fig. 8.8b (Ye and Nguyen 2012). It is clear that RHA particles are particularly effective in mitigating the autogenous shrinkage of UHPC when the mean size of RHA particles ranges between 5.6 and 9.0 μ m. The sample containing the RHA with a smaller particle size, i.e. 3.6 μ m, shows a higher autogenous shrinkage. This may be caused by the collapse of the porous structure, which reduces the amount of absorbed water in RHA. The less absorbed water will reduce the positive effect of



Fig. 8.9 Autogenous shrinkage of UHPC containing RHA or SF at different treatment conditions (Van et al. 2014)

RHA particles to mitigate the autogenous shrinkage of UHPC. This result implies that the benefit of RHA on reducing the autogenous shrinkage can be achieved when the mean particle size is bigger than $5.6 \,\mu\text{m}$.

Similar results were also found by Van et al (2014), they investigated the influence of curing temperature (20, 65 and 90 °C) on the autogenous shrinkage of UHPC incorporating 20% RHA and compared to the UHPC made with the same amount of silica fume. They found that UHPC with 20% RHA has significant lower shrinkage deformation when cured at 65 and 90 °C (Fig. 8.9).

Similarly, Habeeb and Fayyadh (2009) studied the effect of RHA on dry shrinkage of concrete mixtures containing 20% of RHA at three different average particle sizes. They also concluded that the drying shrinkage was significantly affected by RHA fineness. The addition of micro fine particles of RHA to concrete would increase the drying shrinkage. While coarser particles of RHA exhibited lower values than those of the plain cement based concrete. These contributions can be justified by the pozzolanic and the filler effects on the microstructure, especially the pore structure of cement paste.

8.4.2 Effect of RHA on Creep of Concrete

Figure 8.10 shows the evolution of total strains under loading, the differed strains, the free shrinkage strains, and the weight losses corresponding to C (reference concrete), N15 (natural RHA, 15% replacement) and G15 (ground RHA, 15% replacement) (Zerbino et al. 2011). All specimens were stored in a dry room



Fig. 8.10 Creep tests: (left) total strains under loading, differed creep strains, and free shrinkage strains; (right) weight losses during exposure in dry room. N—natural RHA, G—ground RHA (Zerbino et al. 2011)

 $(21 \pm 2 \text{ °C} \text{ and } 55 \pm 5\%$ moisture humidity). The smallest differed strains correspond to G15; this can be attributed to a reduction in porosity both at the interfaces and into the bulk cement paste. The free shrinkage strains were similar in all concretes, but the weight loss was greater in concrete N15. The same occurs with the elastic strains. Creep and shrinkage were similar in reference concrete and concretes containing ground RHA or natural RHA. However, increases in weight losses and higher elastic and differed strains, that can be associated with differences in the pore size distribution, were observed in natural RHA concrete (Zerbino et al. 2011).

8.5 Influence of RHA on Transport Properties of Concrete

8.5.1 Effect of RHA on Water Permeability of Concrete

Ganesan et al. (2008) tested the coefficients of water absorption of RHA blended concrete specimens, presented in Table 8.4. It can be seen that at 28 days of curing, coefficient of water absorption progressively decreased with increase in RHA content up to 25%. At 30 and 35% RHA there is an increase in coefficient of water absorption and these values are also lower than that of control concrete specimens. At 90 days of curing, the coefficient of water absorption values are lower for all concrete specimens with RHA content up to 35% confirming that with prolonged curing, the presence of RHA leads to a reduction of permeable voids.

The sorptivity values calculated for RHA blended concrete specimens after 28 and 90 days of curing are also presented in Table 8.4. It can be seen that at 28 days of curing, sorptivity progressively decreases with increase in RHA content up to 25%. At 30 and 35% RHA there is an increase in sorptivity and these values are also lower than that of control concrete. At 90 days of curing, the sorptivity values

Mix designation	RHA (%)	Saturate absorptio		Coeff. o absorpti (m ² /s)	f water on*10 ⁻¹⁰	Sorptivit (m/s ^{1/2})	ty *10 ⁻⁶
		28 Days	90 Days	28 Days	90 Days	28 Days	90 Days
R0 (control)	0	4.71	3.76	1.62	0.85	11.05	9.76
R1	5	4.83	3.21	1.42	0.71	10.6	7.09
R2	10	5.02	3.2	1.03	0.61	9.16	4.86
R3	15	5.58	3.11	0.99	0.46	7.37	4.09
R4	20	5.81	2.2	0.92	0.31	6	3.61
R5	25	6.09	2.8	0.51	0.2	5.53	2.28
R6	30	6.35	3.05	1.06	0.43	6.08	3.38
R7	35	6.92	3.98	1.51	0.58	10.3	4.04

 Table 8.4
 Permeability related properties of RHA blended concretes (Ganesan et al. 2008)

up to 35% RHA are quite lower than that of control concrete. This again confirms that prolonged curing leads to a reduction in pore space. It is also observed from the sorptivity data that 30% RHA concrete specimens have shown a 45% reduction in sorptivity at 28 days compared to that of control.

8.5.2 Effect of RHA on Chloride-Ion Diffusion of Concrete

Concretes made with blended cements generally have lower permeability and more discontinuous pore structure than ordinary Portland cement concrete. The diffusivity of chloride ions in blended cement concretes tends to be lower (Cook et al. 1989). The ability of RHA mixtures to reduce the potential detrimental effects of chloride intrusion into concrete was reported by several authors (Hettiarachchi et al. 1987; Anwar et al. 2000; Nehdi et al. 2003; Salas et al. 2009 and Anwar et al. 2000). They demonstrated that RHA samples outperform the specimen containing OPC alone and the levels of total and soluble chloride ions had large reductions as the depth of concrete zones surveyed increased. They also determined that for concretes studied, the first 10 mm of concrete cover provides little barrier to chloride ion penetration and underscores the importance of concrete cover to the reinforcement. On the other hand, all the results of zone 20–30 mm show lower values of total chloride ions content than the limits of reinforcement corrosion threshold. Therefore it can be concluded that there are significant reductions in chloride ions permeability due to replacing the OPC with RHA. As the replacement level of the RHA increases from 10 to 20% by weight the results are affected and low chloride ions contents are obtained. Consequently, they concluded that concrete containing RHA might require less depth of cover to protect the reinforcing steel than those concretes using OPC alone. However, using finely ground RHA reduced the rapid chloride penetrability of concrete from a moderate rating to low or very

low ratings depending on the type and addition level of RHA (Nehdi et al. 2003). Salas et al. (2009) reported that the reduction in the average pore diameter of cement paste caused by the incorporation of rice husk ash in the mix will effectively reduce the pore sizes, permeability, and diffusivity of chloride ions in concrete.

Saraswathy and Ha-Won (2007) investigated the corrosion performance of concrete made with 0, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25, and 30% RHA as partial replacements of cement. They have monitored the open circuit potential measurements with reference to saturated calomel electrode (SCE) periodically with time as per ASTM C876. From their study it can be observed that the time of cracking were 42, 72, and 74 h for concretes made with 0, 5, and 10% RHA. However, no cracking was observed for concretes with 15, 20, 25, and 30% RHA ever after 144 h of exposure. In contrast, ordinary Portland cement concrete, the specimen was cracked after only 42 h of exposure in 5% NaCl solution. It can be concluded from their study that the replacement of rice husk ash refined the pores, thereby reducing the permeability. Moreover, the study by Saraswathy and her colleagues (2007) suggests that the incorporation of RHA up to 30% replacement level reduces the chloride penetration, decreases permeability, and improves strength and corrosion resistance properties. Finally, they have recommended the replacement level of up to 25%. In the same vein, Chindaprasirt et al. (2007) studied the effect of RHA and fly ash on corrosion resistance of Portland cement concrete and concluded that both fly ash and RHA are very effective in improving the corrosion resistance of mortars indicating better contribution of RHA to corrosion resistance in comparison to that of fly ash.

Chalee et al. (2013) examined concrete made of RHA during 5 years exposure to a marine environment, they concluded that concrete containing 15 - 35% RHA as a Portland cement replacement had a lower chloride diffusion coefficient and a little steel corrosion. The chloride binding capacity increased as the amount of RHA in the concrete increased, especially in concrete containing 15% and 35% RHA as cement replacement.

8.6 Conclusion

Rice husk ash, a material obtained after burning an agricultural by-product, due to high specific surface and pozzolanic property, has gained growing interest for use as a supplementary cementitious material in concrete. This paper reviews the performance of the rice husk ash as a partial cement replacement in concrete. It shows that:

 In RHA concrete, due to the hydrophilic nature and high specific surface of the RHA, water demand increases, and higher dosages of the superplasticizer are needed to achieve the same workability as that of ordinary Portland cement concrete. The RHA concrete has slightly longer setting time, the bleeding of RHA concrete can be negligible. 8 Rice Husk Ash

- 2. The incorporation of RHA as a partial replacement of cement enhances the compressive strength, tensile and flexural strength of concrete. The optimum replacement level of Portland cement by RHA to give maximum long-term strength enhancement is about 20% by weight of the total binder material. The compressive strength of the RHA concrete at 28 days varied from 35 to 60 MPa depending on the w/b ratio and the replacement level. The incorporation of RHA in concrete does not cause significant changes in the modulus of elasticity.
- 3. The advantage in using RHA in concrete, especially in high performance or ultra-high performance concrete is the possibility to keep high relative humidity in the concrete. This characteristic of RHA significantly mitigates the autogenous shrinkage of UHPC/HPC concrete.
- 4. From both water permeability tests and chloride diffusivity tests, in the RHA concrete the coefficient of water absorption values are quite lower, the prolonged curing of RHA leads to a reduction of permeable voids. When the replacement level of the RHA increases from 10 to 20% by weight lower chloride diffusion coefficients are obtained.

References

- Antiohos SK, Papadakis VG, Tsimas S (2014) Rice husk ash (RHA) effectiveness in cement and concrete as a function of reactive silica and fineness. Cem Concr Res 61–62:20–27
- Anwar M, Miyagawa T, Gaweesh M (2000) Using rice husk ash as a cement replacement material in concrete. Waste Manage Ser 1(2000):671–684
- Berry E, Hemmings RT, Zhang M, Cornelius BJ, Golden DM (1994) Hydration in high-volume fly ash concrete binders. ACI Mater J 91(4):382–389
- Bhanumathidas N, Mehta PK (2004) Concrete mixtures made with ternary blended cements containing fly ash and rice husk ash. In: Malhotra VM (ed) Proceedings of the 2004 seventh CANMET international conference, pp 379–391
- Boateng AA, Skeete DA (1990) Incineration of rice hull for use as a supplementary cementing material: the Guyana experience. Cem Concr Res 20:795–802
- Bouzoubaa N, Fournier B (2001) Concrete incorporating rice husk ash: compressive strength and chloride-ion durability. Report MTL 2001-5(TR), CANMET, p 17
- Bui DD, Hu J, Stroeven P (2005) Particle size effect on the strength of rice husk ash blended gap-graded Portland cement concrete. Cement Concr Compos 27:357–366
- Chalee W, Sasakul T, Suwanmaneechot P, Jaturapitakkul C (2013) Utilization of rice husk–bark ash to improve the corrosion resistance of concrete under 5-year exposure in a marine environment. Cement Concr Compos 37:47–53
- Chindaprasirt P, Kanchanda P, Sathonsaowaphak A, Cao HT (2007) Sulfate resistance of blended cements containing fly ash and rice husk ash. Constr Build Mater 21(6):1356–1361
- Cisse IK, Laquerbe M (2000) Mechanical characterization of sandcretes with rice husk ash additions: study applied to Senegal. Cem Concr Res 30(1):13–18
- Cook DJ (1986) Rice husk ash. In: Swamy RN (ed) Concrete technology and design. Cement replacement materials, vol. 3. Surrey University Press, London, pp 171–195
- Cook DJ, Hinczak I, Jedy M, Cao HT (1989) The behavior of slag cement concretes in marine environment chloride ion penetration. In: Proceedings of the 3rd international conference on 1989 fly ash, silica fume, slag, and natural Pozzolans in concrete, pp 1467–1483

- Cook DJ, Pama RP, Damer SA (1976) Behaviour of concrete and cement paste containing RHA.In: Proceedings of the conference on hydraulic cement paste, Cement and Concrete Association, London, pp 268–282
- Cordeiro GC, Toledo Filho RD, Fairbairn EMR (2009) Use of ultrafine rice husk ash with high-carbon content as Pozzolan in high performance concrete. Mater Struct 42(7):983–992
- Dakroury AE, Gasser MS (2008) Rice husk ash (RHA) as cement admixture for immobilization of liquid radioactive waste at different temperatures. J Nucl Mater 381:271–277
- de Sensale GR (2006) Strength development of concrete with rice husk ash. Cement Concr Compos 28:158–160
- de Sensale GR, Ribeirob BA, Arlindo G (2008) Effects of RHA on autogenous shrinkage of Portland cement pastes. Cement Concr Composites 30(10):892–897
- Della VP, Kuhn I, Hotza D (2002) Rice husk ash as an alternate source for active silica production. Mater Lett 57(4):818–821
- Feng Q, Yamamichi H, Shoya M, Sugita S (2004) Study on the pozzolanic properties of rice husk ash by hydrochloric acid pretreatment. Cem Concr Res 34(3):521–526
- Ganesan K, Rajagopal K, Thangavel K (2008) Rice husk ash blended cement: assessment of optimal level of replacement for strength and permeability properties of concrete. Constr Build Mater 22:1675–1683
- Givi AN, Rashid SA, Aziz FNA, Salleh MAM (2010) Assessment of the effects of rice husk ash particle size on strength, water permeability and workability of binary blended concrete. Constr Build Mater 24(11):2145–2150
- Habeeb GA, Fayyadh MM (2009) Rice husk ash concrete: the effect of RHA average particle size on mechanical properties and drying shrinkage. Aust J Basic Appl Sci 3(3):1616–1622
- He J, Jie Y, Zhang J, Yu Y, Zhang G (2013) Synthesis and characterization of red mud and rice husk ash-based geopolymer composites. Cement Concr Compos 37(1):108–118
- Hesami S, Ahmadi S, Nematzadeh M (2014) Effects of rice husk ash and fibre on mechanical properties of pervious concrete pavement. Constr Build Mater 53:680–691
- Hettiarachchi S, Gaynor AT, Asaro MF (1987) Electrochemical chloride removal and protection of concrete bridge components (injection of synergistic inhibitors), Strategic Highway Research Program. SHRP-S-310. National Research Council, Washington, DC
- Hewlett Peter C (1998) Lea's chemistry of cement and concrete. Wiley, New York. pp 471-601
- Huang H, Ye G (2016) Use of rice husk ash for mitigating the autogenous shrinkage of cement pastes at low water cement ratio. In: Proceedings of HiPerMat 2016 4th international symposium on ultra-high performance concrete and high performance construction materials, Kassel, Germany, 9–11 March 2016, pp 21–22
- Hwang CL, Wu DS (1989) Properties of cement paste containing rice husk ash. In: Malhotra VM (ed) American Concrete Institute, SP-114, pp 733–765
- Hwang, CL., Bui Le AT., Chen CT (2011) Effect of rice husk ash on the strength and durability characteristics of concrete. Constr Build Mater 25:3768–3772
- Isaia GC, Gastaldini ALG, Moraes R (2003) Physical and pozzolanic action of mineral additions on the mechanical strength of high-performance concrete. Cement Concr Compos 25(1):69–76
- Ismaila MS, Waliuddin AM (1996) Effect of rice husk ash on high strength concrete. Constr Build Mater 10(7):521–526
- Jiang LH, Malhotra VM (2000) Reduction in water demand of non air-entrained concrete incorporating large volume of fly ash. Cem Concr Res 30(11):1785–1789
- Laskar AI, Talukdar S (2008) Rheological behavior of high performance concrete with mineral admixtures and their blending. Constr Build Mater 22(12):2345–2354
- Mahmud HB, Chia BS, Hamid NBAA (1997) Rice husk ash—an alternative material in producing high strength concrete. In: Al-Manaseer A, Nagataki S, Joshi RC (eds) Proceedings of international conference on engineering materials vol. II, CSCE/JSCE, Ottawa, Canada, 1997, pp 275–284
- Malhotra VM (1993) Fly ash, slag, silica fume, and rice husk ash in concrete: a review. Concr Int 15(4):23–28

- Mehta PK (1973) Siliceous ashes and hydraulic cements prepared therefrom. Belgium Patent 802909 (1973)
- Mehta PK (1987) Studies on the mechanisms by which condensed silica fume improves the properties of concrete: durability aspect. In: Proceedings of the international workshop on condensed silica fume in concrete, Ottawa, pp 1–17
- Mehta PK (1990) Aitcin P.C.C. principles underlying production of high-performance concrete. J Cement Concr Aggregates 12(2):70–78
- Mehta PK (2002) Greening of the concrete industry for sustainable development. Concr Int 24 (7):23–28
- Mehta PK (2009) Global concrete industry sustainability. Concr Int 31(02):45-48
- Moayad An, Hana YA (1984) Use of rice husk ash in concrete. Int J Cement Compos Lightweight Concrete 6(4)
- Mostafa NY, Brown PW (2005) Heat of hydration of high reactive Pozzolans in blended cements: Isothermal conduction calorimetry. Thermochim Acta 435(2):162–167
- Nehdi M, Mindess S, Aitcin PC (1998) Rheology of high performance concrete: effect of ultra-fine particles. Cem Concr Res 28(5):687–97
- Nehdi M, Duquette J, El Damatty A (2003) Performance of rice husk ash produced using a new technology as a mineral admixture in concrete. Cem Concr Res 33(8):1203–1210
- Nicole PH, Monteiro PJM, Carasek H (2000) Effect of silica fume and rice husk ash on alkali-silica reaction. Mater J 97(4):486–492
- Owen PL (1979) Fly ash and its usage in concrete. J Concr Soc 13(7):21-26
- Pitt N (1976) Process for preparation of siliceous ashes. U.S. patent 3959007
- Rodriguez GS (2006) Strength development of concrete with rice-husk ash. Cement Concr Compos 28(2):158–160
- Rojas MIS, Luxan MP, Frias M, Garcia N (1993) The influence of different additions on Portland cement hydration heat. Cem Concr Res 23(1):46–54
- Sakr K (2006) Effects of silica fume and rice husk ash on the properties of heavy weight concrete. J Mater Civ Eng 18(3):367–376
- Salas A, Delvasto S, De Gutierrez RM, Lange D (2009) Comparison of two processes for treating rice husk ash for use in high performance concrete. Cem Concr Res 39(9):773–778
- Saraswathy V, Ha-Won S (2007) Corrosion performance of rice husk ash blended concrete. Constr Build Mater 21(8):1779–1784
- Sata V, Jaturapitakkul C, Kiattikomol K (2007) Influence of pozzolan from various by-product materials on mechanical properties of high-strength concrete. Constr Build Mater 21(7):1589– 1598
- Shetty MS (2004) Concrete technology. S. Chand and Company, New Delhi
- Siddique F (2008) Waste materials and by-products in concrete: with 174 tables. Springer Press
- Singh NB, Sarvahi R, Singh SP, Shukla AK (1994) Hydration studies of RHA blended white Portland cement. Adv Cem Res 6(21):13–18
- Smith RG, Kamwanja GA (1986) The use of rice husk for making a cementitious material. In: Proceedings of the joint symposium on the use of vegetable plants and their fibers as building material, Baghdad
- Van V-T-A, Rößler C, Bui D-D, Ludwig H-M (2014) Rice husk ash as both pozzolanic admixture and internal curing agent in ultra-high performance concrete. Cement Concr Composites 53:270–278
- van Nguyen T (2011) Rice husk ash as mineral admixture for ultra high performance concrete. PhD thesis, TU Delft, Delft, The Netherlands
- van Nguyen T, Ye G, Breugel KV, Fraaij ALA, Dai BD (2011) The study of using rice husk ash to produce ultra high performance concrete. Constr Build Mater 25:2030–2035
- Yamamoto Y, Lakho SM (1982) Production and utilization of rice husk ash as a substitute for cement. Proc JPN Soc Civil Eng 322(1982):157–166
- Ye G, van Nguyen T (2012) Mitigation of autogenous shrinkage of ultra-high performance concrete by rice husk ash. J Chin Ceram Soc 40,(2):212–216

- Yu Q, Sawayama K, Sugita S, Shoya M, Isojima Y (1999) The reaction between rice husk ash and Ca(OH)₂ solution and the nature of its product. Cem Concr Res 29(1):37–43
- Zerbino R, Giaccio G, Isaia GC (2011) Concrete incorporating rice-husk ash without processing. Constr Build Mater 25(1):371–378
- Zhang MH, Malhotra VM (1996) High-performance concrete incorporating rice husk ash as a supplementary cementing material. ACI Mater J 93(6):629–639

Chapter 9 Ternary Blends

R. Doug Hooton, Semion Zhutovsky and Siham Kamali-Bernard

Abstract Ternary binders have become used more frequently for several reasons. In some cases, such as combining a rapidly reactive SCM such as silica fume with a more slowly reactive SCM such as fly ash or slag, the use of ternary binders can provide benefits for both early-age and later-age properties and durability of concrete. In other cases, high-alkali pozzolans have been combined with slag to both accelerate the slag hydration and bind the alkalis from the pozzolan. As well, two SCMs may be combined to improve economy of the concrete mixture. This chapter describes properties of various ternary binders.

Keywords Ternary cements · Synergy · Fly ash · Slag · Silica fume

9.1 Introduction

Ternary binders can be produced by separate addition of two supplementary cementitious materials (SCMs) with cement in the concrete mixer, by pre-blending two SCMs and using the blended SCM at the concrete plant, or by adding an SCM together with a blended hydraulic cement. In some cases, limestone blended cement

R. Doug Hooton (⊠) Department of Civil Engineering, University of Toronto, 35 St. George St, Toronto, ON M5S 1A4, Canada e-mail: d.hooton@utoronto.ca

S. Zhutovsky Department of Civil Engineering, National Building Research Institute, Technion—Israel Institute of Technology, Haifa, Israel e-mail: semionz@yahoo.com

S. Kamali-Bernard INSA de Rennes, GCU/LGCGM, 20 Avenue des Buttes de Coësmes, CS 70839, 35043 Rennes Cedex, France e-mail: siham.kamali-bernard@insa-rennes.fr

303
(e.g. EN CEM IIA-L or ASTM C595 Type IL) can be mixed with a single SCM to create a ternary binder. The selection of one of these options depends on factors including number of available silos at a concrete plant, and locally available materials.

Ternary binders are used to optimize the required properties of concrete. The pozzolanic reaction of silica fume or metakaolin is typically more rapid than that when using slag or fly ash. However, there is a synergy when combining fly ash or slag with silica fume so that concrete proportions of 4-5% silica fume (by mass of total cementitious), with 25-35% fly ash or slag, can provide higher resistance to fluid ingress (Thomas et al. 2007).

A factory blend, produced by intergrinding Portland cement clinker, silica fume (3-5%), slag (20-25%) and gypsum, has been available in Canada since 1999 (Thomas et al. 2007). Extensive testing of this product has shown that this cement has equivalent early-age strength and improved later-age strength compared to Portland cement produced from the same clinker.

While most standards for SCMs just deal with individual SCMS, there are provisions in some standards for the combined use of two or more SCMs for partial replacement of Portland cement. The Canadian CSA A3001 standard for hydraulic cements allows use of ternary and quaternary binders, either added separately to concrete or as blended SCMs (CSA A3000-13 2013). Similarly, ASTM C1697 (2010) is the Standard Specification for Blended Supplementary Cementitious Materials. The blended SCM can be produced from any combination of fly ash (high or low calcium), slag, silica fume and natural pozzolan and testing for compliance is based on the predominant SCM in the blend.

The EN 197 standard allows ternary composite cements as CEM II/A-M (6–20% combination of SCM and limestone), CEM IIB-M (21–35% combination of SCM and limestone), CEM V/A (18–30% slag plus 18–30% fly ash or raw or calcined natural pozzolan) and CEM V/B (31–50% slag plus 31–50% fly ash or raw or calcined natural pozzolan).

The health and safety issues for ternary systems would simply reflect those of the individual SCMs incorporated in the ternary binder.

The advantages of ternary binder systems incorporating more than one SCM, are the potential synergistic effects, where one SCM compensates for the weakness of the other SCM, allowing for a higher level of Portland cement replacement in concrete. The lower the clinker-factor in the binder and the lower the total binder content, the lower will be the embodied energy and carbon footprint of the concrete. An example of this is the use of silica fume together with either slag or fly ash: the silica fume provides higher early strengths while the slag or fly ash provides longer term strength development. As another example, slag has been blended with high-calcium fly ash: the fly ash accelerates early strength of the slag and the slag helps by binding up potentially troublesome levels of alkalis and/or sulfates (Thomas et al. 2010).

9.2 Fresh Properties

Some high-surface area SCMs, especially silica fume and metakaolin, require higher doses of high-range water reducers (HRWR) to obtain sufficient workability in the fresh concrete. These high dosages can sometimes cause "stickiness" that negatively impacts finishing operations. The addition of slag or low-calcium fly ash to such mixtures has been found to improve workability and require lower doses of HRWR, thus easing the finishing process (Hooton 2000). In the 13 km long Confederation Bridge project in Eastern-Canada, 10% fly ash was added to the high-strength silica fume concretes to improve pumpability. When the use of chemical admixtures is considered, relative to silica fume alone, lower doses of HRWR are typically required when slag or fly ash is combined with silica fume.

High levels of cement replacement by SCM, such as 40% fly ash, may not only cause problems with low early-age strengths, but also delay setting times (Bentz 2010; Bentz and Ferraris 2010). Creating ternary blends with nano-limestone helps to prevent the retardation in the mixes with high volume SCM (Sato and Beaudoin 2011; De Weerdt et al. 2011a, b; Bentz et al. 2012).

Addition of an ultrafine SCM together with a fly ash or slag will often improve cohesiveness and reduce segregation of a workable concrete. As with other SCM concretes, appropriate periods of curing need to be considered to develop the potential of the concrete.

The 423 m tall, 98-storey Trump Tower in Chicago was completed in 2009 using high strength concrete. The concrete design was selected for its high elastic modulus, 68 GPa. A 110 MPa self-consolidating concrete mixture contained slag, fly ash, and silica fume as well as Portland cement and was pumped and placed to an elevation up to 200 m above grade (PCA 2009).

Ternary blends were also successfully used for reduction of heat of hydration in mass concrete. The 1990 m span Akashi Kaikyo bridge used ternary tremie-placed mass concrete (Kashima et al. 1992a, b), and massive inner-core, wall, and foundation mixtures employed blended cements with cementitious slag contents around 50% and fly ash contents around 30% (Kashima et al. 1992b).

The Freedom Tower in New York City used a quaternary binder with silica fume, fly ash and slag, to obtain pumpable mixtures with strengths as high as 100 MPa. Quaternary binder mixtures were also used in the Great Belt Link in Denmark.

9.3 Compressive Strength

In 1985–86, when the 68-storey Scotia Plaza tower in Toronto was planned, there was a need for high-performance concrete which could be pumped and placed at high slump, but which could also develop >20 MPa at 11 h (for rapid column form removal) and attain a design strength of 70 MPa. While slag concretes were initially

proposed, the early strengths were very close to the limit. Then, it was decided to add 7.8% silica fume and reduce the slag to 25%. At a cementing materials content of 470 kg/m³ and w/cm = 0.31, and with superplasticizer (SP) added at the pump, the requirements were exceeded. It was found that the slag made the silica fume concrete easier to pump, place and finish (it also reduced the amount of HRWR needed to obtain and maintain the required workability) and it contributed to continued long-term strength gain (Bickley et al. 1991, 1994). After that initial success, numerous other towers were built and continue to be built in Toronto with either 70 or 85 MPa design strengths using similar mixtures.

Simulating precast operations, using accelerated curing at 65 $^{\circ}$ C, 18-hour strengths in excess of 40 MPa were obtained using slag in ternary mixtures with silica fume (Titherington and Hooton 2004).

Ternary cementitious blends can offer significant advantages over binary blends and even greater enhancements over pure Portland cement. In fact, ternary blended cements can be optimized to minimize the shortcomings of each component, resulting in synergistic improvements in mechanical and durability properties of the combined cementitious material. Different ternary systems using several components (including OPC, calcium sulfate cement, calcium sulfoaluminate cement, calcium sulfates, silica fume, fly ash, blast-furnace slag, metakaolin, residues) have been investigated in the literature. This section focuses on the compressive strength of ternary blends. Table 9.1 provides some references that are discussed in this section.

Thomas et al. (1999) studied concrete containing ternary blends of OPC-silica fume-fly ash. They reported that the combination of silica fume and low-CaO fly ash is complementary and synergistic. They show that using silica fume increases the strength of concrete at all ages, but it is apparent that much of the increase is realized at early ages and the rate of strength development at later ages is similar for silica fume concrete and plain Portland cement concrete.

References	Ternary blend system	Compressive strength obtained on	
Nehdi and Sumner (2002)	OPC-SF-class F FA OPC-SF-ground granulated blast furnace slag	blast Mortar	
Celik et al. (2014)	OPC-natural pozzolan-LF OPC-FA class F-LF	Self-consolidating concrete	
Niknezhad and Kamali-Bernard (2015)	OPC-MK-LF	Self-compacting concrete	
Cyr et al. (2012)	OPC-MK-MSWIFA OPC-MK-SSA	Mortar	
Raj et al. (2013)	OPC-MK-Redmud waste	Concrete	

Table 9.1 Partial list of literature references dealing with compressive strength of ternary systems

LF limestone filler; SF silica fume; MK metakaolin; FA fly ash; MSWIFA municipal solid waste incineration fly ash; SSA sewage sludge ash



Fig. 9.1 Response surfaces of compressive strength at 1 day and 56 days for OPC-SF-FA and OPC-SF-GBFS ternary cement mortars according to Nehdi and Sumner (2002)

Nehdi and Sumner (2002) used factorial experimental design to investigate the performance of OPC-silica fume–Class F fly ash and OPC-silica fume-ground granulated blast furnace slag (GBFS) ternary cementitious blends. Response surfaces for the compressive strength at 1, 7, 28, and 56 days were obtained for the corresponding ternary cement mortars and results at 1 and 56 days are given in Fig. 9.1. The authors reported that at 1 day the compressive strength of the ternary cement mortars decreased as the content of GBFS or FA increased. For both OPC-SF-GBFS and OPC-SF-FA systems, silica fume did not significantly enhance the 1-day strength whether at low or high GBFS/FA contents. The authors reported that to enhance the early age strength of FA and GBFS concrete, highly reactive pozzolans

such as SF could be added in a ternary blend. At 7 days, they found that the effect of SF on increasing the compressive strength of the ternary cement mortars became more significant, particularly for the ternary blend containing GBFS. However, the 7-day compressive strength decreased with increased content of GBFS and FA. The 7-day compressive strength values of OPC-SF-GBFS mortar are generally higher than those obtained for OPC-SF-fly ash. At 28 days, the compressive strength of OPC-SF-GBFS increased with increasing GBFS content up to around 30% for low SF contents and up to 15% for high SF contents and decreased beyond those levels. The effect of SF on increasing the strength of the ternary cement mortars is significant at this age when GBFS levels were below 30%. The authors reported that for OPC-SF-FA ternary cement mortars, higher levels of SF also increased the 28-day compressive strength at low FA contents, but did not have a significant effect at FA levels beyond 15-20%. However, the 28-day strength consistently decreased as the FA level was increased regardless of the SF content. At 56 days, varying the GBFS content from 0 to 60% did not have a significant effect on the compressive strength of the OPC-SF-GBFS cement mortars at low SF levels. The higher the SF content in the ternary blend the more significantly the 56-day compressive strength decreased with higher GBFS dosage.

Celik et al. (2014) studied the effect of Portland cement substitution by class F fly ash or natural pozzolan (NP) on the strength of self-consolidating concretes (SCC). The cement replacement ratio varied from 30 to 50% in mass. The authors show that in the case of ternary blended cement containing 15% of limestone filler (LF), the larger amount of natural pozzolan or fly ash addition led to reduced compressive strength compared to the concrete specimen with only 15% of LF at early ages. However, at late ages, identical compressive strengths to the control specimen were obtained for 30% of natural pozzolan or class F fly ash replacement. Among the ternary mixtures, the 55 OPC-30 NP-15 LF mix had higher strength, while 45 OPC-40 NP-15 LF and 35 OPC-50 NP-15 LF mixes had lower strength when compared to the corresponding mixes with fly ash.

Niknezhad and Kamali-Bernard (2015) investigated self-consolidating concrete containing ternary blends composed of OPC-metakaolin-limestone filler. They found that the replacement of Portland cement by 15% of metakaolin resulted in a decrease of the compressive strength at very early ages. At one day of age, compared to the reference SCC, a decrease in strength of 18% was observed. However, at 7 days, this decrease dropped to 6% and at 28 days of hardening, SCC with MK exhibited higher compressive strength value than the reference SCC.

Cyr et al. (2012) studied ternary blends composed of 75% Portland cement, 22.5% metakaolin and 2.5% of different ash residues. The studied industrial residues are municipal solid waste incineration fly ash (MSWIFA) and sewage sludge ash (SSA). They show that when using such small contents of ash residue, the mechanical strength of mortars was not affected.

Raj et al. (2013) investigated ternary high strength concrete containing OPC, metakaolin (MK) and red mud (RM) as by-product. They tested different percentages of replacement of OPC by metakaolin and red mud blend: 6, 8, 10, 12 and 14%. The authors reported that the optimum percentage of cement replacement by metakaolin and red mud blend for achieving maximum compressive strength is 10%. In 10% replacement ratio, the compressive strength of 50MK-50RM and 80MK-20RM are 6.2 and 6.7% higher than the control concrete.

Following the idea of synergetic effects between less reactive pozzolan and more reactive ones, Isaia et al. (2003) studied ternary blends with equal amount of fly ash and rice husk ash. The replacement levels of 25 and 50% cement were tested on concrete mixtures with w/b ratio of 0.35, 0.50 and 0.65. It was shown that lower w/ b ratio ternary blends demonstrated lower 28 day compressive strength than OPC reference mixes. However, for the lowest tested w/b ratio (0.35), the compressive strength of ternary concrete mixes exceeded the compressive strength of reference and binary blends at 91 days. Bhanumathidas and Mehta (2001) also reported that the use of 10% rice husk ash in ternary blends with 40% type F FA improved compressive strength in comparison with binary blends of 50% FA.

Ternary blends with various combinations of slag, fly ash and limestone filler and replacement levels between 35 and 80% were studied by Alonso et al. (2012). All tested blends demonstrated the initial development of strength to be slower than the OPC reference. However, at 91 days, compressive strength of mixes of slag with fly ash and slag with limestone filler at 35% replacement level surpassed the compressive strength of the reference mix. Ternary mixes of fly ash and limestone, as well as mixes with higher replacement levels, didn't reach the same level of compressive strength as the OPC reference mixture.

Ternary blend of 30% class F FA and 5% LS was tested by De Weerdt et al. (2011a, b) on mortars with w/b ratio of 0.50. An increase of 15.2% in 90 days compressive strength, as compared to a 100% OPC mix, was observed, while 7.3% and 9.0% increases in the binary blends of 5% LS and 30% FA, respectively, were measured. The compressive strength at early-ages and up to 28 days was significantly reduced in blends with FA, while replacement of 5% of cement by LS resulted in a slight increase of compressive strength at the ages 1–7 days. Flexural strength measured in ternary blends of 30% FA and 5% LS was 23% higher than in reference mortar at 90 days, but significantly lower at earlier ages tested (1–28 days). The authors concluded that the beneficial effect of LS in the binary and ternary blends should be attributed to chemical reaction of carbonates from LS and ettringite, forming carboaluminates. This effect was found to be even more pronounced in FA ternary blends due to the resulting lower SO₃/Al₂O₃ ratio caused by cement replacement by FA (De Weerdt et al. 2011a, b).

Elahi et al. (2010) studied HPC with the ternary blends of silica fume with slag and fly ash at w/b ratio of 0.30. The ternary blends of FA (20 and 40% replacement) and SF (7.5%) didn't reach the values of compressive strength of the reference mix event at 91 days. The ternary blend of SF (7.5%) and GGBS (50%) demonstrated compressive strengths higher than the 100% OPC reference mix, at ages of 28 and 91 days, but not earlier. In this case, no strength benefit from combining SF and the other SCM was found, since the binary blend with 7.5% SF demonstrated higher performance than both reference and ternary blends at all ages starting from 3 days, while the strengths of all binary mixes with GGBS and FA lagged behind the reference mix at all ages.

El-Chabib and Ibrahim (2013) tested ternary and quaternary blends of SF with GGBS, Type C and Type F fly ash at w/b ratios of 0.3 and 0.33 and using 60 and 70% levels of cement replacement. Only the ternary blend of 10% SF and 60% GGBS at w/b ratio of 0.30 exceeded the strength of the reference mix. It is interesting to note that concrete with ternary blend of the same proportions, but at slightly higher w/b ratio of 0.33 didn't surpass the compressive strength of the reference mix with 100% OPC. The compressive strength in all other ternary and quaternary blends was inferior to the reference mix. However, it should be pointed out that at these high levels of cement replacement only the mixes with slag reached compressive strengths close to the reference mix, while blends without GGBS exhibited significant reductions in compressive strength in comparison to the reference.

Compressive strength of ternary blends of SF and FA (type F) with w/b ratio of 0.32 studied by Seshasayi et al. (2001) is shown in Fig. 9.2. The content of SF was varied over the range of 0–16% in 4% steps, and the content of FA was varied between 0 and 40% in 10% steps, so the total replacement in the ternary blend reached the maximum of 56%. Ternary blends with FA up to 30% replacement and SF above 4% demonstrated compressive strength superior to the reference and binary mixes at the tested ages of 28 and 56 days. As can be seen in Fig. 9.2, the highest compressive strength was achieved in the ternary blends of 12% SF and 20% FA (total 32% of cement replacement) at both ages, and 12% SF and 30% FA came second in compressive strength at both ages. The synergy between SF and FA can be noted in this case since the increase in compressive strength in the ternary blends was higher than the sum of the increases observed in the binary mixes with the same replacement levels.

The synergistic effect between FA and SF was also studied by Radlinski and Olek (2012) on ternary blended mortars with 20% class C FA and 5% SF and w/b ratio of 0.41. The synergistic effect on compressive strength was observed starting



Fig. 9.2 Compressive strength at 28 days (left) and 56 days (right) for OPC-SF-FA ternary blended concretes, adopted from Seshasayi et al. (2001)

from the age of 7 days, while at earlier ages, lower strengths than expected were measured.

Kannan and Ganesan (2014) tested ternary blends of metakaolin and rice husk ash. MK and RHA were blended at the ratio of 1:1 and used in SCC with w/b ratio of 0.55. The total replacement level was varied from 10 to 40% of cement. Compressive strength at 28 days in all ternary blends improved in comparison to the 100% OPC mix, while the optimal replacement level was 30%. Splitting tensile strength at 28 days improved in all ternary blends with the optimal replacement level of 30% (15% MK and 15% RHA). The authors declared there to be a synergetic effect between the MK and RHA. However, from the data there is little support to call the combination of MK and RHA synergetic, because all binary blends of MK in the range of 5–30% cement replacement and all RHA binary blends in the range of 5–25% cement replacement resulted in improvement of mechanical properties of concrete at the same age.

Antiohos et al. (2004) used amorphous silica at the rate of 5-10% in ternary blends with two different Class C fly ashes in order to compensate for early age strength loss in the fly ash binary mixes. The early-age compressive strength was significantly improved, though at later age the strength was lower than with the binary blends.

Bentz et al. (2013) tried to resolve the early-age strength problem of high volume (40–60% cement replacement) Class F and Class C fly ash mixes using ternary blends with limestone filler. In order to achieve the same level of compressive strength as the reference mix with 100% Type I/II cement or exceed it, it was necessary to reduce w/b ratio from 0.40 to 0.37–0.29 and to switch to ASTM Type III (high-early strength) cement.

Summarizing the above, in ternary blends, a good synergy may be expected between SCM that give high early-age strength, such as SF, RHA or fine limestone filler, and an SCM that is able to provide high late-age strength, such as GGBS and fly ash. However, it seems that this synergetic effect depends on w/b ratio, especially at high levels of cement replacement. It is more likely that ternary blends will be more effective, specifically with respect to compressive strength, at lower w/b ratios (0.30 and below), where cement doesn't react fully and by itself partially serves as filler.

A ternary cementitious system that recently generated considerable research interest is the OPC-MK-LS combination. While improved particle packing may have played a role, the synergy between metakaolin and limestone in this ternary blend was attributed to the formation of carboaluminate phases (Antoni et al. 2012; Hernandez and Scrivener 2015). Thus in such ternary blends the optimal ratio between MK and LS is determined by the stoichiometry of formation of mono-carboaluminate hydrate from these two materials. Since 1 mol of alumina reacts with one mole of calcium carbonate (in addition to 3 mol of hydrated lime and 1 mol of water) to form 1 mol of monocarboaluminate, the optimal molar ratio of the blend is 1:1, which translates to a 2:1 mass ratio of MK to LS (Antoni et al. 2012). The result is that replacement ratios of up to 60% cement can be achieved without significant reduction of compressive strength. Furthermore, to improve

sustainability and reduce the cost, the use of calcined clays produced from low-grade clay with a kaolinite content of less than 40%, instead of using high-purity MK, in ternary blends with LS was suggested and proved to be efficient (Hernandez and Scrivener 2015).

9.4 Transport Properties

In Ontario, Canada, ternary blends of silica fume with either fly ash or slag have been used extensively in high-performance precast tunnel liners as well as for cast-in-place parking and bridge decks to obtain high resistance to chloride ingress (Hart et al. 1997). Similar ternary cementitious systems have also been found to be excellent for prevention of deleterious expansion due to alkali-silica reaction (ASR), while also having good resistance to de-icer salt scaling when used in highway structures and pavements. The relatively low (25%) slag content is not enough on its own to resist ASR damage, but when 5-6% silica fume is added, ASR resistance is excellent and chloride penetration resistance is increased (Bleszynski et al. 2002; Hooton et al. 2013; Nokken and Hooton 2006; McGrath and Hooton 1997; Hooton 2014) as shown in Table 9.2. These ternary combinations also complied with the Ontario highway authority's limit on slag replacement, due to perceived concerns about de-icer salt scaling resistance. However, ternary blends were found to exhibit good deicer salt scaling resistance (Bouzoubaâ et al. 2011). Fly ash-silica fume ternary mixtures have also been found to suppress deleterious expansion due to ASR (Shehata and Thomas 2002). Similar good performance is indicated for sulfate resistance of ternary blends.

Numerous parking structures in North America have been built using ternary binders for high resistance to penetration of chloride de-icers. An example is the General Mitchell airport garage in Milwaukee Wisconsin, built in 1999 using 335 kg/m³ cement, 60 kg/m³ high-calcium fly ash and 17 kg/m³ silica fume at w/ cm = 0.35 (Rocole 1993). Strengths in excess of 14 MPa at 36 h and 28-day ASTM C1202 Coulomb values of less than 1000 were obtained. Cores taken after 12 years had 875 Coulombs and an average bulk diffusion coefficient (ASTM C1556) of 5.1×10^{-12} m²/s (Hooton et al. 2010).

	Age when cored	100% Portland cement	25% slag	25% slag + 3.8% silica fume
ASTM C1202 (coulombs)	4 years 8 years	2080 1660	840 835	380
ASTM C1556 (10 ⁻¹² m ² /s)	4 years	13.1	5.2	1.7
	8 years	6.8	6.3	1.6

Table 9.2 Transport properties of ternary concrete mixture compared to Portland and binary mixtures using the same materials and mix proportions (Bleszynski et al. 2002; Hooton et al. 2013)

9.5 Summary

As stated in the introduction, the advantages of ternary binder systems incorporating more than one SCM, are the potential synergistic effects, where one SCM compensates for the weakness of the other SCM, allowing for a higher level of Portland cement replacement in concrete. Ternary binder systems have been used successfully to produce concretes with high strength at both early and later ages, and for increased durability.

References

- Alonso MC, García Calvo JL, Sánchez M, Fernandez A (2012) Ternary mixes with high mineral additions contents and corrosion related properties. Mater Corros 63(12):1078–1086
- Antiohos S, Giakoumelos D, Tsimas S (2004) Strength development of ternary blended cement with high-calcium fly ash and amorphous silica, ACI SP221-8, pp 153–167
- Antoni M, Rossen J, Martirena F, Scrivener K (2012) Cement substitution by a combination of metakaolin and limestone. Cem Concr Res 42(12):1579–1589
- ASTM C1697 (2010) Standard specification for blended supplementary cementitious materials, ASTM International, 100 Barr Harbour Dr., P.O. Box C-700, West Conshohocken
- Bentz DP (2010) Powder additions to mitigate retardation in high volume fly ash mixtures. ACI Mater J 107(5):508–514
- Bentz DP, Ferraris CF (2010) Rheology and setting of high volume fly ash mixtures. Cem Concr Compos 32(4):265–270
- Bentz DP, Sato T, de la Varga I, Weiss WJ (2012) Fine limestone additions to regulate setting in high volume fly ash mixtures. Cem Concr Compos 34(1):11–17
- Bentz DP, Tanesi J, Ardani A (2013) Ternary blends for controlling cost and carbon content. Concr Int 35(8):51–59
- Bhanumathidas N, Mehta KP (2001) Concrete mixtures made with ternary blended cements containing fly ash and rice-husk ash, ACI SP199-22, pp 379–391
- Bickley JA, Ryell J, Rogers C, Hooton RD (1991) Some characteristics of high strength structural concrete. Can J Civ Eng 18:885–889
- Bickley JA, Ryell J, Rogers C, Hooton RD (1994) Some characteristics of high strength structural concrete: part 2. Can J Civ Eng 21:1084–1087
- Bleszynski RF, Hooton RD, Thomas MDA, Rogers CA (2002) Durability of ternary blend concretes with silica fume and blastfurnace slag: laboratory and outdoor exposure site studies. ACI Mater J 99(5):499–508
- Bouzoubaâ N, Bilodeau A, Fournier B, Hooton RD, Gagné R, Jolin M (2011) Deicing salt scaling resistance of concrete incorporating fly ash and/or silica fume: laboratory and field sidewalk test data. Can J Civ Eng 38:373–382
- Celik K, Meral C, Mancio M, Mehta PK, Monteiro PJ (2014) A comparative study of self-consolidating concretes incorporating high-volume natural pozzolan or high-volume fly ash. Constr Build Mater 67(1):14–19
- CSA A3000-13 (2013) Cementitious materials compendium. Canadian Standards Association, Toronto, p 218
- Cyr M, Idir R, Escadeillas G (2012) Use of metakaolin to stabilize sewage sludge ash and municipal solid waste incineration fly ash in cement-based materials. J Hazard Mater 243:193–203

- De Weerdt K, Ben Haha M, Le Saout G, Kjellsen KO, Justnes H, Lothenbach B (2011a) Hydration mechanisms of ternary Portland cements containing limestone powder and fly ash. Cem Concr Res 41(3):279–291
- De Weerdt K, Kjellsen KO, Sellevold E, Justnes H (2011b) Synergy between fly ash and limestone powder in ternary cements. Cem Concr Compos 33(1):30–38
- Elahi A, Basheer PAM, Nanukuttan SV, Khan QUZ (2010) Mechanical and durability properties of high performance concretes containing supplementary cementitious materials. Constr Build Mater 24(3):292–299
- El-Chabib H, Ibrahim A (2013) The performance of high-strength flowable concrete made with binary, ternary, or quaternary binder in hot climate. Constr Build Mater 47:245–253
- Hart AJR, Ryell J, Thomas MDA (1997) High performance concrete in precast concrete tunnel linings, meeting chloride diffusion and permeability requirements. In: Proceedings of the PCI/ FHWA international symposium on high performance concrete, pp 294–307
- Hernandez JFM, Scrivener K (2015) Development and introduction of a low clinker, low carbon, ternary blend cement in Cuba, RILEM Book Series, 10, pp 323–329
- Hooton RD (2000) Canadian use of ground granulated blast-furnace slag as a supplementary cementing material for enhanced performance of concrete. Can J Civ Eng 27:754–760
- Hooton RD (2014) Advantages of silica fume-slag ternary binders for production of durable concrete, Nordic Concrete Research, Publication No. 50. In: Proceedings, XXII Nordic concrete research symposium, Reykjavik, pp 9–12
- Hooton RD, Ahani RM, Fung R (2014) Durable & sustainable concretes with Portland-limestone cements and supplementary cementing materials. In: International concrete sustainability conference, NRMCA, Boston, 15 pp
- Hooton RD, Bentz E, Kojundic T (2010) Long-term chloride penetration resistance of silica fume concretes based on field exposure. In: Proceedings, service life design for infrastructure, Delft, RILEM PRO 70, vol 1, pp 503–512
- Hooton RD, Rogers CA, MacDonald CA, Ramlochan T (2013) 20-year field evaluation of alkali-silica reaction mitigation. ACI Mater J 110(5):539–548
- Hooton RD, Thomas MDA, Ramlochan T, Bleszynski RF (2008) Durability of ternary blend concrete with silica fume and blast-furnace slag laboratory and outdoor exposure site studies. In: Proceedings, 8th international conference on alkali-aggregate reactions, Trondheim, Norway
- Isaia GC, Gastaldini ALG, Moraes R (2003) Physical and pozzolanic action of mineral additions on the mechanical strength of high-performance concrete. Cem Concr Compos 25(1):69–76
- Kannan V, Ganesan K (2014) Synergic effect of pozzolanic materials on the structural properties of self-compacting concrete. Arab J Sci Eng 39:2601–2609. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13369-013-0928-z
- Kashima S, Furuya N, Yamaoka (1992a) High-strength concrete for wall foundation using ternary blended cement with intermixture of blast-furnace slag and fly ash, SP-132-78. In: Malhotra VM (ed) Proceedings of fourth CANMET/ACI international conference on fly ash, silica fume, Slag, and Natural Pozzolans in Concrete, V. 2, Istanbul, Turkey, pp 1451–1469
- Kashima S, Sakamoto M, Okada S, Iho T, Nakagawa Y (1992b) Application of high slag and fly ash, low-heat cement to antiwashout underwater concrete, SP-132-86. In: Malhotra VM (ed) Proceedings of fourth CANMET/ACI international conference on fly ash, silica fume, slag, and natural pozzolans in concrete, V. 2, Istanbul, Turkey, pp 1601–1619
- McGrath PF, Hooton RD (1997) Influence of binder composition on chloride penetration resistance of concrete. In: Malhotra VM (ed) Proceedings of fourth CANMET/ACI international conference on the durability of concrete, SP-170, Australia, pp 331–347
- Nehdi ML, Sumner J (2002) Optimization of ternary cementitious mortar blends using factorial experimental plans. Mater Struct Matériaux et Constructions 35:495–503
- Niknezhad D, Kamali-Bernard S (2015) Influence of mineral admixtures (Metakaolin, slag, fly ash) on plastic, free and restrained shrinkage of SCCs, CONCREEP 10: mechanics and physics of creep, shrinkage, and durability of concrete and concrete structures. Austria, Vienna

- Nokken MR, Hooton RD (2006) Electrical conductivity as a prequalification and quality control tool. Concr Int 28(10):61–66
- PCA (2009) Trump international hotel and tower. http://www.cement.org/think-harder-concrete/ buildings-structures/case-histories/mixed-use-buildings/trump-international-hotel-and-tower
- Radlinski M, Olek J (2012) Investigation into the synergistic effects in ternary cementitious systems containing portland cement, fly ash and silica fume. Cem Concr Compos 34(4):451–459
- Raj R, Pillai PEB, Santhakumar AR (2013) Evaluation and mix design for ternary blended high strength concrete. Procedia Eng 51:65–74
- Rocole L (1993) Silica-Fume concrete proves to be an economical alternative. Concr Constr 38 (6):441–442
- Sato T, Beaudoin J (2011) Effect of nano-CaCO₃ on hydration of cement containing supplementary cementitious materials. Adv Cem Res 23(1):1–11
- Seshasayi LVA, Ramaseshu D, Shankaraiah R (2001) Effect of cement replacements by fly ash and silica fume on compressive strength of concrete, ACI SP199-22, pp 581–593
- Shehata M, Thomas MDA (2002) Use of ternary blends containing silica fume and fly ash to suppress expansion due to alkali–silica reaction in concrete. Cem Concr Res 32:341–349
- Swamy RN (1997) Design for durability and strength through the use of fly ash and slag in concrete. In: Malhotra VM (ed) 3rd CANMET-ACI international conference on advances in concrete technology, SP-171, pp 1–72
- Thomas MDA, Hopkins DS, Perreault M, Cail K (2007) Ternary cement in Canada. Concr Int 29 (7):59–64
- Thomas MDA, Shehata MH, Shashiprakash SG, Hopkins DS, Cail K (1999) Use of ternary cementitious systems containing silica fume and fly ash in concrete. Cem Concr Res 29:1207–1214
- Thomas MDA, Hooton RD, Cail K, Smith BA, De Wal J, Kazanis KG (2010) Field trials of concretes produced with Portland limestone cement. Concr Int 32(1):35–41
- Titherington MP, Hooton RD (2004) Chloride resistance of high performance concretes subjected to accelerated curing. Cem Concr Res 34(9):1561–1567